University of Bath



PHD

Lipid Phosphatases and Oxidative Signalling in T Lymphocytes

Ball, Jennifer

Award date: 2015

Awarding institution: University of Bath

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Lipid Phosphatases and Oxidative Signalling in T Lymphocyte Biology

Jennifer Ann Ball

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Bath

Department of Pharmacy and Pharmacology

June 2015

COPYRIGHT

Attention is drawn to the fact that copyright of this thesis rests with the author. A copy of this thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rest with the author and that they must not copy it or use material from it except as permitted by law or with the consent of the author.

This thesis may be made available for consultation within the University Library and may be photocopied or lent to other libraries for the purposes of consultation.

.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to say a big thank you to my supervisors Professor Stephen Ward, Professor Will Wood and Dr Malcolm Watson for their input towards this project. Without their continuing help and support I would have never completed this thesis. Thanks also go to GlaxoSmithKline and the University of Bath Graduate School for the funding of this project.

Thank you to: past members of the Ward lab for technical assistance and friendship, Dr. Adrian Rogers in the Microscopy and Analysis suite for teaching me the intricacies of flow cytometry/confocal microscopy, Jo Carter for phlebotomy and all the blood donors without whom my research would not be possible.

To the past and present PhD students of 5 West 2.48, your camaraderie made Bath University a fantastic place to get a PhD. With particular thanks to Annie for putting up with me in our flat share and James all his support and proof reading. Finally, heartfelt thanks to my parents and family; without your love and support this would not have been possible.

Abstract

Adaptive immune responses are highly co-ordinated and rely upon efficient intracellular communication to orchestrate cell function. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) signalling is a well-studied and important positive mediator in T lymphocyte function; however the role for SH2-domain containing inositol phosphatase 1 (SHIP-1), a negative regulator of PI3K signalling, has not been so thoroughly investigated. The use of knockout mouse models has given an insight into the role of SHIP-1 in murine T cells, but these are compromised by loss of function during development which impinges upon mature T cell function and by the loss of non-catalytic functions of SHIP-1.

Recent work has indicated a clear role for reactive oxygen species (ROS), specifically hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), in immune cell signalling and functional responses including migration. However like SHIP-1, the functional roles of ROS are poorly understood in human T lymphocytes, particularly the mechanisms by which ROS signals to alter T lymphocyte biology. ROS has been previously shown to activate PI3K, Mitogen activate protein kinase (MAPK) and Src family tyrosine kinase (SFK) signalling in a number of different cell types. In addition, ROS have been shown to inactivate phosphatase and tensin homology (PTEN), another negative regulator of PI3K, and are postulated to inactive SHIP-1 signalling.

A pharmacological approach was utilised to manipulate the catalytic activity of SHIP-1 and the cellular accumulation of ROS in primary human T lymphocytes. Remarkably, it was determined that both SHIP-1 activation and inhibition reduced the ligand-mediated functions of human T lymphocytes, including signalling, proliferation, adhesion and migration. Furthermore, H_2O_2 selectively inhibited directional migration to chemokine CXCL11, enhanced F-actin polymerisation and decreased actin polarisation to CXCL11. H_2O_2 required SFK signalling to induce the phosphorylation/catalytic activation of SHIP-1 and to decrease the surface expression of CXCR3, both of which could be mechanisms underlying the deficiency in migration observed with H_2O_2 .

Abbreviations

Abbreviations	Definition
3AC	3a-aminocholestane
Akt/PKB	Protein kinase B
APCs	Antigen presenting cells
BCR	B cell receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CD4+	Helper T lymphocytes
CD8+	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
CdtB	Cytolethal distending toxin subunit B
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
Chk	Csk homology kinase
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia
CRAC	Ca ²⁺ release activated Ca ²⁺ channel
Csk	C-terminal Src kinase
DAG	Diacyloglycerol
DAMPS	Damage associated molecular patterns
DARC	Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines
DCFDA	2',7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate
DN	Double negative
DP	Double positive
DUOX	Dual oxidase enzymes
ELR	Glutamic acid leucine arginine
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
GBM	Glioblastoma multiforme
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
GRK	G protein coupled receptor kinase
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HEV	High endothelial venules
ICOS	Inducible co-stimulatory receptor
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
iNHL	Indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma
IP3	Inositol triphosphate
IPF	Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
ITAMs	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs
ITIM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motifs
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function associated antigen 1
MAPK	Mitogen activate protein kinase
MCL	Mantle cell lymphoma
MM	Multiple myeloma
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
NHL	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma
NK	Natural killer
NOX	NADPH oxidase family

NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
PAMPS	Pathogen associated molecular patterns
PH	Pleckstrin Homology
PI(3,4)P2	Phosphoinositol (3,4) bis-phosphate
PI(3,4,5)P3	Phosphoinositol (3,4,5) tris-phosphate
PI(4,5)P2	Phosphoinositol (4,5) bis-phosphate
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PKC	Protein kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homology
PTKs	Protein tyrosine kinases
RCC	Renal cell carcinoma
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPMI	Roswell park memorial institute (cell growth medium)
RSH	Reducing thiols
S1P	Sphingosine-1-phosphate
SDF1	Stromal development factor 1
SEB	Staphylococcal enterotoxin B
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SFK	Src family tyrosine kinase
SH	Src homology domain
SHIP-1	SH2-domain containing inositol phosphatase 1
SHP1	SH2-domain containing tyrosine phosphatase 1
SLL	Small lymphocytic lymphoma
SLO	Secondary lymphoid organs
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
Syk	Spleen tyrosine kinases
TCR	T cell receptor
TLR	Toll-like receptor
VCAM-4	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-4
VLA-4	Very late antigen-4
ZAP-70	Zeta-chain associated kinase 70kDa

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: Introduction	1
 1.1 Overview of the immune system 1.1.1 The innate immune system 1.1.2 The adaptive immune system 1.1.3 Pathologies of immune cell regulation 	2 . 3 . 3 . 5
 1.2 T lymphocytes. 1.2.1 T lymphocyte development and maturation. 1.2.2 T cell activation. 1.2.3 T lymphocyte differentiation and subsets. 	. 6 . 6 8 . 10
 1.3 T lymphocyte migration and trafficking. 1.3.1 Cell migration and chemotaxis. 1.3.2 Chemoattractant gradients. 1.3.3 Polarisation and gradient sensing. 1.3.4 Chemokines and their receptors. 1.3.5 Chemokine receptor internalisation. 1.3.6 CXCL12 and the CXCR4 receptor. 1.3.7 CXCR3 receptor. 1.3.8 Signals that co-ordinate T lymphocyte migration. 	12 12 13 13 14 14 16 18 21 22 22 23
 1.4 Signalling pathways involved in T lymphocyte function. 1.4.1 Non receptor, cytoplasmic, tyrosine kinases. 1.4.2 Pharmacological targeting of SFKs and SYK. 1.4.3 PLC, PKC and calcium mobilisation. 1.4.4 PI3K family signalling. 1.4.5 Pharmacological targeting of PI3K. 1.4.6 Novel approaches to manipulate PI3K signalling in the immune System. 	27 . 27 32 33 34 36 38
1.5 SHIP-11.5.1 Evidence for the role of SHIP-1 in disease pathogenesis1.5.2 Pharmacological manipulators of SHIP-1	40 42 45
 1.6 Reactive oxygen species in cell signalling. 1.6.1 Sources of intracellular ROS. 1.6.2 ROS as a second messenger. 1.6.3 Control of ROS accumulation within cells. 1.6.4 ROS in T lymphocytes. 1.6.5 H₂O₂ is a wound cue in in vivo models of inflammation 1.6.6 H₂O₂ as a migratory cue for the adaptive immune system. 1.6.7. H₂O₂ and calcium mobilisation. 1.6.8 ROS associated with disease. 1.6.9 Hypoxia. 	47 48 50 52 53 54 59 60 61
1.7 Aims and Objectives	. 61

CHAPTER 2. Materials and Methods	.63
 2.1 Cell culture	.64 .64 .64 .65
2.1.4 Clonal expansion of CD4 and CD8 T-lymphocytes	. 65
2.2 Cellular viability assays 2.2.1 Propridium iodide and annexin V staining 2.2.2 MTT assay	. 67 . 67 . 67
2.3 Proliferation	. 68
 2.4 Cell stimulation protocol 2.4.1 Cell lysis 2.4.2 Immunoblotting 2.4.3 Semi dry protein transfer 	69 . 69 . 70 . 71
2.5 Immunoprecipitation of SHIP-1	. 73
2.6 Flow cytometry	. 74
2.7 In vitro cell migration assays.2.7.1 Neuroprobe assay.2.7.2 IBIDI microscopy assay.	. 75 . 75 . 76
2.8 Confocal microscopy	.78
2.9 Measurement of intracellular calcium	.78
2.10 Measurement of reactive oxygen species generation	79
2.11 Adhesion assay	. 79
2.12 Hypoxic chamber experiments	.80
2.13 Data analysis	. 80
2.14 Pharmacological compounds	.81

CHAPTER 3: Effect of pharmacological targeting of SHIP-1 upon human T lymphocyte biology	2
3.1 Rationale	3 4
3.2 SHIP-1 modulators alter recombinant SHIP-1 catalytic activity	5
 3.3 SHIP-1 modulation has no effect upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte viability8 3.3.1 SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon the MTT assay	7 7 7
 3.4 Effect of SHIP-1 modulation upon TCR induced responses	10 10 12 14 16
 3.5 Effect of SHIP-1 modulation upon CXCL11 driven responses	00 00 03 03 07
3.6 Chapter 3 Results Summary1	09
3.7 Chapter 3 – Discussion1	10

CH mai	APTER nipulat	4: Examining the functional consequences of ROS ion on T lymphocyte biology	. 122
4.1	Ration 4.1.1	ale Aims	. 123 . 124
4.2	ROS n T lymp	nanipulators alter intracellular ROS accumulation in SEB-activated hocytes.	125
4.3	Effect 4.3.1 4.3.2	of ROS manipulation on SEB-activated T lymphocyte viability ROS manipulation upon cell viability assessed by the MTT assay ROS manipulators had no effect upon PI/AV staining	128 128 129
4.4	Effect 4.4.1 4.4.2	of ROS manipulation upon TCR-induced responses H_2O_2 has no effect upon TCR-induced Ca ²⁺ elevation TCR-induced proliferation of naïve T lymphocytes is impaired by	. 133 133
	4.4.3	Catalase and NADPH oxidase inhibitor (DPI) inhibit TCR-induced proliferation of naïve T lymphocytes	135
	4.4.4	H_2O_2 had no effect upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte adhesion or integrin receptor expression.	141
4.5	Effect 4.5.1	of ROS manipulation upon chemoattractant induced responses H_2O_2 is not a chemoattractant for SEB-activated T lymphocyte	. 143
	4.5.2	migration	. 143
	4.5.3	inflammatory chemokine CXCL11 MnTBAP chloride inhibits CXCL11-dependent SEB–activated T	. 145
	4.5.4	Dampening the redox environment upon SEB-activated T lymphocy basal and CXL11 induced migration	145 /te . 147
	4.5.5	Hypoxia significantly impairs SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration	149
4.6 infla	H ₂ O ₂ h mmator	as no effect upon SEB–activated T lymphocyte migration to the y chemokine CXCL10 or homeostatic chemokine CXCL12	150
4.7	ROS n 4.7.1	nanipulation on naïve T lymphocyte migration Low concentrations of H_2O_2 inhibited basal migration of naïve	152
	4.7.2	T lymphocytes Catalase enhanced but DPI had no effect upon basal and directiona migration of naïve T lymphocytes	152 al 154
4.8	Effect 4.8.1 4.8.2	of H_2O_2 upon CXCL11-induced Ca ²⁺ and actin regulation H_2O_2 has no effect upon CXCL11 dependent Ca ²⁺ signalling H_2O_2 inhibits T lymphocyte polarisation and enhances basal	155 155
<u>4</u> 9	Chapte	aciin polymensalion	150
4 10	Chante	er 4 Discussion	160
1.10	onupit		. 100

CHAPTER 5: Investigating H ₂ O ₂ -induced signalling in T lymphocytes.	169
5.1 Rationale 5.1.1 Aims	. 170 . 171
 5.2 The importance of PI3K, SFK and SYK signalling in activated T lymphocyte migration. 5.2.1 SFK and SYK signalling is required for SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration. 	172 172
 5.2.2 Simultaneous treatment of SFK inhibitors with exogenous H₂O₂ could not rescue the migratory defect observed with H₂O₂ 5.2.3 Simultaneous treatment of SYK or PI3K inhibitors with exogenous H₂O₂ could not rescue the migratory defect observed with exogenous H₂O₂ treatment 	174 174
 5.2.4 PI3K signalling is required for basal and CXCL11-induced migration of SEB-activated T lymphocyte. 5.2.5 PLC is required for SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration to CXCL11. 	176 .179
 5.3 H₂O₂ induces the phosphorylation of Akt, Src and ERK in SEB-activated T lymphocytes 5.3.1 PI3K signalling is required for H₂O₂ to induce phosphorylation of Akt 5.3.2 Catalase pre-treatment completely attenuates H₂O₂-induced phosphorylation of Akt 	181 .183 .183
 5.4 H₂O₂ enhances the phosphorylation of SHIP-1 5.4.1 H₂O₂ requires SFK signalling to induce phosphorylation of SHIP-1 5.4.2 H₂O₂ signalling enhanced the catalytic activity of SHIP-1 	.186 .188 .190
 5.5 ROS manipulation on the surface expression of CXCR3 5.5.1 Exogenous application of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) causes down-regulation of cell surface CXCR3 expression but MnTBAP 	. 192
chloride had no effect 5.5.2 Effect of dampening the redox environment upon the surface expression of CXCR3	.192 .194
5.5.3 Hypoxia significantly enhanced surface receptor expression of CXCR3.	194
$5.5.4 H_2O_2$ induced down-regulation of CXCR3 surface expression requires SFK signalling	.197
not require PI3K signalling 5.5.6 CXCL11-induced down-regulation of CXCR3 expression does not require SFK signalling	198 .198
5.6 H ₂ O ₂ induces Ca ²⁺ elevation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes 5.6.1 H ₂ O ₂ -induced Ca ²⁺ elevation is unaffected by removal of	200
extracellular Ca ²⁺ 5.6.2 H ₂ O ₂ -induced Ca ²⁺ elevation requires PLC but not PI3K, SFK, SYK, MAPK or PKC signalling	200
5.7 Chapter 5 Results Summary	206
5.8 Chapter 5 Discussion	207

CHAPTER 6. General discussion	221
6.1 SHIP-1 in T lymphocyte biology	.222
6.2 ROS in human T lymphocyte biology	. 224
6.3 Concluding remarks	. 228

Table of Figures

Figure 1.1	Cells of the immune system	2
Figure 1.2	The immune response	4
Figure 1.3	T lymphocytes maturation in the thymus	7
Figure 1.4	T cell activation and co-stimulation	9
Figure 1.5	Differentiation of CD4+ T lymphocytes into distinct subsets	11
Figure 1.6	.Signalling pathways in immune cell polarisation	15
Figure 1.7	Internalisation of GPCRs	20
Figure 1.8	T lymphocyte migration	26
Figure 1.9	SFK and SYK signalling in T lymphocytes	31
Figure 1.10	Class I PI3K signalling pathways involved in regulating cell function	35
Figure 1.11	Regulation of PI3K signalling	39
Figure 1.12 regulators of	Schematic representation of structure of the lipid phosphatase f PI3K mediated signalling	41
Figure 1.13	Chemical structures of SHIP-1 modulators	46
Figure 1.14	Reactive oxygen species	47
Figure 1.15	NOX2 and DUOX1 and their associated regulatory subunits	50
Figure 1.16	Redox dependent signalling	51
Figure 1.17	Fate of peripheral T lymphocytes to increasing concentrations of	53
1.00		00
Figure 1.18	In vivo models indicate a role of H_2O_2 in leukocyte migration	58
Figure 1.18 Figure 2.1	In vivo models indicate a role of H_2O_2 in leukocyte migration Isolation of PBMC and naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood	58 66
Figure 1.18 Figure 2.1 Figure 2.2	<i>In vivo</i> models indicate a role of H ₂ O ₂ in leukocyte migration Isolation of PBMC and naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood Apparatus and schematic for determining <i>in vitro</i> cell migration	58 66 76
Figure 1.18 Figure 2.1 Figure 2.2 Figure 2.3	<i>In vivo</i> models indicate a role of H_2O_2 in leukocyte migration Isolation of PBMC and naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood Apparatus and schematic for determining <i>in vitro</i> cell migration IBIDI μ slide for measuring <i>in vitro</i> cell migration	58 66 76 77
Figure 1.18 Figure 2.1 Figure 2.2 Figure 2.3 Figure 3.1	<i>In vivo</i> models indicate a role of H ₂ O ₂ in leukocyte migration Isolation of PBMC and naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood Apparatus and schematic for determining <i>in vitro</i> cell migration IBIDI µ slide for measuring <i>in vitro</i> cell migration SHIP-1 modulators alter SHIP-1 catalytic activity	58 66 76 77 86
Figure 1.18 Figure 2.1 Figure 2.2 Figure 2.3 Figure 3.1 Figure 3.2	<i>In vivo</i> models indicate a role of H ₂ O ₂ in leukocyte migration Isolation of PBMC and naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood Apparatus and schematic for determining <i>in vitro</i> cell migration IBIDI μ slide for measuring <i>in vitro</i> cell migration SHIP-1 modulators alter SHIP-1 catalytic activity SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon SEB-activated T cell viability	58 66 76 77 86 88
Figure 1.18 Figure 2.1 Figure 2.2 Figure 2.3 Figure 3.1 Figure 3.2 Figure 3.3 SEB-activate	<i>In vivo</i> models indicate a role of H ₂ O ₂ in leukocyte migration Isolation of PBMC and naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood Apparatus and schematic for determining <i>in vitro</i> cell migration IBIDI µ slide for measuring <i>in vitro</i> cell migration SHIP-1 modulators alter SHIP-1 catalytic activity SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon SEB-activated T cell viability SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon PI &Annexin V staining in ed T lymphocytes	58 66 76 77 86 88 88
Figure 1.18 Figure 2.1 Figure 2.2 Figure 2.3 Figure 3.1 Figure 3.2 Figure 3.3 SEB-activate Figure 3.4 T lymphocyt	<i>In vivo</i> models indicate a role of H ₂ O ₂ in leukocyte migration Isolation of PBMC and naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood Apparatus and schematic for determining <i>in vitro</i> cell migration IBIDI µ slide for measuring <i>in vitro</i> cell migration SHIP-1 modulators alter SHIP-1 catalytic activity SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon SEB-activated T cell viability SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon PI &Annexin V staining in ed T lymphocytes SHIP-1 modulation inhibits Akt phosphorylation in SEB-activated es	58 66 76 77 86 88 89 91
Figure 1.18 Figure 2.1 Figure 2.2 Figure 2.3 Figure 3.1 Figure 3.2 Figure 3.3 SEB-activate Figure 3.4 T lymphocyt Figure 3.5 intracellular	<i>In vivo</i> models indicate a role of H ₂ O ₂ in leukocyte migration Isolation of PBMC and naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood Apparatus and schematic for determining <i>in vitro</i> cell migration IBIDI μ slide for measuring <i>in vitro</i> cell migration SHIP-1 modulators alter SHIP-1 catalytic activity SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon SEB-activated T cell viability SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon PI &Annexin V staining in ed T lymphocytes SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon TCR agonist UCHT-1-induced Ca ²⁺ release in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	58 66 76 77 86 88 88 89 91 93
Figure 1.18 Figure 2.1 Figure 2.2 Figure 2.3 Figure 3.1 Figure 3.2 Figure 3.3 SEB-activate Figure 3.4 T lymphocyt Figure 3.5 intracellular Figure 3.6 proliferation	<i>In vivo</i> models indicate a role of H ₂ O ₂ in leukocyte migration Isolation of PBMC and naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood Apparatus and schematic for determining <i>in vitro</i> cell migration IBIDI μ slide for measuring <i>in vitro</i> cell migration SHIP-1 modulators alter SHIP-1 catalytic activity SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon SEB-activated T cell viability SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon PI &Annexin V staining in ed T lymphocytes SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon TCR agonist UCHT-1-induced ca ²⁺ release in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	58 66 76 77 86 88 89 91 93 93 95

Figure 3.8 reducing the	SHIP-1 modulation attenuates adhesion of T lymphocytes by affinity state of LFA-1	99
Figure 3.9 Akt phospho	Modulation of SHIP-1 inhibits chemokine receptor mediated orylation	101
Figure 3.10 Ca ²⁺ release	SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon CXCL11-induced intracellular in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	102
Figure 3.11 migration in	SHIP-1 modulation inhibits basal and chemokine stimulated SEB-activated T lymphocytes	104
Figure 3.12	Chemotaxis on a fibronectin-coated surface is reduced by SHIP-1	105
Figure 3.13 of CXCR3 ir	SHIP-1 modulation has no effect upon surface receptor expression SEB-activated T lymphocytes	106
Figure 3.14 in T lymphoe	SHIP-1 modulation alters the phosphorylation state of ERM proteins cytes	108
Figure 3.15 Outcomes	Activation and inhibition of SHIP-1 leads to the same functional	113
Figure 3.16 phosphoinos	Chemical structures and downstream signalling proteins of sitides	114
Figure 3.17 lymphocyte	Model for SHIP-1 activation and inhibition causing decreased proliferation	116
Figure 3.18 adhesion	Model of the roles of SHIP-1 in T lymphocyte migration and	120
Figure 4.1	Regulation of ROS by pharmacological manipulators	126
Figure 4.2 reduced by	Intracellular ROS is increased by $H_2O_2/MnTBAP$ chloride and catalase in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	127
Figure 4.3 using the M	Effect of ROS manipulators on SEB-activated T lymphocyte viability TT assay	130
Figure 4.4 concentration to SEB-activ	Measurements of Annexin V and PI staining indicates that high ons of H_2O_2 are cytotoxic, but catalase is non-cytotoxic vated T lymphocytes	131
Figure 4.5 MnTBAP ch	Measurements of Annexin V and PI staining indicates that DPI and loride are non-cytotoxic to SEB-activated T lymphocytes	132
Figure 4.6 Ca ²⁺ release	H ₂ O ₂ had no effect upon TCR agonist-induced intracellular e in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	134
Figure 4.7	H ₂ O ₂ impairs TCR-induced proliferation of naïve T lymphocytes	137
Figure 4.8 naïve T lym	MnTBAP chloride had no effect upon TCR-induced proliferation of phocytes	138
Figure 4.9	Catalase significantly impaired naïve T lymphocyte proliferation	139
Figure 4.10	DPI inhibits TCR-induced proliferation of naïve T lymphocytes	140
Figure 4.11 T lymphocyt	H_2O_2 has no effect upon CD11a, CD49d integrin expression and the adhesion to fibronectin	142
Figure 4.12 migration of	H_2O_2 does not act as a chemoattractant instead inhibits basal SEB-activated T lymphocytes	144

Figure 4.13 Exogenous H ₂ O ₂ and MnTBAP chloride inhibit basal and CXCL11-induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration14	46
Figure 4.14 Catalase enhanced and DPI had no effect upon basal and CXCL11- induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration	48
Figure 4.15 Hypoxia appears to suppress SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration	49
Figure 4.16 CXCL10 and CXCL12-induced migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes is inhibited by high concentration of H_2O_2	51
Figure 4.17 Effect of H ₂ O ₂ and MnTBAP chloride upon basal and CXCL12-induced naïve T lymphocyte migration	53
Figure 4.18 Effect of catalase and DPI upon basal and CXCL12-induced naïve T lymphocyte migration 15	54
Figure 4.19 Pre-treatment with H ₂ O ₂ had no effect upon CXCL11-induced Intracellular Ca ²⁺ elevation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	55
Figure 4.20 H ₂ O ₂ , but not catalase increases actin polymerisation of SEB-activated T lymphocytes	57
Figure 4.21 Effect of H ₂ O ₂ and CXCL11 upon polarisation of SEB-activated T lymphocytes 15	58
Figure 4.22 Additional pharmacological manipulators of ROS 16	61
Figure 4.23 Model for high exogenous H ₂ O ₂ causing decreased T lymphocyte proliferation	63
Figure 5.1 Effect of SFK inhibitor PP2 and SYK kinase inhibitor piceatannol upon basal and CXCL11-induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration	73
Figure 5.2 SFK, SYK or PI3K inhibition does not rescue or exacerbate the Migratory defect observed with H ₂ O ₂	75
Figure 5.3Pan PI3K inhibition by ZSTK474 and LY249002 inhibit basal and CXCL11-induced migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes	77 78
Figure 5.5 PLC, but not PKC is required for SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration toward CXCL11 18	80
Figure 5.6 High concentrations of H_2O_2 induce the phosphorylation of Akt, ERK and Src kinase in SEB-activated T lymphocytes18	82
Figure 5.7 PI3K signalling is required for H ₂ O ₂ to phosphorylate Akt in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	84
Figure 5.8 Catalase pre-treatment attenuates H ₂ O ₂ -induced Akt phosphorylation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	85
Figure 5.9 H ₂ O ₂ -induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	87
Figure 5.10 Effect of SFK inhibitor (PP2) and Lck inhibitor (1188890-30-3) upon H_2O_2 -induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	89

Figure 5.11 Cellular treatment with H_2O_2 enhanced the catalytic ability of SHIP-1 but had no effect upon recombinant or immunoprecipitated SHIP-1	191
Figure 5.12 H_2O_2 reduced the surface receptor expression of CXCR3 in SEB-activated T lymphocytes, but MnTBAP chloride had no effect	194
Figure 5.13 Effect of catalase and DPI upon surface receptor expression of CXCR3 in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	196
Figure 5.14 Hypoxia significantly enhanced surface receptor expression of CXCR3 in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	197
Figure 5.15 SFK inhibitor (PP2) inhibited H_2O_2 -induced down-regulation of CXCR3 surface receptor expression in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	198
Figure 5.16 PI3K inhibition does not affect H_2O_2 –induced down-regulation of CXCR3.	.200
Figure 5.17 H_2O_2 -induced intracellular Ca^{2+} mobilisation is dependent upon oxidation via release from intracellular stores in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	202
Figure 5.18 PI3K, SFK, SYK inhibition had no effect upon H_2O_2 -induced intracellular Ca ²⁺ mobilisation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	.204
Figure 5.19 p38, MEK and IKK inhibition had no effect upon H_2O_2 -induced Intracellular Ca ²⁺ mobilisation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	205
Figure 5.20 PLC, but not PKC inhibition significantly inhibited H_2O_2 -induced intracellular Ca ²⁺ mobilisation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	206
Figure 5.21 Model of oxidative stress-induced signalling in human SEB-activated T lymphocytes	215
Figure 5.22 Model of mechanisms underlying ROS-induced migratory defect in T lymphocytes	221

Table of tables

Table 1.1 The chemokine superfamily	17
Table 1.2 PI3K inhibitors and SHIP-1 activator currently in clinical trials	37
Table 1.3 IC ₅₀ values of commonly used pan PI3K inhibitors and selective p110 γ and p110 δ inhibitors	38
Table 2.1 Composition of a 10% (w:v) SDS-acrylamide gel	70
Table 2.2 Primary antibodies used for Immunoblotting	71
Table 2.3 List of pharmacological manipulators employed in this study	81
Table 4.1 ROS manipulation upon basal and CXCL11-induced migration in SEB-activated T lymphocytes	166
Table 5.1 Signalling involved in basal and CXCL11-stimulated migration of SEB activated T lymphocytes	.210

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

1.1 Overview of the immune system

We depend upon our immune system's ability to produce a co-ordinated and rapid response to protect us from foreign pathogens and tissue damage resultant of infection or trauma. To function correctly, the immune system has evolved to be complex, multi-cellular and destructive in nature. As such, it is critical that our immune system is highly regulated and targeted. Dysregulation of the immune system results in a wide array of pathologies; under-activity increases our susceptibility to infection, whilst over-activity can lead to chronic inflammation and autoimmune disease.

The immune system is commonly divided into two complementary branches; the immediate response is termed the innate immune system and the later more specific response is termed the adaptive immune system. The cells of the immune system are shown in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1 Cells of the immune system. The majority of the cells of the immune systems differentiate from a common hematopoietic stem cell progenitor. Two main branches are generated; the left branch is the myeloid cells and right branch represents the lymphoid cells Although monocytes have long been described as the sole precursors of macrophages, recent evidence suggests that a significant number of tissue resident macrophages arise prenatally during embryonic development from progenitors derived from the yolk sac or fetal liver (Hettinger *et al.*, 2013) (Original graphic).

1.1.1 The innate immune system

The innate immune system is the first method of defence against a pathogen. Sequentially it limits pathogen entry, rapidly recruits immune cells to site of infection, inactivates or destroys invaders and then repairs the damaged tissue. The skin and epithelial cell linings of the lungs and gut are important anatomic barriers which normally act to prevent pathogen entry to the body. However, when these tissues become infected or injured an acute inflammatory response is initiated to protect the host. Briefly, tissue resident inflammatory cells become activated when they detect damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPS) or pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPS) produced by the damaged cells or pathogens, respectively. Tissue resident immune cells include mast cells which de-granulate and release inflammatory mediators including histamine, prostaglandins and leukotrienes which enhance inflammation, vasodilation and vascular permeability. This allows increased leukocyte recruitment from the blood to amplify the immune response. Phagocytic cells (macrophages and neutrophils) engulf debris and foreign bodies to neutralise or destroy the pathogen. Finally, tissue resident dendritic cells capture antigen and enter the lymph to co-ordinate activation of the adaptive immune system (Delves et al., 2000b; Medzhitov et al., 2008) (Figure 1.2).

1.1.2 The adaptive immune system

The adaptive immune system provides a highly specific response to a specific pathogen. Adaptive immunity can also provide long-lasting protection: and an immunological memory to a specific pathogen, co-ordinating a more effective immune response upon subsequent exposure. To do this each adaptive immune cell specifically recognises only one antigen, which results in its initial response taking days to develop. Antigens are transported to the lymphoid organs by antigen presenting cells (APCs) where they are recognised by the adaptive immune cells, the naïve B-lymphocytes and T-lymphocytes. A humoral response is driven by B lymphocytes. Activation of B lymphocytes induces proliferation, maturation and the secretion of antibodies. Antibodies bind/block the toxicity of the pathogen and target it for phagocytosis. Whereas T lymphocytes drive cell mediated immunity, so called due to the T lymphocytes ability to detect intracellular pathogens such as viruses by recognising antigens presented upon the surfaces of other cells (Figure 1.2). Activated T lymphocytes are divided into cytotoxic (CD8+) and helper (CD4+) subsets. Both subsets subsequently proliferate, with CD8+ able to destroy the pathogen through the release of cytotoxins and CD4+ able to differentiate into effector cells which orchestrate

an inflammatory response against the pathogen (Delves *et al.*, 2000a; Pepper *et al.*, 2011). The T lymphocytes will be discussed further in following sections.



Figure 1.2 The immune response. 1) The epithelium provides an anatomical barrier preventing pathogen entry; but following epithelial wounding, damage or infection tissue resident inflammatory cells are activated. 2) Upon activation, macrophages and mast cells release of inflammatory mediators, such as chemokines and cytokines to evoke vasodilation, increase vascular permeability and promote expression of adhesion receptors on the endothelium of blood vessels. 3) Leukocytes are recruited from the blood vessels, involving tethering, rolling, adhesion, and extravasation into the tissue. 4) Leukocytes migrate towards the source of inflammation following gradients of chemoattractant. 5) Phagocytic cells (macrophages and neutrophil) engulf debris and foreign bodies to neutralise or destroy the pathogen. 6) Tissue resident dendritic cells capture antigen and enter the lymph to co-ordinate activation of the naïve T and B lymphocytes of the adaptive immune system. 7) Activation of lymphocytes causes their differentiation, clonal expansion and migration to the site of infection. Lymphocytes are part of the adaptive arm of the immune response, and induce cell-mediated (cytotoxic) and humoral (B cell antibody mediated) killing of pathogen. Finally, infection is resolved and wound is repaired (Original graphic).

1.1.3 Pathologies of immune cell regulation

Pathologies of inflammatory regulation include 1) an overly abundant acute inflammatory response to pathogen (*i.e.* cytokine storm), 2) primary deficiencies in immune cells (*i.e.* Kostmann syndrome or chronic granulomatous disease) or 3) the inability of the inflammatory response to eradicate the primary initiator of the immune response, resulting in sustained inflammation and tissue damage (Tabas *et al.*, 2013).

Autoimmunity belongs to the third category, whereby most commonly the primary stimulator of the immune response is the body's own cells which the immune system has lost the ability to recognise. As such, the immune system continually attempts to destroy the body's own tissues. Autoimmune diseases arise through aberrant activation of the T and B lymphocytes driving a continuous inflammation state (Arkwright *et al.*, 2002).

Autoimmune diseases are often associated with life changing, painful symptoms. There are more than eighty illnesses known to be caused by autoimmunity which most commonly affect women and are among the top ten leading causes of death in women under the age of 65. Current treatment aims to reduce the inflammation by using broad spectrum immunosuppression (*i.e* Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) and steroids), which can sometimes dangerously relieve sufferers of a physiologically functioning immune system. As such there is a huge drive for a more targeted treatment which functions to suppress the ability of lymphocytes to drive inflammation in the first place (Walsh *et al.*, 2000).

Ideally, an autoimmune and inflammatory disease treatment would alter the threshold of immune activation to restore homeostasis, modulate antigen-specific responses to spare target organs and reduce immune cell migration to inhibit the enhanced recruitment. Therefore in order to create new treatments to target the immune system, a detailed understanding of the signalling pathways involved in lymphocyte functions is required.

1.2 T lymphocytes

1.2.1 T lymphocyte development and maturation

T lymphocytes originate from hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in the bone marrow which home to the thymus to mature (Miller, 2002). Development in the thymus requires a stringent selection process, where thymocytes mature from double negative (CD4⁻/CD8⁻) to either a singular positive CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ cell which expresses a self-restricted $\alpha\beta$ TCR receptor (Figure 1.3) (Anderson *et al.*, 2001). CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes bind to antigen upon either Class II or Class I MHC molecules respectively (Germain, 1994). During development, gene rearrangement of the variable (V), diversity (D), joining (J) and constant (C) regions of the TCR receptor produces a plethora of structurally distinct TCR receptors, which allow T lymphocytes to recognise specific antigens.

Singular positive CD4+ and CD8+ cells are long lived and can remain in the extrathymic environment for weeks or months. These naïve (prior to stimulation with antigen) T lymphocytes typically express low levels of glycoprotein CD44 and high levels of lymph node homing receptors CD62L and CCR7. Naïve lymphocytes survey the lymphatic system for antigen and rely on contact with self-peptides and IL-7 to survive and proliferate. Following activation, IL-7 can also drive the transition of naïve and effector T lymphocytes to form antigen specific memory T lymphocytes, cells either become central memory T lymphocytes (CD44^{hi}, CD62L^{low}, CCR7^{low}) (von Andrian *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 1.3 T lymphocyte maturation in the thymus. T lymphocyte precursors (TCPs) migrate to the thymus from the bone marrow. These cells are termed double negative (DN) as they do not express either of the T cell cluster of differentiation (CD) markers CD4 or CD8. T lymphocyte maturation involves distinct phases that are marked rearrangement of the TCR receptor, as well as changes in the expression of cellular surface proteins. c-kit⁺ and CD44⁺ DN1 thymocytes progress to the DN2 stage by gaining CD25⁺ expression and down-regulating CD44 expression. DN2 thymocytes also begin to rearrange the TCR β subunit of the TCR receptor and the cells lose their pluripotent ability to transform into B lymphocytes or natural killer cells. At the DN2 stage, the TCR components begin to be rearranged forming either DN3 or T lymphocytes which eventually express a γδ TCR receptor. c-kit⁻, CD44⁻, CD25⁺ DN3 thymocytes, express TCR β and a pre- TCR α in a complex with CD3. CD25 expression is lost at the DN4 stage and cells rearrange the TCRa receptor and express CD4+ and CD8+ to become double positive (DP). The DP cells that bind to MHC expressed on epithelial cells gain signals to progress to singular positive CD8+ or CD4+ cells, this is termed positive selection. A stringent selection process occurs whereby T lymphocytes are screened for TCR reactivity to self-peptides bound to MHC molecules. Cells with high avidity for the peptides undergo apoptosis as they will be self-reactive, this is termed negative selection. However, about 98% of DP cells have very low affinity for the MHC presented peptide and die from "neglect" or lack of a TCR signal, termed positive selection. The surviving singular positive CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ cells leave the thymus and enter the circulation (Godfrey et al., 1993) (Original graphic).

1.2.2 T cell activation

The activation of T lymphocytes is described by a two signal model. Firstly, "signal 1" involves the TCR engaging with a specific foreign peptide (antigen) presented upon the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) of an APC. The MHC protein is also bound by either CD4 or CD8 on the cell. Secondly, "signal 2" is initiated by the binding of costimulatory molecules on the surface of the T cell, typically activation of CD28 by an appropriate ligand such as CD80/CD86 (B7.1 or B7.2). B7.1 and B7.2 are up-regulated upon the surface of APCs following inflammatory cytokine exposure. The lack of costimulation through CD28 commonly results in T lymphocyte anergy (McAdam *et al.*, 1998; Sharpe *et al.*, 2006), a protective mechanism which prevents aberrant response to self-antigen (Figure 1.4).

In addition to CD28 ligation, other molecules can also provide the co-stimulatory signal to activate T lymphocytes. These include the inducible co-stimulatory receptor (ICOS), which is expressed on activated T lymphocytes, lymphocyte function associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) and some β 1 integrins including very late antigen-4 (VLA-4) (Van Seventer *et al.*, 1990) [Figure 1.4]. The ICOS receptor shares a high level of homology with CD28, but exhibits a distinct expression pattern and signalling profile which indicates non-redundant functions. ICOS activation in often associated with the activation of follicular T helper cells and Treg cells (Ma *et al.*, 2012).

Negative regulation of TCR signalling also occurs. B7.1 or B7.2 can also inhibit T cell activation by binding to inhibitory co-receptors such as cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and programmed death 1 (PD1) (Figure 1.4). Other B7 family members, B7.3 and B7.4 have also been observed, however at present their binding partners and roles in T lymphocyte activation are not well understood (Okamoto *et al.*, 2003). CTLA-4 is upregulated upon activated T lymphocytes and is important in the resolution of the adaptive immune response (Oosterwegel *et al.*, 1999; Smith-Garvin *et al.*, 2009). Termination of TCR signalling also occurs through negative regulators such as phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) or the Dok adaptor proteins of SH2-domain containing tyrosine phosphatase 1 (SHP1) (Smith-Garvin *et al.*, 2009). Super-antigens, such as staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) act independently of MHC to activate a large number of T lymphocytes irrespective of the antigen specificity of these cells (Alber *et al.*, 1990).

The TCR receptor complex does not have intrinsic enzymatic activity and relies on recruitment of cytoplasmic signalling molecules for propagation of the receptors signal. The CD3 complex contains immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs)

which provide docking sites for the recruitment of signalling molecules containing SH2 domains. Signal transduction downstream of the TCR receptor involves multiple kinases and Ca²⁺ elevation followed by changes in gene transcription which are discussed further Section 1.4. The signalling has a number of crucial roles in T lymphocyte activation, perhaps the most important of which is the production of IL-2. IL-2 is a key factor in the activation and proliferation of T lymphocytes (Smith-Garvin *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 1.4 T cell activation and co-stimulation. "Signal 1" consists of the recognition of peptide antigen presented upon MHC complexes by the TCR receptor. CD4 T lymphocytes recognise Class II MHC which are expressed upon professional APCs, whereas CD8 T lymphocytes recognise Class I MHC which is expressed upon all cells. 1) "Signal 1" alone induces anergy, or even death of the T lymphocyte. 2) However, a combination of "signal 1" and "signal 2", provided by B7.1 or B7.2 on the APC binding CD28, directs the cell towards activation and proliferation (e.g. IL-2 production). 3) Upon T cell activation, inducible co-stimulatory receptor (ICOS) is upregulated and interacts with ICOSL to modulate the functions of the active cells. ICOS is highly homologous with CD28, yet exhibits key differences in signalling and expression. ICOS has a minimal role during naïve T lymphocyte priming or initial proliferation. However, in activated cells ICOS has been shown to induce greater PI3K signalling and is crucial in production of IL-21 and IL-4, key cytokine in the development of T follicular helper cells (Okamoto et al., 2003). ICOS also has a role in the function and homeostasis of Tregs (Tuettenberg et al., 2009). 4) Negative regulation of TCR signalling occurs through the interaction of B7.1 or B7.2 within CTLA4 or 5) via Programmed Death Ligand (PD-L) co-stimulation.

1.2.3 T lymphocyte differentiation and subsets

The differentiation of naïve T lymphocytes into effector and memory cells is fundamental in T lymphocyte mediated cellular immunity. Activated cytotoxic CD8+ cells are very effective at direct lysis of infected or malignant cells which express antigen upon their cell surface, whereas helper CD4+ cells produce cytokines to stimulate other immune cells and mobilise a powerful inflammatory response. Most effector cells will disappear after the antigenic agent is destroyed, although some remain and form memory cells, which are able to perform immediate effector functions if re-exposed to the same antigen.

CD4⁺ T helper cells acquire highly specialised functions by differentiating into distinct subsets. Differentiation is co-ordinated by the external cytokine environment and activation of specific transcription factors. CD4+ T helper cell lineages are categorised by their distinct surface receptor expression and cytokine production (Figure 1.5). Briefly, Th1 cells produce cytokines involved in activating innate immune cells and B lymphocyte class switching to greatly enhance their ability to kill intracellular pathogens. Th1 cells are implicated in the pathology of multiple sclerosis (Jager *et al.*, 2009). Whereas, Th2 cells are required for immunity against an extracellular pathogen (i.e. helminths), and are able to regulate B lymphocyte activation and antibody class-switching to aid eosinophil recruitment and promote mucosal defence. Aberrant Th2 responses are implicated in allergic diseases such as asthma (Zhu *et al.*, 2010).

Th17 cells arrive early at sites of inflammation and regulate neutrophil recruitment and activation. They are commonly found at epithelial barrier sites and therefore are thought to be involved in fighting extracellular bacteria and fungi (Korn *et al.*, 2009). Th17 cells produce IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21 and IL-22. IL-17A and IL-17F have both been implicated in airway inflammation (Liang *et al.*, 2007; Fouser *et al.*, 2008), as well as several autoimmune diseases including multiple sclerosis, psoriasis, inflammatory bowels disease, rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythromatosis (Fouser *et al.*, 2008; Shin *et al.*, 2011; Pan *et al.*, 2013). In addition, they are also thought to have both pro- and anti- tumour functions, with IL-17F exacerbating tumour growth by facilitating angiogenesis (Murugaiyan *et al.*, 2009; Coffelt *et al.*, 2015; Saito *et al.*, 2015).

Tregs can be broadly divided into natural Treg (nTregs), which are generated in the thymus, and inducible Tregs (iTregs), which can be generated from naïve T lymphocytes in the periphery (Zheng *et al.*, 2004; DiPaolo *et al.*, 2007). Tregs aid immunological self-tolerance by suppressing self-reactive T lymphocytes (Wing *et al.*,

2010). Further T lymphocyte subsets Th9 and Th22 have more recently been identified, which produce IL-9 and IL-22 respectively. The niche functions of these cells are currently being investigated, IL-9 is known to exhibit pleiotropic functions and has putative roles in pathogen immunity and immune-mediated disease (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015). IL-22 regulates auto-antibody production and restricts commensal bacteria to their tissue niches preventing inflammation (Raphael *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 1.5 Differentiation of CD4+ T lymphocytes into distinct subsets. The cytokine environment, indicated in the blue text, surrounding naïve T lymphocytes is able to "skew" them to specific subsets. Typical chemokine receptors associated with specific subsets are stated in red and the cytokines produced by specific subsets are shown in the black text (Original graphic).

1.3 T lymphocyte migration and trafficking

1.3.1 Cell migration and chemotaxis

Migration is vital to T lymphocyte function in all stages of development and activation. Initially, stem cells precursors have to home from the bone marrow to mature in the thymus. Next, naïve T lymphocytes migrate to survey the circulatory and lymphatic systems to maximise their likelihood of antigen detection. When activated, T lymphocytes enter the periphery and are distributed to aid the clearance of pathogens (Figure 1.9). Finally, memory T cells remain distributed throughout the organism and provide localised immuno-surveillance to detect and induce a rapid response to a previously detected antigen. T lymphocytes function locally and their migration is required to be highly co-ordinated. Therefore, understanding the mechanisms which manipulate T lymphocyte migration may lead to the development of treatments of diseases mediated by T lymphocytes. However, cell migration is complex and involves multiple signalling mechanisms which can be distinct depending upon the developmental stage of the T lymphocyte (Marelli-Berg *et al.*, 2008).

The key features which are reported to influence the migration of immune cells include 1) anatomical borders, 2) adhesion to other cells or extracellular matrix, 3) physical and chemical signals which trigger migration and 4) directional cues that guide the cells (Sixt, 2011). Immune cells are able to migrate in the absence of direction cues this is termed chemokinesis (Massberg *et al.*, 2007), however immune cells often undergo co-ordinated and directional migration in response to specific external chemical signals, termed chemotaxis.

Chemotaxis was first described in bacteria by Pfeffer (Pfeffer, 1884) and later in phagocytic leukocytes by Metchnikoff (Metchnikoff, 1893). Since then cell migration has been intensely researched. Co-ordinated migration depends upon the formation of chemoattractant gradients which cells detect and prioritise. Exposure to a chemoattractant gradient leads to small spatial or temporal differences in cell receptor activation that are amplified intracellularly to induce actin polymerisation and protrusion formation at the side of the cell facing the highest concentration of chemoattractant. A polarised morphology is then stabilised by positive-feedback loops at the front of the cell and inhibitory signals in the rest of the cell (Swaney *et al.*, 2010; Insall, 2013; Reig *et al.*, 2014). Thus, receptor activation is described to generate a local asymmetric accumulation of intracellular signalling molecules or "chemotactic compass" toward the highest concentration of chemoattractant.

1.3.2 Chemoattractant gradients

The most frequently investigated chemoattractants are formyl peptides (*i.e* formylmethionine-leucine-phenylalanine [fMLP]) and chemokines (Section 1.3.4). Size, polarity, diffusion rate and reactivity, as well as the nature of its surrounding environment all affect the ability of a given chemoattractant to form and maintain a stable gradient. Chemoattractants are produced, often in precise spatial locations, and then diffuse to form a gradient which can spread over short or long distances (Majumdar *et al.*, 2014). Gradients can also be maintained by immobilisation of the chemoattractant on tissues by binding to heparin sulphates (Shute, 2012).

Gradients of small highly diffusible molecules are less likely as they are rapidly diffusible and thus would be unable to maintain a gradient long enough to convey signals to migrating cells. However, interestingly hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), a highly diffusible molecule, has been shown to form a gradient 100-200µm into injured zebrafish tail fin epithelium. The H_2O_2 gradient is maintained by a graded expression of a its synthesising enzyme. The injured zebrafish epithelia express higher levels of H_2O_2 producing NADPH oxidase dual oxidase (DUOX) in cells with higher degrees of injury allowing a gradient of H_2O_2 to be produced (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009). The importance of reactive oxygen species and H_2O_2 in immune cell migration is discussed in more detail in Section 1.6.

Most models of cell migration assume that a chemotactic gradient encountered by the cell is at a steady state, static and spatially stable. Moreover, it is often assumed that the gradient is simply created by diffusion of the chemoattractant from the source site towards a target cell (Schneider *et al.*, 2006). However, in a physiological setting there are several other important parameters which could alter the formation and stability of a chemokine gradient. These include the decay of the chemoattractant, which can depend upon the distance of the chemoattractant from a secreting source, sequestration by the extracellular matrix, self-generation resulting in an amplified signal and modification by extracellular enzymes. Therefore in a given environment, cells could be exposed to dynamic and discontinuous gradients (Majumdar *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, cells might detect more than one chemoattractant therefore must be able to prioritise or adapt to multiple distinct cues.

1.3.3 Polarisation and gradient sensing

The ability of a cell to detect the external chemoattractant gradient governs directed cell migration. Remarkably, many cells can detect less than a 5% difference in chemoattractant concentration between the front and back of the cell (Zigmond, 1977; Parent *et al.*, 1999; Brzostowski *et al.*, 2004). Cells will constantly monitor the chemical concentration of chemoattractant over-time through spatial sampling.

Several theories exist to explain how detection of chemoattractant at cell surface receptors, typically GPCRs, leads to the formation of polarised protrusions and directional migration. As described earlier, the "chemotactic compass" model suggests localised accumulation of signalling molecules towards the highest concentrations of chemoattractant. The asymmetric distribution of the product of PI3K signalling PI(3,4,5)P3 at the front of the cell is a hallmark of cell polarisation (Wang *et al.*, 2002a; Wang, 2009). PI3K accumulates at the front of the cell, whereas negative regulator PTEN is found at the rear of the cell. This localised signalling drives the accumulation of downstream small GTPases Rac and Cdc42 to the leading edge of the cell and forms a signalling compass directing the cell towards the chemoattractant gradient. An alternative model describes chemotactic bias, whereby the chemoattractant bias the organisation of protrusions without the need of a signalling compass (Insall, 2010; Insall, 2013).

The main feature of a cell migrating on a 2D surface is the loss of its rounded morphology; instead the cell spreads and develops multiple peripheral protrusions, named lamellae and finger-like filopodia (Ridley *et al.*, 2003). The cell becomes more adherent and one lamellae becomes broader and dominant to become the front of polarised cell (Lamellipodia). The cell moves in the preferred direction by repeating cycles of protrusion of the front region driven by Cdc42 and Rac activation, adhesion to the substrate, detachment of the cell body and rear, and finally the cytoskeleton contraction to pull the cell forward (Sixt, 2011; Sixt *et al.*, 2011; Majumdar *et al.*, 2014) Rho, myosin II and Ca²⁺ -activated proteases work together to alter actomyosin contractility and de-attachment of the cell (Majumdar *et al.*, 2014). *In vivo* imaging in Zebrafish neutrophils indicates that lamellipoda contain highly branched actin filaments containing dynamic F-actin, whereas stable F-actin localises to the back of the cell (Yoo *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 1.6 Signalling pathways in immune cell polarisation. Upon detection of a chemoattractant gradient, PI3K signalling and PIP3 generation is increased at the leading edge of the cell. This leads to the activation of small GTPases Rac and Cdc42 and subsequent actin polymerisation at the leading edge. At the rear of the cell, phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN) prevents PI3K-mediated PIP3 accumulation and myosin contraction is driven by small GTPase RhoA. Adapted from (Deng *et al.*, 2012) and (Yoo *et al.*, 2010).

1.3.4 Chemokines and their receptors

Chemokines are a large family of small 8-10kDa chemoattractant proteins which act to regulate immune cell recruitment (Kim *et al.*, 1999). There are at least 50 known chemokines, however only 20 functional receptors have been described and subgroups of chemokines commonly bind to the same receptor on a target cell. Although chemokines have low sequence identity (Wells *et al.*, 1999), their three dimensional structure exhibits homology (Clark-Lewis *et al.*, 1995) and they are subdivided into four subfamilies based on the position of highly conserved cysteine residues, namely C, CC, CXC and CX3C (Nomenclature 2001; Bacon *et al.*, 2002) which are shown in table 1.1.

The CXC chemokines are further subdivided according to the presence of tri-peptide motif glutamic acid-leucine-arginine (ELR) motif in their NH₂ terminal region. Broadly, ELR+ chemokines are angiogenic and attract neutrophils to the sites of inflammation. Whereas ELR- chemokines, CXCL4, CXCL19, CXCL10, CXCL11-14, and CXCL16 are angiostatic and attract lymphocytes and monocytes (Laing *et al.*, 2004). Chemokines can also be divided by their functional properties; the "homeostatic" are constitutively expressed, whereas the "inflammatory" chemokines are upregulated following inflammatory signals.

Chemokine receptor		Chemokine ligand	Expression
CC family	CCR1	CCL3, CCL5, CCL7, CCL8, CCL14, CCL15, CCL16,CCL23	T, Mo, Eo, Ba
	CCR2	CCL2, CCL8, CCL7, CCL13, CCL16	Mo, D, T _{mem}
	CCR3	CCL5,CCL7, CCL8, CCL11, CCL13, CCL15, CCL24, CCL26, CCL28	Eo, Ba, MC, Th2, P
	CCR4	CCL17, CCL22	Th2, D, Ba
	CCR5	CCL3, CCL4,CCL5, CCL8, CCL13, CCL16	T, Mo
	CCR6	CCL20, CCL21	T _{reg} , T _{mem} , B, D
	CCR7	CCL19, CCL21	T, DC
	CCR8	CCL1, CCL18	Th2, Treg
	CCR9	CCL25	
	CCR10	CCL27, CCL28	т
CXC family	CXCR1	CXCL6, CXCL8,	N. Mo
	CXCR2	CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL6, CXCL7, CXCL8	N, Mo, En
	CXCR3	CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11	Th1, CD8, NK
	CXCR4	CXCL12	Ubiquitous
	CXCR5	CXCL13	B, Tfh
	CXCR6	CXCL16	NKT, ILC
	CXCR8	CXCL17	Mucosal
			tissue, Mo
CX3C	CX3CR1	CX3CL1, CCL26	Mac, En, SMC
XC	XCR1	XCL1, XCL2	Treg, NK
cal receptors	ACKR1	CCL2, CCL7, CCL8, CCL13,CCL14, CCL17, CCL22, CXCL1, CXCL5, CXCL6, CXCL7, CXCL8, CXCL9, CXCL11, CXCL13	Erythrocytes, neurons, VEC
	ACKR2	CCL2, CCL3, XXL3L1, CCL4, CCL5, CCL7, CCL8, CCL11, CCL13, CCL14, CCL17, CCL22	В
typi	ACKR3	CXCL11, CXCL12	
Ā	ACKR4	CCL19, CCL21, CCL25, CXCL13	En

Table 1.1 The chemokine superfamily. Adapted from (Zlotnik *et al.*, 2012) and (Graham *et al.*, 2012). Chemokine ligands and their receptors are classed into families based on the location of cysteine residues. Atypical chemokine receptors can influence the activity of other chemokines but do not signal through classical pathways. T=T lymphocyte; B = B lymphocyte; Mo = monocyte; Eo = Eosinophil; Ba = Basophil; D= dendritic cell; Tmem = memory T cell; Th = T helper cell; NK = natural killer cell; MC = Mast cell; N= neutrophil, P= platelet, Treg = regulatory T cell, En= endothelial cell, Mac = Macrophage; SMC = smooth muscle cell; HSc = hematopoietic stem cell, VEC = vascular endothelial cells.

Typical chemokine receptors are members of the G-protein coupled receptor family (GPCR), are 340-370 amino acids in length with 25-80% homology (Murphy *et al.*, 2000). GPCRs couple with intracellular heterotrimeric G-proteins, which undertake their down-stream signalling, this is discussed further later in Section 1.4. Chemokines bind to their receptors with nanomolar affinity and binding often is class restricted, for example CXC chemokines only bind to CXC receptors, with the exception of ACKR2 which binds CC and CXC chemokines (Murphy, 1996).

Atypical chemokine receptors are cell surface receptors with seven transmembrane domains that are structurally homologous to GPCRs. However, upon ligation of by their cognate chemokines, atypical chemokine receptors fail to induce classical downstream signalling. Atypical chemokine receptors can impact on the activity of other chemokine ligands by altering chemokine availability and function (Ulvmar *et al.*, 2011; Graham *et al.*, 2012).

1.3.5 Chemokine receptor internalisation

GPCR signalling can be regulated at the level of receptor expression on the cell surface. Internalisation of the receptor reduces the amount of available GPCR on the cell surface, thus attenuating receptor mediated signalling (Lefkowitz, 1998; Morris *et al.*, 1999). Following ligand activation, most GPCRs are internalised into endosomes and then either targeted for lysosomal degradation or recycled back to the plasma membrane.

There are two main pathways of GPCR internalisation which are (1) arrestin/clathrin pit or the (2) lipid/raft caveolae dependent mechanisms. (1) Briefly, intracellular domains of the receptors are phosphorylated by kinases such as GPCR kinases (GRKs) which decrease the interaction of the GPCR with G proteins and increase their interaction with β -arrestin. β -arrestin binding further inhibits G protein interaction and can activate distinct arrestin-mediated signalling. Furthermore, β -arrestins can directly link with clathrin coated pits to enhance receptor endocytosis (Ferguson, 2001; Luttrell *et al.*, 2002; Kohout *et al.*, 2003; Kohout *et al.*, 2004). (2) It is thought that GPCR signalling components concentrate in membrane micro-domains such as caveolae and lipid rafts in order to undertake rapid signalling, however although it is less well understood that internalisation of receptors in caveolae has been observed and requires dynamin (Chini *et al.*, 2004; Calizo *et al.*, 2012) (Figure 1.7). Chapter 1: Introduction

A considerable amount of our knowledge about chemokine receptors was initially determined for other GPCRs, including information about receptor trafficking. A few chemokine receptors, including CXCR1, CXCR2, CXCR4 and CCR2 and CCR5, have been more thoroughly investigated and it has been determined that like other GPCRs, chemokine receptor desensitization involves removing them from the plasma membrane by endocytosis. Although trafficking appears to be a conserved trend between chemokine receptors, the mechanisms appear to vary between individual sub-types (Borroni *et al.*, 2010; Bennett *et al.*, 2011).

Surface expression of chemokine receptors can also be altered by gene expression, mRNA stability and protein degradation as well as trafficking. This can lead to both upregulation and down-regulation of the chemokine receptor (Schioppa *et al.*, 2003; Mehta *et al.*, 2007). Expression of chemokine receptors has to be tightly regulated and their expression profile is altered dependent on an individual cells differentiation, activation and polarisation.

Chemokines receptors can be internalised via clathrin or caveolin-dependent endocytosis, although interestingly other independent pathways have also been reported (Borroni *et al.*, 2010). CCR2 and CCR5 have been shown to follow both clathrin-dependent and caveolae-mediated internalisation pathways and their route of endocytosis could be cell-type dependent (Andjelkovic *et al.*, 2002; Signoret *et al.*, 2005; Garcia Lopez *et al.*, 2009). Sorting of internalised receptor requires complex interactions with intracellular components including PDZ ligand motif and ubiquitination, which support recycling or degradation, respectively. At least 12 chemokine receptors contain the PDZ domain suggesting they are recycled (Borroni *et al.*, 2010). For CXCR4, CXCL12 stimulation appears to lead to ubiquitination and degradation (Marchese *et al.*, 2001; Mines *et al.*, 2009).

Here, the specific interest is CXCR12/CXCR4 homeostatic migration and CXCL11/CXCL10/CXCR3 inflammatory migration of naïve and activated T lymphocytes, respectively. Chemokines and chemokine receptors have been more extensively reviewed here (Olson *et al.*, 2002; Allen *et al.*, 2007; Bennett *et al.*, 2011; Graham *et al.*, 2012).


Figure 1.7 Internalisation of GPCRs. G protein-mediated signalling by agonist-activated GPCRs can be terminated through GPCR phosphorylation by GPCR kinases (GRKs) and association with arrestins, which interact with clathrin and the clathrin adaptor AP2 to drive GPCR internalization into endosomes. GPCR internalisation can also occur through dynamin association with caveolae into early endosomes. GPCR internalization regulates the functional processes of receptor desensitization. Recruitment of arrestin to activated GPCRs can also lead to the initiation of distinct arrestin-mediated signalling pathways. Following internalization, GPCRs can be trafficked to lysosomes, where they are ultimately degraded, or to recycling endosomes for recycling back to the cell surface in the functional process of resensitization. Figure adapted from (Ritter *et al.*, 2009).

1.3.6 CXCL12 and the CXCR4 receptor

CXCR4 is one of the best studied chemokine receptors, primarily due to its roles as a co-receptor in HIV entry (Feng *et al.*, 1996) and in cancer metastasis (Zlotnik, 2006). CXCR4 is widely expressed and is present on T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, monocytes, neutrophils, blood-derived dendritic cells and endothelial cells. CXCR4 can form homo- and heterodimers, with CCR2 and CD4 and possibly CCR5. Mutations which reduce CCR5 surface expression also decrease expression of CXCR4. The functional consequences of CXCR4 heterodimerization are not well understood although it is likely to be an additional means of regulating chemokine signalling (Busillo *et al.*, 2007).

Many of the chemokine receptors are promiscuous and bind several chemokines; however 6 bind a single ligand (Balkwill, 2004). CXCR4 is 352 amino acids and selectively binds the CXC chemokine, CXCL12, also known as stromal development factor 1 (SDF1). CXCR4 binding to CXCL12 initiates survival, growth and chemotaxis pathways. There are currently 6 known splice isoforms of CXCL12 (α , β , γ , δ , ϵ , ϕ) that are comprised of an identical N-terminal core but exhibit varied additions of 1-41 largely basic amino acids at their C-terminal (Yu *et al.*, 2006). These isoforms exhibit different tissue distribution; both α and β isoforms are detected in the primary tumour environment (Orimo *et al.*, 2005) and γ has recently been identified in late stage cancer (Cavnar *et al.*, 2014) however their functional importance is not well understood (Yu *et al.*, 2006).

CXCL12 also binds to atypical chemokine receptor ACKR3, also known as CXCR7, which like other atypical receptors fails to induce classical down-stream signalling. Interestingly, ACKR3 has been shown to interact with β-arrestins and induce G proteinindependent signals through ERK-1/2 phosphorylation (Canals *et al.*, 2012). Another hypothesis suggests CXCR7 is a "decoy receptor" or a chemokine scavenger (Rajagopal *et al.*, 2010). However, interestingly dimerization of CXCR4/CXCR7 induces a positive binding co-operatively which enhances CXCR4 signalling mediated by CXCL12 (Sierro *et al.*, 2007).

The CXCR4 has been indicated to be important in the correct formation of the vascular, nervous, hematopoietic and cardiac systems and mice that lack either CXCR4 or CXCL12 exhibit late gestational lethality (Nagasawa *et al.*, 1996; Zou *et al.*, 1998). In the adult, CXCR4 is vital in directional migration of haematopoietic cells. CXCL12 is able to interact with glycosaminoglycans, such as heparin sulphate, and is likely to be immobilised *in vivo* allowing for gradient formation (Hoogewerf *et al.*, 1997). Like

CXCR3, CXCR4 is coupled to G α i, and is able to inhibit adenylyl cyclase, activate Src family tyrosine kinases (SFKs), with the liberated $\beta\gamma$ subunit activating phospholipase C- β and PI3K ultimately leading to gene transcription, cell migration and cell adhesion.

Incorporation of CXCR4 into lipid rafts has been observed, and this could underlie its desensitisation. CXCL12 also stimulates the incorporation of SFKs, focal adhesion kinase, PI3K and the small G protein Rac into lipid rafts, which suggests clustering in lipid rafts is involved in allowing signalling to occur (Wysoczynski *et al.*, 2005). CXCR4 signalling is regulated by de-sensitisation, internalisation and degradation. CXCL12 signalling induces activation the G-protein coupled receptor kinase (GRK) phosphorylates of the serine/threonine residues of the third intracellular loop and the cytoplasmic tail of CXCR4. Phosphorylation allows for the binding of arrestin-2 and or arrestin-3, which successfully uncouple the G-protein and target the receptor for internalisation (Krupnick *et al.*, 1998).

1.3.7 CXCR3 receptor

CXCR3 and its ligands co-ordinate cell mediated immunity in the periphery. CXCR3 is highly expressed on effector T lymphocytes and plays an important role in CD8+ and Th1 cell trafficking and function. CXCR3 is also expressed by a number of other cells including natural killer cells, malignant B lymphocytes, endothelial cells and thymocytes (Thomas *et al.*, 2003).

CXCR3 chemokines, CXCL9 (also known as monokine induced by interferon γ) CXCL10 (interferon-inducible protein-10) and CXCL11 (interferon-inducible T cell α or ITAC) are not detectable within the non-lymphoid tissues under physiological conditions, but are strongly induced by cytokines, particularly interferon γ , during inflammation. High surface expression of CXCR3 is found on activated and memory T lymphocyte and on NK cells and is driven by interferon γ (Cole *et al.*, 1998). CXCL9, CXCL10 and CXCL11 exhibit differences in their kinetics, affinity, tissue expression pattern and their binding/activation requires two distinct intracellular domains of CXCR3 (Nedjai *et al.*, 2012) In humans, there is further complexity as there are two splice variants of the CXCR3 receptor, CXCR3-A and CXCR3-B, which exhibit different binding profiles for the ligands. Splice variants of CXCR3 are not observed in rodents which could indicate differences in function of the CXCR3 receptor between humans and rodents (Kelsen *et al.*, 2004).

Like other GPCRs, CXCR3 signalling is regulated by the level of receptor expression at the surface membrane. CXCR3 does not appear to require clathrin-coated pits to internalise the CXCR3 receptor and it has been suggested that CXCR3 is degraded in the endosome following internalisation. It has to be replenished on the membrane by *de novo* synthesis; even 3 hours after treatment with CXCL11 only 70-80% expression of CXCR3 is re-established (Meiser *et al.*, 2008). The regulation of CXCR3 surface expression is very important as CXCR3 has been indicated in playing an important role in the induction and perpetuation of several human inflammatory disorders including atherosclerosis (Mach *et al.*, 1999), autoimmune diseases (Sorensen *et al.*, 2000). Development of agents to reduce CXCR3-ligand interactions may provide novel treatments of these diseases.

1.3.8 Signals that co-ordinate T lymphocyte migration

(a) Naïve T lymphocyte extravasation

Naive T lymphocytes must overcome shear forces to be able to leave the blood. To do this they form "tethering" contacts with specialised receptors expressed in high endothelial venules (HEVs). HEV are specialized post-capillary venous swellings that have a distinctive cuboidal appearance and enable circulating lymphocytes to directly enter a lymph node from the blood. Lymphocytes in the blood express L-selectin and α 4 integrins (e.g VLA-4) on the tips of their microvilli. These form initial tethers to their ligands (e.g. vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM-1) on the endothelial cell membranes. After initial tethering, lymphocytes roll on the HEVs using a short-term interaction between CD62L (L-selectin) expressed on the T lymphocytes and addressins present upon the HEVs (Gallatin et al., 1983; Rosen, 2004). Tethering allows T lymphocyte proximity with chemokines (i.e. CCL21) associated with the endothelium. Positively charged, CCL21 is anchored onto the endothelium by binding to negatively charged heparin glycosaminoglycans, this prevents it being washed away by the shear blood flow (Bao et al., 2010). Chemokine-induced signalling activates lymphocyte function associated antigen 1 (LFA1) to bind intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) present on the T lymphocyte. This association causes T lymphocyte arrest upon the surface of the HEVs followed by the extravasation of T lymphocyte into the T cell zone of lymph nodes (von Andrian et al., 2000; von Andrian et al., 2003) [Figure 1.8].

(b) Retention in the lymph node

Lymph nodes provide an environment which maximises cell to cell collaboration between a T lymphocyte and APCs. It is estimated that a single dendritic cell in the lymph node encounters between 500-5000 T lymphocytes per hour (Bousso *et al.*, 2003; Miller *et al.*, 2004).

After T lymphocytes enter the lymph node their migration within the T cell zone is CCR7-dependent. CCR7-dependent chemokines CCL21 and CCL19 increase T lymphocyte motility and antigen scanning (Kaiser *et al.*, 2005). Competing signals are likely to dictate the longevity of T lymphocytes within the lymph node. Over time, CCL19 induces desensitisation of the CCR7 receptor, which limits the signalling retaining the cells in the lymph node (Bardi *et al.*, 2001; Kohout *et al.*, 2004).

Conversely, sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) is involved in the egress of T lymphocytes out of the lymph node. S1P is abundantly expressed in the blood and lymph, but is not present in the T cell zone of the lymph node. Lymphocytes which have recently left the blood have been exposed to high levels of S1P, which induces a transient desensitization of the S1P receptor and therefore these cells remain in the T cell zone to scavenge for antigen (Lo *et al.*, 2005; Arnon *et al.*, 2011). However, overtime the sensitivity of the S1P receptor is restored, and cells egress via the lymphatics (Figure 1.8).

(c) Inflammatory recruitment

Under inflammatory conditions, cytokines are produced within the inflamed tissues and then drained into lymph nodes. This leads to structural changes within the lymph node to further enhance antigen screening by naïve T lymphocytes. Up-regulation of ICAM-1 and CCL21 expression and increased HEV diameter enhance the rate of T lymphocyte entry into the lymph node (Janatpour *et al.*, 2001; Palframan *et al.*, 2001). Once activated, expression of specific chemokine receptors facilitates cell migration to specific sites in the periphery. For example CCR9 initiates homing to the small intestine and E-selectin, CCR4, CCR10 direct migration towards the skin (Picker *et al.*, 1993; Salmi *et al.*, 2005) (Figure 1.8). Moreover, the distinct T helper subsets express characteristic chemokine receptors, shown in Figure 1.5. The signature cytokines released by the T lymphocytes encourage tissue resident cells to release the appropriate chemokines which aids the recruitment of more cells of the same T helper subtype and contributes to a positive feedback loop (Mikhak *et al.*, 2006).

Cytotoxic CD8+ T lymphocytes have critical role in destroying resistant pathogens and malignant cells, the inflammatory environment increases their expression of CCR5. CCR5 detects CCL3, CCL4 and CCL5 gradients, which often emanate from sites where helper CD4+ are in contact with APC allowing cytotoxic cells to aid clearance (Castellino *et al.*, 2006). Once effector immune cells have combated the stimulus that originally activated and recruited them the cells are neglected, die by apoptosis and are then are cleared by macrophages resulting in the resolution of the inflammatory response. However, a few of these cells are retained as memory cells and upon recognition of the same antigen the memory T lymphocytes are rapidly re-activated.



Figure 1.8 T lymphocyte migration. Haematopoietic stem cells from the bone marrow are disseminated into the bloodstream as T cell precursor cells. These cells home to the thymus, where they differentiate into T cells. The T cells are then exported to the periphery, where they recirculate from the blood, through T cell areas of the lymph nodes and back to the blood via the thoracic duct. To be able to leave the blood, under conditions of shear blood flow, T lymphocytes undergo extravasation. 1) Selectins and VLA-4 expressed on T lymphocytes bind CD62L and VCAM-1 on the endothelial cells, respectively. This forms an initial tethering link between the T cell and the endothelial cell. 2) Next. T cells begin to roll across the surface of the endothelial cells. 3) This exposes the T cell to further selectins, addressins and chemokines which evokes the up-regulation of integrins, LFA-1 and VLA-4. These interact with endothelial ligands ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, respectively, to arrest the cell on the endothelium. 4) Intracellular signalling mechanisms facilitate the spreading, crawling and finally the transmigration of the cells, which can either occur at trans- or para- cellular routes. The transfer of T cell between the blood and lymph nodes often occurs at high endothelial venules (HEV). Under inflammatory conditions, T cells can encounter their specific antigen in the lymph nodes they become activated and expression of specific chemokine receptors facilitates cell migration to specific sites in the periphery, i.e. they gain a specific "address code" to migrate to the area of inflammation (Original graphic).

1.4 Signalling pathways involved in T lymphocyte function

T lymphocytes rely upon complex intracellular signal transduction pathways to undertake their functions of migration, activation and cytokine production. In addition, intracellular signalling provides the cell with continuous information about its environment and conveys a large amount of complex information to the cell. Multiple signalling pathways are involved in these processes; however tyrosine kinases, phospholipase C (PLC) and protein kinase C (PKC), calcium mobilisation and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) are heavily involved in T lymphocyte responses.

1.4.1 Non receptor, cytoplasmic, tyrosine kinases

There are two major families of cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase families in T lymphocytes namely, the src family kinases (SFK) family and the spleen tyrosine kinases (SYK) family. The kinases are involved in cellular processes such as proliferation, survival, growth, adhesion and migration.

In T lymphocytes, CD3 and CD28 co-receptors contain the immunoreceptor tyrosinebased activation motifs (ITAMs) sequence, $YxxLx_{(7-12)}YxxL$, in their intracellular tails. Upon ligation of the TCR receptor, this sequence becomes phosphorylated by Src family kinases (SFKs), Lck and Fyn. Phosphorylated ITAMs recruit Syk kinase family member, ZAP-70 which is tyrosine phosphorylated and activates downstream signaling SLP76 and LAT; which act as linkers to recruit a complex of signalling molecules including VAV1, ITK, GRB2, SOS and PLC γ . In addition, GPCR receptor signalling is able to activate downstream SFK and Syk signalling (Figure 1.9).

(a) SFKs

SFKs are critical in cellular responses to external stimuli and they are activated by a diverse number of factors including cytokines, antigens, integrins and chemokines. SFKs phosphorylate tyrosine residues on target proteins including Tec family member, ITK, SYKs and tyrosine kinase FAK, which activate down-stream signalling including PI3K, Rho/WASP activation of actin polymerisation and PLC/PKC (Thomas *et al.*, 1997).

Conventional Src (c-Src) kinase was the first proto-onocogene discovered encoding a tyrosine kinase and subsequent studies of its function have increased our understanding of the processes involved in malignant transformation (Blume-Jensen *et al.*, 2001). SFKs are a family of 8 non-receptor tyrosine kinases that are divided into two subfamilies, those that are c-Src related c-Src, Yes, Fyn and Fgr and those that are Lyn related Lyn, Hck, Lck and Blk, there are also three related kinases Brk, Frk and Srm (Thomas *et al.*, 1997).

All SFK family members share a similar domain arrangement, including four Src homology domains (SH). Starting at the NH2-terminal domain, there is a SH4 domain and a "unique" domain, which is highly divergent between members but contains a myristoylation site which allows the SFK to be targeted to the membrane and determines cellular localisation. The SH3 domain detects proline rich motifs which are present in signalling and structural molecules and allows the SFK to be in close proximity to signalling targets. The SH2 domain interacts with phosphotyrosine residues, when SFK are in an inactive conformation the SH2 domain interacts with a phosphorylated tyrosine in its own C-terminal at site 527. This results in a closed, inactive conformation. Finally the SH1 domain is responsible for the enzymatic activity of Src, and auto-phosphorylation at Tyr416 in the SH1 domain results in an open active conformation.

Thus the activity of SFKs is regulated by the phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of tyrosine residues within its own structure. C-terminal Src kinase (Csk) and Csk homology kinase (Chk) are tyrosine kinases which can also inactive SFK signalling by phosphorylating Tyr527, in particular Chk forms a non-covalent bond with Tyr527 to block kinase activity (Chong *et al.*, 2006; Okada, 2012). Phosphatases including phosphatase 1B and phosphatase- α are capable of removing the phosphate group exposing the catalytic SH1 site (Xu *et al.*, 1999).

Chapter 1. Introduction

SFK expression differs amongst cell types and T lymphocytes predominately express Lck and Fyn which are 56 and 59kDa proteins respectively. Lck is expressed throughout the developmental lifetime of a T cell, whereas Fyn protein is transiently decreased at the double positive stage of thymocyte development but is upregulated thereafter in more mature cells (Cooke *et al.*, 1989; Olszowy *et al.*, 1995). Lck and Fyn have distinct localization within T cells. Lck has been shown to associate with the cytoplasmic tails of T-cell co-receptors CD4 and CD8 (Rudd *et al.*, 1988; Shaw *et al.*, 1989) and commonly directs signalling through ZAP-70 to co-ordinate cell activation and survival. Fyn has been observed to be largely co-localised with the focal adhesion kinase (FAK) family (Qian *et al.*, 1997) and also activates WASP in T lymphocyte (Badour *et al.*, 2004) indicating a role for Fyn in migration, adhesion and synapse formation.

SFK signalling can also be activated downstream of GPCRs, G-proteins been shown to directly stimulate c-Src and Hck, by evoking a conformational change in their structure to reveal their active sites (Ma *et al.*, 2000). Lyn kinase activation has also been observed downstream of CXCR4 and CCR5 signalling in macrophages.

(b) SYK

There are two members of the splenic tyrosine kinase family (SYK) kinases, namely Syk and Zeta-chain associated kinase 70kDa (ZAP-70). SYK are non-receptor, cytoplasmic, tyrosine kinases that have been implicated in the activation of PI3K, PLCγ, MAPK, nuclear factor-κB and the mobilization of calcium from intracellular stores (Rao *et al.*, 1997; Lewis, 2001). SYKs share a characteristic dual SH2 domain separated by a linker domain (Au-Yeung *et al.*, 2009).

Typically, SFKs phosphorylate the ITAM adaptors which create docking sites for SYK kinases, thus SYK signalling is dependent upon SFK signalling. Interestingly, genetic silencing and pharmacological blockade studies have indicated that inhibition of SFKs and SYK does not always produce the same phenotypic consequences or effect down-stream signalling in the same way. Instead, there is a high level of redundancy between the different SFK isoforms and they are involved in signalling pathways which do not involved SYK activation. As such, SFKs have been described to tune signalling responses in a graded fashion and although SYK signalling is also involved in broad

functional effects they are more defined due to a lack of redundancy and are critical in certain pathways (Lowell, 2011).

Syk is abundant in B lymphocytes and expressed at lower levels in immature T cells, mast cells, endothelial cells and platelets. Syk has key roles in B lymphocyte proliferation and migration and in developmental angiogenesis (Turner *et al.*, 2000). In particular, it has recently been indicated that Syk has a key role in co-ordinating B lymphocyte actin cytoskeleton re-organisation, $Fc\gamma$ receptor clustering (Jaumouille *et al.*, 2014) and Syk signalling is up-regulated in acute B lymphoblastic leukaemia (Uckun *et al.*, 2014)

In contrast, ZAP-70 is predominately expressed in T lymphocytes and has an imperative role in their activation and development. ZAP-70 deficiency mutations in human T lymphocytes causes patient's to exhibit severe combined immune deficiency syndrome (Elder *et al.*, 1994; Matsuda *et al.*, 1999). ZAP-70 is known to associate with phosphorylated ITAMs in the CD3 and ζ chain dimers of the TCR receptor and mediate signalling. In addition, ZAP-70 has also been shown to be required for CXCR4 mediated migration of T lymphocytes (Ticchioni *et al.*, 2002) in the absence of a functional TCR receptor. This implies that ZAP-70 is activated downstream of CXCR4 ligation; however the requirement of SYK induced signalling in migration is less well understood than in TCR activation.



Figure 1.9 SFK and SYK signalling in T lymphocytes. SFK and SYK signalling is activated downstream of TCR and GPCR activation. Following cell activation, SFKs typically phosphorylate ITAM containing adaptors, CD3, CD28 to create docking sites for SYK kinases. SFKs also phosphorylate ZAP-70, Tec kinase Itk and Fak/Pyk2 (Shown in purple) to activate signalling involved in T cell activation and migration.. ZAP-70 is activated by the SFK tyrosine phosphorylation and is recruited to the phosphorylated ITAM domains. Next ZAP-70 phosphorylates SLP76 and LAT (Shown in green) and co-ordinates the formation of the LAT signalosome. PLCv1 is recruited and hydrolyses its substrate PI(4,5)P2 into IP3 and diacylglycerol (DAG). IP3 acts upon IP3 receptors in the endoplasmic reticulum and stimulates the release of calcium (Ca²⁺). Intracellular Ca²⁺ evokes Ca²⁺-dependent Ca²⁺ influx, through STIM and ORAI channels in the plasma membrane to enhance the Ca²⁺ signal. Ca²⁺ activates transcription factor Nuclear Factor of Activated T lymphocytes (NFAT) leading to synthesis of IL-2. DAG activates PKC signalling and the Ras/MAPK pathway to regulate gene expression and T lymphocyte activation. ZAP-70 also activates Fak/ Pyk2 which initiates signalling to regulate focal adhesions and cell movement (Own graphic).

1.4.2 Pharmacological targeting of SFKs and SYK

Given the importance of SYK signalling downstream of ITAM domains, its inhibition has therapeutic potential to treat a number of immune related diseases. Abnormal signalling through SYK has been implicated in several hematopoietic malignancies (Calpe *et al.*, 2013; Tan *et al.*, 2013; Puissant *et al.*, 2014; Krisenko *et al.*, 2015). Several transforming viruses contain ITAM domains including Epstein Barr virus, which lead to the pathological activation of SYK. Thus, Syk inhibition has been proposed as a therapy for lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic and inhibitors are in clinical trials (Friedberg *et al.*, 2010). Syk inhibition is also putative treatment of auto-immune diseases. Fostamatinib (R788) an orally active pan inhibitor has recently produced promising results in a phase II clinical trial for human rheumatoid arthritis which is resistant to methotrexate (Kaur *et al.*, 2014).

Novel pan inhibitors of SFKs have also been designed and are being investigated in the treatment of cancer. Dasatinib (BMS-354825), a selective pan SFK inhibitor is currently approved for the second line treatment of chronic myeloid leukaemia and several other inhibitors are in clinical trials for the treatment of solid tumours. Dasatinib also has a potential therapeutic use in prostate cancer (Nam *et al.*, 2005) and inhibits T lymphocyte activation and proliferation so could be useful in autoimmune disease and transplant allograft rejection (Schade *et al.*, 2008), although long term inhibition of SFK could result in several side effects due to its wide spread functions.

1.4.3 PLC, PKC and calcium mobilisation

PLC and PKC have been demonstrated to be activated downstream of chemokine receptors and TCR ligation. TCR activation evokes PLC γ recruitment (Irvin *et al.*, 2000) and chemokine receptor activation leads to the activation of PLC β either directly or via signalling of several protein kinases (Wu *et al.*, 1993). The PLC family contains 6 isoforms, namely β , γ , δ , and the more recently identified ϵ , ζ , η (Katan, 1996; Hwang *et al.*, 2005).

PLC recruitment and activation brings it into close proximity with its membrane anchored substrate PI[4,5]P2 and results in its hydrolysis into two second messengers diacyloglycerol (DAG) and inositol triphosphate (IP3). IP3 binds to the IP3 receptor (IP3R), which is itself a calcium permeable ion channel, and evokes the release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular endoplasmic reticulum (ER) Ca²⁺ stores. Ca²⁺ release from the ER activates STIM or ORAI channels in the plasma member. Intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations are crucial for the activation of gene transcription and cytokine gene expression, as well as cytoskeleton rearrangements (Lewis, 2001; Feske, 2007). PLCβ are the most abundantly expressed in the immune system and are involved in neutrophil function (Tang *et al.*, 2011).

DAG is highly hydrophilic, and anchors to both conventional PKC (cPKC - α , β and γ) and novel PKC (nPKC - δ , ε , η and θ) isoforms at the inner leaflet. There are three groups of PKC isoforms, cPKC are sensitive to Ca²⁺ and DAG binding, whereas nPKC are DAG sensitive but Ca²⁺ insensitive and atypical PKCs ζ and λ contain altered C1 domains and are both DAG and calcium insensitive. nPKCs (apart from δ) have been shown to be required for microtubule organising centre (MTOC) to the immunological synapse (Quann *et al.*, 2009; Quann *et al.*, 2011). PKC θ alongside GRB2 and SOS activate of GTPase Ras which has multiple roles in cell growth (Roose *et al.*, 2005). In addition, other PKC substrates include PKD1 which forms a complex with adhesion and degranulation promoting adaptor protein (ADAP) and SLP76 and RAPL which are involved in integrin activation (Trucy *et al.*, 2006). Consistently, PKC has also been found to be involved in migration of T cells (Cronshaw *et al.*, 2006).

1.4.4 PI3K family signalling

PI3K activation co-ordinates cell activation, growth, survival, proliferation, differentiation and the homing of inflammatory cells to the site of infection (Courtneidge *et al.*, 1987; Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2012). Four distinct PI3K subclasses exist, which are designated Class I, II, III and IV due to their subunit composition, substrate specificity and regulation. Functionally, Class I PI3Ks phosphorylate the 3' hydroxyl group of inositol ring of phosphoinositol (4,5) bis-phosphate (PI(4,5)P2) to convert it to phosphoinositol (3,4,5) tris-phosphate (PI(3,4,5)P3), whereas Class II PI3Ks convert PI-4-P into PI-3,4-P2 and the conversion of PI to PI-3-P can be mediated by both Class II and III PI3Ks. Class I PI3Ks are the most extensively studied, and their product PI(3,4,5)P3 is able to recruit and co-ordinate the activation of pleckstrin homology (PH) domain containing proteins, of which the most notable is the serine threonine protein kinase B (Akt). Akt activation initiates a plethora of signalling cascades which are described in detail in Figure 1.10.

Class I PI3Ks are heterodimers comprised of a 110kDa catalytic subunit and a smaller Src Homology 2 (SH2) domain containing regulatory subunit. PI3K regulatory subunits have two vital functions in quiescent cells which are to inhibit PI3Ks functional activity and prevent the catalytic subunit protosomal degradation (Yu *et al.*, 1998). Class I PI3Ks are further subdivided into two classes; the Class IA isoforms are composed of the catalytic subunits p110 α , p110 β and p110 δ , which are associated with the regulatory subunits p85 α , p55 α , p50 α , p85 β or p55 γ , whereas the Class IB catalytic subunit is p110 γ which associates with either p84/p87. Class IA PI3K are principally activated by receptor tyrosine kinases (*i.e.* cytokine and antigen receptors), as their regulatory subunits contain SH2 domains which allow their recruitment to tyrosine phosphorylated proteins at the plasma membrane. In contrast, Class IB PI3Ks are generally activated upon G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) ligation (*i.e.* chemokine receptors) (Foster *et al.*, 2012; Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2012) However, PI3K β can also couple to GPCRs (Guillermet-Guibert *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 1.10 Class I PI3K signalling pathways involved in regulating cell function. Adapted from (Workman *et al.*, 2012), this diagram indicates the core components of PI3K signalling. Abbreviations include glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3β), Bcl-2-associated death promoter (BAD), 3-phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 (PDK-1), phospholipase C (PLC), protein kinase A (PKA), mammalian target of rapamycin complex (mTOR), Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), Serine/threonine-protein kinase (SGK), Tuberous sclerosis protein 1 & 2 (TSC1; TSC2) Ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta-1 (p70S6K) extracellular-signal-regulated kinases (ERK1/2), mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK), Fas ligand (FASL), B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL2), Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1 (4EBP), Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (EIF46) and Eukaryotic elongation factor-2 kinase (EEF2K).

1.4.5 Pharmacological targeting of PI3K

Activation of PI3K initiates signalling cascades involved in the regulation of numerous cellular functions, such as growth, proliferation, migration and cytokine production (Fruman et al., 2009; Sasaki et al., 2009; So et al., 2012a) and is crucial for normal functioning of the immune system. Over-active and dysregulated PI3K signalling is however associated with chronic inflammation, immune-mediated disorders as well as cancer (Yuan et al., 2008; Ghigo et al., 2010; Marwick et al., 2010; Suarez-Fueyo et al., 2011). Specifically, the hematopoietic cell restricted PI3K isoforms (y and δ) are indicated as eliciting co-ordinated but non-redundant roles in the immune system. As such, null p110y and p110b mice exhibit severely defective immune responses to infection (Ji et al., 2007). Based on these findings selective inhibition of PI3Kδ or PI3Kγ isoforms was proposed as a putative treatment of haematological malignancies and autoimmune/inflammatory disease. Targeting these isoforms with their restricted expression profile should prevent widespread inhibition of other more widely expressed isoforms (e.g. p110 α , p110 β). Although there has been success at designing PI3K δ inhibitors which have promising results against hematopoietic cancer, with PI3Kō inhibitor Idelalisib now approved for treatment of CLL in the US (Wong et al., 2010; Foster et al., 2012; Meadows et al., 2012; So et al., 2012a), as yet the use of PI3K inhibitors to treat inflammatory disorders has been disappointing.

A phase II study of PI3K $\gamma\delta$ inhibitor duvelisib (IPI-145) failed to meet its primary endpoint, which led to Infinity Pharmaceuticals announcing that it will not proceed with any further development of PI3K inhibitors in rheumatoid arthritis; however it will continue to elevate duvelisib for the treatment of hematopoietic cancers. [Infinity press release (Infinity, 2015)]. In addition, Gilead sciences have terminated development of CAL-263 after a Phase I trial for allergic rhinitis, and idelasib (CAL-101) no longer appears upon their development pipeline for the treatment of inflammatory diseases following completion of its Phase I trial for allergic rhinitis (Gilead website). There is the possibility that PI3K γ inhibitors could be useful in inflammatory diseases, however it has been very difficult to design highly selective PI3K γ inhibitors with an acceptable window of selectivity for p110 γ versus other class IA isoforms and this has only recently been achieved (Bergamini *et al.*, 2012). PI3K inhibitors that are currently in clinical trials are summarised in table 1.2 and IC₅₀ values of commonly used pan PI3K inhibitors and selective p110 γ and p110 δ inhibitors shown in Table 1.3

Drug & Company	Target	Therapeutic target	Toxicities	Phase of clinical trial
Pictilisib (GDC-0941) Roche	p110-α,-β -γ, -δ	Breast, NSCLC, melanoma, endometrial, pancreatic tumours	Nausea, Diarrhoea, rash, vomiting	IB/II
Taselisib (GDC-0032) Genentech	Mutated p11 0-α, PIK3CA	Breast tumours, NSCLC	Diarrhoea, rash, vomiting, anorexia	I
Idelalsib (CAL-101) Gilead	p110-δ	CLL/SLL/iNHL,MCL	Pyrexia, nausea, fatigue	Approved CLL & FL
Buparlisib (BKM120) Novartis	p110-α, -β,- γ, -δ	Advanced breast cancer, Endometrial cancer	Rash, diarrhoea, mood alteration	Ш
Dactolisib (BEZ235) Novartis	p110-α, -β,- γ, -δ /mTOR	Breast tumours, GBM	Mucositis	IB/II
Copanlisib (BAY80-6946) Bayer	р110-α, -δ	CLL, NHL	Nausea, diarrhoea, anaemia, mucositis & fatigue	II
Duvelisib (IPI-145) Infinity	р110,-ү, -б	Blood cancers. CLL, MM, iNHL, Asthma	Hepatic toxicity, respiratory infection	IIa - asthma, I - cancer
Omipalisib (GSK-2126458) GlaxoSmithKline	p110-α, -β,- γ, -δ /mTOR	RCC, bladder tumours, IPF	Nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea	I
RP6530 Rhizen	р110,-ү, -б	B and T cell malignancies & CLL	N/a	Recruiting Phase I
AMG-319 Amgen	р110,-б	CLL & NHL	Anaemia, nausea	Phase I ongoing
TG-1202 (RP5264) TG/Rhizen	р110,-б	CLL & NHL	N/a	Phase I (recruiting
AQX-1125 Aquinox	Activation of SHIP-1	Asthma, COPD, Bladder pain/cystitis	Mild nausea, abdominal pain and dyspepsia	lla

Table 1.2 PI3K inhibitors and SHIP-1 activator currently in clinical trials. Details for PI3K/mTOR pathway inhibitors that are currently in clinical trials, including their associated companies, their isoform targets, clinical indication, reported side effects and phase of clinical development. SHIP-1 activator is highlighted in pink. First approved in series highlighted green and inhibitors developed for inflammatory disease highlighted blue. Abbreviations: chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, (CLL) small lymphocytic lymphoma (SLL) Indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma (iNHL) mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) multiple myeloma (MM), renal cell carcinoma (RCC) non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF).References: Pictilisib (Wallin et al., 2012; Munugalavadla et al., 2014), Taselisib (Ndubaku et al., 2013), Idelalsib (Inman, 2014; Okoli et al., 2015), Buparlisib (Bendell et al., 2012) Dactolisib (Chen et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014) Copanlisib (Cheng et al., 2011; Glauer et al., 2013) IPI-145 (Dong et al., 2014) Omipalisib (Leung et al., 2011; Norman, 2014), RP6530: (Savona et al., 2013), AMG-319 (Castillo et al., 2014; Sinclair A et al., 2011) and TG-1202 (Burris et al., 2014). SHIP-1 activator AQX-1125 (Stenton et al., 2013a; Leaker et al., 2014).

]			
Compound	p110α	p110β	p110δ	p110γ	References
ZSTK474	16	44	4.6	49	(Kong <i>et al.</i> , 2007)
LY294002	5500	1100	160	1200	"
AS-605240	3400	>20,000	>20,000	190	(Bilancio <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006)
IC87114	>100,000	1820	70	1240	"

Table 1.3 IC₅₀ values of commonly used pan PI3K inhibitors and selective p110 γ and p110 δ inhibitors. Individual IC₅₀ values from *in vitro* assays with either purified or recombinant proteins.

1.4.6 Novel approaches to manipulate PI3K signalling in the immune system

The lack of effective PI3K inhibitors in the treatment of inflammatory pathologies has led to increased interest in other candidates within the PI3K signalling cascade such as the lipid phosphatase SH2 domain containing inositol phosphatase 1 (SHIP-1) which physiologically modulates PI3K-dependent signalling (Blunt *et al.*, 2012a; Blunt *et al.*, 2012b).

PI(3,4,5)P3 accumulation is counteracted by two intracellular lipid phosphatase families; namely phosphatase and tensin homology (PTEN) and SH-2 domain containing inositol phosphatase (SHIP). Enzymatically, lipid phosphatase PTEN functions to directly inhibit PI3K-dependent signalling by removing the 3' phosphate group of PI(3,4,5)P3 and converting it back to PI(4,5)P2 (Figure 1.11). In contrast, SHIP hydrolyses 5' phosphate from PI(3,4,5)P3 to produce PI(3,4)P2. Activation of either PTEN or SHIP-1 is proposed to mimic the effect of a pan PI3K inhibitor as they encourage a reduction of cellular PI(3,4,5)P3 accumulation, however SHIP-1 is a highly attractive target for the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases and blood cancers due to its primarily restricted expression in hematopoietic cell lineages (Blunt *et al.*, 2012a).



Figure 1.11 Regulation of PI3K signalling. 1. Recruitment and activation of PI3K occurs upon stimulation of receptor tyrosine kinases (i.e. cytokine or antigen receptors), tyrosine coupled-receptors and GPCRs (chemokine receptors). 2. Active PI3K phosphorylates the 3' region of PI(4,5)P2 to the signalling lipid PI(3,4,5)P3. 3. Recruitment and phosphorylation of the PH domain containing Akt mediates a plethora of signalling cascades which regulate cell migration, proliferation, survival, glucose metabolism and cytokine synthesis. 4. Ligation of GPCR chemokine receptors and receptor tyrosine kinases/ tyrosine-coupled receptors evokes the relocation of lipid phosphatase SHIP-1 to the plasma membrane. 5. SHIP-1 dephosphorylates the 5' region of PI(3,4,5)P3 to PI(3,4)P2 and thus negatively regulates PI3K-dependent signalling. 6. However, PI(3,4)P2 still has signalling properties and is able to exclusively recruit TAPP1 & TAPP2 which can also negatively regulate PI3K signalling. In addition, PI(3,4)P2 has a putative role in cell survival pathways and is suggested to be required for full activity of Akt.

1.5 SHIP-1

There are three known isoforms of SHIP; SHIP-1 is restricted to hematopoietic cells, SHIP-2 is widely expressed with particularly high levels in the brain, heart and skeletal muscles and s-SHIP is primarily reported to be restricted to stem cells, their structures are shown in Figure 1.12. In addition to its catalytic role, SHIP-1 is a scaffolding protein which interacts with Growth factor receptor-bound protein (Grb), SH2 domaincontaining protein-tyrosine phosphatase (SHP-2), Docking proteins (Doks), GRB2associated-binding protein (Gab) and immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition/activation motifs (ITIMs and ITAMs). As such, SHIP-1 acts as a pluripotent regulator of hematopoietic cell function (Ming-Lum et al., 2012). Most of these interactions contribute to the negative regulation of PI3K signalling by SHIP independently of its catalytic activity. For example, binding of SHIP-1 to ITAM containing adaptor proteins via the SH2 domain, can prevent PI3K recruitment via the p85 regulatory subunit (Peng et al., 2010) and impaired recruitment of the tyrosine phosphatase SHP1 to the SLAM family receptor 2B4 in NK cells (Wahle et al., 2007). However, there is evidence that the scaffolding role of SHIP-1 can potentiate EGFinduced PLC-gamma1 activation (Song et al., 2005) and facilitates a positive regulatory role in TLR-induced cytokine production (Ruschmann et al., 2010). In addition, a pleckstrin homology (PH)-related (PH-R) domain binds PI(3,4,5)P₃ and is required for localization of SHIP-1 to the phagocytic cup and SHIP-1 mediated inhibition of FcyRmediated phagocytosis by macrophages (Ming-Lum et al., 2012).

Although SHIP-1 is catalytically active in the cytosol, physical recruitment to the plasma membrane is required for its ability to function upon its substrate PI(3,4,5)P3. Ligation of chemokine, antigen, co-stimulatory and cytokine receptors as well as IgG engagement by Fc γ RIIB are all able to recruit SHIP-1 to the plasma membrane (Bruhns *et al.*, 2000) and phosphorylate the C terminal NPXY region of SHIP-1. Compounds which restrict or enhance SHIP-1 recruitment could function as activators or inhibitors of PI3K signalling respectively. Interactions between CD3 and the TCR ζ chain with the SH2 domain of SHIP-1 have been observed *in vitro* (Osborne *et al.*, 1996). In addition, the stimulation of CD3 and CD28 has been shown to cause tyrosine phosphorylation, increased catalytic activity, and a marked re-distribution of SHIP-1 from the cytosol to the surface membrane (Edmunds *et al.*, 1999).

40



Figure 1.12 Schematic representation of structure of the lipid phosphatase regulators of PI3K mediated signalling. SHIP-1 structure includes a N-terminal SH2 domain, which can bind phospho-tyrosine, and a recently identified PH-related domain, which can associate with PI(3,4,5)P3. The catalytic phosphatase region of SHIP-1 is centrally located next to a C2 domain which can bind PI(3,4)P2 and allosterically enhance SHIP-1s catalytic activity. The C-terminal of SHIP-1 has a proline rich domain and NPXY motifs. In contrast to SHIP-1, SHIP-2 also processes a Ubiquitin-interacting motif and a SAM-SAM interaction domain and s-SHIP lacks a SH2 domain. PTEN structure contains a 3' phosphatase region, a C2 region which binds to the phospholipid membrane in order to bring PTEN into close proximity with PI(3,4,5)P3 and a PDZ domain.

1.5.1 Evidence for the role of SHIP-1 in disease pathogenesis

(a) Cancer

PI3K-dependent signalling presents a compelling target for the treatment of cancers due to known roles in cell survival, proliferation and differentiation (Yuan *et al.*, 2008). In addition, PI3K/AKT/mTOR signalling is consistently over-active in various cancers. It is therefore unsurprising that PTEN is a well characterised tumor suppressor gene (Li *et al.*, 1997; Choi *et al.*, 2002; Sulis *et al.*, 2003; Downes *et al.*, 2007) and this would also imply that hematopoietic restricted SHIP-1 could exhibit a role in blood cancer treatment. Inactive SHIP-1 mutants are present in lymphoblastic and acute myeloid leukaemia (Luo *et al.*, 2003; Luo *et al.*, 2004). Likewise, SHIP-1 is lost in erythroleukaemia development (Lakhanpal *et al.*, 2010), murine pancreatic cancer (Pilon-Thomas *et al.*, 2011) and myelodysplastic syndrome progenitor cells. Consistently, over-expression of SHIP-1 inhibits myeloid leukemic growth (Lee *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, similarly to PTEN, SHIP-1 has indeed been indicated as a tumour suppressive gene.

However, to suggest that SHIP-1 only functions to suppress PI3K dependent signalling is a vast simplification. The SHIP-1 product PI(3,4)P2 has its own signalling properties such as the recruitment of DAPP1 (dual adaptor of phosphotyrosine and 3-phosphoinositides) and TAPPs (tandem PH domain containing protein) (Dowler *et al.*, 2000; Thomas *et al.*, 2001). Interestingly, low levels of PI(3,4)P2 are potentially required for the full activation of Akt and Akt actually has a higher affinity for PI(3,4)P2 than PI(3,4,5)P3. SHIP-1 inhibition results in apoptosis of blood cancer cells which express SHIP-1 such as KG-1 (human myeloid cell line), suggesting PI(3,4)P2 was actually required for their survival (Brooks *et al.*, 2010). In addition, PI(3,4)P2 levels are increased in leukemic cells and increasing the level of PI(3,4)P2 promotes the transformation and tumourigenicity of mouse embryonic fibroblasts. As such, there is currently significant interest in developing SHIP-1 inhibitors as a putative treatment of multiple myeloma; a disease with a high unmet medical need due to lack of effective treatment.

(b) Autoimmune or inflammatory disease

SHIP-1 is also proposed to be important in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases as evidenced by its role in: (1) immune cell development and homeostasis, (2) immune cell chemotaxis and (3) inflammatory mediator production.

The characterization of SHIP-1 knock out (^(-/-)) mice has provided a vital insight into its function in immune cells. SHIP-1^(-/-) mice are viable and fertile however their lifespan is significantly shortened with only 40% survival at 12 weeks. Interestingly, myeloproliferative disorder and massive infiltration of myeloid cells into the lungs is the main cause of the premature death (Helgason *et al.*, 1998). SHIP-1 deficient mice exhibit altered immune cell homeostasis with an imbalance between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory myeloid and lymphoid cells. For example, SHIP-1^(-/-) mice have an increase in type 2 macrophages (M2) (Liu *et al.*, 1999).

In addition, comparing germline and conditional SHIP-1 null mice has been instrumental in identifying an important role of SHIP-1 in immune function (Helgason et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2002b; Tarasenko et al., 2007; Leung et al., 2009). In T lymphocytes, SHIP-1 has a crucial role in the development of Th17 cells and in regulating the balance between pro- and anti- inflammatory T lymphocyte populations (Locke et al., 2009). Mice carrying a T lymphocyte-specific deletion of SHIP-1 uncovered a regulatory role for SHIP-1 in controlling Th1/Th2 bias and cytotoxic responses as a result of its inhibitory effect on T-bet expression. Hence, SHIP-1 null T lymphocytes do not skew efficiently to a Th2 phenotype and display Th1-dominant immune responses in vitro and in vivo (Tarasenko et al., 2007). This is in contrast to evidence from germline SHIP-1 null mice, which indicates that SHIP-1 can also repress Th2 skewing by inhibiting IL-4 production from basophils. T lymphocyte-specific deletion of SHIP-1 using CD4CreSHIPflox/flox mice, had no effect on T-lymphocyte development, activation state or Treg-cell numbers (Tarasenko et al., 2007). However, a recent study using in LckCreSHIPflox/flox mice reported significant reduction in the frequency of splenic CD3⁺ T lymphocytes and CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the peripheral blood relative to SHIPflox/flox controls (Collazo et al., 2012). The discrepancy may be because deletion of SHIP in CD4CreSHIPflox/flox mice may occur at a different time during T-lymphocyte development compared to deletion point SHIP in LckCreSHIPflox/flox mice.

PI3K-dependent Akt phosphorylation is vital in cells due to its importance in regulating inflammatory cell activation and survival. Reducing Akt dependent signals would be a method of reducing immune cell over-activation in autoimmune and inflammatory

Chapter 1. Introduction

disease. SHIP-1 overexpression reduces Akt phosphorylation and SHIP-1 deficiency markedly increases Akt phosphorylation in T lymphocytes, macrophages and mast cells. In addition, SHIP-1 activation decreases Akt phosphorylation in multiple immune cells types (Kerr, 2011). Consistently with their reduced Akt phosphorylation, over expression of SHIP-1 in macrophages, mast cells, T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes and dendritic cells elicit a reduced activation to bacterial mitogens. Likewise, SHIP-1 activation has been observed to reduce the secretion of inflammatory mediators GM-CSF, TNF- α , IFN γ and IL-2 in murine splenocytes as wells reducing LPS-mediated TNF- α release from macrophage (Leung *et al.*, 2009).

Immune cell migration is often observed to be dysregulated in immune pathologies. In addition, the ability of T cells to polarise and migrate is essential for the homing of lymphocytes to lymph nodes during immune-surveillance as well as to peripheral tissues during an immune response. PI(3,4,5)P₃ production is evident at the leading edge of polarized neutrophils (Wang *et al.*, 2002a; Ward, 2006), whilst PI3K is activated by most chemokine receptors expressed by T lymphocytes (Ward *et al.*, 2009) and is crucial in lymphocyte adhesion (Mazerolles *et al.*, 1996). Ectopic expression of constitutively active SHIP-1 into leukemic cells normally deficient in SHIP-1 impeded chemokine mediated signalling and migration (Wain *et al.*, 2005). Remarkably, the silencing of SHIP-1 expression in primary human T cells had no effect on directional migration, though basal migration was significantly impaired and this correlated with disassembly of microvilli and dephosphorylation of the actin associated proteins ezrin, radixin and moesin (Harris *et al.*, 2011).

Several opportunistic pathogens have exploited SHIP-1s regulatory role at inhibiting immune cell function to avoid immune detection. Gram negative bacteria *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans,* which is involved in the pathology of meningitis and bronchopneumonia, avoids being detected by the immune system by producing Cytolethal distending toxin subunit (CdtB). CdtB mechanistically acts like SHIP-1, to dephosphorylate the 5' position of PI(3,4,5)P3, which causes cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis (Shenker *et al.*, 2007). In a similar fashion, the measles virus produces SIP-110, a SHIP-1 homolog, to reduce PI(3,4,5)P3 dependent T lymphocyte activation (Avota *et al.*, 2006). SHIP1 has been directly implicated in the pathogenesis of a variety of diseases including allergic inflammation, asthma, acute lung injury and inflammatory bowel disease (Kerr, 2011).

1.5.2 Pharmacological manipulators of SHIP-1

(a) SHIP-1 activators

To date, most genetic strategies to silence SHIP-1 protein expression have not been able to make a satisfactory distinction between effects caused by the ablation of SHIP-1 catalytic activity versus the removal of the various non-catalytic structural roles of SHIP-1 (Blunt *et al.*, 2012b). The SHIP-1 activators are known to target the C2 domain of SHIP-1, a region which binds the SHIP-1 catalytic product $PI(3,4)P_2$ inducing allosteric activation (Ong *et al.*, 2007). Adaptor functions of SHIP-1 are unlikely to be altered by pharmacological targeting and so, may offer the opportunity to discriminate between functions dependent on catalytic versus adaptor roles of SHIP-1.

The first SHIP-1 activator, named pelorol, was isolated from the marine invertebrate Dactylospongia elegans in 2005. The development of more potent and synthetic activators has since been undertaken by Aquinox Pharmaceuticals Inc, (Richmond, BC, Canada; (Ong et al., 2007). Their lead compound AQX-1125 (1S,3S,4R)-4-[(3aS,4R,5S,7aS)-4-aminomethyl)-7a-methyl-1-methylidene-octahydro-1H-inden-5-yl]-3(hydroxymethyl-4-methylcyclohexan-1-ol; acetic acid salt [Figure 1.13]) reduces Akt phosphorylation in human leukemic T lymphocyte lines and murine B lymphocytes and importantly has been observed to inhibit several immune cells migration in vitro. Mechanistically, AQX-1125 was found to bind directly to SHIP-1, but failed to activate the enzyme when the C2 domain was deleted, suggesting it function is mediated through the C2 domain. In addition AQX-1125 was observed to activate SHIP-1 by inducing a concentration dependent reduction in the K_m of the enzyme, rather that affecting k_{cat} or V_{max}. Hence, Aquinox suggest that AQX-1125 induces a conformational change of SHIP-1, which results in better substrate binding and enzyme efficiency (Stenton et al., 2013a). AQX-1125 has completed phase 2a trials for the treatment of mild to moderate asthma and significantly attenuated the late-phase response and improved FEV1 following allergen challenge (Meimetis et al., 2012; Stenton et al., 2013a; Leaker et al., 2014) In addition, AQX-1125 is in two ongoing phase II trials for the treatment of interstitial cystitis /bladder pain syndrome and COPD (Table 1.1). Aquinox Pharmaceuticals are also recruiting participants for a Phase II pilot efficacy and safety study of AQX-1125 in atopic dermatitis [Aquinox Pharmaceuticals press release (Pharmaceuticals, 2015)].

(b) SHIP-1 inhibitors

The first SHIP-1 inhibitor was identified in 2010 using high throughput screening and termed 3α-aminocholestane (3AC) (Brooks *et al.*, 2010) (Figure 1.13). 3AC increased the number of erythrocytes, neutrophils and platelets in myelosuppressed mice and increased the number of T regulatory cells which inhibited allogeneic T lymphocyte responses *in vivo*. Surprisingly, 3AC was observed to induce the apoptosis of leukemic cell lines and multiple myeloma cells. Given that the enzymatic product of SHIP-1, PI(3,4)P2, has been shown to be able to activate Akt (Brooks *et al.*, 2010), this might be explained by the idea that a set amount of both PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 are required for optimal Akt activation. Therefore inhibiting SHIP-1 could disrupt the balance and promote cell apoptosis. At present the site at which 3AC binds to SHIP-1 is unknown.



Figure 1.13 Chemical structures of SHIP-1 modulators. (A) SHIP-1 activator AQX-

1125 (Stenton *et al.*, 2013a) and (B) 3α-aminochlolestane (3AC) (Brooks *et al.*, 2010).

1.6 Reactive oxygen species in cell signalling

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) is the collective term for all reactive oxygen derivatives, and includes radicals such as superoxide (O2⁻⁻) hydroxyl (OH) and perocxyl (RO₂) and non-radicals such as hydrogen peroxide, hypochlorous acid (HOCI) and singlet ${}^{1}O_{2}$. ROS are short-lived, highly electrophilic molecules generated by the partial reduction of oxygen. Some ROS are highly oxidising (e.g. OH, HOCI) and can form radical chain reactions; others are a rather mild oxidants (e.g. H₂O₂) (Winterbourn *et al.*, 2008). ROS species are known to induce bifurcate responses within cells. High concentrations evoke cell death and low concentrations are required for cell survival and signalling. Thus, regulation of ROS production must be very tightly controlled. The following sub-sections describe cellular sources and anti-oxidant defence mechanisms of ROS (Figure 1.14).



Figure 1.14 Reactive oxygen species. Superoxide (O_2-) is generated from various sources, which include NADPH oxidase (NOX) and the mitochondria. Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) is generated from dual oxidase (DUOX) enzymes and when two molecules of superoxide undergo dismutation, which is catalysed by superoxide dismutase (SOD). Catalase catalyses the breakdown of H_2O_2 into H_2O and O_2 In the presence of iron (Fe²⁺), superoxide and hydrogen peroxide react in a metal-catalysed reaction to generate hydroxyl radical (•OH), termed the Fenton reaction. In addition, hypochlorous acid (HOCI), hypothiocyanus acid (HOSCN) and nitrogen dioxide (•NO₂) are formed from hydrogen peroxide and peroxidase reactions. Nitric oxide (NO) can react with superoxide to form peroxynitrite (ONOO-). The green colour indicates the ROS with reported signalling roles, whereas the red molecules are highly reactive and can induce cellular damage.

1.6.1 Sources of intracellular ROS

Various organelles within the cell can produce ROS, including the mitochondria, a byproduct of aerobic metabolism, the endoplasmic reticulum from cytochrome P-450 and Ero1p enzymes (Gross *et al.*, 2006) and peroxisomes as part of their metabolism of long-chain fatty acids (Boveris *et al.*, 1972). In addition, there are many intracellular enzymes that generate ROS as part of their enzymatic reaction cycles, namely lipoxygenase (O'Donnell *et al.*, 1996), xanthine oxidase (McNally *et al.*, 2003), cyclooxygenase, cytochrome P450 monooxygenase, nitric oxide synthase and NADPH oxidase family (NOX). Mitochondria and NOX enzymes are described in more detail below.

(a) Mitochondria

The ROS generated in the mitochondria occurs during normal respiration and is generated at multiple sites in complex I and III. Early measurement of ROS production using isolated mitochondria *in vitro* suggested that ROS generation would account for approximately 1% of respired oxygen, indicating that mitochondria are the largest generators of ROS (Boveris *et al.*, 1972). However, recent estimates from mitochondria in living cells suggests normal mitochondria produce far lower levels of ROS (Nohl *et al.*, 2003). They likely provide a low basal level of ROS that can increase when the cell is highly active, ageing or exposed to hypoxia. In T lymphocytes mitochondria-derived ROS have been observed to be indispensable for the activation of NFkB, expression of cytokines and the CD95 ligand (Roth *et al.*, 2014). In addition, blocking mitochondrial ROS, specifically at Complex III result in the inhibition of CD3/CD28-induced IL-2 expression (Sena *et al.*, 2013)

(b) NADPH oxidase family (NOX)

NOX enzymes rapidly produce oxidants in response to receptor stimulation and thus have been termed professional ROS producers. Stimulation of several receptor including growth factors, Toll-like, cytokine and antigen receptors induce NOX enzyme-dependent ROS production, which is required for the activation signalling cascades (Ogier-Denis *et al.*, 2008). NOX enzymes are a family comprised of 5 NOX (NOX1-5) and 2 Dual oxidase enzymes (DUOX1-2) sub-types which differ in their expression, types of ROS released and mechanisms to control activity (Lassegue *et al.*, 2012). T

lymphocytes are known to express NOX2 (Jackson *et al.*, 2004) and DUOX1 (Kwon *et al.*, 2010), which are shown in Figure 1.15 with their corresponding regulatory subunits. NOX enzymes require interaction with regulatory subunits to allow their maturation and trafficking to the membrane, the 5 NOX subtypes require six different subunits that interact to form an active enzyme complex (Babior, 1999), whereas DUOXs associate with one other regulatory subunit. The activation of the NOXs is complex and requires small GTPase Rac, Rac1 (non-myeloid cells) and Rac2 in leukocytes, and phosphorylation events downstream PKC, Akt and PKA (Martyn *et al.*, 2005). Whereas, distinct to all other NOX enzymes, NOX5 and DUOX1/2 are directly activated by Ca²⁺ through EF hands (Sumimoto, 2008).

NOX enzymes are expressed both in plasma membranes and the membranes of intracellular vesicles, providing ROS production at localised sites. Indeed, receptors and signalling proteins have been observed to physically interact with NOX enzymes to form a complex, which could further enhance the specificity of signalling to the interacting receptor (Pawate *et al.*, 2004). NOXs are flavocytochromes (i.e. they contain both flavin adenine nucleotide and heme) and require electrons from cytosolic NADPH to reduce molecular oxygen, to generate superoxide which is rapidly dismutated to H_2O_2 by superoxide dismutase. DUOX enzymes directly generate H_2O_2 (Terada, 2006; Takac *et al.*, 2011).

In T lymphocytes, NOX has been shown to be an important signalling component in modulating differentiation into Th17 and Th1 lymphocytes. CD3 and CD28 ligation resulted in primarily Th17 phenotype in NOX-deficient mice, whereas the majority were the Th1 phenotype in NOX-intact cells (Tse *et al.*, 2010). In addition, T cells from mice deficient in the NOX catalytic subunit gp91 (phox) are more resistant to apoptosis (Purushothaman *et al.*, 2009).





1.6.2 ROS as a second messenger

To be able to function as a signalling agent ROS must have certain properties. Second messengers are required to be rapidly generated, and their concentration regulated by co-ordination of their production and destruction. There are several professional ROS producers and anti-oxidants within cells that regulate the rapid induction and accumulation and degradation of ROS (Section 6.1.1 & 1.3). Both superoxide and H_2O_2 have been indicated to signal, however it is generally accepted that H_2O_2 is the predominant signalling ROS. This is due to its greater stability and longer half-life of approximately 1ms allowing H_2O_2 time to encounter and react with signalling targets. H_2O_2 is also highly ubiquitous, small and can readily diffuse through aquaporin channels to access intracellular targets (Bienert *et al.*, 2006; Bienert *et al.*, 2007; Bienert *et al.*, 2014).

The traditional view was that ROS induces random and indiscriminate oxidation of intracellular lipids, proteins and DNA which led to cellular damage. However, more recently it was observed that H_2O_2 is able to induce reversible oxidation of specific protein targets. Sulphur containing amino acids, such as cysteine are the most easily oxidised (Janssen-Heininger *et al.*, 2008), however not all cysteine residues are equally susceptible which further enhances the selectivity of oxidative signalling. The *PKa* of each individual cysteine depends upon whether it is surrounded by acidic or basic amino acids and dictates whether the residue is more likely to exist as a thiol (SH) or more reactive thiolate anion (S⁻) at physiological pH. Thus, cysteine residues with low *PKa* (5.1-5.6) are more susceptible to oxidation.

Oxidation can alter charge, size and structural conformation of a protein which can in turn regulate a proteins signalling and indicates a role for ROS in divergent biological responses. The redox regulation of protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) has been widely studied and it is accepted that ROS inactive PTPs. The consequence of PTP inactivation is the enhancement of un-regulated tyrosine phosphorylation by protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) and the activation of downstream signalling (Denu *et al.*, 1998) (Figure 1.16). Interestingly, the selective oxidation of other signalling molecules has been observed and includes both activation and inhibition of kinases such as SFKs (Yoo *et al.*, 2011), MAPK (Galli *et al.*, 2008), Akt (Wani *et al.*, 2011), transcription factors (Haddad, 2002) and ion channels (Bogeski *et al.*, 2010). ROS are currently a rapidly expanding field of research due to high interest in determining mechanisms of oxidative signalling.



Figure 1.16 Redox dependent signalling. (A) Protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) undergo oxidation of critical cysteine to inactivate their enzymatic activity, which can be reversed by glutathione or reducing thiols (RSH). (B) Protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) can also undergo oxidation/regulation of critical cysteine residues which either activates or inhibits their activity. (C) The result of altering PTPs and PTKs activity changes the phosphorylation state of proteins and can lead to activation of their downstream signalling. Figure adapted from (Truong *et al.*, 2013).

1.6.3 Control of ROS accumulation within cells

To maintain ROS levels at an acceptable, non-damaging concentration cells have developed a variety of anti-oxidant mechanisms that commonly fall into two categories, enzymatic or non-enzymatic. The non-enzymatic are often small compounds often found in our food and drink, including ascorbic acid, vitamin E, glutathione, methionine, carotenoids and polyphenolic compounds (Seifried *et al.*, 2007). Cells can also increase expression of proteins and peptides which are cysteine rich to function as redox sinks when under oxidative stress, such as glutathione and peroxiredoxins. The enzymatic antioxidants include superoxide dismutase, catalase and peroxidases.

(a) SOD dismutase

Superoxide dismutase (SOD; (SOD E.C.1.15.1.1) is an anti-oxidant enzyme that catalyses the dismutation of highly reactive superoxide radicals into less reactive H₂O₂ and O₂. SOD exists as three isoforms that have different cellular locations, cytosolic Cu/Zn SOD (SOD1), mitochondria Mn-SOD (SOD2) and SOD3 which is secreted to the extracellular environment. SOD enzymes contain copper, zinc, manganese or iron which facilitate electron transfer. SOD are biologically very important, SOD1 (-/-) mice exhibit a shortened life span and an increased incident of cancer. SOD1 mutations are observed in some patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Furukawa *et al.*, 2005). SOD2 (-/-) mice die soon after birth and develop a severe neurodegeneration disorder and SOD3 is important in preventing oxidative-stress induced diseases (Zou *et al.*, 2009). A T cell specific SOD2 conditional knock-out mouse exhibited increased superoxide production, apoptosis and development defects in the T lymphocyte population, resulting in immunodeficiency and susceptibility to influenza A virus H1N1 infection. This result indicates that the lack of mitochondrial SOD2 results in aberrant T cell development and function (Case *et al.*, 2011).

(b) Catalase

Catalase (EC 1.11.1.6) catalyses the decomposition of H_2O_2 to water and oxygen and thereby reduces the levels of H_2O_2 and prevents the formation of hydroxyl radicals via the Fenton reaction. The predominant catalase-containing organelle in mammalian cells is the peroxisome. A typical catalase is a tetrameric enzyme consisting of four heme containing identical subunits (Scibior *et al.*, 2006). Catalase is very important in protecting cells from oxidative stress. T lymphocytes transduced with catalase using a retroviral vector enhanced the survival of CD4+ T lymphocytes under oxidative stress (Ando *et al.*, 2008).

1.6.4 ROS in T lymphocytes

There is a growing body of evidence to suggest that reactive oxygen species (ROS) are actually required for a vast number of physiological processes, including TCR activation and signalling. In a concentration dependent manner, oxidation can elicit positive responses, such as cellular proliferation or activation, as well as negative responses, inhibiting growth inhibition and cell death (Figure 1.17).



Figure 1.17 Fate of peripheral T lymphocytes to increasing concentrations of ROS. Low concentrations of ROS (colour coded orange) leads to improper TCR signalling with decreased proliferation and survival, whereas high concentrations (red) result in increased T lymphocyte death as a result of DNA damage. ROS concentration has been observed to affect the differentiation of T lymphocytes Adapted from (Kesarwani *et al.*, 2013)

ROS are critical for a wide spectrum of cellular processes including signalling, tumour progression and innate immunity. However, the roles of ROS in the human adaptive immune system development and function remain largely unknown. Recent studies have indicated that ROS affects the plasticity and differentiation of naïve T lymphocytes by altering IL-2 and IL-4 expression and cytokine secretion (Frossi *et al.*, 2008; Kaminski *et al.*, 2010; Tse *et al.*, 2010). In addition, the differentiation to different T lymphocyte subsets also appears to alter the cells relative sensitivity to oxidation. Interestingly, antioxidants inhibit T lymphocyte proliferation and IL-2 production in human and mice (Dornand *et al.*, 1989; Tatla *et al.*, 1999; Sena *et al.*, 2013). A very recent study has indicated that ROS is not required in TCR-induced proliferation,

activation and cytokine secretion of primary human T lymphocytes (Belikov *et al.*, 2014); before this study the roles of ROS and antioxidants on TCR signalling and responses had not been extensively investigated in primary human T lymphocytes isolated from the peripheral blood.

ROS production and scavenging has been detected using ROS sensitive fluorescent dyes. In T lymphocytes ROS is produced from a variety of stimuli, including mitogens (Williams *et al.*, 1996), viral and bacterial super-antigens (Weber *et al.*, 1995; Hildeman *et al.*, 1999), TCR peptide agonists (Devadas *et al.*, 2002; Kwon *et al.*, 2003) and CXCL12 (Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012). ROS production has also been observed downstream of TGF β (Thannickal *et al.*, 2000), insulin (Mahadev *et al.*, 2001) and angiotensin II (Ushio-Fukai *et al.*, 1999). T lymphocytes are known to express NADPH oxidase enzymes NOX2 (Jackson *et al.*, 2004) and DUOX 1 (Kwon *et al.*, 2010) (Section 1.6.2). This implies that ROS might have a diverse and underappreciated role in the adaptive immune system.

1.6.5 H₂O₂ is a wound cue in *in vivo* models of inflammation

Generation of ROS, specifically H_2O_2 , has been observed at sites of tissue damage across phylogenetically diverse organisms, including plants (Orozco-Cardenas *et al.*, 2001), Drosophila (Moreira *et al.*, 2010), zebrafish (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009) and mammals (Roy *et al.*, 2006). Historically it was thought that ROS was present at sites of tissue damage due to cell-rupture following injury or as part of an innate immune cell defence mechanism, termed respiratory burst, which provides toxicity to microbes attempting to enter the damage site. However, due to the recent identification of diverse biological signalling roles of ROS in immune cells, ROS has been intensely researched and observed to initiate leukocyte migration to wounds. Given the complexity of the human immune system and the inability to observe human immune cells in their intact environments (*i.e.* surrounded by maintained gradients of highly diffusible ROS species) scientists have relied upon animals to model inflammation and wound repair *in vivo*.

a) In vivo models of inflammation

Two important models of inflammation and wound repair have been utilised to indicate important roles of ROS in leukocyte recruitment. Briefly, zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) have many advantages for live imaging of leukocyte migration because their embryos develop externally and they are transparent allowing non-invasive observation of cellular behaviour *in vivo* by use of high-resolution imaging (Deng *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, the immune system of zebrafish closely resembles that of mammals on a cellular and molecular level (Lieschke *et al.*, 2009). Tissue damage is achieved in zebrafish embryo by cutting the embryonic tailfin. Immune cell recruitment to tissue damage can be observed in transgenic zebrafish embryos with fluorescently labelled neutrophils and macrophages. A robust and rapid recruitment of neutrophils (Renshaw *et al.*, 2006), and a slower but more directional migration of macrophages to the tissue damage is observed (Ellett *et al.*, 2011). In addition, recent work has indicated that macrophages can repel neutrophils from inflamed tissues and are important in resolution of neutrophil mediated inflammation (Tauzin *et al.*, 2014) (Figure 1.18).

The second model uses fruit flies, *Drosophila melanogaster*, which also allow for live imaging of leukocyte migration as embryos are transparent and their genes are easily manipulated to study the genetics of inflammation and tissue repair. However *Drosophila* lack embryonic vasculature, mammalian chemokine orthologues and an adaptive immune system; instead they possess a very simplistic immune system which is easier to study. The main components the *Drosophila* immune system are hemocytes (macrophage-like innate immune cells). The wounding model in Drosophila consists of creating a laser induced epidermal wound (approximately 40µm diameter) in a late developmental stage 14 *Drosophila* embryo. Hemocytes within a further 20-30µm circumference abandon their previous position and are rapidly recruited to the wound site. The attraction of wounds is transient and within two hours post-wounding, hemocytes migrate back to their original locations. Similarly to the zebrafish model hemocytes can be fluorescently labelled and tracked by high resolution live imaging (Moreira *et al.*, 2010).
(b) In vivo models indicate a role for H₂O₂ as a wound cue

The mechanism of determining how H_2O_2 is produced at sites of tissue damage is not well understood. It was commonly believed that the main sources were ruptured cells after direct injury or inflammatory burst of innate immune cells, however new evidence using the *Drosophila* wounding model has indicated that ROS release requires a Ca²⁺ wave triggered in the epithelium. Reducing the Ca²⁺ signal with chelators impairs hemocyte migration to the wound and the Ca²⁺ signal was proposed to activate DUOX through EF hands in its extracellular domain to produce the H₂O₂ accumulation at the wound site (Razzell *et al.*, 2013) [Figure 1.18A].

In addition, a particularly eloquent study was performed using the zebrafish tailfin wounding model. Initially, zebrafish were genetically encoded with a H₂O₂ sensitive reporter, HyPer, to allow real-time spatial and temporal accumulation of H₂O₂ at a wound edge to be observed (Niethammer et al., 2009). HyPer is highly selective for H₂O₂ over other ROS (Belousov et al., 2006). A sustained rise in H₂O₂ was observed that started 3 minutes, peaked 17 minutes and was maintained until 61 minutes post wounding. The H₂O₂ formed a gradient about 100-200µm into the tailfin with a 50µM H_2O_2 concentration predicted at the wound edge. The presence of high H_2O_2 after 17 minutes indicated that the respiratory burst of the leukocytes could not be the source of the H_2O_2 as this represents the average time required for the first leukocyte which was not proximal to the wound edge to migrate into the vicinity of the wound. In addition, cell rupture is unlikely to maintain a H_2O_2 gradient over 60 minutes. Both the H_2O_2 gradient and leukocyte migration was lost in zebrafish embryos lacking DUOX or treated with NADPH oxidase inhibitor DPI, suggesting both H₂O₂ and DUOX are required for the recruitment of leukocytes to the wound site (Niethammer et al., 2009) [Figure 1.18]. Consistently, a H₂O₂ gradient has since been observed to be required for hemocyte migration to a wound edge and treatment of the wound DPI inhibited leukocyte migration (Moreira et al., 2010), consistently indicating that the H_2O_2 gradient is generated by DUOX.

(c) How does the cell detect the H₂O₂ gradient?

The mechanism by which H_2O_2 is detected by immune cells is not well established. Neithammer proposed the leukocytes could express H_2O_2 sensitive receptors. However alternatively H_2O_2 could manipulate innate cell migration through entering the cytoplasm and directly modulating intracellular mediators; several proteins have been indicated to be redox sensitive (Section 1.6.2). In particular, SFK member Lyn has been indicated as a redox sensor involved in early neutrophil recruitment to H_2O_2 at wounds. Mutation of a single conserved cysteine residue to alanine at position Cys466 abolished the ability of Lyn to be oxidised by H_2O_2 . This mutation resulted in an inability of the cell to detect and migration towards the H_2O_2 gradient (Yoo *et al.*, 2011). Activation of Lyn leads to the activation of MAPK kinase and PI3K signalling pathways which are both required for neutrophil wound attraction. It has been speculated that asymmetric activation of PI3K signalling, by Lyn, could drive cell polarisation and migration along a H_2O_2 gradient (Yoo *et al.*, 2011) [Figure 1.18 B].

Cys466 is highly conserved across species (Zebrafish Lyn, *Drosophila* Src-42A and human SFK members) thus oxidation-dependent activation may be a general method of activation for all SFK members, however this has not been fully established. However ROS also activates the SFK, Fyn to aid the regeneration of wounded epithelium (Yoo *et al.*, 2012) and ROS activated-Yrk has been observed in macrophage migration to the wound site which is important in resolution of neutrophil driven inflammation (Tauzin *et al.*, 2014). Collectively these finding implicate ROS-SFK pathways as key regulators in multiple phases of the wound healing response. It is also not known how oxidation of SFKs alters their activity; however oxidation could provoke a conformational change in the protein.

In addition to inducing migration, DUOX induced H_2O_2 is required for the transcriptional activation of genes involved in epidermal tissue repair (Juarez *et al.*, 2011). In addition a mitochondrial ROS exhibits a cytoprotective role for in *Caenorhabditis elegans* skin epidermal repair. Local inhibition of mitochondrial ROS production blocked actin-based wound closure, whereas elevation enhances survival of mutant animals with defective wound healing. Xu indicates that mitochondrial ROS promotes wound closure by inhibition of redox sensitive Rho GTPase activity (Xu *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, H_2O_2 has also been implicated in regulating leukocyte migration to transformed cancerous cells (Feng *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 1.18 *In vivo* models indicate a role for H_2O_2 in leukocyte migration A) Laser ablation of Drosophila embryo epithelium drives the recruitment of hemocytes to the wound edge. Tissue damage triggers a rapid (ms) Ca²⁺ flash in epithelial cells proximal to the wound edge. This is following by the production of a H_2O_2 gradient 100-200µm from the wound edge which is maintained for at least 60 minutes post wounding. B) A cut of the zebrafish larve tailfin triggers the early recruitment of neutrophils (0-2h) followed by a more directional recruitment of macrophages (3-6h). Early neutrophil migration occurs along a gradient of H_2O_2 produced by DUOX enzymes in the damaged and surrounding epithelium. H_2O_2 oxidises Lyn kinase to activate signalling involved in cytoskeleton re-organisation and chemotaxis. Later macrophage arrival requires Yrk oxidation and is important in the resolution of neutrophil inflammation. Finally, ROS-activation of Fyn and genes transcription is important in epithelial regeneration (Adapted from Archer 2014).

1.6.6 H₂O₂ as a migratory cue for the adaptive immune system

 H_2O_2 has been observed as a migratory cue in *in vivo* models of inflammation however, the organism used have a simplistic or immature immune systems and do not have functioning adaptive immune systems at the development stages investigated. In addition, they are clearly distinct from humans on an evolutionary scale. Interestingly, H_2O_2 has also been shown to act as a chemoattractant for mouse peritoneal neutrophils at low concentrations (Klyubin *et al.*, 1996). Furthermore, human neutrophils chemotaxis to gradients of H_2O_2 has been observed *in vitro* (Yoo *et al.*, 2011)

Thus H_2O_2 appears to be required for innate immune cell migration, however little is known about whether hydrogen peroxide is required for the migration of the adaptive immune system or human immune cells. Recently, H_2O_2 uptake, through aquaporin-3, was observed to be required for successful mouse T lymphocyte migration towards a chemoattractant, which suggests that H_2O_2 is also involved in the migration of adaptive immune cells. This H_2O_2 transport is essential for activation Cdc42 and subsequent actin rearrangement (Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012). As H_2O_2 also appears to be important in the detection of transformed cells (Feng *et al.*, 2010) and ROS are involved in many other diseases (Section 1.6.8), it is particularly important to expand our knowledge on the effects of ROS in human T lymphocytes.

1.6.7 H₂O₂ and calcium mobilisation

Activation of DUOX has been recently linked to Ca^{2+} elevation and signalling. The intracellular loop of DUOX contains two canonical calcium EF hands, which bind cytosolic Ca^{2+} (Sumimoto, 2008). Section 1.6.5 describes that a Ca^{2+} wave precedes DUOX activation, H_2O_2 production and immune cell migration to a tissue damage site in the Drosophila embryo (Razzell *et al.*, 2013). In addition, DUOX has been shown to act in concert with SFKs and Ca^{2+} to signal and drive wound repair in zebrafish (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009; Yoo *et al.*, 2011).

Interestingly, exogenous H_2O_2 can induce calcium mobilisation and signalling, which has been postulated to be due to i) influx through voltage gated Ca²⁺ channels, ii) nonspecific changes in membrane permeability, iii) alteration of Ca²⁺-Na²⁺ exchange iv) changes in Ca²⁺ release from intracellular stores (Krippeit-Drews *et al.*, 1995; Herson *et al.*, 1999; Wang *et al.*, 1999; Sato *et al.*, 2009). However, is important to establish the concentration of H_2O_2 which causes necrosis in each cell type, as intracellular Ca²⁺ overload is an early marker of necrotic cell death (Zhivotovsky *et al.*, 2011)

1.6.8 ROS associated with disease

The link between oxidative stress and disease has been recognised for several decades. In disease conditions, natural human antioxidants defences are not always sufficient to maintain ROS balance which can lead to excessive and uncontrolled production of ROS. In particular, ROS are involved aging (Brieger *et al.*, 2012) as well as autoimmune diseases, leukaemia, carcinoma, cardiovascular diseases and neurological disorders (Kesarwani *et al.*, 2013). Interestingly, ROS and oxidative products are associated with the progression and severity of rheumatoid arthritis (Griffiths, 2005; Filippin *et al.*, 2008).

In light of recent experiments indicating that H_2O_2 acts to positively modulate immune cell migration (Section 1.6.5), ROS could be a factor in diseases presenting excessive immune cell recruitment (*i.e.* diseases that present with a high white blood cell count), such as asthma and COPD. Both these conditions are proposed to exhibit a high production of H₂O₂ due to chronically irritated tissues (Murata et al., 2014). Cancerous cells often overproduce ROS, possibly due to elevated expression or overactive of NOX enzymes downstream of growth factor receptors. Oxidative stress is linked to genomic instability, chemo-resistance and growth mutation (Yang et al., 2014). In addition, the link between inflammation and cancer has been suggested by epidemiological and experimental data and confirmed by anti-inflammatory therapies showing efficacy in cancer prevention and treatment (Bartsch et al., 2006; Grivennikov et al., 2010). Even the tradition Ayurvedic medical system, which was written 5000 years ago, described that continuous irritation over long periods of time could lead to cancer (Garodia et al., 2007). Continuous irritation and wound healing are still a topic of intense interest in cancer research (Coussens et al., 2002; Gonda et al., 2009). Recent studies have focused on developing therapeutics to enhance the anti-oxidants within the cells and restore proper immune cell function. However clinical evidence and in vivo studies for not always support anti-oxidants reducing the inflammatory response (Higgins et al., 1995; Gelderman et al., 2007; Kesarwani et al., 2013).

1.6.9 Hypoxia

Oxygen concentrations can become very low in pathological sites with low vasculature and sites of infection (Vaupel, 1977; Semenza, 2001; Via *et al.*, 2008). Under hypoxic conditions, mitochondria produce higher levels of ROS from the respiratory complex III (Guzy *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, in addition to being a relevant environmental setting for an activated T lymphocyte, exposure to hypoxia presents a method of manipulating the redox environment of the cell. Dysregulation of oxygen homeostasis is observed in inflammatory and cardiovascular disease, cancer, cerebrovascular disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Semenza, 2001).

Hypoxia inducible factor (HIF-1 α) is the key transcription factor mediating responses to hypoxia. In normal oxygen conditions, the alpha subunits of HIF are hydroxylated at conserved proline residues by HIF-prolyl-hydroxylases, allowing their ubiquitination, which labels them for rapid degradation by the proteasome. In hypoxic conditions HIF-prolyl-hydroxylases are inhibited, due to their use of oxygen as a co-substrate. HIF-1 α expression is stabilised and mediates the transcription of hypoxic sensitive genes to promote cell survival in low-oxygen conditions (Semenza, 2004).

1.7 Aims and Objectives

Adaptive immune responses are highly co-ordinated and rely upon efficient intracellular communication to induce cell functions. The experimental work in the thesis is divided into three sections which all focus on furthering our knowledge of signalling within human T lymphocytes. The first part dissects the roles of SHIP-1 in human T lymphocyte biology. The second focuses on the functional outcomes of ROS manipulation in human T lymphocytes and the final section examines signalling roles of H_2O_2 to explore the mechanisms underlying functional outcomes observed in part 2.

Both SHIP-1 and ROS-induced signalling and functional roles are not well understood in primary human T lymphocytes, with the majority of publications using animal cells, *in vivo* animal models or leukaemic cell lines. Both SHIP-1 activators and anti-oxidants are in clinical trials for the treatment of immune cell related pathologies, thus our intent is to improve the understanding of their signalling and define their potential as therapeutic targets for T lymphocyte driven pathologies such as autoimmune/ inflammatory disease and cancer.

- Determine whether SHIP-1 activator, AQX1, or SHIP-1 inhibitor, 3-AC, alter human T lymphocyte biology and indicate their therapeutic potential in T lymphocyte driven pathologies. Hypothesis:-SHIP-1 has pleiotropic functional roles in T lymphocyte function. The objectives to explore this hypothesis are to:
 - establish the functional roles of SHIP-1 in human T lymphocyte viability and TCR activation including investigating downstream Ca²⁺ elevation, proliferation and adhesion.
 - assess the functional importance of SHIP-1 as a regulator of basal and chemotactic migration, chemokine signalling, polarisation and cytoskeletal protein rearrangement.
 - evaluate the potential of SHIP-1 as a novel therapeutic route to influence T lymphocyte driven inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.
- 2. Identify the functional roles of ROS manipulation in human T lymphocyte biology. Hypothesis: Non-toxic concentrations of H₂O₂ will activate survival, proliferation, signalling and migration in human T lymphocytes. The objectives to explore this area are to:
 - establish the functional roles of ROS manipulation on ligand mediated cellular responses including viability, activation, downstream Ca²⁺ elevation, proliferation and adhesion using human T lymphocyte.
 - determine whether human naïve or activated T lymphocytes migrate towards a H₂O₂.
 - > establish the effect of ROS species upon directional T lymphocyte migration.
- 3. To examine the contribution of SFKs, SYKs, PI3K and SHIP-1 in ligand and H₂O₂-mediated signalling in human T lymphocytes. Hypothesis: Activation of SFK is a key signalling event in H₂O₂ mediated activation of T lymphocytes. The objective to address this area are to:
 - Analyse the contribution of SFKs, SYKs and PI3K isoforms in T lymphocyte chemotaxis using pharmacological manipulators.
 - Interpret the responses of ROS manipulation on intracellular signalling and receptor expression.
 - > Dissect the signalling properties of SFKs, PI3K and SYK in response to H_2O_2 .

CHAPTER 2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Cell culture

2.1.1 Human leukemic T lymphoblast cell lines

Human leukemic T cell line Jurkat (American Type Culture Collection, ATCC; Manassas, Virginia, USA) were cultured in RPMI-1640 media (Invitrogen # 11875-093; Paisley, UK) supplemented with 10% (v:v) heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS; Source Bioscience #7.01 Hi), 2mM L-glutamine [to provide energy supply for rapidly proliferating cells] 20mM HEPES (Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, UK) [a buffering agent used to maintain physiological pH] and 100U/ml of penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen # 15140-122) [to protect against infection]. Culture flasks with a surface area of 75cm² were used to culture the cells at 37°C with a constant supply of humidified air containing 5% CO₂. The cell culture was maintained by changing the media every 2-3 days and cells were kept at a confluence of approximately 1 million cells per ml. Cells were discarded after 3 months of culturing and replaced with frozen cell stocks stored in cryo-tubes in liquid nitrogen tanks.

2.1.2 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) isolation from whole blood

Blood (50-100ml) was collected aseptically from healthy volunteers (donors were questioned to ensure they were not feeling unwell on the day of collection and volunteers with chronic health conditions were asked not to participate) of both sexes [who had not received any medication for at least 72h prior to donating] with a age range of 21-65, via a 21-gauge butterfly cannula (Bunzl Heathcare, Leicester, UK) into a sterile disposable 50ml syringe prepared with 2U/ml heparin (Sigma-Aldrich # 84020). The blood was subsequently diluted with warm sterile RPMI-1640 media without supplements in a ratio of 1:1. 25-35ml of the diluted blood was carefully layered onto 15ml of lymphoprep (Axis Shield # S1105, Dundee, UK) in 50ml plastic tubes (Figure 2.1.A). Preparations were spun at 250g for 30 minutes with braking deactivated upon deceleration for an unassisted stop (Figure 2.1.B). Following centrifugation, the mononuclear cell rich interface containing the PBMCs was removed by a sterile Pasteur pipette into a fresh 50ml falcon tube and diluted 1:1 with RPMI-1640 media. PBMCs were washed three times by centrifugation at 250g for 10 minutes, removal of the supernatant and addition of un-supplemented RPMI-1640 media to ensure complete removal of the lymphoprep solution.

2.1.3 Naïve CD4+ T lymphocyte isolation

"Naïve CD4⁺ T lymphocytes" were isolated from the freshly isolated PBMC using a naïve CD4⁺ T cell isolation kit II human (Miltenyi Biotec, Bisley Ldt., Surrey #130-094-131). This kit uses a negative selection method whereby a cocktail of biotinylated monoclonal antibodies (targeting CD45RO, CD8, CD14, CD15, CD16, CD19, CD25, CD34, CD36, CD56, CD123, anti-TCRy/\delta, anti-HLA-DR, and CD235a /glycophorin A) indirectly label all the non-T-lymphocytes in the isolated PBMC (Figure 2.1). After washing, freshly isolated PBMC were counted using a haemocytometer. PBMCs were re-suspended in 40µl sterile ice cold MACS buffer (PBS + 2mM EDTA + 0.5% BSA, pH 7.4) per 10 million cells. 10µl of cocktail biotinylated monoclonal antibody per 10 million cells was then added for 10 minutes at 4°C to label all non-naïve CD4⁺ cells. 10ml MACS buffer was added and cells centrifuged at 250g for 10 minutes before supernatant was completely removed and cells re-suspended in 80µl ice cold MACs buffer and 20 µl biotinylated micro-beads per 10 million cells for 15 minutes (Figure 2.1). After which another 10ml of ice cold MACs buffer was then added and the cells centrifuged at 250g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and cells resuspended in 500µl fresh MACs buffer. An LS column [#130-042-401] was prepared by washing through 3ml of ice cold MACs buffer. The cells were then added to the column and output collected in a 15ml falcon tube. The column was then washed three times by the repeated addition of 3ml MACs buffer (Figure 2.1). Cells were centrifuged and re-suspended into supplemented RPMI-1640 media for immediate use.

2.1.4 Clonal expansion of CD4 and CD8 T-lymphocytes

To clonally expand CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes, the washed PBMCs were resuspended in fully supplemented RPMI-1640 media at an equal volume to that of the original volume of whole blood collected from the donor. *Staphylococcal enterotoxin* B (SEB; Sigma # S4881) was added at a final concentration of 1µg/ml for 72 hours. The suspension cells were then collected in a 50ml falcon and washed three times in unsupplemented RPMI-1640 media and placed in a fresh cell culture flask the same volume of complete media supplemented with interleukin-2 (IL-2; Chemicon; Hampshire, UK) at 36U/ml. Any contaminating adhering cells (such as monocytes) were removed by plastic adherence to the original flask. The cells were washed, resuspended and supplemented with fresh IL-2 every two days for 10-14 days maintain cell confluency between 0.1 to 1 million cells per ml. Cells were used 8-14 days post isolation and rested in complete media without IL-2 overnight before use.



Figure 2.1 Isolation of naïve T lymphocytes from whole blood. Left hand panel is a schematic representing non-naïve CD4⁺ T lymphocytes (in green and orange) bound by a cocktail of biotinylated monoclonal antibodies (targeting CD14, CD16, CD19, CD36, CD56, CD124) and anti-biotin (avidin) coated micro-beads. Naïve CD4⁺ T lymphocytes are untouched and represented in purple. Right hand panel is a schematic representing the naïve T lymphocytes passing through a LS column selection, whilst cells bound to the beads will remain inside the magnetic column (Original graphic).

2.2 Cellular viability assays

2.2.1 Propridium iodide and annexin V staining

SEB activated T lymphocytes were washed three times into un-supplemented media. Cells were treated with compounds as stated in the figure legends for 3 hours. Cells were then re-suspended at 1 million cells per ml in Annexin V binding buffer (10mM HEPES, 140mM NaCl 2.5mM, CaCl₂, 0.1 % (w:v) BSA; pH 7.4). Cy5 conjugated Annexin V (Life Technologies) was then added at 10µl per 1 million cells for 20 minutes on ice protected for light. After 20 minutes, 2.5µg/ml propidium iodide PI (Sigma Aldrich # 81845) was added to the cells and fluorescence emission read immediately using flow cytometry and emission read at 488nm (Cy5) and 617nm (PI).

2.2.2 MTT assay

Cells were re-suspended in fresh complete RPMI media at 1 million cells per ml. 100µl of cells were added in triplicate for each condition to a 96 well-plate. Triplicate wells were treated for either 3 or 24 hours with either vehicle or stated concentrations of compounds at 37°C. The plate was centrifuged at 250g for 10 minutes and supernatant aspirated. Cells were re-suspended in 100µl MTT mix (RPMI, 10% FBS and 500µg/ml 3-4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) Sigma Aldrich # M2003) and incubated for 3 hours. Background absorbance was determined from a well containing only the MTT mix. In living cells, yellow MTT is reduced by mitochondrial succinic dehydrogenases to blue formazan; fluorescence intensity is therefore proportional to the number of living cells. After 3 hours 100µl DMSO (Sigma Aldrich # D8418) was added to each well to lyse the cells. Absorbance at 540nm was then read using a FluoStar Optima plate reader

2.3 Proliferation

Cell proliferation was measured using the Cell Trace CFSE Cell Proliferation Kit (Invitrogen #C34554) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Carboxyfluorescein diacetate N-hydroxysuccinimidyl ester (CFSE) is a cell permeable, non-fluorescent prodye. Intracellular esterases cleave the acetate groups which results in fluorescent carboxyfluorescein which is membrane impermeant. The succinimidyl ester groups binds covalently to intracellular amines and emit fluorescence at 517nm when excited at 492nm. The result is live fluorescently labelled cells. As the cells divide the CFSE is partitioned between the two daughter cells. Hence, by tracking mean CSFE fluorescence intensity over time cell proliferation can be determined.

Freshly isolated naïve CD4+ T lymphocytes were re-suspended at 1 million cells per ml in PBS and 0.1% BSA. CFSE was added for a final concentration of 5µM and cells incubated at room temperature in the dark for 15 minutes. Cells were washed once into fresh RPMI and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. Cells were washed again into fresh complete RPMI media at 1 million cells per ml. Freshly labelled naïve T lymphocytes were taken and analysed by flow cytometry to ensure dye incorporation and determine mean fluorescence intensity on Day 0. The remaining cells were treated with vehicle or stated concentrations of drugs. Cells were then activated by the addition of anti-CD3/CD28 coated beads (methods described below) at a ratio of 3 beads to each cell and 36U/ml recombinant IL-2. After either 4 or 5 days (stated in the figure legends) cells were analysed for CFSE fluorescence using flow cytometry, excitation at 492nm and emission at 517nm. Population gates were used to determine the percentage of cells in each cell division observed.

2.3.1 Coupling of anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies to micro-beads

75µg of antibodies raised against human CD3 (clone UCHT-1) and human CD28 (clone 9.3) were added to a 0.1M borate buffer (pH 9.5). This antibody cocktail was added to 400 million magnetic Dynabeads (Invitrogen) and rotated overnight at 37°C. Then the beads were held with a magnet and the borate buffer removed. Using the bead wash solution (Phosphate buffered saline without Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺, 3% (v:v) human AB serum, 1% (v:v) sodium azide, 2mM EDTA pH 8.0) and beads were washed three times for 10 minutes and once for 30 minutes and then overnight at 4°C whilst rotated. The following day beads were re-suspended in 10 ml bead wash solution. Storage of Anti-CD3/CD8 coated beads at 40 million per ml at 4°C. Before use, beads were washed three times in phosphate buffered saline, re-suspended in RPMI-1640 and added to the cells at indicated ratios.

2.4 Cell stimulation protocol

Cells used for stimulations were re-suspended at a concentration of 2 million cells per ml in supplement free RMPI-1640 media with HEPES (1mM) and rested for 30 minutes in a 37°C water bath. Vehicle control (Ethanol/DMSO as appropriate at the same concentration as present in the highest drug treatment), drug treatments were carried out for the indicated times before the additions of stimulants. After stimulation, cells were placed immediately on ice, washed once in ice cold PBS before cell lysis for Immunoblotting.

2.4.1 Cell lysis

Stimulated and PBS washed cells were then centrifuged for 1 minute at 250g, the supernatant was discarded and cell pellet re-suspended in 50µl lysis buffer (50mM Tris-HCI [pH 7.5], 150mM NaCl, 1% (v:v) Nonidet-P40 [BDH], 5mM EDTA, phosphatase inhibitors, 1mM sodium vanadate, 1mM sodium molybdate, 10mM sodium fluoride and protease inhibitors 40µg/ml PMSF, 0.7µg/ml pepstatin A, 10µg/ml aprotinin, 10µg/ml leupeptin, 10µg/ml soybean trypsin inhibitor [All from Sigma]). Samples were rotated for 30 minutes at 4°C to assist cell lysis after which cells were centrifuged 153g, 4°C for 10 minutes. The supernatant containing protein was removed and insoluble material discarded. 5µl 5× sample buffer (60mM TRIS-HCl, 2% [w:v]SDS, 10 % [v:v] glycerol, 5% [v:v] 2-mercaptoethanol and 0.01% bromophenol blue sodium salt; pH 6.8) was added to 20µl protein in lysis buffer and boiled at 100°C for 5 minutes. Samples were briefly centrifuged at 250g. Supernatant containing protein and boiled samples containing sample buffer were stored briefly at -20°C before Immunoblotting.

2.4.2 Immunoblotting

Total volume

Component	Stacking gel	Resolving gel
	(5%)	(10%)
0.5 M Tris/HCI + 1% SDS, pH 6.8	0.75ml	
1.5 M Tris/HCl + 1% SDS, pH 8.8	-	1.25 ml
1% (w:v)Ammonium persulphate (AMPS)	37.5 µl	37.5 µl
30% (w:v) Acrylamide	0.5 ml	1.67 ml
milliQ H ₂ 0	1.708 ml	2.04 ml
Temed (Sigma)	3.75 ul	3.75 ul

3 ml

5 ml

Proteins were separated using 10% (w:v) acrylamide gels

Table 2.1 Composition of a 10% (w:v) SDS-acrylamide gel.

10% SDS acrylamide gels were prepared using the Mini PROTEAN Tetra Electrophoresis System (BioRad, Hemel Hempstead, UK). The resolving gel (Table 1) was cast first and milliQ water gently layered on top. The gel was left to polymerize for approximately 20 minutes. Once the resolving gel has set the water was poured off and replaced with stacking gel (Table 2.1) containing a 10 or 15 well comb to create the wells for protein loading. The stacking gel was left to set for another 20 minutes. Once set the comb was removed and wells cleaned with milliQ water to remove non-polymerized acrylamide. The gel was then loaded into the apparatus and tank filled with running buffer (250mM Tris base, 1.92M Glycine and 1% (w:v) SDS). 20µl of sample and 2µl EZ-run protein ladder (Gibco) were then loaded and electrode lid attached to the tank. The gels were run at 75V for 15 minutes or until the proteins had passed through the stacking gel. The voltage was then increased to 150V to separate the proteins by electrophoresis through the resolving gel until the dye in the loading buffer emerged from the bottom of the gel.

2.4.3 Semi dry protein transfer

Protein was transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane using a semi dry transfer protocol. Firstly the graphite electrodes of the transfer apparatus were dampened with semi-dry transfer buffer (480mM Tris base, 390mM Glycine, 0.375% (w:v) SDS and 20% (v:v) methanol). Whatman paper (Fisher) and the nitrocellulose membrane (GE Healthcare UK) were cut to the same size as the gel and pre-soaked in semi-dry transfer buffer. 3 pieces of Whatman paper were layered on the graphite electrode, and the nitrocellulose membrane was placed on top and gently rolled to remove air bubbles. The gel was carefully placed on top and covered by another 3 pieces of Whatman paper with down at 0.8A/cm². The nitrocellulose membrane was blocked from non-specific antibody binding by incubation in either 2% (w:v) BSA in TBS-Tween (200mM Tris Base, 1.5M NaCl and 0.05% (v:v) Tween pH 7.4; Sigma-Aldrich) or 5% (w:v) milk in TBS-Tween. The membrane was then washed briefly in TBS-Tween to remove excess blocking buffer and incubated at 4°C overnight with the relevant primary antibody (Table 2.2).

Primary	Host	Concentration	Source
antibody	species	(µg/ml)/	
		dilution factor	
p-Akt ^(Serine 473)	Rabbit	1:1000	Cell Signalling Technology #4060
ERK1/2	Rabbit	0.2	Santa Cruz Biotechnology #sc-93
p-ERK1/2	Rabbit	1:1000	Cell Signalling Technology #9101
p-ERM	Rabbit	1:1000	Cell Signalling Technology #3141
p-Src	Rabbit	1:1000	Cell Signalling Technology #2101
Src	Rabbit	0.2	Santa Cruz Biotechnology #sc-18
p-SHIP-1	Rabbit	1:1000	Cell Signalling Technology #3941
SHIP-1	Rabbit	1:1000	Cell Signalling Technology #2725

Table 2.2 Primary antibodies used for Immunoblotting. For Cell Signalling Technology antibodies dilution factors are reported as the initial antibody concentration is not available. Primary antibodies are diluted in 5ml TBS-Tween, 0.01% (w:v) BSA and 0.001% Sodium Azide.

The membranes were washed 3 times for 5 minutes in TBS-Tween to remove any excess primary antibody and then exposed to the secondary antibody 0.001% (v:v) HRP conjugated anti-rabbit IgG (Dako #P0448). The membranes were incubated for 1-2h with the secondary antibody and washed again 3 times for 5 minutes in TBS-Tween. Membranes were then placed in Chemiluminescent Lumigen reagent (Amersham Bioscience) for 1 minutes and then exposed by X-ray film (Fuji Medical X-Ray Film 100 NIF 18x24; Fisher Scientific) inside a film cassette for between 30sec-2hr and then developed using a film developer (Photon Imaging Systems, Swindon, Wilts, UK). Band intensity was quantified using ImageJ, whereby the rectangular selection tool from the Image J toolbar was used to detect set areas around each band. The pixel intensity of each rectangle was measured and calibrated against the pixel intensity of the background.

Alternatively, nitrocellulose membranes were placed in Chemiluminescent Lumigen reagent (Amersham Bioscience) for 1 minutes and then imaged using an ImageQuant developer (GE Healthcare, Life Sciences). Band intensity measured using 1D gel ImageQuantTL analysis software version 7.

Alternatively, nitrocellulose membranes were blocked for 2h in 5% (w:v) milk then placed in fluorescence secondary antibody (LICOR Donkey anti Rabbit) (1:5000) in TBS tween 1% (w:v) BSA. Blots were then washed 4 times for 5 minutes in TBS tween then once in PBS before fluorescence intensity at 680nm was imaged using the Licor Infrared developer (Odyssey).

2.4.4 Membrane stripping and reprobing

The membranes were placed in a sealed container including at least 25ml of stripping buffer (100mM 2-Mercaptoethanol, 2% [w:v] SDS, 62.5mM TRIS-HCI; pH 6.7) and placed in a water bath at 60°C for 30 minutes. The membrane was then washed 6 times over the course of 1hr in TBS tween. The membranes were then blocked for 1hr in 5% (w:v) milk in TBS tween and then exposed to a different primary antibody.

2.5 Immunoprecipitation of SHIP-1

By immunoprecipitating SHIP-1 from human T lymphocytes the compounds can be assessed directly on the catalytic activity of SHIP-1. SHIP-1 was immunoprecipitated from the SEB activated T lymphocytes. Cells were centrifuged 250g and re-suspended in serum free RMPI-1640 media. 1 million cells were lysed for used for each reaction of the malachite green assay. Samples were rotated for 30 minutes at 4°C to assist cell lysis after which cells were centrifuged 153g, 4°C for 10 minutes. The supernatant containing protein was removed and insoluble material discarded. After centrifugation the supernatant was incubated overnight in 0.01% (v:v) SHIP-1 monoclonal antibody (Cell Signaling Technology). A/G Agarose beads (Peprotech) (5µl per point of malachite green) were washed twice in lysis buffer without inhibitors, re-suspended in 100µl and added to the cell lysis of the MOLT-4 cells for at least 2 hours. Samples were then washed 3 x in 1ml lysis buffer and 3 x in malachite green reaction buffer (5% (v:v) glycerol, 20mM Tris HCl, 10mM MgCl₂; pH 7.4) to remove all proteins not attached to the A/G agarose beads and re-suspended in 20µl of reaction buffer/point.

2.5.1 Malachite green assay

The immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 was then used in the malachite green phosphate assay. Full length recombinant SHIP-1 (Gift from GlaxoSmithKline) was diluted to 1µM in reaction buffer and assessed in the malachite green reaction. SHIP-1 can dephosphorylate the *in vitro* substrate D-Ins(1,3,4,5) tetrakisphosphate to produce Ins(1,3,4)P₃ and free phosphate. A malachite green solution can react with the free phosphate to give a rapid colour change from yellow to green. 20µl of immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 solution, or 1µM recombinant SHIP-1 was added to each of the required wells of a 96 well plate and incubated with SHIP-1 activators, inhibitors or H₂O₂ at given concentrations for 5 minutes at room temperature. 100µM substrate D-Ins (1,3,4,5)P₄ (Echelon Biosciences, Salt Lake City, USA #Q-1345) was added for 30 minutes at 37°C. 100µl malachite green solution (Echelon, # K-1501) was added to each well and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature in the dark. The plate was then read at 650nm using a FluoStar Optima plate reader.

2.6 Flow cytometry

Freshly isolated naïve CD4⁺ and SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed three times by centrifugation at 250g and re-suspended in non-supplemented RPMI-1640 media. After treatment with vehicle or activator as described in the figure legends, cells were fixed using BD Fixation and Permeabilization solution (containing formaldehyde; BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK) for 30 minutes at 4°C to allow intracellular staining of proteins. Cells were washed twice in BD PERM/Wash solution (containing sodium azide and saponin; BD Biosciences) solution and incubated with 0.02% (v:v) antiphospho ERM (Cell Signalling Technology #3141), anti-phospho-SHIP-1 (Cell signalling #3941) diluted in BD PERM/Wash for 30 minutes at 4°C. Cells were washed twice by centrifugation at 250g and re-suspension BD PERM/Wash solution and then incubated with 0.01% (v:v) anti-rabbit IgG FITC conjugated secondary antibody (Sigma #F9887) for 30 minutes at 4°C. Alternatively, cells were stained with TRITC conjugated phallodin for 30 minutes. Cells were washed twice in BD PERM/Wash solution, resuspended in 400µl ice cold PBS + 1% (v:v) FBS in 5ml rounded bottom FACs tubes (BD Falcon, Willford, Nottingham) for analysis by BD FACS Canto II flow cytometer and BD FACS DIVA software (BD Biosciences). TRITC stained cells were excited at 547nm and emission recorded at 573nm whereas FITC stained cells were excited at 495nm and emission recorded at 519nm. Mean fluorescence index (MFI) was used to describe the level of phosphorylated ERM, SHIP-1 protein or actin polymerisation.

2.6.1 Surface receptor expression by flow cytometry

SEB activated T lymphocytes were re-suspended in fully supplemented RMPI-1640 at a concentration of 1 million cells per ml. Cells were treated with either vehicle or stated concentrations of drugs for 30 minutes. Cells were washed twice with ice cold FACs buffer (PBS + 2% FCS) then re-suspended in diluted 1/50 (v:v) phycoerythrin (PE) conjugated anti-CXCR3 antibody (R&D biosciences # FAB16OP) or PE conjugated IgG isotype control (1/50 v:v dilution; R&D biosciences #1COO2P). Alternatively cells were labelled with either Anti-human CD11a PE-conjugated monoclonal antibody (1/50 v:v dilution; ImmunoTools # 21270114), anti-human CD49d PE-conjugated monoclonal antibody (ImmunoTools # 21488494) or PE conjugated IgG antibody. Cell were labelled on ice for 1 hour then washed twice more in FACs buffer. Alternatively, cells were incubated with primary antibody 10µg/ml KIM127 mAb (Gift from Nancy Hogg) for 30 minutes then washed and incubated to secondary anti-mouse FITC conjugated antibody (dilution 1/50 v:v). Finally, cells were re-suspended in PBS and placed in 5ml round bottomed tubes (VWR, Lutterworth, Leicestershire, UK) for analysis by flow cytometry. PE-fluorescence was detected by exciting cells at 496 nm and emission recorded at 576 nm recorded by BD FAC Aria flow cytometer and analysed by BD FACs Diva Software. Mean fluorescence index (MFI) was used to describe the level of CXCR3, CD11a and CD49d expression.

2.7 In vitro cell migration assays

2.7.1 Neuroprobe assay

A Boyden chamber 96 well plate assay can be used to determine *in vitro* cell migration. Cells were washed three times in non-supplemented RPMI-1640 medium, resuspended at 3.2 million cells per ml in phenol red free RPMI-1640 media and treated with either vehicle or inhibitor at the indicated concentrations for 30 minutes. Whilst preparing the cells, a 96 well Neuroprobe chemotaxis plate (Chemo® Tx101-5; Receptor Technologies, Warwick UK; [Figure 2.2 A]) was equilibrated by the addition of 29µl of PBS to the lower chamber and incubation at 37°C for 1 hour. PBS was aspirated from the wells and replaced with either chemotaxis media (phenol red free RPMI-1640 media; Invitrogen) or chemokines CXCL11, CXCL12 or CXCL10 (Peprotech, London UK) diluted in chemotaxis media. This was overlaid with a supplied 5-µm pore-size filter membrane and 25µl of the cell suspension (total cell number 80,000) was added over each required well (Figure 2.2 B). The plate was then incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ for 3 hours. A single piece of Whatman blotting paper was then passed evenly over the membrane to remove the cells which have not moved from the top 25µl cell suspension. The plate was then centrifuged at 250g for 10 minutes with the brake deactivated to allow an unassisted stop. This allows the cells which have migrated through the membrane to be collected in the bottom well. The membrane was carefully removed and cells re-suspended from each well and placed into 300µl PBS. Cells were then counted for 30 seconds for each well by flow cytometry whereby cells were selected by a gate to eliminate debris.



Figure 2.2 Apparatus and schematic for determining *in vitro* cell migration. A. Photograph of the apparatus supplied by Receptor Technologies to undertake cell migration. The 96 well plate system contains a lower chamber containing plate, a sheet containing 96 circular membranes with 5μ M pores surrounded by black hydrophobic rings and a plastic lid. B. Schematic side on view of the preparation of a Neuroprobe experiment. The cell suspension is placed in the upper chamber, if cells are able to migration they move towards the chemokine CXCL11 in the lower chamber. Cells are retained in the lower chamber and counted by flow cytometry.

2.7.2 IBIDI microscopy assay

For multi-parameter analysis of a migrating cells' velocity, directionality and total distance travelled a 2D IBIDI µ-slide (IBIDI, #80301, Martinsried, Germany) system was utilised. Each slide was coated in 45µg/ml fibronectin (R&D Systems; diluted in PBS) overnight at room temperature. Then fibronectin coated slide was pre-warmed at 37°C for 1 hour before washing twice with ultra-pure MilliQ water. Basal cell migration was observed by completely filling the slide with media (phenol red free RPMI-1640 with 0.1% BSA; Figure 2.3.A). Whereas to observe chemotaxis, 18µl of chemokine CXCL11 (100nM; Peprotech, Table 2.3) was added to the top well of the IBIDI chamber (Figure 9.B). According to the manufacturer the chemokine will diffuse to give a gradient with an approximate concentration of 33nM reaching the cells (Figure 2.3.C). SEB activated T lymphocytes were washed three times in RPMI media and then re-suspended in chemotaxis media to give a concentration of 10 million cells/ml. 5µl of the cell

suspension (total of 50 cells) was pipetted into the slide observation platform (Figure 2.3A & B). The IBIDI μ -slide was then place in an environmental chamber heated to 37°C and left for 15 minutes to allow the chemokine gradient to develop. An area containing at least 25 cells was selected upon the cell platform. A time series of images (Zeiss LSM 510 META microscope) were captured with a recording every 15 seconds for 15 minutes to allow a movie of cell migration to be generated. A total of 20 cells were tracked per condition using ImageJ software, the Manual Tracker plug-in (Fabrice Cordelieres) and analysed using the ImageJ chemotaxis tool (Gerhard Trapp and Elias Horn).



Figure 2.3 IBIDI μ slide for measuring *in vitro* cell migration. A. Top down view of IBIDI μ slide assessing basal migration with arrow indicating location to pipette cell suspension onto the central observation platform, blue colour indicates chemotaxis buffer without chemokine. B. Top down view of an IBIDI μ slide with arrow to indicating where chemokine and cells were added, pink colour represents the presence of chemokine. A chemokine gradient should develop across the slide indicated by the blue line **C.** Side view of an IBIDI μ slide showing a chemokine gradient between C_{0⁻¹⁰⁰} across the observation platform. Images taken from (Image taken from http://.com/xtproduc ts/en/ibidi-Labware/Channel-Slides/m-Slide-Chemotaxis-2D)

2.8 Confocal microscopy

1 million cells were stimulated as required and fixed in BD Fixation and Permeabilization (PERM) solution (which contains formaldehyde; BD Biosciences) for 30 minutes at 4°C. Cells were washed twice via centrifugation at 250g and resuspension in BD PERM/Wash solution (containing sodium azide and saponin; BD Biosciences) and then incubated with 0.02% (v:v) anti-phospho ERM antibody (Cell Signalling Technology #3141) in BD PERM/Wash solution overnight at 4°C. Cells were washed twice in BD PERM/Wash solution, re-suspended in 0.01% (v:v) Goat anti-rabbit Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) conjugated secondary antibody diluted in PERM/Wash solution overnight at 4°C. Cells were then washed twice in PERM solution, re-suspended into Mowiol to adhere coverslips to slides then allowed to set overnight. Cells were visualized using a Zeiss LSM 510 Meta confocal microscope using Plan-Apochromat 63x/1.4 Oil DIC objectives. Cells were excited by 488nm light and fluorescence emission was collected at 520nm with a band pass filter of 530 ± 15nm. Images were collected at 2 x zoom.

2.9 Measurement of intracellular calcium

SEB-activated T lymphocytes were re-suspended in HBSS (Gibco) supplemented with 25mM HEPES and 0.1% BSA, pH 7.4 at 4 million cells per ml and loaded with 10µM cell permeant Fluo-4 acetoxymethyl (AM) [Invitrogen #F14201] for 45 minutes at 37°C, cells were protected from light. Fluo-4 is a calcium indicator which fluoresces upon binding to Ca²⁺. Attaching Fluo-4 to an acetoxymethyl ester derivative allows the dye to pass through the cell membrane where it becomes cleaved by non-specific esterases and becomes trapped within the cell. Following incubation, cells were washed twice in Ca²⁺ free HBSS to remove any unloaded dye and density adjusted to either 1 million or 5 million cells per ml. Extracellular Ca²⁺ was adjusted to 1mM using CaCl₂ solution. Cells were loaded into a black flat bottomed 96 well plate at 100µl per well at allowed to rest at 37°C for 30 minutes. Cells were treated as stated in the figure legends and then plate was loaded into FluoStar Optima plate reader. Fluo-4 fluorescence was measured every 15s by exciting the cells at 485 nm and collecting emitted fluorescence at 520 nm. 20 cycles after starting the recording, stated concentrations of UCHT-1, CXCL11 or H₂O₂ were added and recording temporally paused, compounds were manually added into corresponding wells and recording restarted. 1µM ionomycin (Sigma #I-24222), an effective Ca2+ inophore, was added to the cells to ensure sufficient loading of Fluo-4. Each compound response was normalised to its respective ionomycin response.

2.10 Measurement of reactive oxygen species generation

SEB activated T lymphocytes were re-suspended in supplement free RMPI-1640 and labelled with 10µM 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (H2DCFDA, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) at room temperature protected from light for 45 minutes. Following incubation cells were washed twice into PBS to removed unloaded dye and resuspended at 1 million cells per ml. 100µl of cell suspension was placed in each well of a pre-warmed black bottom 96 well plate and allowed to rest at 37°C for 30 minutes. Cells were treated with stated concentrations of reagents for 30 minutes before endpoint recordings were taken on the FluoStar Optima plate reader at excitation/emission 490/515nm.

2.11 Adhesion assay

A flat bottomed 96 well plate was coated with either 10µg/ml recombinant human fibronectin (R & D systems #1918-FN) or 10µg/ml recombinant human ICAM-1 (R & D systems #ADP4-500) overnight. Plate was washed twice with pre-warmed PBS, then un-supplemented RPMI media (without phenol red). SEB activated cells were washed twice into un-supplemented media and treated with the stated concentrations of compounds for 30 minutes. Cells were the added to the 96 well plate and stimulated with UCHT-1 (10µg/ml). The plate was sealed and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C to allow cells to adhere. The plate was then inverted for 15 minutes after which seal was removed whilst the plate was still inverted, all media and non-adherent cells removed from plate and wells washed gently with PBS. Then adherent cells quantified using the MTT assay, where cells are treated with MTT mix (RPMI, 10% FBS and 500µg/ml MTT) for 3h and then lysed in 100µl DMSO. Absorbance was read using a FluoStar Optima plate reader at 540nm

2.12 Hypoxic chamber experiments

The hypoxic chamber was equilibrated with either 5% O_2 , 5% CO_2 , 90% N_2 for 1 hour at 37° C. Cells were washed three times in plain media resuspended at 3.2 million per ml and then incubated in either standard cell culture conditions or in hypoxia for 1 hour prior to their migration being assessed using the methods describe for the Neuroprobe migration assay (Section 2.7.1). The migration assays were carried out in either hypoxic chamber or in standard cell culture conditions for the course of the experiment. Cells were also incubated in the hypoxic chamber for three hours prior to the evaluation of CXCR3 expression (2.6.1).

2.13 Data analysis

Data was normalised as described in the figure legends. Values are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM) and n represents the total number of donors or individual repeats of each study. Statistical analysis was undertaken using GraphPad Prism software. Data was analysed using a One Way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's post-test to determine significant difference as compared to control or when there were two independent variables a two-way ANOVA with Bonferrori post-test was used Differences were considered significant when * P<0.05, **P<0.01 ***P<0.001.

2.14 Pharmacological compounds

Inhibitors	Diluent	Stock	Supplier & Catalogue number	Target
Catalase from bovine liver	H ₂ O	Powder	Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset UK #C1345	H_2O_2 consumption
H ₂ O ₂ Solution	RPMI	30%(w:v)	Sigma-Aldrich #216763	H_2O_2
DPI (Diphenyleneiodonium chloride)	DMSO	50mM	Sigma-Aldrich #D2926	Flavin protein inhibitors
MnTBAP chloride	PBS	Powder	Abcam	SOD dismutase mimetic
3α-aminocholestane	Ethanol	10mM	Echelon # B-0341	SHIP-1 inhibition
AQX-1	DMSO	10 mM	Gift from Aquinox Pharmaceuticals	SHIP-1 activation
AQX-1125	DMSO	10 mM	Gift from GSK	SHIP-1 activation
CXCL11	PBS	10 µM	Peprotech #300-46	CXCR3 activation
CXCL12	PBS	10 µM	Peprotech # 300-28A	CXCR4 activation
CXCL10	PBS	10 µM	Peprotech # 300-12	CXCR3 activation
PP2	DMSO	10 mM	Tocris Bioscience, Bristol UK #1407	Src kinase inhibitor
Piceatannol	DMSO	10 mM	Tocris Bioscience, Bristol UK #1554	Syk kinase inhibitor
U-73343	DMSO	10 mM	Tocris Bioscience, Bristol UK # 4133	Inactive PKC inhibitor
U-73122	DMSO	10 mM	Tocris Bioscience, Bristol UK #1268	Active PKC inhibitor
LY249002	DMSO	10 mM	SelleckChem, Suffolk UK #S1105	PanPI3K inhibitor
ZSTK474	DMSO	10 mM	SelleckChem, Suffolk UK # S1072	PanPI3K inhibitor
AS252424	DMSO	10 mM	SelleckChem, Suffolk UK # S2671	PI3Ky inhibitor
IC87114	DMSO	10 mM	SelleckChem, Suffolk UK # S1268	PI3Kō inhibitor

 Table 2.3 List of pharmacological manipulators employed in this study.

CHAPTER 3: Effect of pharmacological targeting of SHIP-1 upon human T lymphocyte biology

3.1 Rationale

PI3K signalling is involved in numerous cellular functions, such as growth, proliferation, migration and cytokine production (Fruman et al., 2009; So et al., 2012b; Okkenhaug, 2013) and is crucial for the normal functioning of the immune system. However, overactive PI3K signalling is observed in chronic inflammation, immune-mediated disorders as well as cancer (Yuan et al., 2008; Ghigo et al., 2010; Marwick et al., 2010; Suarez-Fueyo et al., 2011). The use of PI3K inhibitors to treat inflammatory disorders has to date been disappointing (Blunt et al., 2012a). This has led to the search for alternative targets with which to selectively modulate PI3K activity in leukocytes. One such target, the lipid phosphatase SHIP-1, has particular promise due to its restricted expression in cells of hematopoietic linage, limiting the activity of SHIP-1 targeted drugs specifically to the immune system. SHIP-1 de-phosphorylates PI(3,4,5)P3, (the major product of receptor stimulated PI3K), at the D-5 position (Damen et al., 1996; Lioubin et al., 1996) leading to its degradation to PI(3,4)P2. Activation of SHIP-1s phosphatase activity would therefore be predicted to decrease PI(3,4,5)P3 levels, thus mimicking the effects of a PI3K inhibitor (Blunt et al., 2012b). Thus, pharmacological SHIP-1 activation has been proposed as a potential therapeutic for use in diseases with over-active PI3K signalling.

Little is known about SHIP-1 in primary human T lymphocytes; to date the majority of work investigating SHIP-1 has been undertaken using genetic mouse models or shRNA SHIP-1 targeting, both of which have indicated pleotropic roles for SHIP-1 in T lymphocyte biology. However, SHIP-1 silencing approaches are likely to disrupt adaptor/scaffolding roles of SHIP-1 (*i.e.* properties of SHIP-1 which are unique from its catalytic ability to negatively regulate PI3K). Therefore, we sought to determine the effect of pharmacological targeting the catalytic domain of SHIP-1, which should maintain the phosphatase-independent functions of SHIP-1. SHIP-1 activators are not commercially available; here a small molecule allosteric SHIP-1 activator, which is closely related to AQX1125 (henceforth referred to as AQX1) was supplied by Aquinox Pharmaceuticals for research purposes only. The SHIP-1 activator, AQX1 will be directly compared to inhibitor, 3-aminocholestane (3AC) to allow side by side evaluation of the effect of SHIP-1 activation and inhibition upon T lymphocyte biology. Overall, the potential of SHIP-1 activation as a putative treatment of T lymphocyte driven pathologies will be assessed.

3.1.1 Aims

This chapter aims to determine the consequences of SHIP-1 manipulation on human T lymphocyte biology. An allosteric SHIP-1 activator, which is closely related to AQX1125 (henceforth referred to as AQX1) was synthesized and supplied by Aquinox Pharmaceuticals for research purposes only (Stenton *et al.*, 2013a) and SHIP-1 inhibitor, 3-aminocholestane (Echelon Biosciences) will be used to:

- establish the functional roles of SHIP-1 in human T lymphocyte viability and TCR activation including investigating downstream Ca²⁺ elevation, proliferation and adhesion.
- assess the functional importance of SHIP-1 as a regulator of basal and chemotactic migration, chemokine signalling, polarisation and cytoskeletal protein rearrangement.

Overall, we will evaluate the potential of SHIP-1 as a novel therapeutic route to influence T lymphocyte driven inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

3.2 SHIP-1 modulators alter recombinant SHIP-1 catalytic activity

SHIP-1 is a lipid phosphatase which is responsible for de-phosphorylating PI(3,4,5)P3 to generate PI(3,4)P2 and free phosphate. *In vitro* the phosphate product generated by SHIP-1 can be measured using malachite green molybdate; a chemical which reacts with free organic phosphate to form molybdophosphoric acid which absorbs light at 650nm. As such, malachite green molybdate can be used to determine the catalytic activity of SHIP-1.

Here, malachite green molydbate has been used to verify that free phosphate is generated when recombinant SHIP-1 is incubated with a surrogate *in vitro* substrate, inositol 1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate (IP₄) (Damen *et al.*, 1996) for 30 minutes at 37° C. Firstly, a significant increased the absorbance at 650nm was observed when IP₄ was incubated with recombinant SHIP-1 alone (Figure 3.1). This confirmed that the recombinant SHIP-1 was de-phosphorylating the *in vitro* substrate.

After validating the assay, it was necessary to verify the respective activity of both pharmacological manipulators of SHIP-1. The SHIP-1 activator used in this study is closely related to AQX-1125 and henceforth referred to as AQX1. AQX1 was synthesized and supplied Aquinox Pharmaceuticals for research purposes only (Stenton *et al.*, 2013b). The activity of AQX-1125, which was provided by GlaxoSmithKline was also validated. Both SHIP-1 activators (1mM) significantly enhanced the catalytic activity of SHIP-1, whilst lower concentrations of AQX1 had no effect upon catalytic activity of recombinant SHIP-1 (Figure 1 A). The SHIP-1 inhibitor, 3α -aminocholestane (3AC; Echelon Biosciences) induced concentrations above 100µM where catalytic activity was reduced by 31.3 ± 0.1% (Figure 1 B).



Figure 3.1 SHIP-1 modulators alter SHIP-1 catalytic activity. 1µg/ml recombinant human SHIP-1 (full length) was treated with vehicle control (DMSO [A] & ethanol [B]) or stated concentrations of (A) SHIP-1 activators or (B) SHIP-1 inhibitor for 30 minutes at 37° C in a 96 well plate. Inositol(1,3,4,5) tetrakisphosphate (IP₄) (100µM) was added for 30 minutes at 37° C. 100µl malachite green solution was added to each well, left for 15 minutes at room temperature and absorbance read at 650nm. The background absorbance of H₂O was subtracted from each well. Note that there is no change in absorbance in recombinant SHIP-1 alone or recombinant SHIP-1 treated with compound in the absence of IP₄, which is labelled no substrate (NS) and shown in black. Data are three independent experiments undertaken in duplicate. Statistical analysis was performed by a one-way ANOVA with a Dunnett's multiple comparisons post-test where ***p<0.001 relative to control.

3.3 SHIP-1 modulation has no effect upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte viability

PI3K signalling has known roles in cell growth and survival (Krasilnikov, 2000), which has led to interest in the role of SHIP-1 in cell survival. SHIP-1 has been shown to elicit a role in survival of mucosal and malignant T cells (Brooks *et al.*, 2010), with SHIP-1 inhibition preventing extrinsic cell death of mucosal T cells via the CD95/Fas/Caspase8 pathway (Park *et al.*, 2014) Therefore the effect of SHIP-1 modulators upon cellular viability of primary peripheral T lymphocytes was examined. To this end, MTT assays and Annexin V/Propridium iodide staining was utilized.

3.3.1 SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon the MTT assay

Firstly, SEB-activated T lymphocytes were treated with increasing concentrations of SHIP-1 modulators and the MTT assay, a commonly used colorimetric enzyme assay, was used to assess cell viability. 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) is reduced by NAD(P)H dependent cellular oxidoreductase enzymes to formazan which has a purple colour and absorbs light at 550nm. Although PI3K signalling is important in cell viability, 24hr treatment with AQX1 and 3AC had no significant effect upon cell viability as assessed by the MTT assay at any of the concentrations studied (Figure 3.2). This suggested that functional effects of AQX1 and 3AC shown in this chapter are not due to the compounds altering cellular viability.

3.3.2 SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon Annexin V or PI staining

The impact of SHIP-1 modulators upon cellular apoptosis or necrosis was also examined using annexin V and propidium iodide (PI) staining. Apoptotic cell death is a tightly controlled process whereby cells are destroyed without leaking their contents into the extracellular space (Elmore, 2007). A key early step in apoptosis is a change in the lipid membrane structure, whereby phosphatidylserine (PS) which are normally held on the inner leaflet are presented on the outer leaflet of the cell membrane to aid phagocytosis. Externalised PS can be measured by binding of a fluorescently tagged form of Annexin V and quantified by flow cytometry. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were treated with stated concentrations of AQX1 and 3AC for 3 hours, there was no effect upon Annexin V fluorescence at any of the concentrations studied and thus they did not evoke cell apoptosis (Figure 3.3).

Necrotic cell death occurs in pathological conditions and results in un-restrained "bursting" of cells to release their intracellular content. PI uptake is an early marker for cellular necrosis, which emits fluorescence at 617nm when bound to nucleic acids. Positive control 10% Triton X, a detergent, significantly induced necrotic cells death. However, neither AQX1 nor 3AC had any effect upon T lymphocyte necrosis (Figure 3.3).This confirmed that observations obtained with AQX1 or 3AC were not due to them altering cellular viability.



Figure 3.2 SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte viability. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were treated with increasing concentrations of (A) AQX1 or (B) 3AC for 24 hours. Cells viability was assessed using the MTT assay. Vehicle control is indicated with the white bars and is (A) DMSO and (B) ethanol. Data are mean \pm SEM from three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined for treatment versus control using test one-way ANOVA indicating no significant difference between groups (A p=0.6544, B p=0.09).



Figure 3.3. SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon PI & Annexin V staining in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were treated with the stated concentrations of (A) AQX1 or (B) 3AC, plus 1% TRITON-X as a positive control for 3 hours. T lymphocyte viability was established by staining cells with annexin V for 20 minutes at 4°C. Then, 2.5µg/ml propidum iodide (PI) was added to the cells and fluorescence emission read immediately using flow cytometry and laser excitation of 488nm (Cy5) and 617nm (PI). Viable cells are represented in green, annexin V+ cells in yellow, orange bars are PI+, and double positive cells are red. The bar chart shows the mean ± SEM from three donors. (C) Representative FACs plots from one donor.

3.4 Effect of SHIP-1 modulation upon TCR induced responses

Ligation of the TCR receptor induces the activation of the PI3K/Akt signalling cascade which is crucial for driving lymphocyte clonal expansion and proliferation (Okkenhaug *et al.*, 2006). SHIP-1 has previously been observed to be recruited to the surface membrane upon CD3/CD28 ligation (Edmunds *et al.*, 1999), implicating a possible role of SHIP-1 in the regulation of TCR/CD3 signalling.

3.4.1 SHIP-1 modulation inhibits TCR/CD3 stimulated Akt phosphorylation

SEB T lymphocytes were pre-treated with stated concentrations of SHIP-1 modulators for 30 minutes. Cells were then stimulated with anti-CD3 antibody (UCHT1) for 5 minutes. Cell were fixed, permeabilised and levels of Akt phosphorylation determined by flow cytometry. The SHIP-1 activator AQX1 significantly inhibited UCHT1 stimulated Akt phosphorylation at 10 and 30µM AQX1 (Figure 3.4 A). Interestingly, the SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC also caused a significant reduction in UCHT-1 stimulated Akt phosphorylation (Figure 3.4 B).



Figure 3.4 SHIP-1 modulation inhibits Akt phosphorylation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post-isolation) were washed three times in serum free media and treated with stated concentrations of (A) AQX1 or (B) 3AC for 30 minutes. Cells were washed in ice cold PBS, then fixed using BD fixation reagent for 20 minutes. Cells were washed once and then treated with BD permeabilization reagent for 15 minutes. Cells were then incubated pAkt antibody for 30 minutes, washed twice in PERM reagent then incubated with FITC conjugated secondary antibody. Mean fluorescence intensity per 10,000 cells was measured using flow cytometry. Data are (left panel) representative FACs plot and (right panel) mean \pm SEM minus IgG control, normalised to untreated control from three independent donors. Statistical analysis was determined by one way-ANOVA with Dunnett's posthoc test where *p<0.05 or ***p<0.001 relative to control.
3.4.2 SHIP-1 modulation has no effect upon TCR/CD3 induced Ca²⁺ release

An important signal produced upon TCR ligation is the elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺. PLCy1 recruitment activation via SFKs and SYK signalling produces inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3), which upon binding to the IP3 receptor releases Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores and induces subsequent Ca²⁺ dependent Ca²⁺ entry through membrane channels. These signals are vital in Ca²⁺ dependent gene transcription, such as nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) and MAPK mediated activating protein-1 (AP-1) (Negulescu *et al.*, 1994) and initiate the expression of important genes involved in TCR-induced proliferation, differentiation and viability. Thus, Ca²⁺ mobilisation was evaluated to determine the effect of SHIP-1 targeting pharmacological tools affected TCR signalling potential.

SEB-activated T lymphocytes were loaded with a Ca²⁺ sensitive dye Fluo-4, and fluorescence measured over time using a plate reader to measure intracellular free Ca²⁺. Initially, Ca²⁺ elevation following exposure to anti-CD3 antibody UCHT-1 was validated. UCHT-1 induced a concentration dependent and sustained increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ (Figure 3.5 A). The ionophore ionomycin was used as a loading control to indicate maximal Fluo-4 signal. To test whether SHIP-1 modulation could affect the UCHT-1 elevated intracellular Ca²⁺, SEB T lymphocytes were pre-treated with either the SHIP-1 activator AQX1 or SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC. AQX1 appeared to partially suppress the initial peak Ca²⁺ elevation but this observation was not significant across the three donors (Figure 3.5 B). 3AC also had no effect upon the UCHT-1-induced Ca²⁺ signal (Figure 3.5 C).



Figure 3.5 SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon TCR agonist UCHT-1-induced intracellular Ca²⁺ release in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed into PBS and loaded for 45 minutes with 1µM Fluo-4. Cells were washed 3 times and re-suspended at 1 million cells per ml in Ca²⁺ free-HBSS and extracellular Ca²⁺ adjusted to 1mM. Cells were plated in a black 96 well plate and either (A) allowed to rest or treated with stated concentrations of (B) AQX1 or (C) 3AC for 30 minutes. Stated concentrations of UCHT-1 were added after a baseline was established and 1µM ionomycin was used as a loading control. Left panel is a kinetic trace indicating change in fluorescence from basal (Δ F/F₀) from one representative donor. The right panel is the peak change in fluorescence generated by UCHT-1 as a percentage of the peak change generated by ionomycin and is mean ± SEM from averaged duplicates of three independent donors. One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-test was used to determine statistical significance where *p<0.05 and ***p<0.001 relative to control.

3.4.3 SHIP-1 modulation significantly impairs TCR driven proliferation

Given the crucial role of PI3K/Akt in cell proliferation (Okkenhaug *et al.*, 2006; Okkenhaug, 2013) and the ability of SHIP-1 compounds to affect TCR-induced Akt phosphorylation, the effect of SHIP-1 modulation on TCR/CD3-mediated clonal expansion of human T lymphocytes was investigated. Cells were labelled with the fluorescent probe CFSE and flow cytometry used to track the dilution of the CFSE as the cells divide. CFSE binds covalently to intracellular amines and the probe splits equally into each daughter cell.

Naïve T lymphocytes were treated with stated concentrations of the SHIP-1 modulators for 30 minutes before stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 coated Dynabeads and IL-2. Initial CFSE intensity was determined on the day of isolation. CFSE intensity was quantified four days post isolation with plots from control conditions showing four distinct peaks, indicating four generations of cell division (Figure 3.6). The SHIP-1 activator AQX1 increased the percentage of cells retained in generation 1, whereas fewer cells were seen to progress to generation 4 (Figure 3.6 A). This indicates that activation of SHIP-1 inhibited the ability of human CD4 lymphocytes to proliferate and progress through cell divisions upon TCR/CD3 stimulation. Surprisingly, the SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC only inhibited proliferation at high concentrations. 20µM 3AC increased the percentage of cells retained in generation 4 (Figure 3.6 B). To fully understand whether this observation relates to an issue with toxicity additional concentrations of 3AC between 2 and 20µM should have been examined.



Figure 3.6 Activation of SHIP-1 inhibits TCR/CD3 mediated T lymphocyte proliferation. 1 million freshly isolated naïve CD4 cells were treated with increasing concentrations of (A) AQX1 or (B) 3AC for 30 minutes then stimulated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 Ab-coated Dynabeads and IL-2 (36U/ml) for 4 days. Cell proliferation was assessed using CFSE staining and flow cytometry. Each panel shows a representative FACS plot. The numbers stated in the top left corner represent the mean fluorescence index of CFSE, and bar charts are the mean \pm SEM of the % of cells in each generation from three independent experiments in the absence of presence of indicated concentrations of AQX1 or 3AC.

3.4.4 SHIP-1 modulation impairs basal and TCR-induced adhesion of SEB T lymphocytes

Pharmacological modulation of SHIP-1 could also inhibit other functional outcomes of TCR activation. Ligation of the TCR is known to increase adhesion of lymphocytes (Simonson *et al.*, 2006), whilst the ability of lymphocytes to adhere to extracellular matrix components like fibronectin and adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1 is a crucial step in their extravasation (Stanley *et al.*, 2008; Nourshargh *et al.*, 2010), stabilising cellular contacts and facilitating accumulation of lymphocytes at sites of inflammation (Rodriguez *et al.*, 1992).

SEB-activated T lymphocytes were treated with increasing concentrations of SHIP-1 modulators for 30 minutes and their ability to adhere to either fibronectin or ICAM-1 was determined under basal and UCHT-1 stimulated conditions. UCHT-1 significantly enhanced the adherence to fibronectin by 5.6 ± 0.5 fold and ICAM-1 by 5.67 ± 1.1 fold. The SHIP-1 activator AQX1 abrogated both basal and TCR/CD3-induced adhesion of previously activated T lymphocytes to both fibronectin (Figure 3.7 A) and ICAM1 (Figure 3.7 B). Remarkably, the SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC also abrogated basal and TCR/CD3-mediated adhesion to both fibronectin (Figure 3.7 C) and ICAM1 (Figure 3.7 D). This implies that a balance of PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 signalling is required for T lymphocyte adhesion. Interestingly, 3AC appears to have a more pronounced effect upon UCHT-1 induced adhesion, which suggests SHIP-1 induced PI(3,4)P2 signalling is required for TCR induced adhesion.



Figure 3.7 SHIP-1 modulation attenuates adhesion of SEB-activated T lymphocytes. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post-isolation) were treated with increasing concentrations of (A & B) SHIP-1 activator AQX1 or (C & D) SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC for 30 minutes. Cells were allowed to adhere to either a (A & C) fibronectin (10µg/ml) or (B & D) ICAM-1 coated 96 well plate for 30 minutes. The plate was sealed and turned upside down for 15 minutes. Wells were washed gently to remove any un-adhered cells. Cell were scrapped and counted using FACSCanto flow cytometry. Data are represented as percent change from basal conditions and is mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with a Dunnett's multiple comparisons post-test where *p<0.05 **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 as compared to control.

3.4.5 SHIP-1 has no effect upon integrin expression but alters the affinity state of LFA-1

In an attempt to unravel the mechanism underlying the decreased adhesion, the effect of SHIP-1 modulation upon the expression of the adhesion receptors CD11a and CD49d was examined. CD11a is the α L subunit which along with CD18 (β 2) forms the integrin dimer LFA-1 (α L β 2). LFA-1 binds to ICAM-1, present on leukocytes and the endothelium, to aid intercellular contacts and extravasation. CD49d is the α 4 subunit, which along with CD29/ β 1, forms the integrin dimer VLA-4 (α 4 β 1) (Larson *et al.*, 1990). VLA-4 is one of several integrins that can bind to the extracellular matrix protein fibronectin. Interestingly, neither the SHIP-1 activator AQX1 nor SHIP-1 inhibitor 3-AC had any effect on the expression of CD11a or CD49d (Figure 3.8 A & B).

However, LFA-1 exists in different states of affinity which determines the strength of ICAM1-LFA-1 interactions. The result of SHIP-1 modulation upon the affinity state of LFA-1 was examined using monoclonal antibodies (mAb) that recognize differentially exposed epitopes expressed upon activation. Following activation, LFA-1 extends, exposing an epitope that is recognised by mAb KIM127, located in the EGF-like domain 2 at the bend in the β2 subunit (Robinson *et al.*, 1992; Beglova *et al.*, 2002). The extended KIM127+ LFA-1 adopts both closed and open conformations corresponding to intermediate- and high-affinity forms of LFA-1, respectively (Kinashi, 2006; Luo *et al.*, 2007). Interestingly, the SHIP-1 activator AQX1 significantly reduced the detection of KIM127+ LFA-1 expression, thus indicating a reduced amount of LFA-1 in its activated affinity state (Figure 3.8 C). Consistent with its effect on adhesion, SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC also reduced detection of KIM127+ LFA-1 modulates T lymphocytes (Figure 3.8 D). This suggests that SHIP-1 modulates T lymphocyte adhesion to ICAM-1 by changing the confirmation and affinity state of LFA-1.



Figure 3.8 SHIP-1 modulation attenuates adhesion of T lymphocytes by reducing the affinity state of LFA-1. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days postisolation) were treated with either increasing concentrations of SHIP-1 activator AQX1 or SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC for 30 minutes and then expression of surface receptors (A) CD11a and (B) CD49d was assessed using PE-conjugated antibodies. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were treated with increasing concentrations of (C) AQX1 or (D) 3AC for 30 minutes, blocked for 1 hr in 1% BSA and the stained with the primary antibody KIM127 (10 μ g/ml) for 30 minutes at 4°C and washed twice in PBS. Cells were then incubated for 30 minute with anti-mouse FITC conjugated antibody at 4°C, washed twice in PBS and analysed by FACSCanto flow cytometry. Data are represented as percent change from basal conditions and is mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 as compared to control.

3.5 Effect of SHIP-1 modulation upon CXCL11 driven responses

In addition to regulating PI3K signalling downstream of tyrosine kinase-coupled antigen receptors, SHIP-1 has previously been demonstrated to regulate PI3K-dependent signalling activated by G protein-coupled receptor (GPCRs), including CXCR3. Following antigen encounter, the chemokine receptor CXCR3 is up-regulated on T lymphocytes and is crucial for their recruitment into inflamed tissues (Marwick *et al.*, 2010). The role of SHIP-1 in CXCL11/CXCR3 signalling, migration and polarisation of T lymphocytes was therefore examined.

3.5.1 SHIP-1 modulation inhibits CXCL11-induced Akt phosphorylation in SEB T lymphocytes

Akt phosphorylation is used an indirect measure of PI3K activity. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with SHIP-1 modulators for 30 minutes, stimulated with CXCL11 for 5 minutes and the effect of SHIP-1 modulation on Akt phosphorylation was determined by Western Blot. Importantly, SHIP-1 activator AQX1 caused a concentration dependent reduction in CXCL11 stimulated Akt phosphorylation (Figure 3.9 A). Similarly, SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC also abrogated CXCL11-stimulated Akt phosphorylation (Figure 3.9 B), indicating that SHIP-1 modulation can alter CXCL11-induced signalling.

3.5.2 SHIP-1 modulation had no effect upon CXCL11 induce Ca²⁺ elevation

Another important signal produced upon CXCR3/CXCL11 stimulation is the elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration. Elevated intracellular Ca²⁺ is important in directed cell migration as local Ca²⁺ pulses near the leading edge of the cell activate myosin and to modulate focal adhesions (Tsai *et al.*, 2014). Therefore intracellular Ca²⁺ levels were measured to assess whether SHIP-1 modulation affected CXCR3/CXCL11 signalling potential. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were loaded with a Ca²⁺ sensitive reporter Fluo-4, and fluorescence was measured over time using a plate reader to measure intracellular Ca²⁺ (Figure 3.10 A) The number of cell in each well was increased to 500,000 to boost the signal (*i.e.* the total level of Ca²⁺ elevation) for the CXCL11 experiment. To test whether SHIP-1 modulation could affect the CXCL11 elevated intracellular Ca²⁺, SEB T lymphocytes were pre-treated with either SHIP-1 activator AQX1 or inhibitor 3AC for 30 minutes. Neither compound had any effect upon CXCL11-induced Ca²⁺ signal (Figure 3.10 B & C).



Figure 3.9 Modulation of SHIP-1 inhibits chemokine receptor mediated Akt phosphorylation. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were treated with either vehicle control (labelled C) or increasing concentrations of (A) AQX1 or (B) 3AC for 30 minutes then stimulated with CXCL11 (10nM) for 5 minutes. Cells were then lysed and the level of phosphorylated Akt (serine 473) and total ERK levels determined by immunoblotting. The blot was quantified by densitometry using ImageJ software. Data are presented as a representative blot, the numbers of the left are kDa (Left panel) and a bar chart of the mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments (Right panel). Statistical significance was determined is by one way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05 as compared to control.



Figure 3.10 SHIP-1 modulators had no effect upon CXCL11-induced intracellular Ca²⁺ release in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post-isolation) were washed into PBS and loaded for 45 minutes with 1µM Fluo-4. Cells were washed 3 times and re-suspended at 5 million cells per ml in Ca²⁺ free-HBSS and extracellular Ca²⁺ adjusted to 1mM. Cells were plated in a black 96 well plate and either (A) allowed to rest or treated with increasing concentrations of (B) AQX1 or (C) 3AC for 30 minutes. Fluorescence was recorded over time using a FluoStar Optima plate reader at 37°C. Stated concentrations of CXCL11 were added after a baseline was established and 1µM ionomycin was used as a loading control. Left panel is a kinetic trace indicating change in fluorescence from basal (Δ F/F0) from one representative donor. The right panel is the peak change in fluorescence generated by UCHT-1 as a percentage of the peak change generated by ionomycin and is the mean ± SEM from averaged duplicates of three independent donors. One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-test was used to determine significance where *p<0.05 as compared to control.

3.5.3 SHIP-1 modulation attenuated both basal and CXCL11 directed migration in SEB-activated T lymphocytes

Consistent with the reduction in chemokine driven Akt signalling, SHIP-1 modulation altered basal and chemokine-induced lymphocyte migration. First, using a Neuroprobe plate-based assay that measured migration across a synthetic membrane, SHIP-1 activator AQX1 reduced basal and chemotactic migration with an IC_{50} of 9.9µM and 970nM, respectively. SHIP-1 inhibitor 3-AC reduced basal and chemotactic migration of previously activated T cells with an IC_{50} of 29nM and 4.3µM, respectively (Figures 3.11 A & B).

Second, migration was also assessed using the IBIDI µ-slide chemotaxis assay which allows tracking of individual cells across a fibronectin-coated surface (Figure 3.12 A & B). AQX1 and 3AC abrogated CXCL11 mediated migration as measured by accumulated distance and velocity. Using the IBIDI assay, a reduction in basal migration in the presence of AQX1 or 3AC was not observed. However, this assay has negligible basal migration compared to the NeuroProbe assay.

3.5.4 SHIP-1 modulation had no effect upon the surface expression of CXCR3 in SEB-activated T lymphocytes

As SHIP-1 modulation significantly impaired CXCL11 driven migration and signalling, its effect upon cognitive receptor CXCR3 expression was observed. A 30 minute treatment of SHIP-1 manipulators was used in an attempt to limit any transcriptional changes which would be unlikely to occur within this short timeframe, and instead focused upon determining the effect of SHIP-1 upon receptor trafficking. Neither AQX-1125 nor 3AC had any effect upon CXCR3 expression (Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.11 SHIP-1 modulation inhibits basal and chemokine stimulated migration in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2×10^6 cell/ml. Cells were pre-treated with increasing concentrations of (A) AQX1 or (B) 3AC 30 minutes at 37°C. The basal and chemokine CXCL11 (10nM)-induced migration of cells was then determined using the Neuroprobe assay. Left panel is expressed as chemotactic index where the number of cells migrated with each drug condition is divided by the vehicle control and the right panel is the percentage of vehicle control migration. Data are the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors. Right panel shows migration as a percent of vehicle control. Statistical significance was determined by one way ANOVA with a Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 as compared to control.



Figure 3.12 Chemotaxis on a fibronectin-coated surface is reduced by SHIP-1 modulation. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post-isolation) were washed and pre-treated with either vehicle, 30μ M AQX1 or 20μ M 3AC 30 minutes at 37° C. Migration of cells was observed using IBIDI µslides coated in 10μ g/ml fibronectin. Cells were added to the slides and allowed to adhere for 15 minutes. Cells were imaged using the bright-field channel of a 40x objective on a confocal microscope. Time-lapse images were taken every 15s and cell migration stimulated either PBS or CXCL11 (100nM). Cell tracking was performed using the ImageJ Manuel tracking plugin. (A) Shows a representative ImageJ tracking plot from one donor. Data are the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors with (B) accumulated distance and (C) velocity. Right panel shows migration as a percent of vehicle control. Significance was determined by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-test where *p<0.05 as compared to vehicle control.

Chapter 3. Effect of pharmacological targeting of SHIP-1 upon human T cell biology



CXCR3 expression

Figure 3.13 SHIP-1 modulation has no effect upon surface receptor expression of CXCR3 in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post-isolation) were washed three times in serum free media and treated with AQX1125 (30μ M) or 3AC (20μ M) for 30 minutes. Cells were washed in ice cold PBS, then blocked in 1% BSA for 30 minutes. Cells were then incubated in either IgG control antibody or Alexa-PE-conjugated CXCR3 antibody on ice for 30 minutes and washed twice in ice cold PBS. Mean fluorescence intensity per 10,000 cells was measured using flow cytometry. Data are (A) representative FACS plots with MFI in top right corner and (B) mean ± SEM minus IgG control, normalised to untreated control from three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined by one way-ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test.

3.5.5 SHIP-1 modulation reduces chemokine dependent de-phosphorylation of Ezrin, radixin and moesin in SEB-activated T lymphocytes

Phosphorylation of ezrin, radixin and moesin (ERM) proteins, which link the actin cytoskeleton to the cell surface membrane, have previously been implicated in cell migration and adhesion (Arpin *et al.*, 2011). In T lymphocytes, phosphorylation of ERM proteins is rapidly reduced by chemokine stimulation (Brown *et al.*, 2003). In addition, silencing of SHIP-1 expression in T lymphocytes was found to cause the dephosphorylation of ERM proteins (Harris *et al.*, 2011). The impact of pharmacological SHIP-1 activation or inhibition upon the phosphorylation of ERM proteins was therefore examined. Naïve T lymphocytes were treated with SHIP-1 activator AQX1, followed by visualisation of ERM phosphorylation by confocal microscopy. CXCR4 is highly expressed on naïve T lymphocytes and therefore the effect of CXCL12 on ERM proteins was examined. CXCL12 caused a significant de-phosphorylation of ERM proteins. Interestingly, AQX1 pre-treatment prevented CXCL12 dependent dephosphorylation (Figure 3.14 A)

Consistently, immunoblots indicated that 3AC or AQX1 treatment enhanced the phosphorylation of ERM proteins in SEB-activated T lymphocytes under un-stimulated conditions, whilst exposure to chemokine CXCL11 (Figure 3.14 B and C) caused a dephosphorylation of ERM proteins. However, both pharmacological activation and inhibition of SHIP-1, with AQX1 or 3AC respectively, prevented CXCL11 mediated ERM de-phosphorylation (Figure 3.14 B & C). 50nM calyculin A (CalyA), a potent serine/threonine phosphatase inhibitor prevents ERM dephosphorylation and was used as a positive control to indicate high ERM phosphorylation.



Figure 3.14 SHIP-1 modulation alters the phosphorylation state of ERM proteins in T lymphocytes. (A) Naïve T lymphocytes were treated with AQX1 (30µM) for 30 minutes the stimulated with CXCL12 (10nM) for 5 minutes. Cells were fixed in BD cytofix for 30minutes at 4°C and then exposed to anti-phospho-ERM overnight. Cells were stained with FITC conjugated secondary antibody and ERM phosphorylation detected by confocal microscopy. Left panel is representative of 6 images per treatment from 3 different donors. Scale bar = 10µm. Right panel is mean intensity of FITC fluorescence determined by using LSM 510 analysis software. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were incubated either with vehicle control (labelled C) or increasing concentrations of (B) AQX1 or (C) 3AC for 30 minutes prior to stimulation with CXCL11 for 5 minutes. 50nM Calyculin A (CalyA) was used as a positive control to indicate high ERM phosphorylation. Levels of phosphorylated ERM and total ERK were then assessed using Immunoblotting. Left panels are representative Westerns Blot from a single experiment, numbers on the left are kDa. The right panel are mean ± SEM of phosphorylated ERM relative to total ERK, from three independent experiments. Statistical significance was determined by a one way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05 & **p<0.01 as compared to control.

3.6 Chapter 3 Results Summary

- Compounds alter SHIP-1 catalytic activity in the malachite green assay
- Neither SHIP-1 activation or inhibition had any effect upon T lymphocyte viability
- TCR-induced Akt phosphorylation was inhibited by either SHIP-1 activation or inhibition
- Neither SHIP-1 activation nor inhibition had any effect upon TCR or CXCL11induced Ca²⁺ elevation
- SHIP-1 activation inhibited CD3/CD28-induced proliferation of naïve T cells, but inhibition had no effect
- Basal and UCHT-1 stimulated adhesion to fibronectin and ICAM-1 were inhibited by SHIP-1 activation and inhibition
- Expression of CD11a and CD49d were unaffected by activation and inhibition of SHIP-1
- Activation and inhibition of SHIP-1 reduced the affinity state of LFA-1
- CXCL11 induce Akt phosphorylation was inhibited by SHIP-1 activation and inhibition
- SHIP-1 activation and inhibition attenuated basal and directed migration
- SHIP-1 activation and inhibition enhanced basal ERM phosphorylation and prevented CXCL11-induced de-phosphorylation
- Both activation and inhibition of SHIP-1 have the same functional consequences in SEB-T lymphocytes

3.7 Chapter 3 - Discussion

Validation of SHIP-1 modulators on malachite green absorbance

The SHIP-1 activator, AQX1 and inhibitor, 3α -aminocholestane (3AC) were successfully validated to alter the catalytic activity SHIP-1 using the malachite green assay. Interestingly, the cell-based studies confirmed that SHIP-1 compounds were membrane permeant and that they manipulate cell responses at lower concentrations than in isolated protein conditions. Although the structure of AQX1 has not been disclosed due to a material transfer agreement with Aquinox Pharmaceuticals, in their hands AQX1 significantly enhanced the catalytic activity of recombinant SHIP-1 at 1 μ M, which is consistent with the concentrations of AQX1 that are active in our functional assays. The structure of AQX1 is related to the published compound AQX1125, which is currently in phase II clinical trials. AQX1125 (30 μ M) has been shown to be highly selective in a range of selectivity and specificity investigations (Stenton *et al.*, 2013a).

3AC was identified though a high-throughput fluorescence polarisation assay and shown to inhibit the catalytic activity of recombinant SHIP-1 by 50% at 10µM, but not affect effect PTEN or SHIP-2 at any of the studied concentrations (Brooks *et al.*, 2010). Intracellular modification or protein interactions might be required for full efficacy of SHIP-1 compounds in cell-based assays. To further quantify the compounds cellular potency upon SHIP-1 the cellular levels of PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 could have been investigated using integrated high performance liquid chromatography mass spectrometry.

SHIP-1s roles in cell survival, TCR signalling and proliferation

(a) Survival

Pharmacological activation and inhibition of SHIP-1 had no effect upon cell viability of primary human T lymphocytes isolated from the peripheral blood of healthy human donors. This implies that in peripheral T lymphocytes that altering the balance between level of phospholipid PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 signalling has no effect upon cell viability. This result is consistent with shRNA silencing of SHIP-1 in human T cells which also had no effect upon cell viability (Harris *et al.*, 2011) and in line with reports of T cell specific SHIP-1 knockout mice, where T cell numbers are unaffected

(Tarasenko *et al.*, 2007). Although it is in contrast to germline deletion of SHIP-1 in mice which leads to a decrease in the T lymphocyte population especially in the periphery (Helgason *et al.*, 1998; Kashiwada *et al.*, 2006). However lymphocyte abnormalities observed in SHIP-1 null mice could be a consequence of the severe myeloid pathology these mice present (*i.e.* interaction and cytokine release from other affected immune cells could lead a reduction in T lymphocytes).

Furthermore, recent evidence actually suggests a role for SHIP-1 product PI(3,4)P2 in T lymphocyte survival. SHIP-1 expression was observed to prevent extrinsic cell death of mucosal T lymphocytes via the CD95, Fas, Capase 8 pathway (Park et al., 2014). In addition, enhanced SHIP-1 activity and elevated PI(3,4)P2 levels have been observed in several leukaemias (Luo et al., 2003; Fukuda et al., 2005; Brauer et al., 2012); cells which exhibit high survival and proliferation. It some cases, PI(3,4)P2 has been shown to promote Akt activation (Franke et al., 1997) and tumorigenicity (Ivetac et al., 2009). In addition, SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC induces the apoptosis of human acute myeloid leukaemic cell lines (Brooks et al., 2010) and inhibits multiple myeloma cell growth in a tumour xenograft model in mice (Fuhler et al., 2012), suggesting SHIP-1 activity and thus PI(3,4)P2 is required for the survival of these cells. As we did not observe any effect of 24hr treatment of 3AC on peripheral T lymphocyte survival, it could be interesting to further this work and investigate whether there is a differential requirement of SHIP-1 signalling in survival of malignant and peripheral T lymphocytes. If a differential requirement exists it could be beneficial in using SHIP-1 inhibitors to specifically kill malignant cells, sparing the normal adaptive T lymphocyte function required to combat opportunistic pathogens.

(b) TCR-dependent Akt phosphorylation

SHIP-1 is a major negative regulator downstream of cytokine (Lioubin *et al.*, 1996), Fc (Kiener *et al.*, 1997) and B cell receptors (Helgason *et al.*, 2000), but the evidence indicating SHIP-1 role in regulating TCR/CD3 signalling has proven more contradictory, with its exact biological functions poorly understood. Firstly, in agreement with SHIP-1 eliciting a role in TCR activation, interactions have been observed between both CD3 and the TCR ζ chain with the SH2 domain of SHIP-1 (Osborne *et al.*, 1996). Moreover, the stimulation of CD3 and CD28 caused both tyrosine phosphorylation and increased catalytic activity of SHIP-1, as well as a marked re-distribution of SHIP-1 from the cytosol to the surface membrane (Edmunds *et al.*, 1999). Restoration of membrane

localised SHIP-1 in Jurkats, leukemic T cells which lack SHIP-1 expression, reduces basal and TCR-induced PI3K signalling through Akt (Edmunds *et al.*, 1999).

SHIP-1 activation and inhibition reduced TCR/CD3 mediated Akt phosphorylation and proliferation human peripheral T lymphocytes, validating the importance of SHIP-1 in TCR dependent signalling. This is consistent with the observation that shRNA silencing of SHIP-1 also inhibits T lymphocyte Akt phosphorylation and proliferation (Harris *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, AQX1125 has also been shown to reduce Akt phosphorylation in the leukemic T cell line MOLT-4 (Stenton *et al.*, 2013a). However, in contrast conditional silencing of SHIP-1 in T lymphocytes in mice was found to cause no differences from wild-type controls in terms of TCR-induced signalling or proliferation (Tarasenko *et al.*, 2007) suggesting SHIP-1 is un-important in TCR signalling. These conflicting results could be due to differences between human and mouse T lymphocytes and highlight the fact that there are often substantial differences between the immune systems of mice and humans. This study indicates the importance of studying the role of proteins in human cells, even if the assays available are somewhat limited compared to animal models.

It is important to note that the product of SHIP-1 is distinct from the phospholipid which is generated from the direct antagonism of PI3K signalling (*i.e.* PI(4,5)P2). PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 have both been shown to interact with the PH domain of Akt, with phosphorylation at Serine-473 in Akt dramatically reduced in the absence of PI(3,4)P2 (Franke *et al.*, 1997; Scheid *et al.*, 2002; Ma *et al.*, 2008; Kerr, 2011). It has been suggested that a balance of these phospholipids is required maximal Akt activation which may explain, in part, why both the activator and inhibitor of SHIP-1 abrogated Akt phosphorylation and inhibited proliferation of T lymphocytes (Figure 3.15).



3.15 Activation and inhibition of SHIP-1 leads to the same functional outcomes.

Under normal conditions, PI3K and SHIP-1 regulate the levels and localisation of PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 to co-ordinate the normal functions of T lymphocytes. The balance between PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 appears to be vital. Due to its abundance in basal cells PI(4,5)P2 is not believed to have a signalling role. Activation of the endogenous negative regulator of PI3K, SHIP-1 with pharmacological tools such as AQX1 leads a decrease in PI(3,4,5)P3 and an accumulation of PI(3,4)P2 and inhibition of T lymphocyte function. Similarly, inhibition of SHIP-1 with 3AC leads to downregulation of PI(3,4)P2 signalling and an accumulation of PI(3,4,5)P3 signalling, which also reduces T lymphocyte function.

PI(3,4)P2 has a prominent positive signalling role in cells (Franke et al., 1997; Tiwari et al., 2009; Brooks et al., 2010) and is able to recruit and activate unique PH-domain containing proteins to PI(3,4,5)P3, including TAPP1/TAPP2 (Marshall et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2009; Li et al., 2013), lamellipodin (Lpd) (Krause et al., 2004; Law et al., 2013), and SNX9 (Posor et al., 2013), indicating that instead of producing the same effect as PI3K inhibition, SHIP-1 activation could drive distinct signalling (Figure 3.16). PI3K inhibitors inhibit the accumulation of PI(3,4,5)P3 within cells, therefore conceptually they also eliminate PI(3,4)P2 dependent signalling, as SHIP-1 no-longer has a substrate to de-phosphorylate (Scheid et al., 2002). It is interesting to compare our observations with SHIP-1 modulation to the literature on PI3K inhibition to determine the potential benefits of both methods in treating diseases of the immune system and this is touched upon in different sections in the discussion. TCR/CD8 mediated Akt activation has been shown to be dependent on PI3K regulatory subunit p85s and p1108 in peripheral T cells (Okkenhaug et al., 2006; Deane et al., 2007; Garcon et al., 2008). p1105-deficient mice T lymphocytes also exhibit deficient clonal expansion to CD4 T lymphocytes (Okkenhaug et al., 2006). The p1105 inhibitor IC87114 inhibits proliferation of both mouse and human T lymphocytes (Soond et al., 2010). Thus Inhibition of p1105 appears to exhibit a similar phenotype to SHIP-1 modulation in human T lymphocytes.



Figure 3.16 Chemical structures and downstream signalling proteins of phosphoinositides. Phosphatidylinositol (PI) consists of a phosphatidic acid backbone, linked via a phosphate group to an inositol ring head group (green). R1 and R2 denote fatty acid groups. PI can be phosphorylated at various hydroxyl groups of the inositol ring. Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PI(3,4,5)P3) and PI(3,4)P phosphatidylinositol-3,4-biphosphate (PI(3,4)P2) are illustrated alongside the PH domain containing proteins which can recruited to each phospholipid sub-type.

It is also interestingly to point out that although PI(3,4,5)P3 is necessary for full activation of Akt, Akt can be activated and phosphorylated by serine/threonine kinase, inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa-B kinase subunit epsilon (IKBKE) independently of a PI3K/PH domain mediated mechanism (Guo *et al.*, 2011). Thus PI3K inhibition or SHIP-1 modulation may not fully silence Akt signalling. Direct inhibition of Akt has also been explored as a putative cancer treatment (Hers *et al.*, 2011; Tan *et al.*, 2011). However, paradoxically direct inhibition of Akt could actually increase PI3K-dependent activation of its other effectors. This is because Akt activation leads to increased mTORC1 activity, which operates a well-known negative feedback mechanism (Guo *et al.*, 2011). When mTORC1 is active, the PI3K-Akt pathway is suppressed, whereas if mTORC1 is inhibited (for instance, with rapamycin), PI3K-Akt signalling can actually be enhanced (Guertin *et al.*, 2009), thus modulating SHIP-1 appears to be a better method of manipulating Akt activation and downstream signalling than direct Akt inhibition.

(c) Proliferation

Actin rearrangement is known to be important in cell division with dysregulation causing failure of centrosome separation and spindle assembly in the S phase of the cell cycle (Bendris et al., 2015). SHIP-1 modulation impairs ERM cytoskeletal protein phosphorylation and rearrangement and SHIP-1 silencing inhibits actin rearrangement (Hogan et al., 2004; Harris et al., 2011) which could underlie why SHIP-1 modulation affects T lymphocyte proliferation. Proliferation of peripheral T lymphocytes may also be reliant upon suppressed TCR-induced Akt phosphorylation) (Xu et al., 2012). During the cell cycle, a number of checkpoints ensure that proliferation is regulated, in particular the G1 checkpoint and G1 to S phase transition, which in general prevents unhealthy cells from proceeding further through the cell cycle (Foster et al., 2010). Hypothetically, high levels of either PI(3,4,5)P3 or PI(3,4)P2 present in SHIP-1 modulated cells could indicate that the cell is unhealthy and in order to limit the chance of developing leukaemias these cells are prevented from proliferating. Furthermore, PI3K activity is key to progression through the G1 checkpoint, so a lack of PI(3,4,5)P3 or PI(3,4)P2 may also contribute to cell cycle arrest (Foster et al., 2010). To further this work it would be interesting to use cell cycle analysis to determine the effect of SHIP-1 activation and inhibition upon the cell cycle. Interestingly, expression of complete SHIP-1 protein in Jurkat cells reduced cellular proliferation, notably by affecting the G1 cell cycle regulators Rb and p27^{Kip1}, (Horn *et al.*, 2004) and KLF2 (Garcia-Palma *et al.*, 2005) factors implicated in T cell quiescence. The possible reasons for that both pharmacological activation and inhibition SHIP-1 inhibited human T lymphocyte proliferation are summarised in Figure 3.17.

Chapter 3. Effect of pharmacological targeting of SHIP-1 upon human T cell biology



Figure 3.17 Model for SHIP-1 activation and inhibition causing decreased T lymphocyte proliferation

Importantly, although we have indicated that the pharmacological manipulation of SHIP-1 can alter TCR signalling and proliferation, no inappropriate T cell mediated autoimmunity or T cell neoplasm have thus far been demonstrated in either the pharmacological or genetic strategies implemented to manipulate SHIP-1. This includes four independently generated germline SHIP-/- mice strains (Helgason *et al.*, 1998; Liu *et al.*, 1998; Wang *et al.*, 2002b; Karlsson *et al.*, 2003) and conditional T lymphocyte knock out mice, CD4Cre+SHIPflox/flox, or CD8Cre+SHIPflox/flox mice (Tarasenko *et al.*, 2007; Kerr, 2011). It could be argued that such neoplasms are not observed in germline SHIP-/- strains due to their substantially reduced lifespan; however, in the T cell conditional SHIP deletion strains a normal life span is observed. Nor are T cell neoplasms found in primary and secondary hosts reconstituted with SHIP-deficient BM cells (Hazen *et al.*, 2009). Finally, clinical trials with SHIP-1 activator, AQX-1125 have only indicated minor side effects of mild nausea, abdominal pain and dyspepsia (Leaker *et al.*, 2014).

(d) Ca²⁺ signalling

Unlike Akt phosphorylation, TCR-induced Ca²⁺ production was unaffected by SHIP-1 modulation which firstly indicates that Ca²⁺ mobilisation is unlikely to be reliant upon Akt mediated signalling. Consistently to SHIP-1 activation, PI3K deficiency only exhibits a modest effect on Ca²⁺ release into the cytosol in T lymphocytes (Deane *et al.*, 2007). The modest decrease suggests PI3K signalling may not be the only mechanism regulating Ca²⁺ mobilisation. Protein tyrosine kinases SFKs, SYKs and Tec kinase Itk prominently feature in PLC γ activation in T lymphocyte, and although Itk activation and regulation has been associated with both PI3K and SHIP-1 signalling (August *et al.*, 1997; Shan *et al.*, 2000), due to the inability of PI3K deficiency and SHIP-1 modulation to supress Ca²⁺ release, these roles maybe redundant.

SHIP-1 modulates T lymphocyte adhesion by altering the confirmation of the LFA-1 receptor

The adhesion of lymphocytes to components of the extracellular matrix and other cells is critical for cell migration, extravasation and the formation of immunological synapses (Hogg *et al.*, 2011). PI3K-induced signalling is known to be crucial in leukocytes adhesion (Mazerolles *et al.*, 1996), whilst the loss of SHIP-1 expression in neutrophils enhanced adhesion due to up-regulated fibronectin mediated PI(3,4,5)P3 signalling. SHIP-1-/- neutrophils lose their polarity upon cell adhesion and are extremely adherent which impairs chemotaxis (Mondal *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, it has been shown that overexpression of full length SHIP-1 had no effect on expression of LFA-1 but increased LFA-1 activity which led to enhance adhesion to ICAM-1 in a manner which was dependent upon the catalytic activity of SHIP-1. However although shRNA SHIP-1 of SHIP-1 reduced expression of CD11a but not CD49d in primary human T lymphocytes it had no effect to adhesion of T lymphocytes to ICAM1 or fibronectin (Harris *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, it was important to address whether pharmacological activation or inhibition of SHIP-1 could alter the ability of human T lymphocytes to adhere.

Surprisingly, both to SHIP-1 activators and inhibitors both potently inhibited the ability of basal and TCR-stimulated T lymphocytes to adhere to ICAM1 and fibronectin. Interestingly, 3AC had a more pronounced effect upon TCR stimulated adhesion, supporting the observation that SHIP-1 is important in TCR induced signalling. These two different adhesion molecules were selected due to their roles in different stages of

T cell extravasation. Fibronectin, a glycoprotein of extracellular matrix and is involved in cell migration, differentiation and early attachment, whereas ICAM-1 is a glycoprotein which is expressed on endothelial and immune cells and is important in stabilising cell contacts. SHIP-1 modulation had no effect upon the expression of respective cognitive integrin receptors of ICAM and fibronectin, LFA-1 (CD11a expression) and $\alpha4\beta1$ (CD49d expression) respectively. However, the mechanism behind SHIP-1 modulation inhibiting adhesion to ICAM is due (at least in part) to SHIP-1 altering the LFA-1 avidity. These observations conflict with those previously reported in the literature using genetic targeting. This could be due to differences between human and mouse T lymphocytes, or that genetic targeting of SHIP-1 expression removes both catalytic and non-catalytic functions intact. Due to both the activator and inhibitor of SHIP-1 decreasing the adhesion of T lymphocytes, we propose that, like Akt activation, a balance of phospholipid dependent signalling is required for optimal adhesion and LFA-1 avidity (Figure 3.18).

It is worth mentioning that in physiological conditions the cells would have to adhere under flow and shear stress which could alter requirement/balance of PI3K and SHIP-1 signalling in T lymphocyte adhesion. However as the assay reliably showed enhanced adhesion to TCR stimulation and appeared adequate to determine the effect of SHIP-1 upon T lymphocyte adhesion.

SHIP-1s roles in activated T lymphocyte migration

Chemotaxis is a complex process; PI3K signalling and other pathways often fulfil redundant roles. It has been shown previously that CXCL11-induced migration in human activated T lymphocytes is resistant to pan-PI3K inhibition (Smit et al., 2003; Cronshaw et al., 2006), however we observe that a distinct pan PI3K inhibitor inhibits CXCL11 driven chemotaxis (Discussed in Chapter 5.1). SHIP-1 activation and inhibition abrogated CXCL11-induced directional migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes in two distinct migration assays. Modulation of SHIP-1 impedes migration in the absence of altering CXCR3 expression or Ca²⁺ signalling, but modulation did significantly reduce CXCL11 mediated Akt phosphorylation.

SHIP-1 activation results are in accordance with recent findings by Lam et al, who demonstrated that overexpression of SHIP in neutrophils impaired migration (Lam *et al.*, 2012), but also with studies indicating SHIP-1 inhibition or genetic targeting with

shRNA mediated knock down inhibits migration of naïve T lymphocytes and neutrophils (Harris *et al.*, 2011; Mondal *et al.*, 2012; Stenton *et al.*, 2013a). Human T lymphocytes migration appears to be highly dependent upon both PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 production and signalling. Asymmetric distribution of PI(3,4,5)P3 at the front of the cell is a hallmark of cell polarisation (Wang *et al.*, 2002a; Wang, 2009), and leads to the activation of small GTPases to drive cell migration. PI(3,4)P2 is also important in migration; it selectively recruits TAPP1 which interacts with cytoskeletal protein synotrophin and controls actin polymerisation (Costantini *et al.*, 2009; Li *et al.*, 2013). PI(3,4)P2 also recruits Lammelipodin (Lpd) and promotes dynamic actin branching at the leading edges of migrating cells by interacting with Arp2/WAVE complex (Krause *et al.*, 2004; Law *et al.*, 2013) (Illustrated in Figure 3.18). Thus, both activation and inhibition of SHIP-1 may disrupt T lymphocyte migration (Figure 3.15).

Microvilli on the surface of T lymphocytes collapse in response to chemokine stimulation to allow firm adhesion and flattening of the cell during chemotaxis (Brown et al., 2003). Upon chemokine stimulation, Rac-1 dependent signalling de-phosphorylates ezrin, radixin and moesin (ERM) proteins (Nijhara et al., 2004). When they are phosphorylated ERM proteins link the actin cytoskeleton to the cell membrane phospholipid PI(4,5)P2. De-phosphorylation de-stabilises this attachment and allows microvilli retraction and the formation of a polarised cell (Brown et al., 2003). Thus, ERM de-phosphorylation can be used as indirect marker of microvilli retraction and cellular polarisation. SHIP-1 activation inhibited chemokine (CXCL11 and CXCL12) mediated de-phosphorylation of ERM proteins, this is consistent with shRNA silencing of SHIP-1 protein expression led to a de-phosphorylation of ERM proteins in T lymphocytes (Harris et al., 2011). However, we also observed that pharmacological SHIP-1 inhibition led to abrogated chemokine dependent dephosphorylation of ERM proteins in T lymphocytes. The activity of SHIP-1 therefore seems to be a crucial switch in the phosphorylation state of ERM proteins and thus microvilli retraction within lymphocytes (Figure 3.18).

Microvillus retraction allows LFA-1 (resident on the cell body) to access its ligand, ICAM1 (Lammermann *et al.*, 2014). SHIP-1 activation and inhibition may therefore act to inhibit lymphocyte adhesion to ICAM1 via two mechanisms; reduced LFA-1 avidity, and the inhibition of chemokine mediated ERM de-phosphorylation. In addition the de-phosphorylation of ERM proteins has been shown to be crucial for lymphocyte polarization. Therefore the inability of chemokine mediated ERM de-phosphorylation to occur in the presence of activator and inhibitor, may contribute to the inhibited chemokine mediated migration of lymphocytes.



Direction of migration

Figure 3.18 Model of the roles of SHIP-1 in T lymphocyte migration and adhesion. This model is based on the results of the thesis and the findings of (Costantini *et al.*, 2009; Law *et al.*, 2013). **1)** PI(3,4)P2 binding protein TAPP is known to maintain polarized cell morphology via interaction with utrophin and stable F-actin localized at the sides and uropod of migrating cells. **2)** Lammelipodin (Lpd), another PI(3,4)P2 binding protein, promotes dynamic actin branching at leading edges (lammelipodia) of migrating cells via its interaction with Arp2/3 WAVE complex. **3)** SHIP-1 was pharmacologically manipulated by SHIP-1 activator, AQX1 or SHIP-1 inhibitor 3AC. **4)** SHIP-1 modulation impaired CXCL11-induced Akt phosphorylation and **5)** reduced the avidity of integrin LFA-1 resulting in reduced basal adhesion. **6)** SHIP-1 modulation prevented pERM dephosphorylation to CXCL11, which is likely to alter cytoskeletal reorganisation. No effect upon CXCR3 receptor expression or Ca²⁺ mobilization was observed. SHIP-1 appears to be critical in T lymphocyte migration.

Perspectives:

SHIP-1 has a crucial role in the regulation of ligand mediated signalling, proliferation, adhesion, cytoskeletal protein re-arrangement and migration of primary human T lymphocytes. Consequently, pharmacological modulation of SHIP-1 offers an exciting new mechanism for the targeted modulation of PI3K signalling, with potential therapeutic opportunities in T lymphocyte driven pathologies such as autoimmune and inflammatory disease.

Interestingly, over the duration of this project intense research has continued to produce evidence that the PI3K, particularly δ and γ isoforms, have important non-redundant role in multiple cells of the immune system and could be useful in the treatment immune pathologies [We have reviewed this area here (Ball *et al.*, 2014)]. The growing appreciation of the isoform crystal structures of PI3K, which help define the structure-activity rules for obtaining selectivity, continuously enhance our ability to design and develop of PI3K inhibitors with greater isoform selectivity and fewer off-target effects (Sutherlin *et al.*, 2012; Zhao *et al.*, 2014; Somoza *et al.*, 2015; Yang *et al.*, 2015).

However, we believe that even with improved PI3K inhibitors, there are potential benefits to targeting SHIP-1. Firstly, there is a large amount of functional redundancy and plasticity between PI3K isoforms, thus isoform targeted therapies might not warrant successful treatments in disease setting. Moreover, PI3K dysregulation is often caused by over-active mutations in PI3K (Pazarentzos *et al.*, 2015; Young *et al.*, 2015), these could alter the efficacy and affinity of PI3K inhibitors. Furthermore, the ubiquitous nature of PI3K signalling implies that any successful PI3K inhibitors could be complicated by off-target effects and worryingly, it has recently been reported that resistance mechanisms can be developed to combat PI3K-targeted therapy (Ilic *et al.*, 2011); although selective pressure driving resistance could vary between cancer and inflammatory setting. SHIP-1 exhibits a restricted expression prolife limiting non-selective effects and modulation of SHIP-1 appears to have prolific effects on the immune system. SHIP-1 could be a superior target, and at the very least it will be beneficial to have multiple mechanisms to pharmacologically target PI3K signalling.

CHAPTER 4: Examining the functional consequences of ROS manipulation on T lymphocyte biology

4.1 Rationale

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are known to influence the outcome of T-cell responses. Depending on concentration, exposure time and microenvironment, the effects of ROS on T lymphocytes can be very distinct. T lymphocytes produce low levels of hydrogen peroxide upon TCR and chemokine stimulation (Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012) and are known to express NADPH oxidase enzymes NOX2 (Jackson *et al.*, 2004) and DUOX 1 (Kwon *et al.*, 2010). High levels of ROS have a putative role in several T lymphocyte induced pathologies including autoimmune diseases, leukaemias, carcinoma, cardiovascular diseases and neurological disorders.

Historically, ROS were viewed as an unwanted by-product of aerobic respiration, which caused cellular damage via oxidation. However there has been a growing body of evidence to suggest that ROS are actually required for a vast number of physiological processes, including TCR activation and signalling. Antioxidants inhibit T lymphocyte proliferation and IL-2 production in humans and mice (Dornand *et al.*, 1989; Tatla *et al.*, 1999; Sena *et al.*, 2013). A very recent study has indicated that ROS is not required in TCR-induced proliferation, activation and cytokine secretion of primary human T lymphocytes (Belikov *et al.*, 2014); before this study the roles of ROS and antioxidants on TCR signalling and responses had not been extensively investigated in primary human T lymphocytes.

 H_2O_2 has been observed to be an early danger cue required for neutrophil recruitment to wounds in zebrafish (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, a recent finding suggested that H_2O_2 is required for successful mouse T lymphocyte migration towards a chemoattractant (Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012). To date, little is known about whether hydrogen peroxide is required for the migration of human T lymphocytes.

In order to examine the effect of ROS, primary human T lymphocytes were isolated from healthy human peripheral blood. Two types of primary T lymphocytes were used 1) freshly isolated "naïve" and 2) SEB-activated T lymphocytes. Limitations of working with naïve T lymphocytes are they have to be used on the day of isolation following a lengthy isolation process; it is also difficult to obtain large numbers of naïve T lymphocytes. Finally, naïve T lymphocytes function to survey the blood and lymphoid systems for antigen and are less likely to be at the site of infection exposed to high levels of ROS. Therefore, peripheral blood mononuclear cells were treated with *staphylococcus aureus*, for 36 hours. SEB is a strong polyclonal activator of T lymphocytes and after activation the cells are clonally expanded in the presence of IL-

Chapter 4. Examining the functional consequences of ROS manipulation upon T cell biology

2. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were used to model effector T lymphocyte migrating in infected tissues which is likely to be exposed to higher levels of ROS.

4.1.1 Aims

This chapter aims to determine the consequences of ROS manipulation on human T lymphocyte biology.

Several pharmacological manipulators of ROS will be used:

- to establish the functional roles of ROS in human T lymphocyte viability and TCR activation including investigating downstream Ca²⁺ elevation, proliferation and adhesion.
- to determine whether H₂O₂ acts as a chemoattractant in T lymphocytes.
- to assess the functional importance of ROS as a regulator of basal and chemotactic migration.
- to establish whether H₂O₂ alters CXCL11-induced Ca²⁺ elevation or actin regulation.

4.2 ROS manipulators alter intracellular ROS accumulation in SEBactivated T lymphocytes

During Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, pharmacological manipulators of ROS will be described and their effects on T lymphocyte functions assessed. Therefore it was prudent to determine the compounds efficacy at manipulating intracellular ROS levels. Figure 4.1 illustrates the regulation of ROS by the pharmacological manipulators used. A 2'7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (H₂DCF-DA – "DCF") based fluorescence assay was used to detect intracellular ROS in SEB-activated T lymphocytes.

Cells were loaded with 1μ M H₂DCFDA, which is cleaved by intracellular esterases at the two ester bonds to produce H₂DCF, a polar and cell membrane-impermeable product which is retained within the cell. Subsequent oxidation converts H₂DCF to the highly fluorescent DCF. Cells were plated into a black 96 well plate and incubated with increasing concentrations H₂O₂ for 30 minutes. H₂O₂ was added to verify the activity of the H2DCF dye, which should detect an increased accumulation of ROS due to the diffusion of H₂O₂ into the cell. Positive control H₂O₂ increased intracellular ROS levels as compared to untreated controls (Figure 4.2 A).

Next, the cell permeable superoxide dismutase (SOD) mimetic, [5,10,15,20-tetrakis(4carboxyphenyl)-21*H*,23*H*-porphine]manganese(III) chloride (C₄₈H₂₈ClMnN₄O₈, MnTBAP chloride) was validated. This compounds has been previously used here (Liu *et al.*, 2013; Schrammel *et al.*, 2013; Suresh *et al.*, 2013). SOD is an enzyme that catalyzes the dismutation of superoxide radicals into H₂O₂ and O₂, enhancing intracellular H₂O₂ levels. MnTBAP chloride has an EC₅₀ of 40µM reported by the manufacturer (Abcam). It is important to note MnTBAP chloride is also a peroxynitrite scavenger. Cells were treated for 30 minutes with MnTBAP chloride and a significant albeit modest intracellular ROS elevation was observed (Figure 4.2 B). However, DCF is unable to specifically detect H₂O₂, the major outcome of MnTBAP chloride on overall ROS level is anti-oxidant as it reduces the level of superoxide to produce H₂O₂.

Two different compounds were utilised to dampen the redox environment: (1) diphenyleneiodonium (DPI), a NOX inhibitor, was used to block superoxide production. The K_i for time dependent inhibition of NOX in neutrophils is 5.6µM (O'Donnell *et al.*, 1993). However, DPI also inhibits other flavoenzymes (2) Catalase, an enzyme that rapidly catalyses the decomposition of H₂O₂ to water and oxygen, was used to reduce levels of H₂O₂. Catalase was used at recommended active concentration reported by the manufacturer (Sigma Aldrich). Cells were treated with DPI for 30 minutes and no effect upon basal ROS production was observed (Figure 4.2 C).

Flow cytometry was used to validate catalase-dependent reductions in intracellular ROS, as a previous control experiment indicated that catalase has auto-fluorescence in the FITC range. Using flow cytometry the live cell population was gated, avoiding the auto-fluorescence of catalase, which has a much smaller forward and side scatter than live cells. Cells were treated with 1mg/ml catalase and DCF fluorescence intensity measured every 5 minutes for 30 minutes. Catalase significantly reduced basal ROS accumulation over time (Figure 4.2 D). Catalase is highly efficient and cannot be saturated by H_2O_2 at any concentration (Lledias *et al.*, 1998). Cells were pre-treated with 1mg/ml catalase for 30 minutes then treated with 10mM H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. Catalase pre-treatment completely attenuated the increase in DCF fluorescence observed with H_2O_2 alone (Figure 4.2 E). These findings confirm that these are suitable agents to manipulate ROS in T lymphocytes.



Figure 4.1 Regulation of ROS by pharmacological manipulators. Extracellular treatment of H_2O_2 will increase H_2O_2 concentration both outside and inside the cell as it enters through aquaporins or diffusion. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) is an enzyme that catalyzes the dismutation of superoxide radicals into H_2O_2 and O_2 . Here SOD mimetic MnTBAP chloride is used to enhance the intracellular levels of H_2O_2 . DPI is a flavoenzyme inhibitor which inhibits ROS production from NOX/DUOX enzymes (that are expressed on cellular membranes) and the electron transport chain in the mitochondria. Catalase is an enzyme that rapidly catalyses the decomposition of H_2O_2 to water and oxygen which reduce levels of extracellular H_2O_2 . The pharmacological mediators are highlight by green boxes.

1.5 Fold change basal Fold change basal 3 DCF (MFI) DCF (MFI) 1.0 2 0.5 1 0 0.0 Ò 10 0.1 1 ò 20 4**0** H_2O_2 (mM) MnTBAP chloride (µM) C. DPI **D.** Catalase 1.5 (% Increase from basal) PBS Control 60-Fold change basal Catalase (1mg/ml) DCF (MFI) 1.0 DCF MFI 40-0.5 20 0.0 0 ò i 5 15 10 20 25 0 1 5 30 DPI (µM) Time (min) E. Catalase pretreatment PBS Control H₂O₂ (10mM) (% Increase from basal) 300 *** ### DCF MFI 200 100 0

A. Exogenous H₂O₂

B. MnTBAPchloride

Figure 4.2 Intracellular ROS is increased by $H_2O_2/MnTBAP$ chloride and reduced by catalase in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were loaded with 1µM DCFDA for 30 minutes. Cells were washed twice in HBSS, resuspended at 1 million cells per ml and treated with stated concentrations of either (A) H_2O_2 , (B) MnTBAP chloride, (C) DPI or Catalase (D & E). For (A, B & C) ROS generation was measured after 30 minutes using a plate reader and normalised to fold change from basal. For (D & E), ROS generation was measured using flow cytometry. (D) Cells were either treated with PBS control or catalase at time point 0. Fluorescence intensity was then read every 5 minutes for 30 minutes and plotted as percent increase from basal. (E) Cells were pre-treated either with PBS control or catalase for 30 minutes and basal fluorescence reading taken. Then cells were treated with 10mM H_2O_2 for 5 minutes before fluorescence was measured. Data are the mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments. Statistical significance was determined by a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where **p<0.01 or ***p<0.001 as compared to control or ###p<0.001 as compared to H_2O_2 alone

1

O

Catalase (mg/ml)

O

1
4.3 Effect of ROS manipulation on SEB-activated T lymphocyte viability

As ROS are known cytotoxic agents able to induce cellular death, it was imperative to observe whether the concentrations of ROS manipulators used in the following experiments alter cellular viability. In addition, the roles of ROS in human T lymphocyte survival were also examined. Two different cell viability assays were utilised; the (1) MTT assay and (2) Annexin V/ propridium iodide staining.

4.3.1 ROS manipulation upon cell viability assessed by the MTT assay

Firstly, cells were treated with increasing concentration of the ROS manipulators for either 3 or 24 hours, followed by determination of cellular viability by MTT assay (described in section 3.3.1). Cell viability was determined after 3 hours, as this is the maximum exposure time to ROS manipulators in all experiments (with the exception of Figure 4.6-9), and after 24 hours. Unfortunately, the effect of MnTBAP chloride upon cell viability could not be assessed in the MTT assay due to the compounds brown colour affecting the validity of the colorimetric assay by enhancing absorbance measurements.

After a 3 hour treatment, cell viability was unaffected by H_2O_2 up to concentrations of 100µM. Cell survival decreased to 38.2 ± 1% following stimulation with 1mM H_2O_2 (Figure 4.3 A). However after a 24 hour treatment with H_2O_2 , enzymatic activity was significantly reduced at concentrations above 10µM H_2O_2 (Figure 4.3 B). This implies that the survival of T lymphocytes treated with H_2O_2 dependents on both the concentration and the exposure time.

Cells were treated with increasing concentrations of catalase for either 3 or 24 hours to observe the effect of dampening intracellular ROS on cell viability. After a 3 hour treatment, catalase had no effect upon cellular viability (Figure 4.3 C). Interestingly, 24 hour treatment of catalase caused a small but concentration dependent reduction in cell viability (Figure 4.3 D). To identify whether responses are catalase-dependent the catalase was heat inactivated and denatured by boiling it for 10 minutes. 24 hours treatment with heat-inactivated catalase had no effect upon cell viability (Figure 4.3.E).

Finally, cells were treated with increasing concentrations of DPI, for either 3 or 24 hours, to determine the effect of inhibiting ROS production on cellular viability. 3 hour treatment with DPI had no effect upon cellular viability (Figure 4.3 F), whereas 24 hour treatment of DPI resulted a small but significant reduction in cell viability at both

concentrations examined (Figure 4.3 G). This implies that ROS production and presence is required for optimal cell survival.

4.3.2 ROS manipulators had no effect upon PI/AV staining

As the MTT assay is redox based, results could be skewed if ROS treatment were still present. Therefore, alternative assays were used to assess viability, namely annexin V and propidium iodide staining with is described in section 3.3.2. Cells were treated with increasing concentrations of ROS manipulators; H_2O_2 , MnTBAP chloride, catalase and DPI for 3 hours. Annexin V staining was unaffected at all concentrations of H_2O_2 below 10mM and MnTBAP chloride, catalase and DPI had no effect upon annexin V staining (Figure 4.4 & Figure 4.5).

Consistently with the annexin V staining, PI staining was unaffected at all concentrations of H_2O_2 below 10mM and MnTBAP chloride, catalase and DPI had no effect upon PI staining at all examined concentrations (Figure 4.4 & Figure 4.5). This confirmed that observations obtained with the MTT assay and suggested that functional responses observed with ROS manipulation were not due to them altering cellular viability.



Figure 4.3 Effect of ROS manipulators on SEB-activated T lymphocyte viability using the MTT assay. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were treated with increasing concentrations of (A, B) H_2O_2 , (C,D) catalase, (E) deactivated catalase or (F, G) DPI for either 3 hours or 24 hours, respectively. Cells viability was assessed using the MTT assay. Data are mean \pm SEM from three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 or ***p<0.001 compared to control.



Figure 4.4 Measurements of Annexin V and PI staining indicates that high concentrations of H_2O_2 are cytotoxic, but catalase is non-cytotoxic to SEB-activated T lymphocytes. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were treated with increasing concentrations of (B) H_2O_2 or (C) catalase plus 1% Triton X as a positive control for 3 hours. Cells were stained with Annexin V and PI, and fluorescence quantified by flow cytometry. (A) Representative FACs plots are given, including an unstained control (USC) and positive control 1% Triton X (+ve). The mean± SEM percentage of cells which were PI⁻/Annexin V⁻ are shown in green, PI⁻/Annexin V⁺ (yellow), PI⁺/Annexin V⁻ (orange), and PI⁺/Annexin V⁺ (Red) for cells treated with increasing concentrations of (B) H_2O_2 (n=4) or (C) catalase (n=3).



Figure 4.5 Measurement of Annexin V and PI staining indicates that DPI and MnTAB chloride are non-cytoxic to SEB-activated T lymphocytes. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were treated with stated concentrations of DPI or MnTBAP chloride for 3 hours. Cells were stained with Annexin V and PI, and fluorescence quantified by flow cytometry. (A) Representative dual PI/Annexin V stained plots are given, including an unstained control (USC). The mean \pm SEM percentage of cells which were PI⁻/Annexin V⁻ are shown in green, PI⁻/Annexin V⁺ (yellow), PI⁺/Annexin V⁻ (orange), and PI⁺/Annexin V⁺ (Red) for cells treated for 3 independent experiments.

4.4 Effect of ROS manipulation upon TCR-induced responses

Ligation of the TCR receptor induces signalling required for the activation, survival and proliferation of T lymphocytes. TCR ligation has been shown to induce intracellular ROS (Jackson *et al.*, 2004) and accumulating evidence suggested ROS are actually required for TCR activation and signalling (Kwon *et al.*, 2010; Sena *et al.*, 2013). Therefore the functional roles of ROS and antioxidants downstream of CD3/CD28 signalling in human T lymphocytes were investigated.

4.4.1 H₂O₂ has no effect upon TCR-induced Ca² elevation

Intracellular Ca²⁺ was measured to assess whether H_2O_2 affects TCR signalling potential. In Chapter 3 Figure 3.5A, UCHT-1 was observed to induce a sustained, concentration dependent increase in intracellular Ca²⁺. To test whether H_2O_2 could affect this UCHT-1 response, SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. H_2O_2 had no effect upon UCHT-1-induced Ca²⁺ elevation at any concentration studied (Figure 4.6). This implies that H_2O_2 does not affect TCR signalling through Ca²⁺ signalling.



Figure 4.6 H_2O_2 had no effect upon TCR agonist (UCHT-1)-induced intracellular Ca²⁺ release in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed into PBS and loaded for 45 minutes with 1µM Fluo-4. Cells were washed 3 times and re-suspended at 1 million cells per ml in Ca²⁺ free-HBSS and extracellular Ca²⁺ adjusted to 1mM. Cells were plated in a black 96 well plate and either allowed to rest or treated with increasing concentrations of H₂O₂ for 30 minutes. 10µg/ml UCHT-1 was added after a baseline was established and 1µM ionomycin was used as a loading control. Left panel is a kinetic trace indicating change in fluorescence from basal (Δ F/F₀) from one representative donor. The right panel is the peak change in fluorescence generated by UCHT-1 as a percentage of the peak change generated by ionomycin and is mean ± SEM from averaged duplicates of three independent donors. Statistical significance was tested using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test relative to control.

4.4.2 TCR-induced proliferation of naïve T lymphocytes is impaired by exogenous H_2O_2 but not by MnTBAP chloride

Next, the effect of ROS manipulation was assessed in the clonal expansion of human T lymphocytes, to examine another TCR/CD3 mediated event. Naïve T lymphocytes were treated with increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes before stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 Ab coated Dynabeads and IL-2. CFSE intensity was determined four days post isolation with plots from control conditions showing four distinct peaks, indicating four generations of cell division (Figure 4.7 A). H_2O_2 (10µM) increased the percentage of cells retained in generation 1 resulting in fewer cells progressing to generation 4 (Figure 4.7 B). H_2O_2 (10µM) also caused a significant increase in the CFSE mean fluorescence intensity, indicating cells have been unable to divide and thus retained a higher level of CFSE (Figure 4.7 C). Together, this suggests that at concentrations equal and above 10µM, H_2O_2 inhibits the ability of human CD4 lymphocytes to proliferate and progress through cell divisions upon TCR/CD3 stimulation. As H_2O_2 (10µM) significantly decreases cell viability at 24 hours, this could be due in part to cytotoxicity (Figure 4.3).

Next, cells were treated with 20µM and 40µM MnTBAP chloride for 30 minutes prior to TCR stimulation to observe whether raising intracellular H_2O_2 would have the same effect as exposure to exogenous H_2O_2 . CFSE intensity was determined five days post isolation for this experiment and five distinct peaks can be observed in the FACs plots from control conditions (Figure 4.8 A). MnTBAP chloride had no effect on the percentage of cells within each division, with the majority of cells progressing to generation 5 (Figure 4.8 B), and no effect upon CFSE fluorescence, with all conditions having a low mean intensity (Figure 4.8 C). Unlike H_2O_2 , MnTBAP chloride had no effect upon the ability of naïve CD4 lymphocytes to proliferate, however MnTBAP chloride did only induce a marginal increase in intracellular ROS as compared to exogenous H_2O_2 (Figure 4.2) and had no effect upon cellular viability (Figure 4.2).

4.4.3 Catalase and NADPH oxidase inhibitor (DPI) inhibit TCR-induced proliferation of naïve T lymphocytes

Naïve T lymphocytes treated with increasing concentrations of catalase for 30 minutes before stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 coated Dynabeads and IL-2 to examine whether dampening intracellular ROS impacts T lymphocyte proliferation. CFSE intensity was determined five days post isolation with plots from control conditions showing five distinct peaks indicating five generations of cell division (Figure 4.9 A). Catalase increased the percentage of cells retained in generation 1; whereas fewer cells progressed to generation 4 (Figure 4.9 B). Catalase also caused a significant increase in the CFSE mean fluorescence intensity indicating cells have retained a higher level of CFSE by being unable to divide (Figure 4.9 C). This indicates that decreasing intracellular ROS inhibited the ability of human CD4 lymphocytes to proliferate and progress through cell divisions upon TCR/CD3 stimulation.

Finally, the effect of the NOX inhibitor DPI upon naïve T lymphocyte proliferation was observed. DPI potently inhibited the ability of human CD4 lymphocytes to proliferate, with the CFSE intensity FACs plots only showing two peaks as compared to the five distinct peaks in the control condition (Figure 4.10 A). DPI increased the percentage of cells retained in generation 1; whereas only a few cells were seen in generation 2 and 3 and no cells progressed to generation 4 (Figure 4.10 B). DPI also significantly enhanced the CFSE mean fluorescence intensity indicating that cells have retained a higher level of CFSE by being unable to divide (Figure 4.9 C). This indicates that decreasing ROS production inhibits the ability of human CD4 lymphocytes to proliferate and progress through cell divisions upon TCR/CD3 stimulation.



Figure 4.7 H_2O_2 impairs TCR-induced proliferation of Naive T lymphocytes. Freshly isolated naïve CD4+ T lymphocytes were labelled with CFSE. 1 million cells were analysed on the same day (Day 0) or pre-treated with vehicle (media) or increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes, followed by addition of anti-CD3/CD23 antibody coated beads to cells at a ratio of 3:1. IL-2 was added at a final concentration of 36 Units/ml and cells cultured for 4 days before analysis of CFSE fluorescence. Data are (A) representative FACs plots from one donor, (B) mean ± SEM percentage of cells in each cell division and (C) CFSE mean ± SEM fluorescence intensity from three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined by one way–ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05 and ***p<0.001 compared to control.



Figure 4.8 MnTBAP chloride had no effect upon TCR-induced proliferation of naive T lymphocytes. Freshly isolated naïve CD4+ T lymphocytes were labelled with CFSE. 1 million cells were analysed on the same day (Day 0) or pre-treated with vehicle (media) or increasing concentrations of MnTBAP chloride for 30 minutes, followed by addition of anti-CD3/CD23 antibody coated beads to cells at a ratio of 3:1. IL-2 was added at a final concentration of 36 Units/ml and cells cultured for 5 days before analysis of CFSE fluorescence. Data are (A) representative FACs plots from one donor, (B) mean \pm SEM percentage of cells in each cell division and (C) CFSE mean \pm SEM fluorescence intensity from three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined by one way–ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test relative to control.



Figure 4.9 Catalase significantly impaired naïve T lymphocyte proliferation. Freshly isolated naïve CD4+ T lymphocytes were labelled with CFSE. 1 million cells were analysed on the same day (Day 0) or pre-treated with vehicle (media) or increasing concentrations of Catalase for 30 minutes, followed by addition of anti-CD3/CD23 antibody coated beads to cells at a ratio of 3:1. IL-2 was added at a final concentration of 36 Units/ml and cells cultured for 5 days before analysis of CFSE fluorescence. Data are (A) representative FACs plots from one donor, (B) mean ± SEM percentage of cells in each cell division and (C) CFSE mean ± SEM fluorescence intensity from three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined by one way–ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05 and ***p<0.001 compared to control.



Figure 4.10 DPI inhibits TCR-induced proliferation of naive T lymphocytes. Freshly isolated naïve CD4+ T lymphocytes were labelled with CFSE. 1 million cells were analysed on the same day (Day 0) or pre-treated with vehicle (media) or increasing concentrations of DPI for 30 minutes, followed by addition of anti-CD3/CD23 antibody coated beads to cells at a ratio of 3:1. IL-2 was added at a final concentration of 36 Units/ml and cells cultured for 5 days before analysis of CFSE fluorescence. Data are (A) representative FACs plots from one donor, (B) mean \pm SEM percentage of cells in each cell division and (C) CFSE mean \pm SEM fluorescence intensity from three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined by one way–ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where **p<0.01 compared to control.

4.4.4 H_2O_2 had no effect upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte adhesion or integrin receptor expression

Ligation of the TCR is known to increase adhesion of lymphocytes (Simonson *et al.*, 2006). The adhesion of lymphocytes to components of the extracellular matrix and other cells is critical for cell migration, extravasation and formation of immunological synapses. However, the roles of ROS in T lymphocyte adhesion are not well established and were therefore examined.

Firstly, UCHT-1 (TCR agonist) significantly enhanced SEB-activated T lymphocyte adhesion to fibronectin (Figure 4.11 A). SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with H_2O_2 for 30 minutes and allowed to adhere to fibronectin for 30 minutes. The plate was turned upside down for 15 minutes and the wells washed with PBS. Adherent cells were scraped and counted by flow cytometry. Interestingly, H_2O_2 had no effect upon basal or UCHT-1-induced adhesion to fibronectin (Figure 4.11 B). H_2O_2 also had no effect upon the expression of the α -subunit of integrin receptors LFA-1 (CD11a subunit) or $\alpha4\beta1$ (CD49 subunit) (Figure 4.11 C & D).



Figure 4.11 H₂O₂ has no effect upon CD11a, CD49d integrin expression and T lymphocyte adhesion to fibronectin. 1 million SEB- activated T lymphocyte (8-12 days post isolation) were treated with vehicle or increasing concentrations of H₂O₂ for 30 minutes. Cells were stimulated with UCHT-1 (10µg/ml) for 5 minutes, before being allowed to adhere to a fibronectin (10µg/ml) coated 96 well plate for 30 minutes. The plate was sealed and turned upside down for 15 minutes. Wells were washed gently with PBS to remove any un-adhered cells. Adhered cells were scrapped and counted using flow cytometry. (A) Indicates the adhesion observed with UCHT-1 (10µg/ml stimulation) compared to control. Statistical significance was determined by Students T test and where *p<0.05 as compared to control. (B) Data are represented as percent change from basal conditions. (C & D) Cells were treated with increasing concentrations of H₂O₂ for 30 minutes and then expression of the cell surface receptors (C) CD11a and (D) CD49d was assessed using PE-conjugated antibodies and analysed by flow cytometry. Data are represented as percent change from basal conditions and is the mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test.

4.5 Effect of ROS manipulation upon chemoattractant-induced responses

 H_2O_2 has been observed to be an early danger cue required for neutrophil recruitment to wounds in zebrafish (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009) and is required for successful mouse T lymphocyte migration towards a chemoattractant (Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012). To date, little is known about whether hydrogen peroxide is required for the migration of human T lymphocytes. Therefore the functional roles of ROS and antioxidants on human T lymphocytes migration were investigated.

4.5.1 H₂O₂ is not a chemoattractant for SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration

To determine whether H_2O_2 acts as a chemoattractant to SEB-activated T lymphocytes, an *in vitro* chemotaxis assay, manufactured by Neuroprobe, was utilised. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were placed above a porous membrane and the number of cells towards a chemoattractant in a bottom well counted. The effect of ROS were initially investigated in SEB-activated T lymphocytes as effector cells are more likely to be exposed to the high levels ROS present within inflamed or wounded tissues. Firstly, CXCL11 chemokine was used to validate the assay. The migratory response towards CXCL11 was bell shaped, with an optimal increase of 16.3 ± 3.7 fold occurring at 10nM CXCL11 (Figure 4.12 A).

Next, to determine whether H_2O_2 could also act as a chemoattractant, H_2O_2 was placed in the **bottom well** of the migration plate, indicated in schematic of Figure 4.12 B. H_2O_2 caused a concentration dependent decrease in SEB-activated T lymphocytes migration towards the lower well as compared to media alone. Migration was significantly impaired at 10µM H_2O_2 and by 1mM almost completely inhibited (Figure 4.12 C) with an IC₅₀ of 2.5µM (Figure 4.12 D). Interestingly, instead of acting like a chemoattractant H_2O_2 has suppressed the migration of human T lymphocytes



Figure 4.12 H_2O_2 does not act as a chemoattractant instead inhibits basal migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 million per ml. Cell migration towards increasing concentrations of (A) CXCL11 or (C & D) H_2O_2 was then assessed by a Neuroprobe chemotaxis assay whereby cells are placed on top of a 5µm porous membrane and H_2O_2 placed in the bottom chamber. The number of cells migrated into the bottom well of were counted flow cytometry. (B) (A) Schematic illustrating the experimental set-up for data generated in C & D, to highlight that H_2O_2 was placed into the bottom well. Data are (C) Number of migrated cells and (B) Chemotactic index with a sigmoidal curve fit using graph Pad Prism 5. Data are mean \pm SEM from three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05 **p<0.01 compared to control.

4.5.2 H_2O_2 inhibits SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration to the inflammatory chemokine CXCL11

Given that exogenous H_2O_2 previously appeared to impair basal migration of T lymphocytes (Figure 4.12), T lymphocytes were **pre-treated directly with H_2O_2** to further examine the impact of ROS levels upon basal and CXCL11-induced migration (Figure 4.13). Following antigen encounter, the chemokine receptor CXCR3 is upregulated on T lymphocytes and is crucial for their recruitment into inflamed tissues (Cole *et al.*, 1998; Marwick *et al.*, 2010).

Basal migration was reduced by between 30-45% across the nanomolar and micromolar concentration range by pre-treatment with H_2O_2 , although a significant inhibition of 80±1% was not observed until a concentration of 100µM was reached (Figure 4.13 B). These results were analogous to Figure 4.12 where H_2O_2 was present in the lower well and acted to suppress migration. However, excitingly CXCL11-induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration was significantly reduced across the whole range of H_2O_2 concentrations tested (Figure 4.13 C & D). 1nM H_2O_2 suppressed migration by 44.8 ± 4% of control conditions and completely inhibited CXCL11-induced migration at 1mM H_2O_2 . As T lymphocytes are known to respond to CXCL11 in a bell-shaped fashion, the sensitivity of SEB-activated T lymphocytes towards increasing concentrations of CXCL11 was examined following pre-treatment with 100µM H_2O_2 . Maximal migration occurred at 10nM for both vehicle control and H_2O_2 pre-treated cells, suggesting H_2O_2 does not alter T lymphocyte sensitivity to CXCL11 (Figure 4.13 E). Maximal migration for the H_2O_2 pre-treated cells was still significantly lower that the control cells.

4.5.3 MnTBAP chloride inhibits CXCL11-dependent SEB–activated T lymphocyte migration

Cells were directly pre-treated with MnTBAP chloride for 30 minutes, in order to increase intracellular H_2O_2 levels, prior to being plated in the cell migration assay and exposed to either basal media or CXCL11. T lymphocyte chemotaxis towards CXCL11 was significantly impaired to 29 ± 8.6 % of CXCL11 control when treated with 40 μ M MnTBAP chloride. MnTBAP chloride also caused a significant, concentration dependent inhibition of basal SEB lymphocyte migration, with basal T lymphocyte migration reduced to 35 ± 9 % of control by 40 μ M MnTBAP chloride (Figure 4.13 F & G). Increasing intracellular H_2O_2 levels therefore had a similar effect on SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration to exposure to exogenous H_2O_2 (Figure 4.13 B, C & D).

Chapter 4. Examining the functional consequences of ROS manipulation upon T cell biology



Figure 4.13 Exogenous H_2O_2 and MnTBAP chloride inhibit basal and CXCL11induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration. (A) Schematic illustrating the experimental set-up for data generated in B, C & D, to highlight that cells were treated with H_2O_2 and then exposed basal or CXCL11 containing media. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed in serum free media and (P.T.O)

resuspended at 3.2 million cells per ml. Cells were pre-treated with either vehicle or increasing concentrations of (B, C & D) H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. The (B) basal migration of cells and (C) migration towards the chemokine CXCL11 (10nM) was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as chemotactic index where the number of cells migrated with each drug condition is divided by the vehicle control. (D) Data are shown as percentage of control migration. (E) Cells were pre-treated with 100µM H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. Migration was then determined towards increasing concentrations of CXCL11. (F & G) Cells were pre-treated with MnTBAP chloride for 30 minutes. The basal and CXCL11 (10nM) migration was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as (F) chemotactic index and (G) percentage of vehicle control. Data are the mean ± SEM of at least 3 independent experiments and statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001 compared to control.

4.5.4 Dampening the redox environment upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte basal and CXL11-induced migration

As application of exogenous H_2O_2 and using a SOD mimetic to increase intracellular H_2O_2 both inhibited migration, the effect of dampening H_2O_2 levels on T lymphocyte migration was examined. Two approaches were utilised; degradation of H_2O_2 by catalase and inhibition of superoxide production, by DPI. Cells were directly pre-treated with catalase for 30 minutes prior to being placed in the Neuroprobe assay. Catalase pre-treatment of SEB-activated T lymphocytes caused a concentration dependent enhancement of basal migration, with 1mg/ml catalase increasing control migration by 3.8 ± 0.6 fold. Catalase pre-treatment also significantly enhanced CXCL11-induced migration. CXCL11 alone increased migration by 8.9 ± 1.4, which was enhanced to 20.1 ± 3.8 fold with the addition of 1mg/ml catalase (Figure 4.14 A & B). To control for possible impurities in the catalase solution, catalase was boiled for 10 minutes to heat-inactivate the enzyme. Heat-inactivated catalase had no effect upon cell migration (Figure 4.14 C). Catalase significantly enhancing both basal and chemokine migration suggests there is a source of ROS in both basal and CXCL11-induced T lymphocytes that impedes their migration.

Inhibition of superoxide production by DPI had no significant effect upon SEB T lymphocyte basal or CXCL11-induced migration (Figure 4.14 D & E). This suggests that the ROS that appears to be impeding migration in the catalase experiments is not generated by NOX enzymes.



Figure 4.14 Catalase enhanced and DPI had no effect upon basal and CXCL11induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 million cells per ml. Cells were pre-treated with either vehicle or stated concentrations of (A, B) catalase, (C) deactivated catalase or (D, E) DPI for 30 minutes. The basal migration and migration towards the chemokine CXCL11 (10nM) of SEB-activated T lymphocytes was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as chemotactic index or as percentage of control migration of at least three independent donors, with samples performed in duplicate. Data are displayed as the mean \pm SEM and statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001 compared to control.

4.5.5 Hypoxia significantly impairs SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration

Inflammation is known to produce a highly hypoxic environment due to high cell recruitment and enhanced cellular activity causing large alterations in oxygen supply and demand, which ultimately results in cellular exposure to higher levels of ROS. SEB-activated T lymphocytes will be exposed to hypoxia and increased ROS levels when migrating to an inflammatory environment due to the high number of active cells present. The effect of exposing migrating SEB-activated T lymphocytes to a hypoxic environment was therefore examined to assess whether this model would have a similar effect as pharmacologically increasing ROS levels. The migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes towards CXCL11 was examined in "hypoxia" (5% O_2 , 5% CO_2 , 90% N_2 37°C) and compared to cells migrating under standard cell culture conditions or "normoxia" (air [approximately 21% O_2 & 78% nitrogen]: 5% CO_2).

SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration toward CXCL11 was impaired in cells incubated in 5% O₂. Chemotactic migration was reduced across the whole range of CXCL11 concentrations tested, and significantly suppressed to 53.7±18.6% of control migration at 100nM CXCL11 (Figure 4.15 A). T lymphocytes normally respond to CXCL11 in a bell shaped fashion, however both control and hypoxic treated cells appeared to have a concentration dependent response in this experiment.



Figure 4.15 Hypoxia appears to suppress SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 million cells ml. Cells were incubated in either standard cell culture conditions as a control (air: 5% CO₂: 37°C), (A) 5% O₂, 5% CO₂, 90% N₂ 37°C (n=3) hypoxic chamber for 1 hour. The basal and CXCL11-induced (1-100nM) migration was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as the chemotactic index and are mean ± SEM of (A) three independent donors and (B) Three independent donors, with the right panel showing the individual donor responses. Statistical significance was determined by two-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-test where **p<0.01 as compared to standard cell conditions control.

4.6 H_2O_2 has no effect upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration to the inflammatory chemokine CXCL10 or homeostatic chemokine CXCL12

As H_2O_2 significantly impaired migration towards CXCL11, its effect upon chemotactic migration to alternative chemokines was investigated. Two chemokines were utilised, an inflammatory chemokine CXCL10, which also binds to CXCR3, and a homeostatic chemokine CXCL12 which binds to CXCR4 (Figure 4.16 A). In order to properly control this experiment, the effect of H_2O_2 upon CXCL11-induced migration was re-examined to eliminate variability between previous experiment being undertaken on different donors and at a different time.

Although CXCL11 and CXCL10 are both induced by IFNy and thought to promote Th1 immune responses (Luster et al., 1985; Farber, 1990; Cole et al., 1998), they have previously been shown to have distinct expression patterns, potencies and efficacies in a number of assays, including internalisation and migration (Xanthou et al., 2003; Colvin et al., 2006; Dagan-Berger et al., 2006). CXCL11 significantly increased SEB-T lymphocyte migration 6.9 ± 0.9 fold over basal migration, whereas CXCL10 was less potent and migration was increased 3.1 ± 0.9 fold over basal migration (Figure 4.16). The observation of CXCL10 and CXCL11 exhibiting distinct efficacies to CXCR3 led to the suggestion that they interact with CXCR3 in different ways and are likely to stabilize different conformations of the receptor (Nedjai et al., 2012). Consistently with previous results (Figure 4.12), H₂O₂ (1nM) significantly impaired CXCL11 migration (Figure 4.16) B). However interestingly, only toxic concentration of H_2O_2 (10mM) inhibited CXCL10induced migration (Figure 4.16 C). CXCL12 increased migration 5.7 ± 1.1 fold over basal. However, similarly to CXCL10, only H₂O₂ (10mM) significantly inhibited migration toward CXCL12 (Figure 4.16 D) and this is likely to be due to toxicity. This observation is really interesting and suggests H₂O₂ is specifically altering CXCL11 induced migration even though it acts through the same receptor as CXC10.



Figure 4.16 CXCL10 and CXCL12-induced migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes is inhibited by high concentrations of H_2O_2 . SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 x million cells per ml. Cells were pre-treated with either vehicle or stated concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. The basal migration of cells and migration towards the chemokine (A) CXCL11 (10nM), (B) CXCL10 (10nM) or (C) CXCL12 (10nM) was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as chemotactic index (Left panel) or as percentage of control migration (Right panel). Data are the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors. Statistical significance was determine using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001 compared to control.

4.7 ROS manipulation on naïve T lymphocyte migration

Given that ROS manipulation alters the migratory responses of SEB-activated T lymphocytes to CXCL11, the effect of increasing or decreasing ROS levels was examined on naïve T lymphocytes. CXCR4 is highly expressed on naïve T lymphocytes and therefore their migration to CXCL12 was examined.

4.7.1 Low concentrations of H_2O_2 inhibited basal migration of Naïve T lymphocytes

Naïve T lymphocytes were treated with H_2O_2 for 30 minutes before being placed in the migration assay and exposed to either basal media or CXCL12 in the bottom well. Similarly to the SEB-activated T lymphocytes (Figure 4.13), basal naïve T lymphocyte migration was significantly inhibited at concentrations greater than or equal to 1µM H_2O_2 (Figure 4.17 A).

Although a concentration dependent suppression of migration was observed across the micromolar and millimolar concentration range of H_2O_2 , only 1mM H_2O_2 caused a significant inhibition of CXCL12-induced migration (Figure 4.17 B). Naïve T lymphocyte migration appeared to be more resistant to exogenous H_2O_2 pre-treatment as 1mM pre-treatment of H_2O_2 completely attenuated migration of the SEB- activated T lymphocytes (Figure 4.13), whereas 35 ± 8 % of control naïve T lymphocytes still migrated.

To examine the impact of increased ROS levels in naïve T lymphocytes were pretreated with MnTBAP chloride for 30 minutes prior to being plated in the cell migration assay and exposed to either basal media or CXCL12. Unlike in the SEB-activated T lymphocytes, naïve T lymphocyte basal and CXCL12-induced migration was not significantly altered when treated with up to 40 μ M MnTBAP chloride (Figure 4.17 C & D). This could be due to MnTBAP chloride only marginally increasing levels of H₂O₂ and naïve T lymphocytes migration being more resistant to H₂O₂ concentrations.



Figure 4.17 Effect of H_2O_2 and MnTBAP chloride upon basal and CXCL12-induced Naïve CD4 T lymphocyte migration. Naïve CD4 T lymphocytes were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 million cells per ml. Cells were pre-treated with either vehicle or increasing concentrations of (A & B) H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. The (A) basal migration of cells and (B) migration towards the chemokine CXCL12 (10nM) was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as chemotactic index, where the number of cells migrated with each drug condition is divided by the vehicle control. (C & D) Cells were pre-treated with MnTBAP chloride for 30 minutes. The basal and CXCL12 (10nM)-induced migration was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as (C) chemotactic index and (D) percentage vehicle control. Data are the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors, with samples performed in duplicate. Statistical significance was determined using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's posttest where *p<0.05 **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001 compared to control.

4.7.2 Catalase enhanced but DPI had no effect upon basal and directional migration of naïve T lymphocytes

ROS levels were dampened in naïve T lymphocyte by exposure to catalase and DPI, and the impact upon migration examined. Consistent with activated T lymphocytes (Figure 4.14), catalase caused a concentration dependent enhancement of basal migration with 1mg/ml catalase increasing vehicle control migration by 12.5 \pm 6.6 fold (Figure 4.18 A). Catalase pre-treatment also significantly enhanced CXCL12-induced migration. CXCL12 alone increases migration by 6.3 \pm 3.4 fold, which was enhanced to 40.7 \pm 10.34 fold following pre-treatment of 1mg/ml catalase (Figure 4.18 A). Similarly to SEB-activated T lymphocytes (Figure 4.14), DPI had no significant effect upon naive T lymphocyte basal or CXCL12-induced migration (Figure 4.18 B).



Figure 4.18 Effect of catalase and DPI upon basal and CXCL12-induced Naïve T lymphocyte migration. Naïve T lymphocytes were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 million cells per ml. Cells were pre-treated with either vehicle or increasing concentrations of (A) catalase or (B) DPI for 30 minutes. The basal migration of cells and migration towards the chemokine CXCL12 (10nM) was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM of chemotactic index (Left panel) or percentage of control migration (Right panel) of at least three independent donors, with samples performed in duplicate. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05 and **p<0.01 compared to control.

4.8 Effect of H₂O₂ upon CXCL11-induced Ca²⁺ and actin regulation

4.8.1 H₂O₂ has no effect upon CXCL11 dependent Ca²⁺ signalling

Following CXCR3/CXCL11 stimulation, elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations occurs. Elevated intracellular Ca²⁺ is required for directed cell migration as local Ca²⁺ pulses near the leading edge of the cell activate myosin and to modulate focal adhesions (Tsai *et al.*, 2014). Intracellular Ca²⁺ was measured to assess whether H₂O₂ affected CXCR3/CXCL11 signalling potential. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were loaded with a Ca²⁺ sensitive fluorescent reporter (Fluo-4), and Ca²⁺ dependent fluorescence measured every 15 seconds throughout the experiment. In Chapter 3, Figure 3.10, CXCL11-induced a concentration dependent, transient although small increase in intracellular Ca²⁺. Pre-treatment of SEB-activated T lymphocytes with increasing concentrations of H₂O₂ for 30 minutes had no effect upon CXCL11-induced Ca²⁺ at any of the concentrations studied (Figure 4.19), which suggests the defect in migration is independent of Ca²⁺ signalling.



Figure 4.19 Pre-treatment with H_2O_2 had no effect upon CXCL11-induced intracellular Ca²⁺ elevation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed into PBS and loaded for 45 minutes with 1µM Fluo-4. Cells were washed 3 times and re-suspended at 5 million cells per ml in Ca²⁺ free-HBSS and extracellular Ca²⁺ adjusted to 1mM. Cells were plated in a black 96 well plate and either allowed to rest or treated with stated concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. Fluorescence was recorded over time using a plate reader at 37°C. 10nM CXCL11 was added after a baseline was established and 1µM ionomycin was used as a loading control. Left panel is a kinetic trace indicating change in fluorescence from basal (Δ F/F₀) from one representative donor. The right panel is the peak change in fluorescence generated by UCHT-1 as a percentage of the peak change generated by ionomycin and is the mean ± SEM from averaged duplicates of three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with a Dunnett's post-test relative to control.

4.8.2 H_2O_2 inhibits T lymphocyte polarisation and enhances basal actin polymerisation

Preventing H_2O_2 uptake has been previously shown to impair actin polymerisation in murine T lymphocytes (Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012) whilst oxidative stress enhances actin polymerisation and attenuates actin polarisation to CXCL11 in human naïve T lymphocytes (Klemke *et al.*, 2008). As high concentration of H_2O_2 impeded basal and chemokine-induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration (Figure 4.13 & 4.16), the importance of a high concentration of H_2O_2 in regulating morphological and structure changes required for migration was examined

Cells were treated with either H_2O_2 (100µM) or catalase (1mg/ml) for 30 minutes then fixed, permeabilized and stained with TRITC tagged phallodin. Mean fluorescence intensity of TRITC fluorescence was determined using flow cytometry. Interestingly, H_2O_2 significantly increased the level of polymerised F-actin detected to 195 ± 30% of control levels Catalase pre-treatment had no effect upon the level of polymerised Factin (Figure 4.20).

Following the observation basal actin polymerisation was affected by 100μ M H₂O₂ exposure (Figure 4.20), the effect of H₂O₂ on actin polarisation to CXCL11 was determined. In the absence of H₂O₂ cells showed a polarised F-actin distribution upon CXCL11 stimulation, however cells treated with H₂O₂ did not have polarised actin (Figure 4.21). This suggests that high concentrations of H₂O₂ could impair T lymphocyte migration by dysregulation cellular actin and inhibiting the ability of the cell to polarise to chemokine



Figure 4.20 H_2O_2 , but not catalase, increases actin polymerisation of SEBactivated T lymphocytes. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were washed three times in serum free media and treated with H_2O_2 (100µM) or catalase (1mg/ml) for 30 minutes. Cells were fixed using BD fixation reagent for 20 minutes, permeabilized and incubated with TRITC tagged phallodin for 30 minutes. Mean fluorescence intensity per 10,000 cell was measured using flow cytometry. Data are (left panel) representative FAC plots from one donor and (right panel) mean \pm SEM minus IgG control, normalised to the untreated control from three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined by one way-ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where **p<0.01 compared to control.

Α

В



Figure 4.21 Effect of H_2O_2 and CXCL11 upon polarisation of SEB-activated T lymphocytes. 1 million SEB-activated T lymphocytes (8-12 days post isolation) were pre-treated with 100µM H_2O_2 for 30 minutes then stimulated with 10nM CXCL11 for 5 minutes. Then cells were fixed in BD fixation reagent, permeabilised with BD permeabilisation reagent and stained with TRITC tagged phallodin and DAPI. (A) Representative images showing actin and DAPI staining. The scale bar represents 10µm. (B) Represents the mean ± SEM percentage of polarised cells observed from three independent donors, with 20 cells counted for each condition. Statistical significance was determined by two-way ANOVA with a Bonferroni post-test where **p<0.01 compared to control.

4.9 Chapter 4 - Results Summary

(a) TCR responses:

- Extracellular ROS is required for long term SEB-activated T lymphocyte survival
- H₂O₂ pre-treatment had no effect upon TCR-induced Ca²⁺ elevation
- H₂O₂ significantly inhibited CD3/CD28-induced proliferation of naïve T lymphocytes
- MnTBAP chloride had no effect upon CD3/CD28-induced proliferation of naïve T lymphocytes
- DPI and catalase significantly impaired T lymphocyte proliferation
- Basal and UCHT-1 stimulated adhesion to fibronectin was unaffected by H₂O₂ pre-treatment
- H₂O₂ had no effect upon expression of integrin receptor CD11a and CD49d
- (b) Migration and chemokine-induced responses:
- H₂O₂ did not act as a chemoattractant for SEB-activated T lymphocytes
- Exogenous H₂O₂ and SOD dismutase mimetic inhibits basal and CXCL11induced migration
- Catalase enhances basal and CXCL11-induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration
- DPI has no effect upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration
- H₂O₂ had a less potent effect upon CXCL10 and CXCL12-induced migration of SEB-T lymphocytes
- Naïve T lymphocyte migration was less potently effected by H₂O₂ pre-treatment whilst MnTBAP chloride and DPI had no effect; however catalase significantly enhanced basal and CXCL12-stimulated migration
- High concentrations of H₂O₂ induce F-actin polymerisation and inhibits F-actin polarisation to CXCL11
- H₂O₂ had no effect upon CXCL11-induced Ca²⁺ elevation

4.10 Chapter 4 Discussion

Validation of ROS manipulators - DCF fluorescence

Oxidative sensitive dyes such as DCF are widely used to determine the levels of oxidants within cells. However, it is important to note the DCF can be oxidised by multiple species of oxidants (Zurgil et al., 2006), the actual species of oxidants produced in T lymphocytes have yet to be described. H_2O_2 was used as a positive control to verify DCF activity and confirm that treatment with exogenous H_2O_2 gives rise to a pro-oxidant intracellular environment. As the pharmacological antioxidants catalase and superoxide dismutase mimetic MnTBAP chloride are used to assess the roles of ROS in T lymphocytes, their activity was verified using DCF fluorescence. The superoxide dismutase mimetic enhanced the oxidation of DCF whilst catalase significantly reduced ROS production, confirming that these were suitable agents for manipulating ROS level in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. ROS producers and antioxidant defence mechanisms are illustrated in Figure 1.4. The compounds used in this chapter are summarised in Figure 4.1. To further this work other compounds could have been investigated which also manipulate cellular and extracellular ROS. This approach induces 1) cell penetrating recombinant catalase, 2) extracellular SOD dismutase, 3) apocynin which inhibits NADPH oxidase, 4) antimycin A, which inhibits cytrochrome C-reductase and evokes the production of toxic quantities of free radical super oxide and 5) rotenone which inhibits the transfer of electrons from complex I to ubiquinone which creates a back-log of electrons in the mitochondrial matrix and enhanced superoxide production (Figure 4.22). In particular it would have been interesting to determine the effect of these reagents on SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration.



Figure 4.22 Additional pharmacological manipulators of ROS. Schematic highlighting in red boxes some additional pharmacological compounds which could be used to manipulate ROS within cells. These reagents could further the observations reported in this chapter.

The effect of ROS upon T lymphocyte viability

ROS species are known to induce bifurcate responses, with high concentrations evoking cell death and low concentration required for cell survival. H_2O_2 can be converted to highly reactive •OH radicals or reactive metal-oxygen intermediates which are cytotoxic (Halliwell *et al.*, 1990). Most experimental models, including those used in this chapter, use a bolus addition of H_2O_2 to the culture media. However, the cytotoxic concentrations of H_2O_2 reported in the literature are variable across different cell types and appear to be affected by exposure time and intracellular concentration (Gulden *et al.*, 2010). For example, naïve mouse T lymphocytes are reported to undergo oxidative stress at concentrations above 10μ M (Klemke *et al.*, 2008), whereas the T lymphoblast cell line Jurkat are significantly affected at concentrations above 50μ M (Cox 2007). In mammalian cells, cytotoxic concentrations of H_2O_2 have been reported between 10-1000 μ M (Nakamura *et al.*, 2003). Here, to determine the cytotoxic concentration of H_2O_2 in human peripheral activated T lymphocytes, cell viability was assessed using two distinct approaches; (1) MTT assay to determine the effect upon mitochondrial activity and (2) propidium iodide and annexin-V staining to investigate whether H₂O₂-induced cellular apoptosis or necrosis. The MTT assay verified that cells treated with $100\mu M H_2O_2$ were still viable after 3 hours. However 24 hour treatments suggests that long term exposure to $10\mu M H_2O_2$ will significantly decrease survival. This implies that both concentration and exposure time of H_2O_2 can affect the survival of T lymphocytes. Therefore, throughout Chapters 4 and 5, the exposure time to H2O2 was strictly controlled and all pre-exposures of H_2O_2 were for 30 minutes. The literature also describes that T lymphocytes can also have distinct susceptibility to H₂O₂ depending upon their stage of development. Preferential cell death occurred in CD8+ effector memory T lymphocytes (CD45RA -CCR7 -) as compared to naïve (CD45RA+) (Takahashi et al., 2005). This could explain why naïve T lymphocytes appear to be more resistant to high concentrations of H_2O_2 in the migration assays. However, the effect of ROS manipulators on naïve T lymphocytes was not studied here. It would be interesting to determine how long H_2O_2 lasts in cell culture before it diffuses or is degraded, thus whether cell death occurs due to a delayed cytotoxicity or due to prolonged exposure. This could be determined by washing away H_2O_2 after the initial exposure and then observing the effect on survival.

As the MTT assay is redox based, results could be have been skewed if ROS treatment were still present. Therefore, cell viability was also assessed using annexin V and propidium iodide staining. ROS has been observed to enhance apoptosis of T lymphocytes (Buttke, 1995) however H_2O_2 did not induce apoptosis in peripheral T lymphocytes. Interestingly, thymoquinone, a compounds that induces ROS, has been observed to selectively evoke apoptosis of malignant T lymphocytes (Dergarabetian *et al.*, 2013). PI staining confirmed enhanced necrosis of T lymphocytes but only at 10mM H_2O_2 concentrations. High level of H_2O_2 exposure has been previously shown to induce oxidative DNA lesions, lipid peroxidation and mitochondrial damage in mammal cells (Nakamura *et al.*, 2003).

To test whether low levels of ROS are required for long term survival of T lymphocytes, cell viability in the presence of anti-oxidants was examined by MTT and AV/PI staining. After a 3 hours exposure, all concentrations of catalase, MnTBAP chloride and DPI had no effect upon cell viability. Conversely, 24 hour treatment with catalase and DPI decreased activated T lymphocyte viability, indicating that ROS are required for long term survival. Interestingly, a new SOD mimetic isoform MnTBAP chloride has been shown to have specific cytotoxic properties against acute T lymphoblastic leukaemia

cells, and comparatively to our study, had no effect upon the healthy T lymphocyte viability (Pica *et al.*, 2015). This suggests that pharmacological manipulation of ROS levels could represent a novel therapeutic strategy of selectively targeting malignant T lymphocytes.

The role of ROS in TCR-induced proliferation and adhesion of human T lymphocytes

Over the last decade, it has been extensively observed that ROS have putative roles in a vast number of physiological processes, including TCR activation and signalling. In addition, (Jackson *et al.*, 2004)ligation of the TCR receptor leads to the generation of ROS in T lymphocytes (Devadas *et al.*, 2002; Kwon *et al.*, 2010; Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012; Sena *et al.*, 2013).

(a) Proliferation

Naïve T lymphocyte proliferation was induced with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies, which were immobilized on microbeads. Immobilized antigen is thought to be more physiologically representative as they mimic antigen presenting cells and allow the formation of focal adhesions (Arndt *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, a recent study has indicated that extracellular ROS produced on TCR stimulation is involved in cross talk between the T lymphocyte and antigen presenting dendritic cell to stabilise the activation (Angelini *et al.*, 2002; Hivroz *et al.*, 2012). The involvement of ROS in TCR-induced proliferation was therefore examined.

 H_2O_2 caused a significant defect in the proliferation of CD3/CD28-stimulated naïve T lymphocytes but only at concentrations above 10µM. This was consistent with the concentrations of H_2O_2 that impaired T lymphocyte viability over 24 hours. MnTBAP chloride had no effect upon cell proliferation, which was consistent with it having no effect upon cellular viability, and with the effect of low concentrations of H_2O_2 on cellular proliferation. 10µM H_2O_2 had no effect upon TCR-induced Ca²⁺ production in SEB-activated T lymphocytes, thus Ca²⁺ regulation does not appear to be the mechanism by which H_2O_2 alters TCR-induced proliferation or survival.

However, actin rearrangement is known to be important in cell division with dysregulation causing failure of centrosome separation and spindle assembly in the S
phase of the cell cycle (Bendris *et al.*, 2015). High concentrations of H_2O_2 enhance Factin production and inhibit actin polarisation to chemokines. Dysregulation of actin could also underlie the inability of T lymphocytes to proliferate. Furthermore, during the cell cycle, a number of checkpoints ensure that proliferation is regulated, in particular the G1 checkpoint and G1 to S phase transition, which in general prevents unhealthy cells from proceeding further through the cell cycle (Foster *et al.*, 2010). High levels of exogenous H_2O_2 induce Akt, c-Src and ERK phosphorylation in human T lymphocytes (Section 5.2). High levels of positive cellular signalling could indicate that the cell is unhealthy and in order to limit the chance of developing leukaemias these cells are prevented from proliferating. The possible reasons that high concentrations of H_2O_2 inhibited human T lymphocyte proliferation are summarised in Figure 4.23



Figure 4.23 Model for high exogenous H_2O_2 causing decreased T lymphocyte proliferation

Extracellular scavenging of H_2O_2 with catalase significantly reduced naïve T lymphocyte proliferation, with the highest concentration of catalase completely attenuating cell division. Excitingly, ROS generated upon TCR ligation appears to be required for cellular proliferation. This is in direct contrast to a recent study which observed that catalase had no effect upon human naïve T lymphocyte proliferation (Belikov *et al.*, 2014). In both experiments, cells were treated with catalase for 30

minutes prior to stimulation with CD3/CD8 antibody immobilised upon on microbeads. The only difference in the experimental design was that I used a naïve T lymphocyte isolation kit, whereas Belikov *et al.*, 2014 used a pan T lymphocyte isolation kit. This could again suggest a differential requirement for ROS between T lymphocytes at different developmental stages.

The NADPH enzyme inhibitor DPI also significantly inhibited T lymphocyte proliferation, corroborating the reduced proliferation observed following scavenging of ROS by catalase. Interestingly, DPI has been previously observed to inhibit cellular proliferation of RAT1 fibroblasts by blocking cell cycle progression to the G2 stage. DPI was observed to induce down-regulation of cyclin B and Thr288 phosphorylated Aurora-A levels and ultimately force mitotic exit (Scaife, 2004).

(b) Adhesion

It was important to address whether H₂O₂ treatment could alter the ability of T lymphocytes to adhere, as the adhesion of lymphocytes to components of the extracellular matrix and other cells is critical for successful cell migration, extravasation and the formation of immunological synapses (Hogg et al., 2011). It has been previously reported that H_2O_2 altered β^2 - integrin CD11b/CD18-activation and enhanced neutrophil adhesion (Blouin et al., 1999). Furthermore, H₂O₂ has been described to induce VCAM-1 expression in β-cells through extracellular Ca²⁺ influx (Lee et al., 2008) and enhance leukocyte adhesion to endothelial cells via NFKB dependent gene regulation of VCAM-1 (Lee et al., 2007). Contrastingly, H₂O₂ decreased the adhesion of pluripotent stem cells and down-regulated their expression of adhesion receptors although it is conceivable that stem cells may not be resistant to exposure to ROS as they may not be exposed to high levels of ROS under normal physiological conditions, unlike T lymphocytes. Interestingly, although H_2O_2 has been shown to vastly affect the adhesion process in other immune cells types, it has not been extensively studied upon TCR stimulated T lymphocyte adhesion prior to the work reported here. Surprisingly, H₂O₂ had no effect upon both basal and TCR-stimulated adhesion to fibronectin or on expression the integrin receptors, LFA-1 (CD11a expression) and $\alpha 4\beta 1$ (CD49d expression) in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. In addition, as H₂O₂ had no effect upon basal T lymphocyte adhesion, it is unlikely that a defect in adhesion underlies the suppression in migration observed with H₂O₂

The roles of ROS in chemokine-induced signalling, migration and polarisation

 H_2O_2 does not act as an *in vitro* chemoattractant for human T lymphocytes, which was especially apparent when it was compared to other known chemoattractants CXCL11, CXCL10 and CXCL12. This is in contrast to the finding that H_2O_2 -induced chemotaxis of mouse peritoneal neutrophils (Klyubin et al., 1996) and human neutrophils (Yoo et al., 2011) and that H₂O₂ is an early danger cue required for leukocyte recruitment to sites of tissue damage in *in vivo* models of inflammation (Niethammer et al., 2009; Moreira et al., 2010) [Figure 1.16]. This could have physiological importance, leukocytes are required early after wounding, however lymphocytes are not required until later in the wound repair process and therefore their migratory cues could be distinct (Figure 5.22). However, it is important to note that trans-well migration assays cannot fully model the role of H₂O₂ in vivo. In particular, they fail to model the tissuescale gradient of H₂O₂ that is generated at a wound site which extends between 100-200 μ m into the tail fin (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009). Indeed, as the concentration of H₂O₂ was not monitored over the course of the experiment it is not known how rapidly it was degraded/ diffused. Therefore, a sustained gradient with continuous production of H_2O_2 might have a distinct effect upon T lymphocyte migration.

To expand on the interesting observation that H_2O_2 actually reduces basal T lymphocyte migration, the protocol was adapted to determine the effect of treating the cells with H_2O_2 then observing basal and chemokine-stimulated migration. Thus, instead of investigating H₂O₂ as a chemoattractant, this adapted protocol sought to determine the effect of H₂O₂ being present in the microenvironment of the T lymphocyte on its migratory response. ROS levels are enhanced in several pathologies that T lymphocytes play an important role, such as cancer and rheumatoid arthritis (Griffiths, 2005; Kesarwani et al., 2013). Cells were pre-treated with H₂O₂ before examining their migration towards either basal or chemokine containing media. Interestingly, H₂O₂ pre-treatment induced a selective and potent inhibition CXCL11mediated migration of SEB-activated T-lymphocytes. Inhibition of CXCL11-induced migration was more potent than the inhibition of basal migration. CXCL11-induced migration was also more potently inhibited than CXCL12- and CXCL10-induced SEBactivated T lymphocyte migration and naïve T lymphocyte migration which was only affected by high concentrations of H_2O_2 . H_2O_2 appears to discriminate between ligands and inhibits CXCL11 induced-migration more than basal migration. This implies that H_2O_2 could have a precise signalling effect upon CXCR3 receptor which will be investigated further in Chapter 5.

Consistently with H₂O₂, the SOD dismutase mimetic MnTBAP chloride also inhibited the migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes, but had no effect upon naïve T lymphocytes. Interestingly, dampening the ROS levels using catalase significantly enhanced both basal, CXCL11-induced SEB-activated and CXCL12-induced naïve T lymphocyte migration. Although CXCL12 is known to stimulate ROS in naive T lymphocytes (Hara-Chikuma et al., 2012), the fact that basal migration was also enhanced suggests that basally migrating cells are producing and impeded by ROS. It would be very interesting to determine the levels of ROS in basally migrating cells. Cells that are metabolically active with increased energy demands are known to produce higher mitochondrial derived ROS (Leone et al.2011; Kluge et al., 2013), however the level of mitochondrial ROS production during T lymphocyte migration is unknown. Inhibition of NOX enzyme with DPI had no effect upon T lymphocyte migration, which implies the ROS suppressing T lymphocyte migration is not generated by NOX enzymes. Therefore, it was particularly interesting to determine the effect of hypoxia on T lymphocyte migration as there are a number of studies suggesting that under hypoxic conditions mitochondria increase their ROS release from Complex III (Guzy et al., 2005). 5% O₂ reduced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration, consistent with the theory that mitochondrial ROS suppresses migration, which could imply that mitochondria are a source of ROS that dampen T lymphocyte migration (Table 4.1).

	H ₂ O ₂	MnTBAP chloride (SOD mimetic)	Catalase	DPI (NOX inhibitor)	Hypoxia
Basal migration	↓10µM	\downarrow	1	-	-
CXCL11 -induced migration	↓1nM	↓	1	-	\downarrow

Table 4.1 Effect of ROS manipulation upon basal and CXCL11 stimulated migration in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. \downarrow indicates inhibition of migration, \uparrow indicates enhanced migration and – no effect upon cell migration.

 H_2O_2 appears to have an important role in actin regulation, as it has been previously shown that preventing H_2O_2 uptake impairs actin polymerisation in murine T lymphocytes (Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012) whilst oxidative stress enhances actin polymerisation and impairs actin polarisation to chemokine stimulation in human naïve T lymphocytes (Klemke *et al.*, 2008). H_2O_2 significantly increased the level of F-actin detected and inhibited actin polarisation to CXCL11 in activated T lymphocytes. The ability of H_2O_2 ability to alter the polarisation and dysregulate the production of F-actin is likely to be one mechanism underlying the ability of high concentrations of H_2O_2 to inhibit actin mediated processes such as migration and proliferation (Figure 5.22).

Perspectives

ROS potently inhibiting T lymphocyte migration was unexpected and has unearthed several interesting questions. What are the physiological consequences of low levels of ROS suppressing migration? There are several hypothetical scenarios (1) H_2O_2 could dampen the recruitment of adaptive immune cells which are required later in the wound repair process (2) in contrast, low level ROS could be responsible for capturing T lymphocytes at a site of high ROS by restricting their migration and (3) in a pathological setting, high ROS levels cause wide-spread suppression T lymphocyte migration and aid cancer cell survival or prolong chronic infection (Figure 5.22). In addition, the study by Hara-Chikuma *et al* 2012 indicated that H_2O_2 uptake through aquaporin 3 is required for CXCL12-induced mouse T lymphocyte migration; why the disparity? This could be due to interspecies variation between mouse and human cells, and indicates that further investigation into the role of aquaporin 3 and H_2O_2 should be undertaken in human T lymphocytes.

CHAPTER 5: Investigating H₂O₂-induced signalling in T lymphocytes

5.1 Rationale

As demonstrated in the previous chapter, exogenous H_2O_2 potently inhibits T lymphocyte migration. Unravelling the mechanism through which H_2O_2 modulates signalling pathways is vital for understanding its role in T lymphocyte biology. It is widely accepted in the literature that H_2O_2 and ROS can act as second messengers through their ability to reversibly oxidize specific cysteine residues in proteins (D'Autreaux *et al.*, 2007). Indeed, ROS can oxidise phosphatases (Denu *et al.*, 1998), kinases (Yoo *et al.*, 2011) transcription factors (Haddad, 2002) and ion channels (Bogeski *et al.*, 2010) to alter intracellular signalling. This chapter focuses on the ability of H_2O_2 to alter intracellular kinases and phosphatases.

Lyn has been indicated to act as a redox sensor, which is required for neutrophil recruitment to wounds in zebrafish larvae (Yoo *et al.*, 2011). Lyn is a SFK, known for their widespread cellular functions including cell migration. The critical residue which is oxidised in Lyn is cysteine 466 and importantly, this is conserved between species and SFK members. SFK isoforms which are highly expressed in T lymphocytes are Fyn and Lyn (Cooke *et al.*, 1989; Olszowy *et al.*, 1995). SFK oxidation has also been shown to be important in cell adhesion and cytoskeletal rearrangements in fibroblasts (Giannoni *et al.*, 2005).

In addition, Spleen tyrosine kinase family members (SYK) are also key signalling mediators downstream of SFK involved in a wide array of cellular processes including survival, proliferation and migration. SYK are required for H_2O_2 release in neutrophils (Fernandez *et al.*, 1998) and are essential for oxidative stress mediated Ca²⁺ release in B cells (Takano *et al.*, 2002).

Finally, H_2O_2 has been observed to enhance PI3K signalling through the inactivation of phosphatase PTEN (Lee *et al.*, 2002; Kwon *et al.*, 2004). PTEN is a negative regulator of PI3K signalling which converts PI(3,4,5)P3 to PI(4,5)P2, thus augmenting PI3K/Akt signalling. PI3K signalling is known to contribute to several cellular processes including migration. SHIP-1 is also of particular interest as although H_2O_2 inactivates PTEN, its effects upon SHIP-1 have not been determined. SHIP-1 converts PI(3,4,5)P3 to PI(3,4)P2 and has been shown to be vital in T lymphocyte migration in Chapter 3.

5.1.1 Aims

This chapter aims to examine the contributions of SFKs, SYKs, PI3K and SHIP-1 in ligand and H_2O_2 -mediated signalling in human T lymphocytes

In particular I will:

- examine the contribution of SFKs, SYK and PI3K signalling pathways in basal and CXCL11 stimulated migration.
- determine whether H₂O₂ signals through PI3K, SYK or SFK signalling pathways to manipulate T lymphocyte functions.
- examine both oxidative signalling and oxidative stress responses by using a wide range of H₂O₂ concentrations.

5.2 The importance of PI3K, SFK and SYK signalling in activated T lymphocyte migration

5.2.1 SFK and SYK signalling is required for SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration

The Neuroprobe migration assay was used to identify the contributions of SFK and SYK in SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pretreated with increasing concentration of the pan-SFK inhibitor PP2 for 30 minutes prior to being plated in the cell migration assay and exposed to either basal media or CXCL11. PP2 displays considerable selectivity for SFK family members, although it does not discriminate between different members. An *in vitro* assay with human peripheral blood the IC₅₀ values of PP2 against Lck (4nM), Hck (5nM), Fyn (5nM), JAK2 (>50 μ M) and EGF-R (480nM) (Hanke *et al.*, 1996). In a later, more thorough study PP2 inhibited Src and Lck with IC₅₀ values of 50nM with a 3-10 fold lower potency at Csk, p38a MAPK and CK1d (Bain *et al.*, 2007). In my experiments 1nM PP2 caused a significant suppression of SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration in response to CXCL11, whereas basal migration was significantly suppressed at 100 μ M (Figure 5.1 A). Thus, SFK signalling is important following CXCL11 induced signalling.

Secondly, SEB-activated T lymphocytes were with pre-treated increasing concentrations of the pan SYK-inhibitor piceatannol for 30 minutes. Picetannol (4-[(1E)-2-(3,5-Dihydroxyphenyl)ethenyl]-1,2-benzenediol) is a resverate analogue that exhibits anti-proliferative and anti-inflammatory effects (Geahlen et al., 1989). It inhibits protein tyrosine kinases by competing for the tyrosine-containing substrate binding site. Picetannol inhibits Syk with an IC_{50} of 10µM and offers 10 fold selectively over inhibition of SFK kinase Lyn (Geahlen et al., 1989). However, picetannol also inhibits other protein tyrosine kinases, with IC_{50} s against Lck of $15\mu M$ (Ashikawa *et al.*, 2002) In my experiments, CXCL11 driven migration of SEB-activated lymphocytes was significantly inhibited following incubation with 1µM piceatannol, however basal migration was not affected (Figure 5.1 B). This implies that SYK signalling is required for CXCL11-induced directional but not basal migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes.



Figure 5.1 Effect of SFK inhibitor PP2 and SYK kinase inhibitor piceatannol upon basal and CXCL11-induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 x million cells per ml. Cells were pre-treated with either vehicle or stated concentrations of (A) PP2 or (B) piceatannol for 30 minutes. The *in vitro* basal migration of cells and migration towards the chemokine CXCL11 (10nM) was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as chemotactic index (Left panel) or as percentage of control migration (Right panel) of at least three independent donors with samples run in duplicate. Data are the mean \pm SEM whilst statistical significance was determined using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001 compared to control.

5.2.2 Simultaneous treatment of SFK inhibitors with exogenous H_2O_2 could not rescue the migratory defect observed with H_2O_2

SFK have also been linked with H_2O_2 -induced chemotaxis in zebrafish wounding models (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, a simplistic *in vitro* model was utilised to determine whether SFK and H_2O_2 could signal via the same pathway in human T lymphocytes. The effect of inhibiting SFK alone, exogenous H_2O_2 alone or treating cells with both in combination was compared.

SEB-activated cells were treated with 1µM PP2 alone, 10nM H_2O_2 alone or both 1µM PP2 and 10nM H_2O_2 in combination before being exposed to a chemoattractant in the migration assay. All treatment combinations exhibited a similar inhibition of CXCL11-induced migration, with no significant differences between when a cell was treated with H_2O_2 or PP2 alone compared to treatments given in combination (Figure 5.2 A).

5.2.3 Simultaneous treatment of SYK or PI3K inhibitors with exogenous H_2O_2 could not rescue the migratory defect observed with exogenous H_2O_2 treatment

The same protocol was utilised to establish whether either SYK or PI3K and H_2O_2 could signal through the same pathway in human T lymphocytes. Firstly, SEB-activated cells were treated with 1µM piceatannol alone, 10nM H_2O_2 alone or both 1µM piceatannol and 10nM H_2O_2 in combination before being exposed to a chemoattractant in the migration assay. All treatment combinations exhibited a similar inhibition of CXCL11-induced migration, with no significant differences when a cell was treated with H_2O_2 or piceatannol alone compared to treatments given in combination (Figure 5.2 B).

Secondly, SEB-activated cells were treated with 10µM ZSTK474 alone, 10nM H₂O₂ alone or both 10µM ZSTK474 and 10nM H₂O₂ in combination before being exposed to a chemoattractant in the migration assay. 10µM ZSTK474 alone caused a very pronounced inhibition of basal and chemokine-induced SEB-activated T cell migration (Figure 5.2 C). This was an interesting observation as it has been previously observed that pan PI3K inhibition with LY294002 has no effect upon directional migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes (Smit *et al.*, 2003; Cronshaw *et al.*, 2006). Here, 10µM ZSTK474 significantly impaired basal migration to 37.1 \pm 10.2 % and CXCL11-driven migration to 4.7 \pm 1.5 % of control. However there was no significant different between ZSTK474 treatment alone and ZSTK474 plus H₂O₂ upon migration (Figure 5.2 C).



Figure 5.2 SFK, SYK or PI3K inhibition does not rescue or exacerbate the migratory defect observed with H_2O_2 . SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 million cells per ml and pre-treated with (A) 1µM PP2 alone, 10nM H_2O_2 alone or PP2 and H_2O_2 in combination (B) 1µM picetannol (PIC) alone, 10nM H_2O_2 alone or PIC and H_2O_2 in combination and (C) 10µM ZSTK474 alone, 10nM H_2O_2 alone or ZSTK474 and H_2O_2 in combination. The *in vitro* basal migration of cells and migration towards the chemokine CXCL11 (10nM) was then assessed by Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as chemotactic index (Left panel) or as percentage of control migration (Right panel) of at least three independent donors with samples run in duplicate. Data are the mean ± SEM and statistical testing using a two-way ANOVA with a Bonferroni post-test whereby significance is represented by **p<0.01 ***p<0.01 compared to control.

5.2.4 PI3K signalling is required for basal and CXCL11-induced migration of SEBactivated T lymphocyte

It has previously been shown that chemokine-induced migration of activated T lymphocytes is resistant to pan PI3K inhibitors LY294002 and wortmannin (Smit *et al.*, 2003; Cronshaw *et al.*, 2006; Smith *et al.*, 2007). However the pan PI3K inhibitor, ZSTK474 inhibited both basal and CXCL11 stimulated migration in Figure 5.2 C. Therefore, it was interesting to compare the effect of different PI3K inhibitors on the directed migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes. The IC₅₀ of each inhibitor at each PI3K Class IA isoform are described in Table 1.3.

First, SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with increasing concentration of LY294002 for 30 minutes prior to being plated in the cell migration assay and exposed to either basal media or CXCL11. LY294002 inhibited basal migration but had no effect upon directional migration (Figure 5.3 A) consistent with previous findings (Smith *et al.*, 2007). Next, cells were treated with ZSTK474, which significantly impaired basal to 16.16 \pm 6.67 % and CXCL11-induced migration to 41.28 \pm 12.80 % of control (Figure 5.3 B)

As migration was inhibited by a pan PI3K inhibitor (ZSTK474) the effect of isoform specific PI3K inhibitors was examined. Neither PI3K γ inhibitor AS-605240 (Figure 5.4 A) nor PI3K δ inhibitor IC871114 (Figure 5.4 B) had any effect upon basal or CXCL11 migration. However, as different isoforms of PI3K have redundant roles, the effect combining AS-605240 and IC871114 was examined. The combination of both inhibitors significantly impaired both basal to 28.48 ± 18.97 % and CXCL11-induced migration to 53.84 ± 15.93 % of control, in a similar fashion to ZSTK474 (Figure 5.4 C). Therefore it appears like PI3Kgamma and delta isoform signalling is required for CXCL11-induced migratory response resistant to inhibitors of these isoforms



Figure 5.3 Pan PI3K inhibition by ZSTK474 and LY249002 inhibit basal and CXCL11-induced migration of SEB-activated T lymphocyte. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 million cells per ml. Cells were pre-treated with increasing concentrations of (A) LY249002 or (B) ZSTK474 for 30 minutes. The basal migration and migration towards the chemokine CXCL11 (10nM) was then assessed by the Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as chemotactic index (Left panel) or as percentage of control migration (Right panel). Data are the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001 compared to control.



Figure 5.4 Basal and CXCL11-induced SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration is not abrogated by specific inhibition of PI3K δ and PI3K γ . SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 million cells per ml. Cells were pre-treated with either vehicle or stated concentrations of (A) IC871114, (B) AS-605240 or (C) IC87114 & AS-605240 for 30 minutes. The basal migration of cells and migration towards the chemokine CXCL11 (10nM) was then assessed by the Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as chemotactic index (Left panel) or as percentage of control migration (Right panel). Data are the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05 compared to control.

5.2.5 PLC is required for SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration to CXCL11

Although PI3K appears to be non-dispensable for SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration, inhibition did not completely abrogate migration, which could suggest that SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration may also require signalling through PI3K-independent pathways. PLC is required for PI[4,5]P2 hydrolysis into two second messengers diacyloglycerol (DAG) and inositol triphosphate (IP[1,4,5]P3) and IP3 binds to the IP3 receptor (IP3R), and evokes the release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular endoplasmic reticulum (ER) Ca²⁺ stores in a PI3K independent manner. CXCL11 has been shown to elicit robust elevation of Ca²⁺ (Figure 3.10). DAG binds to PKC to initiate signalling, and has also been found to be involved in migration of T cells (Cronshaw *et al.*, 2006).

Therefore the roles of PLC and PKC in the directional migration of human SEBactivated T were investigated. SEB activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with 1µM PLC inhibitor U73122 (1-[6-[[(17 β)-3-Methoxyestra-1,3,5(10)-trien-17-yl]amino]hexyl]-1H-pyrrole-2,5-dione), an inactive anolog of U73122 (U73343) or the PKC inhibitor RO-32-0432 for 30 minutes prior to being plated in the Neuroprobe migration assay and exposed to either basal media or 10nM CXCL11. PLC inhibitor U73122 inhibits IP3mediated Ca²⁺ release at concentrations of 1–2 µM, however it does not reduce the production of IP3, used as an indicator of PLC activity, until higher concentration of 10µM and above (Smallridge *et al.*, 1992; Alter *et al.*, 1994; Hellberg *et al.*, 1996). Ro-32-0432 is a cell-permeable selective inhibitor of PKC which according to Santa Crutz Biotechnology displays a 10-fold greater selectivity for PKC α (IC₅₀ = 9.3 nM); and a 4fold greater selectivity for PKC- β over PKC ϵ (IC₅₀ = 108 nM).

U73122 significantly inhibited both basal and CXCL11-induced migration consistent with previous findings (Cronshaw *et al.*, 2006). The inactive anolog, U73343 did exhibit a smaller but significant decrease in basal migration but had no effect upon CXCL11-induced migration. Finally, PKC inhibition significantly decreased basal but had no effect upon CXCL11-induced migration (Figure 5.5). This implies that PLC induced signalling is vital for SEB-activated lymphocyte basal and directional migration, however PKC signalling through DAG is only important in basal migration.



Figure 5.5 PLC, but not PKC, is required for SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration towards CXCL11. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed in serum free media and resuspended at 3.2 million cells per ml. Cells were pre-treated with either DMSO vehicle or 1 μ M U73343, U73122 or RO-32-0432 for 30 minutes. The basal migration of cells and migration towards the chemokine CXCL11 (10nM) was then assessed by the Neuroprobe assay. Data are expressed as percentage of control migration. Data are the mean ± SEM of three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test *p<0.05, **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001 compared to basal and ##p<0.01 compared with CXCL11 control.

5.3 H_2O_2 induces the phosphorylation of Akt, Src and ERK in SEB-activated T lymphocytes

To explore the ability of H_2O_2 to initiate cellular signalling, its ability to activate PI3K, SFK or MAPK kinases in SEB-activated T lymphocytes was examined. Both PI3K and MAPK signalling have been previously implicated as being activated by H_2O_2 (Kefaloyianni *et al.*, 2006; Sadidi *et al.*, 2009; Ha *et al.*, 2012) whilst the SFK member Lyn was determined to have a critical cysteine, cys-466, which is required for it to exhibit redox sensitivity in zebrafish (Yoo *et al.*, 2011).

Akt (Ser473) phosphorylation, c-Src phosphorylation (Tyr416) and ERK1 (Tyr202) and ERK2 (Tyr204) were determined as an indirect measure of PI3K, SFK and MAPK activity, respectively. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes and then levels of phosphorylated Akt, ERK and Src were determined by Western Blot. H_2O_2 induced a significant increase in Akt phosphorylation at concentrations above 100µM (Figure 5.6 A). Src phosphorylation was significantly increased at 10mM H_2O_2 (Figure 5.6 B). Consistently, ERK phosphorylation was only significantly increased at 10mM H_2O_2 (Figure 5.6 C). H_2O_2 can thus induce PI3K, Src kinase and MAPK signalling but only at high concentrations, which are likely to place cells under oxidative stress and were previously shown to effect cell viability following 3 hour exposure (Figure 4.2).



Figure 5.6 High concentrations of H_2O_2 induce the phosphorylation of Akt, ERK and Src kinase in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were treated with increasing concentration of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. Cells were lysed as described, loaded onto poly-acrylamide gels and proteins separated under reducing conditions using SDS-PAGE. Proteins were transferred to nitro-cellulose membrane, blocked and Immunoblotted for (A) p-Akt, (B) p-Src and (C) p-ERK and then stripped and re-probed for ERK1/2. Anti-CD3 antibody (UCHT-1) was used as a positive control Representative Immunoblots with the units representing kDa (left panel) and the mean \pm SEM of image J quantified blots from three independent donors (right panel) are shown. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test whereby significance is represented by *p<0.01, **p<0.05 or ***p<0.001 compared to control.

5.3.1 PI3K signalling is required for H₂O₂ to induce phosphorylation of Akt

To further verify that H_2O_2 actives PI3K signalling, the effect of pan PI3K inhibitor ZSTK474 on H_2O_2 -induced Akt phosphorylation was determined. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with ZSTK474 (1µM) for 30 minutes and then stimulated with CXCL11 (10nM) for 5 minutes to initiate down-stream signalling including PI3K. ZSTK474 completely abolished CXCL11-induced Akt phosphorylation (Figure 5.7 A) verifying that ZSTK474 was indeed functional and able to inhibit PI3K dependent signalling. Cells were stimulated with H_2O_2 (100µM) for 30 minutes and levels of Akt phosphorylation determined by Western Blotting. ZSTK474 pre-treatment significantly reduced the ability of H_2O_2 to induce the phosphorylation of Akt (Figure 5.7 B). Thus, H_2O_2 -induced Akt phosphorylation appears to be dependent on PI3K activation.

5.3.2 Catalase pre-treatment completely attenuates H_2O_2 -induced phosphorylation of Akt.

The effect of catalase upon Akt phosphorylation was examined and its ability to dampen H_2O_2 signalling verified. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with increasing concentrations of catalase for 30 minutes prior to exposing them to H_2O_2 (100µM) and Akt phosphorylation measured using Western Blotting. Catalase had no effect upon basal Akt phosphorylation and significantly decreased H_2O_2 -induced Akt phosphorylation (Figure 5.8 A). Heat-inactivated catalase had no effect upon H_2O_2 -induced Akt phosphorylation (Figure 5.8 B).



Figure 5.7 PI3K signalling is required for H_2O_2 to induce phosphorylation of Akt in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with increasing concentrations of ZSTK474 for 30 minutes. Cells were then treated with (A) 10nM CXCL11 or (B) 100µM H_2O_2 for 30 minutes, lysed, loaded onto poly-acrylamide gels and proteins separated under reducing conditions using SDS-PAGE. Proteins were transferred to nitro-cellulose membrane, blocked and Immunoblotted for p-Akt and then stripped and re-probed for ERK1/2. Representative Immunoblots (left panel) and the mean \pm SEM of image J quantified blots of three independent donors (right panel) are shown. Statistical significance was determined using a (A) two-way ANOVA with Bonferri's post-test and (B) one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05 compared to control.



Figure 5.8 Catalase pre-treatment attenuates H_2O_2 induced Akt phosphorylation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with either vehicle control or increasing concentrations of catalase for 30 minutes. Cells were then treated with 100µM H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. Cells were lysed as described, loaded onto poly-acrylamide gels and proteins separated under reducing conditions using SDS-PAGE. Proteins were transferred to nitro-cellulose membrane, blocked and Immunoblotted for p-Akt and then stripped and re-probed for ERK1/2. (A) Data shown are representative Immunoblots, units represent kDa (left panel) and the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors of image J quantified blots (right panel). (B) is a representative blot of 2 donors. Statistical significance was determined by a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 or ***p<0.001 compared to control.

5.4 H₂O₂ enhances the phosphorylation of SHIP-1

SHIP-1 has been shown to enhance cell survival in response to oxidative stress (Gloire et al., 2006). In Chapter 3, SHIP-1 activation negatively impaired T lymphocyte polymerisation, migration and polarisation. Likewise, H₂O₂ was also shown in Chapter 4 to negatively regulate these processes. The effect of exogenous H₂O₂ on SHIP-1 activity was therefore determined. Upon cell stimulation, SHIP-1 is recruited to the membrane where it is tyrosine phosphorylated upon Y¹⁰²⁰, which lies in the second NPXY motif towards its C-terminal. Phosphorylation is used as a marker of activated SHIP-1, when SHIP-1 is located at the cell membrane (Phee et al., 2000) and is able to bind the phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) domains of Shc (Lioubin et al., 1996) plus Dok1 and Dok2 (Dong et al., 2006). SEB-activated T lymphocytes were treated increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. Cells were then fixed, permeabilised and level of phosphorylated SHIP-1 assessed using flow cytometry. Increasing concentrations of H₂O₂ increased SHIP-1 phosphorylation in a bell-shaped fashion; with maximal phosphorylation at 1µM (Figure 5.9) SHIP-1 phosphorylation occurs at concentrations of H₂O₂ which do not affect cellular viability but do significantly alter the migration of T lymphocytes. This is an interesting finding that indicates regulation of SHIP-1 phosphorylation could be a mechanism by which H₂O₂ influences T lymphocyte migration.



Figure 5.9 H_2O_2 -induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed three times in serum free media and treated with increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. Cells were fixed using BD fixation reagent, permeabilized, incubated with SHIP-1 antibody for 30 minutes followed by FITC conjugated secondary antibody. Mean fluorescence intensity per 10,000 cell was measured using flow cytometry. The left panel is a representative FAC plot and the right panel is the MFI mean \pm SEM of three independent donors expressed as percentage change from control. Statistical significance was determined by one way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where **p<0.01 as compared to control.

5.4.1 H₂O₂ requires SFK signalling to induce phosphorylation of SHIP-1

In B lymphocytes, the phosphorylation of SHIP-1 in response to $Fc\gamma RIIb$ stimulation has been observed to be dependent upon Lyn, a SFK member (O'Neill *et al.*, 2011). Although Lyn kinase is not expressed in T lymphocytes (Korade-Mirnics *et al.*, 2000; Scapini *et al.*, 2009), other members of the SFK might be involved in SHIP-1 phosphorylation and therefore the effect of inhibiting SFK upon H₂O₂-induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation was examined.

Firstly, SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with 1µM PP2, a non-selective SFK inhibitor, for 30 minutes. Cells were then exposed to increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 and SHIP-1 phosphorylation observed by flow cytometry. Pre-treatment with PP2 significantly impaired H_2O_2 -induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation (Figure 5.10 A), indicating that H_2O_2 -induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation requires SFK activation.

Lck is a SFK member known to be expressed in T lymphocytes. The role of Lck in SHIP-1 phosphorylation was therefore examined. 1188890-30-3 is an ATP competitive inhibitor of Lck, which according to Calbiochem has an IC_{50} of 867nM. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with 1µM 1188890-30-3 for 30 minutes, exposed to increasing concentrations H_2O_2 and the level of SHIP-1 phosphorylation determined by flow cytometry. Although 1188890-30-3 completely attenuated SHIP-1 phosphorylation, the basal levels of SHIP-1 phosphorylation was variable between donors. This resulted in the Lck pre-treated SHIP-1 phosphorylation not being significantly different to control (Figure 5.10 B).



Figure 5.10 Effect of SFK inhibitor (PP2) and Lck inhibitor (1188890-30-3) upon H_2O_2 -induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed three times in serum free media and pre-treated with (A) SFK inhibitor (PP2) and (B) Lck inhibitor (1188890-30-3) for 30 minutes. Cells were fixed using BD fixation reagent, permeabilized, incubated with SHIP-1 antibody for 30 minutes followed by FITC conjugated secondary antibody. Left panel is a representative FAC plot from a single donor and the right panel is the MFI mean ± SEM of three independent donors expressed as percentage change from control. Statistical significance was determined by one way-ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where **p<0.01 as compared to control.

5.4.2 H₂O₂ signalling enhanced the catalytic activity of SHIP-1

Although phosphorylation of SHIP increases recruitment to the plasma membrane and allows for increased SHIP-1 proximity to it substrate, it must be noted that tyrosine phosphorylation has been reported to not directly affect catalytic activity (Phee *et al.*, 2000). The effect of H_2O_2 on the catalytic activity of SHIP-1 was examined. The malachite green assay, which is previously described in section 3.2, was utilised. Briefly, the phosphate product generated by SHIP-1 can be measured using malachite green molybdate; a chemical that reacts with free organic phosphate to form molybdophosphoric acid, which absorbs light at 650nm.

Firstly, the effect of directly treating recombinant SHIP-1 with H_2O_2 was examined. 1µM recombinant SHIP-1 was incubated with increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes before incubation with *in vitro* substrate inositol 1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate (IP₄) for a further 30 minutes. Malachite green molybdate was added to determine the level of free phosphate. H_2O_2 had no effect upon the ability of recombinant SHIP-1 ability to de-phosphorylate IP₄ (Figure 5.11 A). This suggests the H_2O_2 has no direct effect upon recombinant SHIP-1s catalytic activity.

A common problem with recombinant proteins is that they can be misfolded. To combat the possibility of misfolding altering the oxidative sensitivity of the SHIP-1, it was instead immunoprecipitated from SEB-activated T lymphocytes. Immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 was pipetted from one stock aliquot to ensure the level of SHIP-1 protein is equal in each treatment condition. Immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 was treated with 1 μ M H₂O₂ for 30 minutes before incubation with substrate IP₄. Free phosphate production was determined by addition of malachite green molybate and absorbance read on a plate reader. Control absorbance from immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 alone was significantly enhanced after incubation with the IP₄ substrate indicating immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 acted as a phosphatase. However H₂O₂ treatment had no direct effect upon immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 catalytic activity (Figure 5.11 B).

The observation that H_2O_2 requires an SFK to phosphorylate SHIP-1 (Figure 5.10 A) suggests that H_2O_2 does not directly oxidise SHIP-1 but instead requires intracellular signalling. As such, it could be hypothesised that the catalytic activity of SHIP-1 could be higher in whole cells treated with H_2O than un-treated cells. Thus, SEB–activated T lymphocytes were treated with media control, 1 or $10\mu M H_2O_2$ for 30 minutes and then SHIP-1 was immunoprecipitated. Half the immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 was plated in a 96 well plate for the malachite green assay and the other half used to verify that the amount of immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 was equal in each group by Western Blot. The

immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 was then incubated with substrate IP₄ and the level of phosphate production determined by the addition of malachite green molybate. Treatment of the whole cells with 1μ M H₂O₂ evoked a significant increase in the catalytic activity of SHIP-1 (Figure 5.11 C). This implies that H₂O₂ induces intracellular signalling to enhance the catalytic activity of SHIP-1. Enhanced SHIP-1 activity within cells could underlie the migratory deficiency observed with H₂O₂



Figure 5.11 Cellular treatment with H_2O_2 enhanced the catalytic ability of SHIP-1, but had no effect upon recombinant or immunoprecipitated SHIP-1. (A) 1µM full length recombinant SHIP-1 or (B) the absorbance of immunoprecipitated SHIP-1 alone (no subs) or treated with 1µM of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes at 37°C. (C) SEB-activated T lymphocytes were treated with 1 or 10µM H_2O_2 for 30 minute and then SHIP-1 was immunoprecipitated. 100µM inositol(1,3,4,5)tetrakisphosphate (IP₄) was added to the SHIP-1 for 30 minutes at 37°C and then 100µl malachite green solution was added. The level of free phosphate was quantified by reading the absorbance at 650nm. Level of SHIP-1 protein was quantified using Western Blotting, using fluorescently tagged secondary antibody and fluorescence detected using LiCor Image analyser. Statistical significance was determined by one way-ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 as compared to control or ^{##}p<0.01 as compared to no substrate control

5.5 ROS manipulation on the surface expression of CXCR3

ROS manipulation was previously shown to alter T lymphocyte migration and actin polarisation to CXCL11 (Chapter 4), processes which require signalling through the chemokine receptor CXCR3. Therefore, the effect of ROS manipulation upon the surface expression of CXCR3 was investigated. A 30 minute treatment of ROS manipulators was used in an attempt to limit any transcriptional changes which would be unlikely to occur within this short timeframe, and instead focused upon determining the effect of ROS upon receptor trafficking.

5.5.1 Exogenous application of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) causes down-regulation of cell surface CXCR3 expression but MnTBAP chloride had no effect

Firstly, SEB-activated T lymphocytes were treated with increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes and CXCR3 surface expression was determined by flow cytometry. H_2O_2 treatment caused a concentration dependent reduction in CXCR3 expression (Figure 5.12 A) with an IC₅₀ 2µM. Thus, H_2O_2 significantly decreases the expression of CXCR3 at concentrations which affect migration but are not cytotoxic.

The effect of superoxide dismutase mimetic, MnTBAP chloride was also examined upon CXCR3 expression in order to determine whether increasing intracellular H_2O_2 would have the same effect as exogenous application of H_2O_2 . However, inconsistently with its ability to decrease migration (Figure 4.12), MnTBAP chloride had no effect upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte CXCR3 expression (Figure 5.12 B).



Figure 5.12 H_2O_2 reduced the surface receptor expression of CXCR3 in SEBactivated T lymphocytes, but MnTBAP chloride had no effect. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed three times in serum free media and treated with increasing concentrations of (A) H_2O_2 or (B) MnTBAP chloride for 30 minutes. Cells were washed in ice cold PBS, then blocked in 1% BSA for 30 minutes. Cells were then incubated with Alexa-PE-conjugated CXCR3 antibody on ice for 30 minutes. Mean fluorescence intensity per 10,000 cell was measured using flow cytometry. The left panel is a representative FACS plot from a single donor and the right panel is the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors, normalised to the un-treated control. Statistical significance was determined by one way-ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 or *** p<0.001 as compared to control.

5.5.2 Effect of dampening the redox environment upon the surface expression of CXCR3

As application of exogenous H_2O_2 down-regulated the surface expression of CXCR3, the effect of dampening ROS upon CXCR3 expression was examined. Firstly, catalase pre-treatment of SEB-activated T lymphocytes caused a small but significant increase in CXCR3 expression (Figure 5.13 A). Catalase evoking a marginal increase in CXCR3 expression is consistent with it increasing migration of CXCL11-induced migration (Figure 4.13). To control for possible impurities in the catalase, the solution was boiled for 10 minutes to deactivate the catalase. Deactivated catalase had no effect upon surface CXCR3 expression (Figure 5.13 B).

Secondly, the redox environment was dampened using diphenyleneiodonium (DPI), a potent NOX inhibitor. Consistently with its inability to alter cell migration (Figure 14.13), DPI had no significant effect upon surface expression of CXCR3 (Figure 5.9 C). Finally, dithiothreitol (DTT) is a reducing agent which has been shown to restore protein activity lost by oxidation (Cleland, 1964). DTT significantly enhanced the surface expression of CXCR3 (Figure 5.13 D), suggesting that oxidation is involved in the internalisation of CXCR3.

5.5.3 Hypoxia significantly enhanced surface receptor expression of CXCR3

Exposure to low oxygen (hypoxia) elevates mitochondrial ROS generated within the cells and appeared to impair SEB-activated T lymphocyte directional migration (Figure 4.14 A). Therefore the effect of a 3 hour exposure to hypoxia was examined to determine whether it had any affect upon the surface expression of CXCR3. Hypoxia un-expectantly enhanced the level of CXCR3 surface expression (Figure 5.14). Although, it was unlikely that 30 minute treatment with H_2O_2 would induce any transcriptional changes in CXCR3 expression, a 3 hour exposure to hypoxia could increase the transcription of CXCR3 resulting in higher surface CXCR3 expression.



Figure 5.13 Effect of catalase and DPI upon surface receptor expression of CXCR3 in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed three times in serum free media and treated with increasing concentrations of (A) catalase, (B) deactivated catalase, (C) DPI or (D) DTT for 30 minutes. Cells were washed in ice cold PBS, then blocked in 1% BSA for 30 minutes. Cells were then incubated with Alexa-PE-conjugated CXCR3 antibody on ice for 30 minutes. Mean fluorescence intensity per 10,000 cells was measured using flow cytometry. The left panel is a representative FAC plot for a single donor and the right panel is the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors, normalised to the un-treated control. Statistical significance was determined by one way-ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, **p<0.01 or *** p<0.001 as compared to control.



Figure 5.14 Hypoxia significantly enhanced surface receptor expression of CXCR3 in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed three times in serum free media and placed in either standard cell culture conditions (air: 5% CO₂: 37° C) or a hypoxic chamber (5% O₂: 5% CO₂: 90% N₂ 37° C) for 3 hours. Cells were washed in ice cold PBS, then blocked in 1% BSA for 30 minutes. Cells were then incubated with Alexa-PE-conjugated CXCR3 antibody on ice for 30 minutes. Mean fluorescence intensity per 10,000 cells was measured using flow cytometry. The left panel is a representative FACs plot from a single donor and the right panel is them mean \pm SEM of three independent donors, normalised to the un-treated control. Statistical significance was determined by one way-ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test where *p<0.05, as compared to control.

5.5.4 H₂O₂-induced down-regulation of CXCR3 surface expression requires SFK signalling

As SFK signalling is required for H_2O_2 -induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation, the effect of SFK inhibition upon H_2O_2 -induced CXCR3 down-regulation was examined. Firstly, SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with 1µM PP2, a non-selective SFK inhibitor, for 30 minutes. Cells were then exposed to increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 and levels of surface CXCR3 expression observed by flow cytometry. Pre-treatment with PP2 significantly impaired the ability of H_2O_2 to down-regulate CXCR3 expression (Figure 5.15 A), suggesting that CXCR3 down-regulation in activated T lymphocytes requires SFK signalling.



Figure 5.15 SFK inhibitor (PP2) inhibited H_2O_2 -induced down-regulation of CXCR3 surface receptor expression in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed three times in serum free media and treated with (A) PP2 (1µM) for 30 minutes then cells were treated with increasing concentration of H_2O_2 . Cells were washed in ice cold PBS, then blocked in 1% BSA for 30 minutes. Cells were then incubated with Alexa-PE-conjugated CXCR3 antibody on ice for 30 minutes. Mean fluorescence intensity per 10,000 cells was measured using flow cytometry. The left panel is a representative FACS plot from a single donor and the right panel is the mean \pm SEM of three independent donors, normalised to the untreated control. Statistical significance was determined by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-test where *p<0.05 or **p<0.01 as compared to control and #p<0.05, #p<0.01 comparison with H₂O₂.

5.5.5 H_2O_2 -induced down-regulation of CXCR3 surface expression does not require PI3K signalling

 H_2O_2 has been shown to activate both PI3K and SHIP-1 signalling. Thus, PI3K signalling could also play a part in H_2O_2 decreasing CXCR3 expression. To examine whether the PI3K signalling was required for H_2O_2 -induced decrease in CXCR3 surface expression, SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with 1µM ZSTK474 a pan PI3K kinase inhibitor for 30 minutes before exposure to increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 . Pre-treatment with PI3K inhibitor had no effect upon H_2O_2 to down-regulate CXCR3 expression (Figure 5.16 A). This implies CXCR3 down-regulation does not require PI3K signalling, and is consistent with the observation that SHIP-1 activation and inhibition did not affect CXCR3 expression (Figure 3.13).

5.5.6 CXCL11-induced down-regulation of CXCR3 expression does not require SFK

Ligand-induced desensitization and internalization of chemokine receptors is a critical mechanism by which GPCR signalling is regulated. CXCL11 is known to down-regulate the surface expression of CXCR3 at the surface membrane by enhancing receptor recycling and degradation (Meiser *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly H_2O_2 -induced down-regulation of CXCR3 surface expression required SFK signalling; therefore the next step was to establish whether CXCL11 also required SFK signalling to reduce expression of CXCR3.

SEB-activated T lymphocytes were pre-treated with 1µM PP2, a non-selective SFK inhibitor, or 1µM Lck inhibitor 1188890-30-3 for 30 minutes. Cells were then exposed to increasing concentrations of CXCL11 and levels of surface CXCR3 expression observed by flow cytometry. CXCL11 evoked a concentration dependent reduction in the expression of CXCR3, however neither SFK nor Lck inhibition had any effect upon CXCL11-induced down-regulation of CXCR3 (Figure 5.16 B). This suggests that H_2O_2 and CXCL11 induce distinct intracellular signalling to internalise the CXCR3 receptor.



Figure 5.16 PI3K inhibition does not affect H_2O_2 -induced down-regulation of CXCR3 and CXCL11-induce downregulation of CXCR3 does not require SFK (A) SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed three times in serum free media and treated with ZSTK474 (1µM) for 30 minutes, followed by treatment with increasing concentration of H_2O_2 . Cells were washed in ice cold PBS, then blocked in 1% BSA for 30 minutes. Data are (left panel) a representative FAC plot and (right panel) the mean \pm SEM normalised to untreated control from two independent donors. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed three times in serum free media and treated with (A) PP2 (1µM) or (B) 1188890-30-3 (1µM) for 30 minutes then cells were treated with increasing concentration of CXCL11. Cells were then incubated in either IgG control antibody or Alexa-PE-conjugated CXCR3 antibody on ice for 30 minutes and washed twice in ice cold PBS. Mean fluorescence intensity per 10,000 cells was measured using flow cytometry. Data are (left panel) a representative FACS plot and (right panel) the mean \pm SEM minus IgG control, normalised to untreated control from three independent donors.
5.6 H₂O₂ induces Ca²⁺ elevation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes

An important signal cellular signal involved in T cell activation and migration is elevation of intracellular Ca^{2+} (Negulescu *et al.*, 1994). There have been many reports across mammalian cells that H_2O_2 can cause mobilisation of intracellular Ca^{2+} (Korzets *et al.*, 1999). To determine whether H_2O_2 induces intracellular Ca^{2+} release in human T lymphocytes, cells were loaded with a Ca^{2+} sensitive reporter Fluo-4, and fluorescence was measured over time using a plate reader to measure intracellular Ca^{2+} .

5.6.1 H₂O₂-induced Ca²⁺ elevation is unaffected by removal of extracellular Ca²⁺

SEB-activated T lymphocyte were treated with increasing concentration of H_2O_2 and level of Ca²⁺ measured over time. 1mM and 10mM H_2O_2 evoked a significant increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ with an initial steep rise in Ca²⁺ until a stable plateau was reached (Figure 5.17 A). High concentrations of H_2O_2 immediately induce Ca²⁺ mobilisation within T lymphocytes.

To verify that the H_2O_2 -induced Ca^{2+} response is due to oxidation and to test whether it is a reversible response, the ability of dithiothreitol (DTT) to reverse the Ca^{2+} rise was examined. DTT is a reducing agent which has been shown to restore protein activity lost by oxidation (Cleland, 1964). Cells were treated with 10mM H_2O_2 until a stable plateau was established, then DTT was added and the reversal measured. 1mM DTT significantly reduced that Ca^{2+} elevation and 10mM DTT completely attenuated the response to resting levels (Figure 5.17 B). This indicates that the H_2O_2 response is reversible and occurs due to oxidation.

Next, the ability of H_2O_2 to induce Ca^{2+} elevation in low Ca^{2+} media was investigated. By using low Ca^{2+} media, extracellular Ca^{2+} was reduced which allowed the proportion of Ca^{2+} from intracellular stores to be established. The removal of extracellular Ca^{2+} did cause a marginal reduction of H_2O_2 -induced Ca^{2+} elevation, although not significant (Figure 5.17 C). This suggests that the major Ca^{2+} source is intracellular stores.



Figure 5.17 H_2O_2 -induced intracellular calcium mobilisation is dependent upon oxidation and Ca²⁺ release from intracellular stores in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed into PBS and loaded for 45 minutes with 1µM Fluo-4. Cells were washed 3 times and re-suspended at 1 million cells per ml in Ca²⁺ free-HBSS and (A & B) extracellular Ca²⁺ adjusted to 1mM. Cells were plated in a black 96 well plate and either allowed to rest or treated with (A & C) increasing concentrations of H₂O₂ for 30 minutes or (B) 10mM H₂O₂ (until a stable plateau in Ca²⁺ response was reached) followed by increasing concentrations of DTT. 1µM ionomycin was used as a loading control. the left panel is a kinetic trace indicating change in fluorescence from basal (Δ F/F₀) from one representative donor. The right panel is the (A & C) peak change in fluorescence generated by H₂O₂ as a percentage of the peak change generated by ionomycin and (B) % reversal of H₂O₂ response. Data are the mean ± SEM from averaged duplicates of three independent donors. Statistical significance was tested using a one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test relative to control where * p<0.05 or ***p<0.001.

5.6.2 H_2O_2 -induced Ca²⁺ elevation requires PLC but not PI3K, SFK, SYK, MAPK or PKC signalling

 H_2O_2 -induced Ca²⁺ elevation has been shown to be sensitive to the tyrosine kinase blocker genistein in PBMCs (Korzets *et al.*, 1999). Therefore the effect of inhibiting several cellular kinases was established to determine whether H_2O_2 requires them to initiate Ca²⁺ signalling.

SEB-activated T lymphocytes were treated with the stated concentration each inhibitor for 30 minutes followed by increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 and the level of intracellular Ca²⁺ measured using fluo-4 fluorescence. As shown above, H_2O_2 induces Ca²⁺ elevation at concentrations which were shown to activate Akt, ERK and Src kinase phosphorylation (Figure 5.6). In addition, as SFKs are required for H_2O_2 -induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation and CXCR3 down-regulation, the effects of PI3K, SFK and SYK inhibition were investigated. 1µM PI3K (LY294002 and ZSTK474), SFK (PP2) and SYK (picetannol) inhibition had no effect upon H_2O_2 -induced Ca²⁺ release.

IKK inactivates NF κ B and participates in several protein cascades including MAPK. Alongside IKK (TPCA-1 α), mitogen-activated protein kinases (p38; SCIO-469 α) and mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK; PD0325901 α) inhibition was investigated to determine whether Ca²⁺ release was dependent upon MAPK signalling. IKK, p38 and MEK inhibition had no effect upon H₂O₂-induced Ca²⁺ mobilization (Figure 5.19). This implies MAPK signalling is not involved in H₂O₂-induced Ca²⁺ elevation.

The most common pathway involved in Ca²⁺ mobilisation is phospholipase C (PLC), which hydrolyses the membrane lipid PI(4,5)P2 into IP3 and diacylglycerol (DAG). IP3 binds to the IP3 receptor, a Ca²⁺ channel which releases Ca²⁺ from the endoplasmic reticulum. PLC inhibitor U73122 significantly reduced the effect of 10mM H₂O₂ to evoke Ca²⁺ mobilization (Figure 5.20 B). Importantly, U73343, an inactive chemical analog of U73122, was used as a negative control and had no effect upon H₂O₂-induced Ca²⁺ mobilization (Figure 5.20 A), hence H₂O₂ requires PLC signalling to maximally elevate intracellular Ca²⁺. DAG activates protein kinase C (PKC) and therefore the effect of PKC inhibition was also determined on H₂O₂-induced Ca²⁺. The PKC inhibitor RO-32-0432 had no effect upon H₂O₂-induced Ca²⁺ mobilization (Figure 5.20 C).



Figure 5.18 PI3K, SFK and SYK inhibition had no effect upon H_2O_2 -induced intracellular calcium mobilisation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed into PBS and loaded for 45 minutes with 1µM Fluo-4. Cells were washed 3 times and re-suspended at 1 million cells per ml in HBSS and extracellular Ca²⁺ adjusted to 1mM. Cells were plated in a black 96 well plate and treated with 1µM (A) LY294002, (B) ZSTK474, (C) PP2 or (D) piceatannol, and then treated with increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. 1µM ionomycin was used as a loading control. Left panel is a kinetic trace indicating change in fluorescence from basal (Δ F/F₀) from one representative donor. The right panel is the percentage of the ionomycin response and is the mean ± SEM from averaged duplicates of three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined using a two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test relative to control.



Figure 5.19 p38, MEK and IKK inhibition had no effect upon H_2O_2 -induced intracellular calcium mobilisation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed into PBS and loaded for 45 minutes with 1µM Fluo-4. Cells were washed 3 times and re-suspended at 1 million cells per ml in Ca²⁺ free-HBSS and extracellular was Ca²⁺ adjusted to 1mM. Cells were plated in a black 96 well plate and treated with 10µM (A) SCIO-469 α (B) PD0325901 α and (C) TPCA1 α and then treated with increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. 1µM ionomycin was used as a loading control. Left panel is a kinetic trace indicating change in fluorescence from basal (Δ F/F₀) from one representative donor. The right panel is the percentage of the ionomycin response and is the mean ± SEM from averaged duplicates of three independent donors. Statistical significance was determined using a two-way ANOVA.



Figure 5.20 PLC but not PKC inhibition significantly inhibited H_2O_2 -induced intracellular calcium mobilisation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. SEB-activated T lymphocytes were washed into PBS and loaded for 45 minutes with 1µM Fluo-4. Cells were washed 3 times and re-suspended at 1 million cells per ml in Ca²⁺ free-HBSS and extracellular Ca²⁺ adjusted to 1mM. Cells were plated in a black 96 well plate and treated with 1µM (A) U73343 (B) U73122 and 5µM (C) RO-32-0432 and then treated with increasing concentrations of H_2O_2 for 30 minutes. 1µM ionomycin was used as a loading control. Left panel is a kinetic trace indicating change in fluorescence from basal (Δ F/F₀) from one representative donor. The right panel is the percentage of the ionomycin response and is the mean ± SEM from averaged duplicates of three independent donors. Statistical significance was tested using a two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test where *p<0.05 relative to untreated control.

Chapter 5. Investigating H₂O₂-induced signalling in T lymphocytes

5.7 Chapter 5 Results Summary

(a) Small molecule inhibitors upon SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration

- Basal migration requires PI3K, PLC, PKC and SFK signalling
- CXCL11-induced migration requires PI3K, PLC, SFK and SYK signalling
- Inhibition of SFK, SYK or PI3K cannot rescue the migratory defect observed with H₂O₂

(b) Hypoxia

- Exposure to hypoxia significantly inhibits SEB-activated migration to CXCL11
- Exposure to hypoxia for 3 hours significantly enhanced the surface expression of CXCR3

(c) ROS signalling

- High concentrations of H₂O₂ require PLC signalling to induce Ca²⁺ mobilisation
- Oxidative stress induces phosphorylation of Src kinase, Akt and ERK
- Catalase treatment can suppress H₂O₂-induced Akt phosphorylation
- Low concentrations of H₂O₂ require SFK signalling to enhance the phosphorylation and catalytic activity of SHIP-1
- Low concentrations of H₂O₂ down regulated the surface expression of CXCR3, however MnTBAP chloride had no effect
- Catalase marginally increased surface expression of CXCR3, whereas DPI had no effect
- SFK signalling was required to down-regulate the surface expression of CXCR3
- PI3K signalling was not required to down-regulate the surface expression of CXCR3
- CXCL11 does not require SFK signalling to down-regulate the surface expression of CXCR3

5.8 Chapter 5 Discussion

Importance of SFK and SYK in CXCL11-induced migration

SFK members, Lck and Fyn, and SYK, ZAP-70, are known to have a critical role in T lymphocyte development and activation and are recruited and phosphorylate immunoreceptor tyrosine based activation motifs (ITAMs) within CD3 and the zeta chain of the TCR receptor (Salmond *et al.*, 2009). Phosphorylated ITAMs serve as docking sites for SYK to become activated and initiate signalling. However, the signalling roles of SFKs and SYK in T lymphocyte migration are less well understood. The G protein, Gai, has been shown to directly stimulate Src kinase activity (Ma *et al.*, 2000) and Lyn kinase is activated downstream of both CXCR4 in B cells (Ptasznik *et al.*, 2002) and CCR5 in macrophages (Tomkowicz *et al.*, 2006).

Here, the specific contribution of SFK and SYK signalling in SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration towards CXCL11 was examined. It has previously been observed that either genetic silencing of the Lck (Zaman *et al.*, 2008) or ZAP-70 (Ottoson *et al.*, 2001) in Jurkat cells inhibits their migration towards CXCL12. CXCR3 stimulation with CXCL10 has been shown to require both SFK and SYK signalling to induce adhesion to VCAM-1 in Jurkat cells stably expressing CXCR3 (Sun *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, both SFK and SYK signalling is required for CXCL11-induced directional migration of primary human SEB-activated T lymphocytes (Table 5.1), indicating that CXCL11-induced ligation of the CXCR3 receptor initiates SFK and SYK signalling.

PI3K signalling is required for activated T lymphocyte migration

Activation of PI3K is a robust signalling event, which occurs upon ligation of chemokine receptors and has been reported to be required for directional migration across several cell types (Welf *et al.*, 2012; Gambardella *et al.*, 2013; Wu *et al.*, 2015). Specifically in T lymphocytes, PI3K signalling has been shown to regulate the chemotactic migration of freshly isolated CD4/CD8 T lymphocytes and leukemic T cell lines to CCL19, CCL21 and CXCL12 (Sasaki *et al.*, 2000; Reif *et al.*, 2004). However, it has previously been observed that chemokine-induced migration of activated T lymphocytes is resistant to the pan PI3K inhibitors LY294002 and wortmannin (Smit *et al.*, 2003; Cronshaw *et al.*, 2006). This led to the hypothesis that ex-vivo maintenance and activation/differentiation of the T lymphocytes leads to the acquiring a resistance to PI3K inhibition and undertaking migration using PI3K independent signalling.

Surprisingly, the pan PI3K inhibitor ZSTK474 evoked a concentration dependent reduction in CXCL11-driven migration of activated T lymphocytes which was significant at 10µM. Consistently with the previous studies, the directional migration of activated T lymphocytes was resistant to pan PI3K inhibitor LY294002. In an attempt to understand the distinct outcomes of ZSTK474 and LY294002 upon SEB-activated migration, their molecular pharmacological profile was researched in the literature. LY294002 is a member of the first generation of PI3K inhibitors and is 30 fold less potent than ZSTK474 at inhibiting PI3K isoforms. ZSTK474 is most effective at inhibiting PI3Ko, whereas LY294002 is most effective at inhibiting PI3K α (Kong et al., 2007). The IC₅₀ of each drug at inhibiting PI3K isoforms are summarised in Table 1.3. In addition to LY29004 being a less potent inhibitor of PI3K, it has also been shown to have more non-selective effects, with concentrations above 10µM LY29004 inhibiting other signalling enzymes including class II PI3K and PtdIns 4-kinases (Fruman et al., 1998). LY29004 also has activity against mTOR signalling above 5µM (Brunn et al., 1996). Thus, ZSTK474 is more selective and potent than LY294002. Even at 100µM, ZSTK474 only weakly inhibits mTOR (Kong et al., 2007).

As the pan PI3K inhibitor ZSTK474 inhibited migration, the effect of isoform specific inhibitors of PI3K were investigated upon the migration of activated T lymphocytes. Neither the PI3Kγ inhibitor AS-252424 nor PI3Kō inhibitor IC871114 had any effect upon basal or CXCL11 migration. However, as redundancy often exists between the different isoforms of PI3K (Chaussade *et al.*, 2007; Foukas *et al.*, 2010; Juss *et al.*, 2012), the effect combining AS-252424 and IC871114 was examined. The collective inhibition of both isoforms significantly impaired both basal and CXCL11-induced migration in a similar fashion to ZSTK474, confirming that PI3K signalling is required for directional migration towards CXCL11 and implying that PI3Kγ and PI3Kō provide compensatory roles. In addition, ZSTK474 was observed to completely attenuate CXCL11-induced Akt phosphorylation, indicating the importance of PI3K in initiating signalling in SEB-activated T lymphocytes.

It is important to note that migration was not completely abrogated with PI3K inhibition, suggesting that although PI3K signalling is not dispensable, activated T lymphocytes may also require PI3K independent signalling pathways to undertake migration. Indeed, it was also shown that CXCL11-induced migration required signalling through phospholipase C (PLC), a PI3K independent pathway involved in T lymphocyte migration (Table 5.1). Phospholipase C (PLC) hydrolyses the membrane lipid PI(4,5)P2 into IP3 and diacylglycerol (DAG). IP3 binds to the IP3 receptor, a Ca²⁺ channel which releases Ca²⁺ from the endoplasmic reticulum. The PLC inhibitor U73122 significantly

reduced basal and CXCL11-induced migration. Importantly, the negative control U73343, an inactive chemical analog of U73122, had no effect upon CXCL11-induced migration, but surprisingly appeared to have a marginal effect upon basal migration. This suggests that the inhibition of basal migration by U73122 may at least partially occur through a non-selective effect. Interestingly, inhibition of PKC had no effect upon CXCL11 migration, which implies DAG induced signalling is not required for CXCL11-induced migration of activated T lymphocytes.

Compound	Inhibits	Basal migration	CXCL11-induced migration
LY29004	Pan PI3K	Ļ	-
ZSTK474	Pan PI3K	Ļ	\downarrow
AS-252424	ΡΙ3Κγ	-	-
IC871114	ΡΙ3Κδ	-	-
AS-252424 & IC871114	ΡΙ3Κγ & ΡΙ3Κδ	Ļ	Ļ
PP2	SFK	Ļ	Ļ
Piceatanol	SYK	-	\downarrow
U73343	Inactive PLC	Ļ	-
U73122	Active PLC	Ļ	Ļ
RO-32-0432	РКС	↓	↓

Table 5.1 Signalling involved in basal and CXCL11-stimulated migration of activated T lymphocytes in migration decreased, - migration un-affected

Effect of hypoxia upon T lymphocyte migration and CXCR3 expression

In contrast to standard cell culture conditions which provide 20% oxygen, the human body provides much lower oxygen concentrations, ranging from 16% in the pulmonary alveoli, to 6% in most organs (Semenza, 2001). Oxygen concentrations can be extremely low in pathological sites with low vasculature, such as tumours and sites of infection (Vaupel, 1977; Via *et al.*, 2008). Indeed, dysregulation of O₂ homeostasis is observed in inflammatory and cardiovascular diseases, cancer, cerebrovascular disease, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

Under hypoxic (5% O₂) conditions, mitochondria produce higher levels of ROS from the respiratory complex III (Guzy *et al.*, 2005). This diffuses into the cytosol where it stabilises hypoxia-inducible factor 1, leading to gene transcription and cellular adaption to the hypoxic conditions (Eltzschig et al., 2011). Therefore, in addition to being a relevant environment setting for an activated T lymphocyte, acute exposure to hypoxia presents a method of manipulating the redox environment of the cell.

Emerging evidence suggests that the expression and functions of GPCRs can be controlled by microenvironment triggers. Hypoxia regulates leukocyte migration, suppressing the migration of macrophages and monocytes (Turner et al., 1999; Grimshaw et al., 2001). Indeed, decreased expression of CCR2 has been observed in macrophages associated with the hypoxic environment of human carcinoma (Sica et al., 2000) whilst HIF-1 α expression induced CXCR4 up-regulation in human monocytes, macrophages, endothelial cells and cancer cells (Schioppa et al., 2003). Similarly to macrophages, hypoxia reduced the migration of SEB activated T lymphocytes. Interestingly 3 hours exposure to hypoxia caused a 400% enhancement in CXCR3 expression which could imply that hypoxia is prohibiting the internalisation of the receptor or that HIF-1 α is able to up-regulate total CXCR3 expression in 3 hours. It would be interesting to further this work and investigate the effects of hypoxia on other aspects of human T lymphocytes biology. It is important to note that although 5% O_2 is hypoxic compared to standard cell culture conditions this is likely to be a physiological level or "tissue normoxia" rather than pathological hypoxia. It would be interesting to further reduce the O_2 level to reflect inflammatory hypoxia.

H₂O₂-induced signalling in T lymphocytes

The mechanisms that immune cells use to detect ROS are not well established. It has been proposed the leukocytes could express H_2O_2 sensitive receptors (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009). Alternatively H_2O_2 has been shown to manipulate cell function through entering the cytoplasm and directly modifying intracellular mediators. Unravelling the mechanism through which H_2O_2 signals is vital for understanding its role in T lymphocyte biology. Firstly, high concentrations of H_2O_2 impair T lymphocyte proliferation, viability and actin regulation. This section focuses on discussing the effect of high concentrations of H_2O_2 on cellular signalling.

(a) H₂O₂ induces Thiol modifications to increase cytosolic Ca²⁺

High concentrations of H₂O₂-induced an immediate and sustained mobilisation of Ca²⁺ in SEB-activated T lymphocyte, consistent with reports that oxidative stress causes an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilisation in various mammalian cells (Krippeit-Drews et al., 1995; Herson et al., 1999; Wang et al., 1999; Colston et al., 2002; Zimmerman et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2009). Several different mechanisms and types of Ca²⁺ signalling have been indicated in these cells. Therefore, it was important to determine the mechanism behind ROS-induced Ca²⁺ elevation in human T lymphocytes. Extremely high concentrations of H2O2, which are known to affect T cell viability over a longer period, were assumed to cause toxic, irreversible modification of Ca²⁺ homeostasis. However, basal morphological changes were unremarkable after the T lymphocytes were exposed to high (100 μ M) of H₂O₂ for 30 minutes (Figure 4.20) and ligand-induced Ca²⁺ elevation was unaffected by 30 minute pre-treatment of 100µM H₂O₂ (Figure 4.5 & 4.18) Moreover, the elevation of cytosolic Ca²⁺ was eliminated by the addition of dithiothreitol (DTT). DTT reduces the disulphide bond within the target protein or between protein cysteine thiol and low-molecular-mass thiols such as glutathione. Therefore, H_2O_2 may exert its action by the formation of disulphide bonds.

Although redox homeostasis is tightly maintained by antioxidants, H_2O_2 is known to oxidise lipids and proteins in response to ligand stimulation. In T lymphocytes, ROS is produced from a variety of stimuli, including mitogens (Williams *et al.*, 1996), viral and bacterial superantigens (Weber *et al.*, 1995; Hildeman *et al.*, 1999), TCR peptide agonists (Devadas *et al.*, 2002; Kwon *et al.*, 2003) and CXCL12 (Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012) I have shown that low concentrations of ROS are required for human T lymphocyte survival and proliferation. Thus, H_2O_2 could cause a reversible modification of proteins to trigger positive Ca²⁺ signalling required for cellular survival.

(b) Origin of Ca^{2+} rise induced by H_2O_2

Previous studies have reported that oxidative stress-induced cytosolic Ca²⁺ elevation is distinct in different cell types, with multiple mechanisms reported including release from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), mitochondria and/or Ca²⁺ influx (Colston *et al.*, 2002; Zimmerman *et al.*, 2005; Nakamura *et al.*, 2009). Extracellular Ca²⁺ influx is not required in H₂O₂-induced Ca²⁺ elevation in human SEB activated T lymphocytes, since the omission of extracellular Ca²⁺ did not abolish the Ca²⁺ increase. Cytosolic Ca²⁺ elevation in human T lymphocytes occurs from intracellular sources. Possible sources include the ER and mitochondria. Ca²⁺ may also be liberated from non-ER and non-mitochondrial Ca²⁺ pool, such as the endosomes and golgi apparatus (Rizzuto *et al.*, 2006) or if due to necrosis from calcium bound to annexin V (Cuschieri *et al.*, 2005) Further experiments using thapsigarin, a sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase to deplete the ER or FCCP, a mitochondria un-coupler could help determine the intracellular location of the elevated Ca²⁺

It is interesting to note that our results are in disagreement with Bogeski et al 2010. Here, primary T_H cells from human donors respond to acute H_2O_2 by immediate increases in intracellular Ca²⁺, however was caused by the opening non-selective cation channels (such as redox sensitive TRPM). Interestingly, T lymphocyte differentiation shifted the activating EC₅₀ values from 130 to 740µM, indicating that naïve T lymphocytes appear to be more sensitive to ROS (Bogeski *et al.*, 2010). This disparity could be due to the use of different T lymphocyte sub-types; specifically they used T helper cells, whereas I used a mixed population.

(c) PLC inhibition reduced H₂O₂ induced Ca²⁺ increase

 H_2O_2 -induced Ca²⁺ elevation in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) is sensitive to the tyrosine kinase inhibitor, genistein (Korzets *et al.*, 1999), indicating that intracellular tyrosine kinase co-ordinates Ca²⁺ elevation in PBMCs. In addition, H_2O_2 has been observed to act directly upon inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors to activate Ca²⁺ release in endothelial cells (Zheng *et al.*, 2005). Here, inhibition of kinases PI3K, SFK, SYK, PKC and MAPK had no effect upon this H_2O_2 driven response, suggesting their signalling was not required to stimulate cytosolic Ca²⁺ elevation. However, PLC signalling was shown to be required for maximal Ca²⁺ elevation (Figure 5.20). PLC has previously been shown to be redox sensitive in macrophages (Liu *et al.*, 2007).

Perspective – Effect of high concentrations of H₂O₂ on T lymphocytes

ROS species are known to induce bifurcate responses within cells, with high concentrations evoking cell death and low concentration required for cell survival, signalling and proliferation. Here, high concentrations of H_2O_2 activate cellular signalling including PI3K, MAPK, Src (discussed below) and PLC. However, although these are positive signalling pathways that are known to be required for T cell survival and proliferation, it is likely that oxidative stress overwhelms the cellular antioxidants causing oxidative damage (Steinberg, 2013) resulting in the dysregulation of actin, decreased proliferation and survival of T lymphocytes (Figure 5.21).

Consistently with the bifurcate roles, dampening the redox environment also decreases human T lymphocyte survival and proliferation. Interestingly, quantification of thiol oxidation in cells has indicated that oxidation events are not equal across different cellular organelles (Balaban *et al.*, 2005; Go *et al.*, 2008) Instead oxidation events occur in cellular compartments to co-ordinate precise cellular signalling. I hypothesize that under physiological conditions localised ROS in cellular compartments may accumulate to high concentrations to signals through similar positive signalling pathways required for cell proliferation and survival without overwhelming cellular antioxidants and evoking cell death (Figure 5.21).

New methods for studying redox compartmentalization have recently become available, with probes which now permit the observation of rapid redox changes in real time and within single organelles (Belousov *et al.*, 2006; Woolley *et al.*, 2013; Ezerina *et al.*, 2014). Development of these novel tools to measure compartmentalized ROS formation and redox status, will allows for better characterization of ROS signals in compartments and microdomains (Kaludercic *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 5.21 Model of oxidative stress-induced signalling in human SEB activated T lymphocytes. This model is based on the results of this chapter and chapter 4 and the findings of (Kwon et al., 2003; Kashiwada et al., 2006) 1) Several pathologies result in accumulation of high levels of ROS including wounds, chronic infection and cancer exposing T lymphocytes to oxidative stress. 2) TCR stimulation also produces H_2O_2 through NOX2/DUOX enzymes, which are known to be expressed on the cell membrane and membranes of cellular organelles. Thus, ROS accumulates in microdomains to regulate precise cell signalling. Mitochondria also produce high levels of ROS, especially under hypoxic conditions. 3) Exposure to $>100\mu$ M exogenous H₂O₂ places cell under oxidative stress. H_2O_2 enters the cell through aquaporin channels 4) >100µM H₂O₂-induces the phosphorylation of Src, Akt and ERK, however oxidation might occur at lower concentrations. 5) >100µM alters actin polarisation and polymerisation, although basal cell morphology is unaltered 6) >100 μ M H₂O₂ requires PLC to stimulate intracellular Ca²⁺ from an unknown intracellular source (possibly ER, golgi or mitochondria) 7) >100 μ M H₂O₂ evokes oxidative stress which culminates in reduced T lymphocyte proliferation and survival. 8) Proposed outcomes of exposure to high ROS.

214

Unravelling the mechanism of H₂O₂-induced migratory defect

Secondly, in order to unravel the mechanisms of H_2O_2 -induced migratory defect, the effect of H_2O_2 upon was examined in signalling pathways that are (1) important in cellular migration and (2) have previously been indicated as being redox sensitive, including PI3K, SHIP-1, MAPK and SFK signalling (Truong *et al.*, 2013). In addition, it was thought prudent to investigate the effect of ROS manipulation upon the chemokine receptor CXCR3.

PI3K signalling

Firstly, the asymmetric distribution of PI3Ks product, PI(3,4,5)P3 at the front of the cell is a hallmark of cell polarisation (Wang *et al.*, 2002a; Wang, 2009). Earlier I described the importance of PI3K in the directional migration of SEB-activated T lymphocytes. Redox inactivation of PTEN, a negative regulator of the PI3K pathway signalling pathway has been previously described and occurs by the formation of a disulphide bond between Cys 124 residue of the active site and Cys71 (Lee *et al.*, 2002; Kwon *et al.*, 2004). High concentrations of H₂O₂ increased Akt phosphorylation in SEB activated T lymphocytes, indicating that H₂O₂ can manipulate PI3K-dependent signalling. However, PI3K inhibition was able to completely attenuate the accumulation of Akt phosphorylation, which implies that H₂O₂ activates PI3K to enhance Akt phosphorylation, rather than inhibiting PTEN (Figure 5.21).

 H_2O_2 signalling through PI3K to phosphorylate Akt has been previously described in several other cells types including vascular smooth muscle cells (Ushio-Fukai *et al.*, 1999) and Jurkat cells (Lahair *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, direct oxidation of Akt has also been described at several specific cysteine residues (Wani *et al.*, 2011), in particular a disulphide bond formed between Cys297 and Cys311, resulting in increased association of Akt with the negative regulatory phosphatase PP2A and dampened Akt signalling (Murata *et al.*, 2003; Durgadoss *et al.*, 2012).

MAPK signalling

Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) play crucial roles in cell migration, with ERK important in phosphorylating myosin light chain kinase (MLCK), calpain and FAK (Huang *et al.*, 2004). The MAPK/ERK pathway has also been previously suggested to be redox responsive through inactivation of its regulatory phosphatases (Lee *et al.*, 2003). In addition, there is some evidence of H_2O_2 directly activating MAPKs (Galli *et al.*, 2008), with low levels of H_2O_2 oxidising cysteine residues in ERK2 leading to

conformational changes and increased binding to MEK1/2 whilst oxidative stress inhibits MEKK1 by site specific glutathionylation within the ATP binding domain (Cross *et al.*, 2004). Here, H_2O_2 enhanced the phosphorylation of ERK1/2, although this was only observed a very high concentration of H_2O_2 (Figure 5.21).

The concentrations of H_2O_2 that evoked phosphorylation of Akt and ERK were likely to place cells under oxidative stress as these concentrations are cytotoxic to SEBactivated T lymphocytes after 24 hour exposure (Figure 4.2). PI3K and MAPK/ERK signalling cascades are also important cellular survival mechanisms. Thus, PI3K and MAPK activation could be a survival signal following oxidative stress. Hypothetically, it is also possible that lower concentrations of H_2O_2 oxidise cysteine residues within signalling proteins which alters their conformation structure and activity without resulting in the phosphorylation of the proteins. Determining whether protein activation through oxidation always results in phosphorylation (a more understood mechanism of protein regulation) would be really interesting to study further. Oxidation has been shown to trigger dimerization or oligomerisation through disulphide bond formation or tag the protein for trafficking or sequestrations, thus indirectly removing it from the vicinity of its target, perhaps exposing it to novel binding partners (Corcoran *et al.*, 2013).

SHIP-1 signalling

 H_2O_2 inactivates the phosphatase PTEN (Lee *et al.*, 2002; Kwon *et al.*, 2004) and therefore it has been presumed that it also inactivates SHIP-1, another negative regulator of PI3K signalling. However, the direct effect of H_2O_2 on SHIP-1 catalytic has not been investigated. Therefore, our finding that low concentrations of H_2O_2 -induced the phosphorylation and enhanced the catalytic activity SHIP-1 was unexpected. However, SHIP-1 has previously been shown to have a role in protecting cells against H_2O_2 mediated cell death (Gloire *et al.*, 2006), which could possibly be due to it activating signalling down-stream of SHIP-1. SHIP-1 activation could also be a possible mechanism by which H_2O_2 inhibits migration (Figure 5.22), as SHIP-1 activation severely impedes the migration of SEB-activated T lymphocyte migration in Chapter 3.

CXCR3 receptor internalisation

Another mechanism by which H_2O_2 could decrease the migration of T lymphocytes is by regulating the level of chemokine receptor internalisation. Receptor internalisation decreases the amount of available receptor on the cell surface, thus attenuating receptor mediated signalling (Lefkowitz, 1998; Morris *et al.*, 1999) and migration. Chemokines such as CXCL11 cause receptor internalisation to regulate their signalling. Interestingly, H_2O_2 significantly decreases the cell surface expression of CXCR3 in human activated T lymphocytes and dampening the redox environment using catalase resulted in a marginally enhanced surface expression. Thus, H_2O_2 could inhibit T lymphocyte migration by decreasing the surface expression of CXCR3, preventing the cell from detecting and signalling to CXCL11. Both the H_2O_2 -induced decrease and catalase-induced increase in CXCR3 surface expression were observed after a 30 minute treatment with H_2O_2 , therefore they are unlikely to be changes in the overall expression of the receptor and are likely due to internalisation of the receptor.

Meiser *et al.* observed that even 3 hours after treatment with CXCL11, only 70-80% expression of CXCR3 was re-established. They determined that CXCR3 is degraded following receptor internalisation and has to be replenished on the membrane by *de novo* synthesis (Meiser *et al.*, 2008). This requirement for *de novo* receptor synthesis for expression of CXCR3 may allow for a larger window to observe the effect upon CXCR3 internalisation, however CXCL11 and H_2O_2 might internalise the receptor through completely independent mechanisms.

The regulation of CXCR3 surface expression by H_2O_2 is an important observation as CXCR3 has been indicated in playing a central role in the induction and perpetuation of several human inflammatory disorders including atherosclerosis (Mach *et al.*, 1999), autoimmune diseases (Sorensen *et al.*, 1999), transplant rejection (Hancock *et al.*, 2000) and viral infection (Liu *et al.*, 2000). Thus, the finding that oxidation has a role in regulating surface expression may be an important consideration in the treatment of these diseases.

SFK signalling

To further understand the mechanism by which H_2O_2 is detected by immune cells, I was particularly interested in determining whether SFKs act in the same signalling pathway as H_2O_2 in human SEB activated T lymphocytes. SFK member Lyn has been indicated as a redox sensor involved in early neutrophil recruitment to H_2O_2 at wounds. Mutation of a single conserved cysteine residue to alanine at position Cys466 abolished the ability of Lyn to be oxidised by H_2O_2 . This mutation resulted in an inability of the cell to detect and migration towards the H_2O_2 gradient (Yoo *et al.*, 2011).

Cys466 is highly conserved across species (zebrafish Lyn, Drosophila Src-42A and human Lyn) thus oxidation-dependent activation may be a general method of activation for all SFK members, however this has not been fully established. Early evidence suggested that nitric oxide (NO)-releasing agents enhanced the catalytic activity of Src tyrosine kinase through direct oxidation of the kinase (Akhand *et al.*, 1999; Minetti *et al.*, 2002). Subsequently, a number of redox sensitive cysteine residues were identified in Src which are important for the enzymes activity (Senga *et al.*, 2000). Lck and Fyn are expressed in T lymphocytes, were confirmed to contain the critical cysteine 466 residue and Lck has been reported to have redox sensitivity (Nakamura *et al.*, 1993).

The phosphorylation of c-Src at Tyr 416 was assessed as a marker of H_2O_2 ability to activate SKFs in T lymphocytes. The c-Src antibody is likely to cross react with T lymphocyte SFKs, Fyn and Lck. c-Src phosphorylation was not observed until high concentration of H_2O_2 . However, as described above it is still possible that oxidation could alter the kinase activity without enhancing phosphorylation. For instance, Giannoni *et al.* observed that ROS exposure caused a disulphide bond formation between Cys245 and Cys487 which enhanced the enzymes activity (Senga *et al.*, 2000; Giannoni *et al.*, 2005).

Excitingly, SFK signalling was required for H_2O_2 -induced SHIP-1 phosphorylation in SEB-activated T lymphocytes. This is consistent with how SHIP-1 is phosphorylated down-stream of receptor signalling. SFK kinase Lyn has previously been shown to be required for FcyRIIb-induced phosphorylation of SHIP-1 in B lymphocytes (O'Neill *et al.*, 2011). However, Lyn kinase is not expressed in T lymphocytes (Korade-Mirnics *et al.*, 2000; Scapini *et al.*, 2009), which implies redundancy between different SFK members to phosphorylate SHIP-1. This provides evidence to connect oxidative signalling and SFKs in common pathway in human T lymphocytes and also implies that SFKs are activated by much lower concentration of H_2O_2 than observed to phosphorylate c-Src. Genestein, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, has no effect upon CXCL11-induced CXCR3 internalization (Sauty *et al.*, 2001) suggesting that tyrosine kinases are not required in internalisation of CXCR3 upon activation with their ligand. Consistently, SFK inhibition had no effect upon CXCL11-induced internalisation of CXCR3 in SEB activated T lymphocytes. However, SFK inhibition completely attenuated the ability of H_2O_2 to decrease the surface expression of CXCR3. It appears that agonist ligation and oxidative signalling induce distinct pathways to down-regulate CXCR3 surface expression. Consistently to SHIP-1 phosphorylation, H_2O_2 requires SFKs to regulate CXCR3 internalisation.

Finally, inhibition of SFK, SYK and PI3K could not rescue the migratory defect observed with H_2O_2 . Instead, all three signalling pathway were required for CXCL11-driven migration. Hypothetically, if H_2O_2 was acting independently of SFK, SYK and PI3K signalling, their inhibition should have produced an additive suppression of migration. SFK signalling appears to play a central role in regulating H_2O_2 -induced repression of activated T lymphocyte migration, with activation of SHIP-1 (and subsequent inhibition of PI3K) and decreased expression of CXCR3 two mechanisms through which this may occur (Figure 5.22).



Figure 5.22 Model of mechanisms underlying ROS-induced migratory defect in T lymphocytes. This model is based on the results of this thesis and some of the findings of (Kwon et al., 2010; Hara-Chikuma et al., 2012). 1) Several pathologies result in accumulation of high levels of ROS including wounds, chronic infection and cancer. 2) Chemokine stimulation also produces exogenous H₂O₂ through NOX2/DUOX enzymes, which are known to be expressed on T lymphocytes. 3) Signalling concentrations of exogenous H₂O₂ enters the cell through aquaporin channels and can manipulate proteins in the cytosol. 4) H₂O₂ signals through SFKs to internalise chemokine receptor CXCR3, internalisation could occur through arrestin recruitment/ clathrin coated pits, caveolae or an independent mechanism. Once internalised, CXCR3 is degraded in the endosome. 5) H_2O_2 also signals through SFKs to phosphorylate and activate SHIP-1. SHIP-1 activation inhibits the ability of CXCL11 to de-phosphorylate cytoskeletal proteins ezrin, radixin and ERM and 6) inhibits actin polarisation. H_2O_2 also increases total F-actin. 7) Collectively, chemokine internalisation, SHIP-1 activation and actin dysregulation reduce cytoskeletal reorganisation and cell chemotaxis. 8) Proposed outcomes of migration deficiency in T lymphocytes.

Chapter 6. General discussion

CHAPTER 6. General discussion

6.1 SHIP-1 in T lymphocyte biology

Overview

This thesis began by examining how SHIP-1, a negative regulator of PI3K, operates in human T lymphocyte biology. The role of PI3Ks in cell function has been extensively investigated in recent years, particularly as they have shown much promise as drug targets in cancer (Fruman *et al.*, 2009; Foster *et al.*, 2012; So *et al.*, 2012b; Okkenhaug, 2013). However, as yet inhibitors have failed to have significant impact in the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. SHIP-1 now stands at a crossroads, with the first activator of SHIP-1 entering Phase III clinical trials for the treatment of asthma. However, its functions remain less well understood in human T lymphocytes.

I used a SHIP-1 activator and SHIP-1 inhibitor in combination with *in vitro assays* to allow side by side evaluation of SHIP-1 roles in T lymphocyte biology. A considerable amount of data was generated with key findings indicating that SHIP-1 is crucial in the regulation of ligand-mediated signalling, proliferation, adhesion, cytoskeletal protein rearrangement and migration of primary human T lymphocytes. The product of SHIP-1 ((PI3,4)P2) is distinct from the phospholipid which is elevated by the direct antagonism of PI3K signalling (*i.e.* PI(4,5)P2). In our hands, both activation and inhibition of SHIP-1 lead to the same functional outcomes in T lymphocytes, which suggests that both PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 are vital in T lymphocyte signalling (Figure 3.15). This is consistent with the "two PIP signalling hypothesis" described by Kerr which suggests PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 have independent signalling roles, with the requirement for each depending on the cell type and surrounding environment (Kerr, 2011).

Whilst some of our findings were in line with data from murine models others, such as the decreased proliferation, ran contrary to the findings in mice, and serve to highlight the fact that there are often substantial differences between the immune systems of mice and humans. This indicates the importance of studying the role of proteins in human cells, even if the assays available are somewhat limited compared to animal models.

SHIP-1 now stands at a crossroads, with the first activator of SHIP-1 entering Phase III clinical trials. Importantly, although pre-clinical experiments have indicated that SHIP-1 modulation can alter TCR-induced response, no inappropriate T cell mediated autoimmunity or T cell neoplasm have thus far been demonstrated in either the pharmacological or genetic strategies implemented to manipulate SHIP-1. Work

identified in this thesis suggests SHIP-1 is a key role as a modulator of PI3K signalling in T lymphocytes and provides evidence to support using SHIP-1 modulators as treatments of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

In addition, there are potential benefits to targeting SHIP-1 over isoform specific PI3K inhibitors. Firstly, there is a large amount of functional redundancy and plasticity between PI3K isoforms, thus isoform targeted therapies might not warrant successful treatments in disease setting. Moreover, PI3K dysregulation is often caused by overactive mutations in PI3K (Pazarentzos *et al.*, 2015; Young *et al.*, 2015), these could alter the efficacy and affinity of PI3K inhibitors. Furthermore, the ubiquitous nature of PI3K signalling implies that any successful PI3K inhibitors could be complicated by non-selective effects and worryingly, it has recently been reported that resistance mechanisms can be developed to combat PI3K-targeted therapy (Ilic *et al.*, 2011); although selective pressure driving resistance could vary between cancer and inflammatory setting. SHIP-1 exhibits a restricted expression prolife limiting non-selective effects and modulation of SHIP-1 appears to have prolific effects on the immune system. SHIP-1 could be a superior target, and at the very least it will be beneficial to have multiple mechanisms to pharmacologically target PI3K signalling.

Future work

In light of investigations described in this thesis, future experiments should seek to address the following unanswered questions and hypotheses.

- Examine mechanisms underlying SHIP-1 manipulators effect on proliferation. At what stage of the cell cycle is the proliferation inhibited?
- To identify the roles of SHIP-1 compounds upon the differentiation of T lymphocytes to different sub-sets.
- In a migrating cell, PI3K localises to the front of the cell and PTEN to the back to generate a polarised production of PI(3,4,5)P3. Is SHIP-1 expression polarised during chemotaxis? As SHIP-1s product PI(3,4)P2 has roles in lamellipodia formation and actin regulation through its downstream effector TAPP1 and Lpd, I hypothesise that SHIP-1s product PI(3,4)P2 is not solely localised at the back of the cell. This could be determined using by expressing a fluorescent PI(3,4)P2 reporter into T lymphocytes, such as fluorescently labelled PH domain of TAPP1. SHIP-1 localisation would then be observed under basal and ligand stimulated conditions.
- Our pharmacological approach could be applied to determine the functional effects of SHIP-1 activation or inhibition on T lymphocytes isolated from patients with T

lymphocyte component to their pathologies, such as asthma or COPD. Further supporting the use of these compounds as specific disease treatment.

6.2 ROS in human T lymphocyte biology

Overview

The second facet of this thesis sought to determine the functional and signalling roles of ROS in T lymphocyte biology. There is a rapidly growing consensus the oxidative signalling is important in diverse cell functions. At present, the roles of ROS in human T cell biology are under-investigated, particularly whether ROS affect the cells ability to migrate. Two models of inflammation have indicated the importance of H_2O_2 as a cue for innate immune cell migration to a wound (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009; Moreira *et al.*, 2010). Results which were duplicated in human neutrophils (Yoo *et al.*, 2012) and consistent with an observation that H_2O_2 uptake is required for mouse T lymphocyte migration to chemokine (Hara-Chikuma *et al.*, 2012). Therefore I hypothesised that H_2O_2 could act as a chemoattractant for human T lymphocytes. Specific results have already been discussed in the previous sections; a more detailed discussion of the possible implications and limitations of these studies will now follow.

ROS species are known to induce bifurcate responses within cells, with high concentrations evoking oxidative stress-induced cell death and low concentration required cell signalling and function. Therefore, the effects of pharmacological manipulation of ROS was examined with anti-oxidants used to lower the redox environment and a wide range of concentrations of H_2O_2 (1nM-10mM) to examine both the signalling roles and effect of oxidative stress on T lymphocyte biology. In addition to using a wide range of concentrations of H_2O_2 I could have also have examined a time course for H_2O_2 signalling, as although consistent, 30 minutes is a long exposure time to H_2O_2 in terms of its half-life. Dampening the redox environment with anti-oxidants decreased long term human T lymphocyte survival and proliferation, indicating that low levels of oxidants are required for T lymphocytes to function. Interestingly, instead of acting like a chemoattractant, low concentrations of H_2O_2 (1nM) appear to signal through SFK to selectively phosphorylate and increase the catalytic activity of SHIP-1 and down-regulate the expression of CXCR3, resulting in inhibition of T lymphocyte chemotaxis (Figure 5.22).

High concentrations of H_2O_2 activated cellular signalling including PI3K, MAPK, Src and PLC and intracellular Ca²⁺ elevation. However, although these are positive signalling

pathways that are known to be required for T cell survival and proliferation, it is likely that oxidative stress overwhelms the cellular antioxidants causing oxidative damage (Steinberg, 2013) resulting in our observations of dysregulated F-actin, decreased proliferation and survival of T lymphocytes (Figure 5.21).

Interestingly, quantification of protein thiol oxidation in cells has indicated that oxidation events are not equal across the cells, particularly at distinct cellular organelles (Balaban *et al.*, 2005; Go *et al.*, 2008). Instead of global signalling roles, oxidants appear to accumulate in cellular compartments to co-ordinate precise, local signalling events. It has been very difficult to determine the concentrations of ROS found in cells however, work has been done to determine the location of ROS production in different cell compartments using sub-cell-compartment targeted ROS sensitive GFP reporter expression. Distinct responses have been observed in different cell types (Go *et al.*, 2008; Waypa *et al.*, 2010) and this approach could be used to look at the accumulation of ROS in T lymphocytes.

I speculate that under physiological conditions ROS localised to small cellular compartments may accumulate to high concentrations, thus could signals through similar positive signalling pathways that were observed with global H_2O_2 exposure, without overwhelming cellular antioxidants and evoking cell death. An elegant approach would be to use these organelle specific H_2O_2 reporters to witness ROS accumulation in T lymphocytes downstream of ligand stimulation.

 H_2O_2 is a very small, highly diffusible molecule with a short half-life due to its rapid reactivity and degradation. Therefore, as described above, the approach to add bolus application of H_2O_2 is unlikely to represent the intricacies of ROS signalling *in vivo*. The concentration of H_2O_2 was not monitored over the course of these experiments and therefore it is not known how rapidly it was degraded/ diffused. In particular, the bolus pre-treatment of H_2O_2 is unlikely to model the tissue-scale gradient of H_2O_2 that is generated at a wound site which extends between 100-200µm into the tail fin (Niethammer *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, a sustained gradient with continuous production of H_2O_2 might have a distinct effect upon T lymphocyte migration. It is however possible that bolus treatments of H_2O_2 might be more reflective of disease states, such as cancer where persistent oxidative stress in observed (Coussens *et al.*, 2002; Griffiths, 2005; Bartsch *et al.*, 2006; Murata *et al.*, 2014).

In addition, it has also been shown that bolus and continuous low level H_2O_2 exposure can lead to substantially different signal transduction and cellular responses (Sobotta *et al.*, 2013), with high bolus H_2O_2 reported to lead to artificial results. However, at present

it is still very difficult to reliably predict that physiological and pathological levels of ROS. Chemiluminescence methods have determined that H_2O_2 concentration in stimulated human neutrophils rarely exceed 10µM (Mueller *et al.*, 1995). In the zebrafish tailfin wounding model a maximal concentration of 50µM H_2O_2 was observed at the wound edge. Thus, these two differing concentrations indicate how difficult it would be to extrapolate the precise concentrations of ROS within the human body in each given scenario. Until these concentrations are known it is difficult to predict a bolus treatment concentration which can be described as "artificial". However, both studies suggest that it is unlikely cells will be exposed to prolonged concentrations of H_2O_2 in the millimolar range.

Based on the information provided in this thesis it is clear that reactive oxygen species are not merely an unwanted by product of aerobic respiration which cause unwanted damage, instead are biological entities that are required for co-ordinating crucial physiological processes. The physiological environment of a T lymphocyte should be considered when planning *in vitro* studies investigating the biology of T lymphocytes. Importantly, the timing and subcellular localization of ROS generation are likely of greater influence in T cell responses than overall redox balance. Interestingly, controlled clinical trials have failed to show a consistent benefit of antioxidants in diseases setting (Rapola *et al.*, 1997; Yusuf *et al.*, 2000; Tang *et al.*, 2005). This supports our observation that oxidants are not solely toxic to the human body, that ROS are both protective and deleterious depending on concentration.

ROS potently inhibiting T lymphocyte migration was unexpected and has unearthed several interesting questions. What are the physiological consequences of low levels of ROS suppressing migration? There are several hypothetical scenarios (1) H_2O_2 could dampen the recruitment of adaptive immune cells which are required later in the wound repair process (2) in contrast, low level ROS could be responsible for capturing T lymphocytes at a site of high ROS by restricting their migration and (3) in a pathological setting, high ROS levels cause wide-spread suppression T lymphocyte migration and aid cancer cell survival or prolong chronic infection. In addition, a study by Hara-Chikuma *et al.* 2012 indicated that H_2O_2 uptake through aquaporin 3 is required for CXCL12-induced mouse T lymphocyte migration; why the disparity? This could be due to interspecies variation between mouse and human cells, and indicates that further investigation into the role of aquaporin 3 and H_2O_2 should be undertaken in human T lymphocytes.

Future directions

In light of investigations described in this thesis, future experiments should seek to address several un-answered questions and objectives:

- Determine whether ROS have a role in the differentiation of T lymphocyte subsets (i.e. Th1/Th2 or Th17 generation)
- Examine mechanisms underlying ROS manipulators effect on proliferation. At what stage of the cell cycle is the proliferation inhibited?
- Clarify whether protein phosphorylation is a good marker of oxidative activation.
- Design an *in vitro* migration assay which maintains a gradient of H₂O₂ and allows H₂O₂ to be detected over the time course of the experiment
- Determine the source of basal ROS that reduces T lymphocyte migration? (*i.e.* why is migration enhanced when cells are pre-treated with catalase), and are there any other functions of T lymphocytes which are enhanced by catalase treatment?
- Investigate the mechanism behind H₂O₂-induced internalisation of the CXCR3 receptor
- Use organelle specific, redox sensitive probes to determine the changes in ROS accumulation in real time within single organelles following ligand stimulation in T lymphocytes
- Examine the roles of hypoxic environment upon T lymphocyte functions (activation, differentiation, survival, migration to more chemokines).
 Furthermore, investigate the effect of manipulating ROS in a hypoxic environment
- Peroxynitrites also appear to have signalling roles within cells (Pacher *et al.*, 2007; Liaudet *et al.*, 2009). Characterise the roles of peroxynitrites in human T lymphocyte biology

6.3 Concluding remarks

T lymphocytes rely upon co-ordinated cellular signalling to undertake their physiological functions and resolve infections. However, these pathways often become dysregulated in states of pathology. Too much or too little signalling greatly perturbs the ability of T lymphocyte to function which can lead to hypo-responsiveness or hyper-activation. This thesis provides insight into how signalling pathways function in T lymphocytes. Understanding T lymphocyte signalling will lead to novel therapeutic strategies for T lymphocyte driven pathologies, including autoimmune/inflammatory disease and cancer.

References

(2001). Chemokine/chemokine receptor nomenclature. J Leukoc Biol 70(3): 465-466.

(2014). IPI-145 shows promise in CLL patients. Cancer Discov 4,136.

Akhand AA, Pu M, Senga T, Kato M, Suzuki H, Miyata T, *et al.* (1999). Nitric oxide controls src kinase activity through a sulfhydryl group modification-mediated Tyr-527-independent and Tyr-416-linked mechanism. *J Biol Chem* **274**(36): 25821-25826.

Al-Qenaei A, Yiakouvaki A, Reelfs O, Santambrogio P, Levi S, Hall ND, *et al.* (2014). Role of intracellular labile iron, ferritin, and antioxidant defence in resistance of chronically adapted Jurkat T cells to hydrogen peroxide. *Free Radic Biol Med* **68**: 87-100.

Alber G, Hammer DK, Fleischer B (1990). Relationship between enterotoxic- and T lymphocytestimulating activity of staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *J Immunol* **144**(12): 4501-4506.

Allen SJ, Crown SE, Handel TM (2007). Chemokine: receptor structure, interactions, and antagonism. *Annu Rev Immunol* **25**: 787-820.

Alter CA, Amagasu M, Shah K, Jolly YC, Major C, Wolf BA (1994). U-73122 does not specifically inhibit phospholipase C in rat pancreatic islets and insulin-secreting beta-cell lines. *Life Sci* **54**(8): PI107-112.

Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ (2001). Lymphostromal interactions in thymic development and function. *Nat Rev Immunol* **1**(1): 31-40.

Andjelkovic AV, Song L, Dzenko KA, Cong H, Pachter JS (2002). Functional expression of CCR2 by human fetal astrocytes. *J Neurosci Res* **70**(2): 219-231.

Ando T, Mimura K, Johansson CC, Hanson MG, Mougiakakos D, Larsson C, *et al.* (2008). Transduction with the antioxidant enzyme catalase protects human T cells against oxidative stress. *J Immunol* **181**, 8382-8390.

Angelini G, Gardella S, Ardy M, Ciriolo MR, Filomeni G, Di Trapani G, *et al.* (2002). Antigenpresenting dendritic cells provide the reducing extracellular microenvironment required for T lymphocyte activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**(3): 1491-1496.

Archer, S., 2014. Innate immune cell migration and function in response to damage associated signals. Thesis (Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)). University of Bath.

Arkwright PD, Abinun M, Cant AJ (2002). Autoimmunity in human primary immunodeficiency diseases. *Blood* **99**(8): 2694-2702.

Arndt B, Poltorak M, Kowtharapu BS, Reichardt P, Philipsen L, Lindquist JA, *et al.* (2013). Analysis of TCR activation kinetics in primary human T cells upon focal or soluble stimulation. *J Immunol Methods* **387**(1-2): 276-283.

Arnon TI, Xu Y, Lo C, Pham T, An J, Coughlin S, *et al.* (2011). GRK2-dependent S1PR1 desensitization is required for lymphocytes to overcome their attraction to blood. *Science* **333**, 1898-1903.

Arpin M, Chirivino D, Naba A, Zwaenepoel I (2011). Emerging role for ERM proteins in cell adhesion and migration. *Cell Adh Migr* **5**(2): 199-206.

Ashikawa K, Majumdar S, Banerjee S, Bharti AC, Shishodia S, Aggarwal BB (2002). Piceatannol inhibits TNF-induced NF-kappaB activation and NF-kappaB-mediated gene expression through suppression of IkappaBalpha kinase and p65 phosphorylation. *J Immunol* **169**(11): 6490-6497.

Au-Yeung BB, Deindl S, Hsu LY, Palacios EH, Levin SE, Kuriyan J, et al. (2009). The structure, regulation, and function of ZAP-70. *Immunol Rev* 228(1):41-57.

August A, Sadra A, Dupont B, Hanafusa H (1997). Src-induced activation of inducible T cell kinase (ITK) requires phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity and the Pleckstrin homology domain of inducible T cell kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**(21): 11227-11232.

Avota E, Harms H, Schneider-Schaulies S (2006). Measles virus induces expression of SIP110, a constitutively membrane clustered lipid phosphatase, which inhibits T cell proliferation. *Cellular Microbiology* **8**(11): 1826-1839.

Babior BM (1999). NADPH oxidase: an update. Blood 93(5): 1464-1476.

Bacon K, Baggiolini M, Broxmeyer H, Horuk R, Lindley I, Mantovani A, *et al.* (2002). Chemokine/chemokine receptor nomenclature. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* **22**(10): 1067-1068.

Badour K, Zhang J, Shi F, Leng Y, Collins M, Siminovitch KA (2004). Fyn and PTP-PESTmediated regulation of Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASp) tyrosine phosphorylation is required for coupling T cell antigen receptor engagement to WASp effector function and T cell activation. *J Exp Med* **199**, 99-112.

Bain J, Plater L, Elliott M, Shpiro N, Hastie CJ, McLauchlan H, et al. (2007). The selectivity of protein kinase inhibitors: a further update. *Biochem J* **408**, 297-315.

Balaban RS, Nemoto S, Finkel T (2005). Mitochondria, oxidants, and aging. *Cell* **120**(4): 483-495.

Balkwill F (2004). Cancer and the chemokine network. Nat Rev Cancer 4, 540-550.

Ball J, Archer S, Ward S (2014). PI3K inhibitors as potential therapeutics for autoimmune disease. *Drug Discov Today* **19**(8): 1195-1199.

Bao X, Moseman EA, Saito H, Petryniak B, Thiriot A, Hatakeyama S, *et al.* (2010). Endothelial heparan sulfate controls chemokine presentation in recruitment of lymphocytes and dendritic cells to lymph nodes. *Immunity* **33**, 817-829.

Bardi G, Lipp M, Baggiolini M, Loetscher P (2001). The T cell chemokine receptor CCR7 is internalized on stimulation with ELC, but not with SLC. *Eur J Immunol* **31**, 3291-3297.

Bartsch H, Nair J (2006). Chronic inflammation and oxidative stress in the genesis and perpetuation of cancer: role of lipid peroxidation, DNA damage, and repair. *Langenbecks Arch Surg* **391**(5): 499-510.

Beglova N, Blacklow SC, Takagi J, Springer TA (2002). Cysteine-rich module structure reveals a fulcrum for integrin rearrangement upon activation. *Nat Struct Biol* **9**(4): 282-287.

Belikov AV, Schraven B, Simeoni L (2014). TCR-triggered extracellular superoxide production is not required for T-cell activation. *Cell Commun Signal* **12**: 50.

Belousov VV, Fradkov AF, Lukyanov KA, Staroverov DB, Shakhbazov KS, Terskikh AV, *et al.* (2006). Genetically encoded fluorescent indicator for intracellular hydrogen peroxide.*Nat Methods* **3**, 281-286.

Bendell JC, Rodon J, Burris HA, de Jonge M, Verweij J, Birle D, *et al.* (2012). Phase I, doseescalation study of BKM120, an oral pan-Class I PI3K inhibitor, in patients with advanced solid tumors. *J Clin Oncol* **30**, 282-290.

Bendris N, Lemmers B, Blanchard JM (2015). Cell cycle, cytoskeleton dynamics and beyond: the many functions of cyclins and CDK inhibitors. *Cell Cycle* 14(12):1786-98

Bennett LD, Fox JM, Signoret N (2011). Mechanisms regulating chemokine receptor activity. *Immunology* **134**(3): 246-256.

Bergamini G, Bell K, Shimamura S, Werner T, Cansfield A, Muller K, *et al.* (2012). A selective inhibitor reveals PI3Kgamma dependence of T(H)17 cell differentiation. *Nat Chem Biol* **8**, 576-582.

Bienert GP, Chaumont F (2014). Aquaporin-facilitated transmembrane diffusion of hydrogen peroxide. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1840**(5): 1596-1604.

Bienert GP, Moller AL, Kristiansen KA, Schulz A, Moller IM, Schjoerring JK, *et al.* (2007). Specific aquaporins facilitate the diffusion of hydrogen peroxide across membranes. *J Biol Chem*, **282**, 1183-1192.

Bienert GP, Schjoerring JK, Jahn TP (2006). Membrane transport of hydrogen peroxide. 1758(8):994-1003.

Bilancio A, Okkenhaug K, Camps M, Emery JL, Ruckle T, Rommel C, *et al.* (2006). Key role of the p110delta isoform of PI3K in B-cell antigen and IL-4 receptor signaling: comparative analysis of genetic and pharmacologic interference with p110delta function in B cells. *Blood*, 107, 642-650.

Blouin E, Halbwachs-Mecarelli L, Rieu P (1999). Redox regulation of β2-integrin CD11b/CD18 activation. *European Journal of Immunology* **29**(11): 3419-3431.

Blume-Jensen P, Hunter T (2001). Oncogenic kinase signalling. *Nature*, **411**, 355-365.

Blunt MD, Ward SG (2012a). Pharmacological targeting of phosphoinositide lipid kinases and phosphatases in the immune system: success, disappointment, and new opportunities. *Front Immunol* **3**: 226.

Blunt MD, Ward SG (2012b). Targeting PI3K isoforms and SHIP in the immune system: new therapeutics for inflammation and leukemia. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology* **12**(4).

Bogeski I, Kummerow C, Al-Ansary D, Schwarz EC, Koehler R, Kozai D, *et al.* (2010). Differential redox regulation of ORAI ion channels: a mechanism to tune cellular calcium signaling. *Sci Signal* **3**, ra24.

Borroni EM, Mantovani A, Locati M, Bonecchi R (2010). Chemokine receptors intracellular trafficking. In. *Pharmacol Ther* **127**,1-8.

Bousso P, Robey E (2003). Dynamics of CD8+ T cell priming by dendritic cells in intact lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* **4**,579-585.

Boveris A, Oshino N, Chance B (1972). The cellular production of hydrogen peroxide. *Biochem J* **128**(3): 617-630.

Brauer H, Strauss J, Wegner W, Muller-Tidow C, Horstmann M, Jucker M (2012). Leukemiaassociated mutations in SHIP1 inhibit its enzymatic activity, interaction with the GM-CSF receptor and Grb2, and its ability to inactivate PI3K/AKT signaling. *Cell Signal* **24**(11): 2095-2101.

Brieger K, Schiavone S, Miller FJ, Jr., Krause KH (2012). Reactive oxygen species: from health to disease. *Swiss Med Wkly* **142:** w13659.

Brooks R, Fuhler GM, Iyer S, Smith MJ, Park MY, Paraiso KHT, *et al.* (2010). SHIP1 inhibition increases immunoregulatory capacity and triggers apoptosis of hematopoietic cancer cells. *Journal of Immunology* **184**(7): 3582-3589.

Brown MJ, Nijhara R, Hallam JA, Gignac M, Yamada KM, Erlandsen SL, *et al.* (2003). Chemokine stimulation of human peripheral blood T lymphocytes induces rapid dephosphorylation of ERM proteins, which facilitates loss of microvilli and polarization. *Blood* **102**(12): 3890-3899.

Bruhns P, Vély F, Malbec O, Fridman WH, Vivier E, Daëron M (2000). Molecular basis of the recruitment of the SH2 domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatases SHIP1 and SHIP2 by FcγRIIB. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**(48): 37357-37364.

Brunn GJ, Williams J, Sabers C, Wiederrecht G, Lawrence JC, Jr., Abraham RT (1996). Direct inhibition of the signaling functions of the mammalian target of rapamycin by the phosphoinositide 3-kinase inhibitors, wortmannin and LY294002. *EMBO J* **15**(19): 5256-5267.

Brzostowski JA, Parent CA, Kimmel AR (2004). A G alpha-dependent pathway that antagonizes multiple chemoattractant responses that regulate directional cell movement. *Genes Dev* **18**, 805-815.

Burris HA, Patel MR, Brander DM, O'Connor OA, Deng C, Fenske TS, *et al.* (2014). TGR-1202, a Novel Once Daily PI3Kδ Inhibitor, Demonstrates Clinical Activity with a Favorable Safety Profile, Lacking Hepatotoxicity, in Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia and B-Cell Lymphoma. Poster 124, abstract #1984, 56th American Society of Hematology (ASH) Annual Meeting

Busillo JM, Benovic JL (2007). Regulation of CXCR4 Signaling. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1768**(4): 952-963.

Buttke TMS (1995). Redox regulation of programmed cell death in lymphocytes. *Free Radic Res* **22**(5): 389-397.

Calizo RC, Scarlata S (2012). A role for G-proteins in directing G-protein-coupled receptor-caveolae localization. *Biochemistry* **51**(47): 9513-9523.

Calpe E, Purroy N, Carpio C, Abrisqueta P, Carabia J, Palacio C, *et al.* (2013). ZAP-70 promotes the infiltration of malignant B-lymphocytes into the bone marrow by enhancing signaling and migration after CXCR4 stimulation. *PLoS One* **8**,81221.

Canals M, Scholten D.J., Mitchell S., Han K. L., Smit M. J., & Leurs R. (2012). Ubiquitination of CXCR7 controls receptor trafficking. PLoS One. 7(3), 34192

Case AJ, McGill JL, Tygrett LT, Shirasawa T, Spitz DR, Waldschmidt TJ, *et al.* (2011). Elevated mitochondrial superoxide disrupts normal T cell development, impairing adaptive immune responses to an influenza challenge. *Free Radic Biol Med* **50**,448-458.

Castellino F, Huang AY, Altan-Bonnet G, Stoll S, Scheinecker C, Germain RN (2006). Chemokines enhance immunity by guiding naive CD8+ T cells to sites of CD4+ T cell-dendritic cell interaction. *Nature* **440**(7086):890-5.

Castillo JJ, Iyengar M, Kuritzky B, Bishop KD (2014). Isotype-specific inhibition of the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase pathway in hematologic malignancies. *Onco Targets Ther* **7**,333-342.

Cavnar SP, Ray P, Moudgil P, Chang SL, Luker KE, Linderman JJ, *et al.* (2014). Microfluidic source-sink model reveals effects of biophysically distinct CXCL12 isoforms in breast cancer chemotaxis. *Integr Biol (Camb)* **6**(5): 564-576.

Chaussade C, Rewcastle GW, Kendall JD, Denny WA, Cho K, Gronning LM, *et al.* (2007). Evidence for functional redundancy of class IA PI3K isoforms in insulin signalling. *Biochem J*, **404**, 449-458.

Chen J, Shao R, Li L, Xu ZP, Gu W (2014). Effective inhibition of colon cancer cell growth with MgAl-layered double hydroxide (LDH) loaded 5-FU and PI3K/mTOR dual inhibitor BEZ-235 through apoptotic pathways. *Int J Nanomedicine* **9**, 3403-3411.

Cheng H, Merika E, Syrigos KN, Saif MW (2011). Novel agents for the treatment of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Highlights from the "2011 ASCO Annual Meeting". *JOP*,**12**, 334-338.

Chini B, Parenti M (2004). G-protein coupled receptors in lipid rafts and caveolae: how, when and why do they go there? *J Mol Endocrinol* **32**(2): 325-338.

Choi Y, Zhang J, Murga C, Yu H, Koller E, Monia BP, *et al.* (2002). PTEN, but not SHIP and SHIP2, suppresses the PI3K/Akt pathway and induces growth inhibition and apoptosis of myeloma cells. *Oncogene* **21**(34): 5289-5300.

Chong YP, Chan AS, Chan KC, Williamson NA, Lerner EC, Smithgall TE, *et al.* (2006). C-terminal Src kinase-homologous kinase (CHK), a unique inhibitor inactivating multiple active conformations of Src family tyrosine kinases. *J Biol Chem* **281**, 32988-32999.

Clark-Lewis I, Kim KS, Rajarathnam K, Gong JH, Dewald B, Moser B, et al. (1995). Structureactivity relationships of chemokines. J Leukoc Biol **57**(5): 703-711.

Cleland WW (1964). DITHIOTHREITOL, A NEW PROTECTIVE REAGENT FOR SH GROUPS. *Biochemistry* **3**: 480-482.

Coffelt SB, Kersten K, Doornebal CW, Weiden J, Vrijland K, Hau CS, *et al.* (2015). IL-17-producing gammadelta T cells and neutrophils conspire to promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* **522**(7556):345-8.

Cole KE, Strick CA, Paradis TJ, Ogborne KT, Loetscher M, Gladue RP, *et al.* (1998). Interferoninducible T cell alpha chemoattractant (I-TAC): a novel non-ELR CXC chemokine with potent activity on activated T cells through selective high affinity binding to CXCR3. *J Exp Med* **187**(12): 2009-2021. Collazo MM, Paraiso KH, Park MY, Hazen AL, Kerr WG (2012). Lineage extrinsic and intrinsic control of immunoregulatory cell numbers by SHIP. *Eur J Immunol*. 42(7):1785-95

Colston JT, Chandrasekar B, Freeman GL (2002). A novel peroxide-induced calcium transient regulates interleukin-6 expression in cardiac-derived fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem* **277**(26): 23477-23483.

Colvin RA, Campanella GS, Manice LA, Luster AD (2006). CXCR3 requires tyrosine sulfation for ligand binding and a second extracellular loop arginine residue for ligand-induced chemotaxis. *Mol Cell Biol* **26**, 5838-5849.

Cooke MP, Perlmutter RM (1989). Expression of a novel form of the fyn proto-oncogene in hematopoietic cells. *New Biol* **1**(1): 66-74.

Corcoran A, Cotter TG (2013). Redox regulation of protein kinases. FEBS J 280(9): 1944-1965.

Costantini JL, Cheung SM, Hou S, Li H, Kung SK, Johnston JB, *et al.* (2009). TAPP2 links phosphoinositide 3-kinase signaling to B-cell adhesion through interaction with the cytoskeletal protein utrophin: expression of a novel cell adhesion-promoting complex in B-cell leukemia. *Blood* **114**, 4703-4712.

Courtneidge SA, Heber A (1987). An 81 kd protein complexed with middle T antigen and pp60csrc: A possible phosphatidylinositol kinase. *Cell* **50**(7): 1031-1037.

Coussens LM, Werb Z (2002). Inflammation and cancer. Nature 420(6917): 860-867.

Cronshaw DG, Kouroumalis A, Parry R, Webb A, Brown Z, Ward SG (2006). Evidence that phospholipase-C-dependent, calcium-independent mechanisms are required for directional migration of T-lymphocytes in response to the CCR4 ligands CCL17 and CCL22. *J Leukoc Biol* **79**(6): 1369-1380.

Cross JV, Templeton DJ (2004). Oxidative stress inhibits MEKK1 by site-specific glutathionylation in the ATP-binding domain. *Biochem J* **381**, 675-683.

Cuschieri J, Bulger E, Garcia I, Maier RV (2005). Oxidative-induced calcium mobilization is dependent on annexin VI release from lipid rafts. *Surgery* **138**(2): 158-164.

D'Autreaux B, Toledano MB (2007). ROS as signalling molecules: mechanisms that generate specificity in ROS homeostasis. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **8**, 813-824.

Dagan-Berger M, Feniger-Barish R, Avniel S, Wald H, Galun E, Grabovsky V, et al. (2006). Role of CXCR3 carboxyl terminus and third intracellular loop in receptor-mediated migration, adhesion and internalization in response to CXCL11. Blood **107**, 3821-3831.

Damen JE, Liu L, Rosten P, Humphries RK, Jefferson AB, Majerus PW, *et al.* (1996). The 145kDa protein induced to associate with Shc by multiple cytokines is an inositol tetraphosphate and phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate 5-phosphatase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(4): 1689-1693.

Deane JA, Kharas MG, Oak JS, Stiles LN, Luo J, Moore TI, *et al.* (2007). T-cell function is partially maintained in the absence of class IA phosphoinositide 3-kinase signaling. *Blood* **109**, 2894-2902.

Delves PJ, Roitt IM (2000a). Advances in immunology: The immune system (Second of two parts). *New England Journal of Medicine* **343**(2): 108-117.

Delves PJ, Roitt IM (2000b). The immune system. First of two parts. *New England Journal of Medicine* **343**(1): 37-49.

Deng Q, Huttenlocher A (2012). Leukocyte migration from a fish eye's view. J Cell Sci 125, 3949-3956.

Denu JM, Tanner KG (1998). Specific and reversible inactivation of protein tyrosine phosphatases by hydrogen peroxide: evidence for a sulfenic acid intermediate and implications for redox regulation. *Biochemistry* **37**, 5633-5642.

Dergarabetian EM, Ghattass KI, El-Sitt SB, Al Mismar RM, El-Baba CO, Itani WS, et al. (2013). Thymoquinone induces apoptosis in malignant T-cells via generation of ROS. *Frontiers in Bioscience - Elite* **5 E**(2): 706-719.

Devadas S, Zaritskaya L, Rhee SG, Oberley L, Williams MS (2002). Discrete generation of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide by T cell receptor stimulation: selective regulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase activation and fas ligand expression. *J Exp Med* **195**(1): 59-70.

DiPaolo RJ, Brinster C, Davidson TS, Andersson J, Glass D, Shevach EM (2007). Autoantigenspecific TGFbeta-induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells prevent autoimmunity by inhibiting dendritic cells from activating autoreactive T cells. *J Immunol* **179**, 4685-4693.

Dong S, Corre B, Foulon E, Dufour E, Veillette A, Acuto O, *et al.* (2006). T cell receptor for antigen induces linker for activation of T cell-dependent activation of a negative signaling complex involving Dok-2, SHIP-1, and Grb-2. *J Exp Med* **203**, 2509-2518.

Dong S, Guinn D, Dubovsky JA, Zhong Y, Lehman A, Kutok J, *et al.* (2014). IPI-145 antagonizes intrinsic and extrinsic survival signals in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Blood* **124**, 3583-3586.

Dornand J, Gerber M (1989). Inhibition of murine T-cell responses by anti-oxidants: the targets of lipo-oxygenase pathway inhibitors. *Immunology* **68**(3): 384-391.

Dowler S, Currie RA, Campbell DG, Deak M, Kular G, Downes CP, *et al.* (2000). Identification of pleckstrin-homology-domain-containing proteins with novel phosphoinositide-binding specificities. *Biochemical Journal* **351**(1): 19-31.

Downes CP, Ross S, Maccario H, Perera N, Davidson L, Leslie NR (2007). Stimulation of PI 3kinase signaling via inhibition of the tumor suppressor phosphatase, PTEN. *Advances in Enzyme Regulation* **47**,184-194.

Durgadoss L, Nidadavolu P, Valli RK, Saeed U, Mishra M, Seth P, *et al.* (2012). Redox modification of Akt mediated by the dopaminergic neurotoxin MPTP, in mouse midbrain, leads to down-regulation of pAkt. *FASEB J* **26**,1473-1483.

Edmunds C, Parry RV, Burgess SJ, Reaves B, Ward SG (1999). CD28 stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation, cellular redistribution and catalytic activity of the inositol lipid 5-phosphatase SHIP. *Eur J Immunol* **29**(11): 3507-3515.

Elder ME, Lin D, Clever J, Chan AC, Hope TJ, Weiss A, *et al.* (1994). Human severe combined immunodeficiency due to a defect in ZAP-70, a T cell tyrosine kinase. *Science* **264**(5165): 1596-1599.

Ellett F, Pase L, Hayman JW, Andrianopoulos A, Lieschke GJ (2011). mpeg1 promoter transgenes direct macrophage-lineage expression in zebrafish. *Blood* **117**, 49-56.

Elmore S (2007). Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. *Toxicol Pathol* **35**(4): 495-516.

Ezerina D, Morgan B, Dick TP (2014). Imaging dynamic redox processes with genetically encoded probes. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **73**: 43-49.

Farber JM (1990). A macrophage mRNA selectively induced by gamma-interferon encodes a member of the platelet factor 4 family of cytokines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **87**(14): 5238-5242.

Feng Y, Broder CC, Kennedy PE, Berger EA (1996). HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor. *Science* **272**(5263): 872-877.

Feng Y, Santoriello C, Mione M, Hurlstone A, Martin P (2010). Live imaging of innate immune cell sensing of transformed cells in zebrafish larvae: parallels between tumor initiation and wound inflammation. *PLoS Biol* **8**(12): e1000562.

Ferguson SS (2001). Evolving concepts in G protein-coupled receptor endocytosis: the role in receptor desensitization and signaling. *Pharmacol Rev* **53**(1): 1-24.

Fernandez R, Suchard SJ (1998). Syk activation is required for spreading and H2O2 release in adherent human neutrophils. *J Immunol* **160**(10): 5154-5162.

Feske S (2007). Calcium signalling in lymphocyte activation and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, **7**, 690-702.

Filippin LI, Vercelino R, Marroni NP, Xavier RM (2008). Redox signalling and the inflammatory response in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Immunol*,**152**,415-422.

Foster DA, Yellen P, Xu L, Saqcena M (2010). Regulation of G1 Cell Cycle Progression: Distinguishing the Restriction Point from a Nutrient-Sensing Cell Growth Checkpoint(s). *Genes Cancer*, **1**,1124-1131.

Foster JG, Blunt MD, Carter E, Ward SG (2012). Inhibition of PI3K signaling spurs new therapeutic opportunities in inflammatory/autoimmune diseases and hematological malignancies. *Pharmacol Rev* **64**(4): 1027-1054.

Foukas LC, Berenjeno IM, Gray A, Khwaja A, Vanhaesebroeck B (2010). Activity of any class IA PI3K isoform can sustain cell proliferation and survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **107**, 11381-11386.

Fouser LA, Wright JF, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M (2008). Th17 cytokines and their emerging roles in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Immunol Rev* **226**, 87-102.

Franke TF, Kaplan DR, Cantley LC, Toker A (1997). Direct regulation of the Akt proto-oncogene product by phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate. *Science* **275**(5300): 665-668.

Freeburn RW, Wright KL, Burgess SJ, Astoul E, Cantrell DA, Ward SG (2002). Evidence that SHIP-1 contributes to phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate metabolism in T lymphocytes and can regulate novel phosphoinositide 3-kinase effectors. *Journal of Immunology* **169**(10): 5441-5450.

Friedberg JW, Sharman J, Sweetenham J, Johnston PB, Vose JM, Lacasce A, *et al.* (2010). Inhibition of Syk with fostamatinib disodium has significant clinical activity in non-Hodgkin lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* **115**, 2578-2585.

Frossi B, De Carli M, Piemonte M, Pucillo C (2008). Oxidative microenvironment exerts an opposite regulatory effect on cytokine production by Th1 and Th2 cells. *Mol Immunol* **45**, 58-64.

Fruman DA, Bismuth G (2009). Fine tuning the immune response with PI3K. *Immunol Rev* **228**(1): 253-272.

Fruman DA, Meyers RE, Cantley LC (1998). Phosphoinositide kinases. *Annu Rev Biochem* 67: 481-507.

Fuhler GM, Brooks R, Toms B, Iyer S, Gengo EA, Park MY, *et al.* (2012). Therapeutic potential of SH2 domain-containing inositol-5'-phosphatase 1 (SHIP1) and SHIP2 inhibition in cancer. *Molecular Medicine* **18**(1): 65-75.

Fukuda R, Hayashi A, Utsunomiya A, Nukada Y, Fukui R, Itoh K, *et al.* (2005). Alteration of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase cascade in the multilobulated nuclear formation of adult T cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATLL). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**,15213-15218.

Furukawa Y, O'Halloran TV (2005). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis mutations have the greatest destabilizing effect on the apo- and reduced form of SOD1, leading to unfolding and oxidative aggregation. *J Biol Chem* **280**,17266-17274.

Gallatin WM, Weissman IL, Butcher EC (1983). A cell-surface molecule involved in organspecific homing of lymphocytes. *Nature* **304**(5921): 30-34.

Galli S, Antico Arciuch VG, Poderoso C, Converso DP, Zhou Q, Bal de Kier Joffe E, *et al.* (2008). Tumor cell phenotype is sustained by selective MAPK oxidation in mitochondria. *PLoS One* **3**(6): e2379.

Gambardella L, Vermeren S (2013). Molecular players in neutrophil chemotaxis--focus on PI3K and small GTPases. *J Leukoc Biol* **94**,603-612.

Garcia Lopez MA, Aguado Martinez A, Lamaze C, Martinez AC, Fischer T (2009). Inhibition of dynamin prevents CCL2-mediated endocytosis of CCR2 and activation of ERK1/2. *Cell Signal* **21**, 1748-1757.

Garcia-Palma L, Horn S, Haag F, Diessenbacher P, Streichert T, Mayr GW, *et al.* (2005). Upregulation of the T cell quiescence factor KLF2 in a leukaemic T-cell line after expression of the inositol 5'-phosphatase SHIP-1. *Br J Haematol* **131**, 628-631.

Garcon F, Patton DT, Emery JL, Hirsch E, Rottapel R, Sasaki T, *et al.* (2008). CD28 provides T-cell costimulation and enhances PI3K activity at the immune synapse independently of its capacity to interact with the p85/p110 heterodimer. *Blood* **111**,1464-1471.
Garodia P, Ichikawa H, Malani N, Sethi G, Aggarwal BB (2007). From ancient medicine to modern medicine: ayurvedic concepts of health and their role in inflammation and cancer. *J Soc Integr Oncol* **5**(1): 25-37.

Geahlen RL, McLaughlin JL (1989). Piceatannol (3,4,3',5'-tetrahydroxy-trans-stilbene) is a naturally occurring protein-tyrosine kinase inhibitor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **165**(1): 241-245.

Gelderman KA, Hultqvist M, Olsson LM, Bauer K, Pizzolla A, Olofsson P, *et al.* (2007). Rheumatoid arthritis: the role of reactive oxygen species in disease development and therapeutic strategies. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **9**(10): 1541-1567.

Germain RN (1994). MHC-dependent antigen processing and peptide presentation: providing ligands for T lymphocyte activation. *Cell*, **76**, 287-299.

Ghigo A, Damilano F, Braccini L, Hirsch E (2010). PI3K inhibition in inflammation: Toward tailored therapies for specific diseases. *Bioessays* **32**(3): 185-196.

Giannoni E, Buricchi F, Raugei G, Ramponi G, Chiarugi P (2005). Intracellular reactive oxygen species activate Src tyrosine kinase during cell adhesion and anchorage-dependent cell growth. *Mol Cell Biol* **25**, 6391-6403.

Glauer J, Pletz N, Schon M, Schneider P, Liu N, Ziegelbauer K, *et al.* (2013). A novel selective small-molecule PI3K inhibitor is effective against human multiple myeloma in vitro and in vivo. *Blood Cancer J*, **3**,e141.

Gloire G, Charlier E, Rahmouni S, Volanti C, Chariot A, Erneux C, *et al.* (2006). Restoration of SHIP-1 activity in human leukemic cells modifies NF-kappaB activation pathway and cellular survival upon oxidative stress. *Oncogene* **25**,5485-5494.

Go YM, Jones DP (2008). Redox compartmentalization in eukaryotic cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1780**(11): 1273-1290.

Godfrey DI, Kennedy J, Suda T, Zlotnik A (1993). A developmental pathway involving four phenotypically and functionally distinct subsets of CD3-CD4-CD8- triple-negative adult mouse thymocytes defined by CD44 and CD25 expression. *J Immunol* **150**(10): 4244-4252.

Gonda TA, Tu S, Wang TC (2009). Chronic inflammation, the tumor microenvironment and carcinogenesis. *Cell Cycle* **8**(13): 2005-2013.

Graham GJ, Locati M, Mantovani A, Rot A, Thelen M (2012). The biochemistry and biology of the atypical chemokine receptors. *Immunol Lett* **145**,30-38.

Griffiths HR (2005). ROS as signalling molecules in T cells--evidence for abnormal redox signalling in the autoimmune disease, rheumatoid arthritis. *Redox Rep* **10**(6): 273-280.

Grimshaw MJ, Balkwill FR (2001). Inhibition of monocyte and macrophage chemotaxis by hypoxia and inflammation--a potential mechanism. *Eur J Immunol* **31**, 480-489.

Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M (2010). Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. *Cell* **140**(6): 883-899.

Gross E, Sevier CS, Heldman N, Vitu E, Bentzur M, Kaiser CA, *et al.* (2006). Generating disulfides enzymatically: reaction products and electron acceptors of the endoplasmic reticulum thiol oxidase Ero1p. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 299-304.

Guertin DA, Sabatini DM (2009). The pharmacology of mTOR inhibition. Sci Signal, 2, pe24.

Guillermet-Guibert J, Bjorklof K, Salpekar A, Gonella C, Ramadani F, Bilancio A, *et al.* (2008). The p110beta isoform of phosphoinositide 3-kinase signals downstream of G protein-coupled receptors and is functionally redundant with p110gamma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 8292-8297.

Gulden M, Jess A, Kammann J, Maser E, Seibert H (2010). Cytotoxic potency of H2O2 in cell cultures: impact of cell concentration and exposure time. *Free Radic Biol Med* **49**,1298-1305.

Guo JP, Coppola D, Cheng JQ (2011). IKBKE protein activates Akt independent of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/PDK1/mTORC2 and the pleckstrin homology domain to sustain malignant transformation. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 37389-37398.

Guzy RD, Hoyos B, Robin E, Chen H, Liu L, Mansfield KD, *et al.* (2005). Mitochondrial complex III is required for hypoxia-induced ROS production and cellular oxygen sensing. *Cell Metab* **1**(6): 401-408.

Ha JS, Sung HY, Lim HM, Kwon KS, Park SS (2012). PI3K-ERK1/2 activation contributes to extracellular H₂O₂ generation in amyloid beta toxicity. *Neurosci Lett* **526**,112-117.

Haddad JJ (2002). Science review: Redox and oxygen-sensitive transcription factors in the regulation of oxidant-mediated lung injury: role for nuclear factor-kappaB. *Crit Care* **6**(6): 481-490.

Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC (1990). Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease: An overview. *Methods in Enzymology* **186:** 1-85.

Hancock WW, Lu B, Gao W, Csizmadia V, Faia K, King JA, et al. (2000). Requirement of the chemokine receptor CXCR3 for acute allograft rejection. *J Exp Med* **192**(10): 1515-1520.

Hanke JH, Gardner JP, Dow RL, Changelian PS, Brissette WH, Weringer EJ, *et al.* (1996). Discovery of a novel, potent, and Src family-selective tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Study of Lck-and FynT-dependent T cell activation. *J Biol Chem* **271**(2): 695-701.

Hara-Chikuma M, Chikuma S, Sugiyama Y, Kabashima K, Verkman AS, Inoue S, *et al.* (2012). Chemokine-dependent T cell migration requires aquaporin-3-mediated hydrogen peroxide uptake. *J Exp Med* **209**(10): 1743-1752.

Harris SJ, Parry RV, Foster JG, Blunt MD, Wang A, Marelli-Berg F, *et al.* (2011). Evidence that the lipid phosphatase SHIP-1 regulates T lymphocyte morphology and motility. *J Immunol* **186**(8): 4936-4945.

Hazen AL, Smith MJ, Desponts C, Winter O, Moser K, Kerr WG (2009). SHIP is required for a functional hematopoietic stem cell niche. *Blood* **113**, 2924-2933.

Helgason CD, Damen JE, Rosten P, Grewal R, Sorensen P, Chappel SM, *et al.* (1998). Targeted disruption of SHIP leads to hemopoietic perturbations, lung pathology, and a shortened life span. *Genes Dev* **12**(11): 1610-1620.

Helgason CD, Kalberer CP, Damen JE, Chappel SM, Pineault N, Krystal G, *et al.* (2000). A dual role for Src homology 2 domain-containing inositol-5-phosphatase (SHIP) in immunity: aberrant development and enhanced function of b lymphocytes in ship -/- mice. *J Exp Med* **191**(5): 781-794.

Hellberg C, Molony L, Zheng L, Andersson T (1996). Ca2+ signalling mechanisms of the beta 2 integrin on neutrophils: involvement of phospholipase C gamma 2 and Ins(1,4,5)P3. *Biochem J* **317 (Pt 2):** 403-409.

Hers I, Vincent EE, Tavare JM (2011). Akt signalling in health and disease. *Cell Signal*, **23**,1515-1527.

Herson PS, Lee K, Pinnock RD, Hughes J, Ashford ML (1999). Hydrogen peroxide induces intracellular calcium overload by activation of a non-selective cation channel in an insulin-secreting cell line. *J Biol Chem* **274**(2): 833-841.

Hettinger J, Richards DM, Hansson J, Barra MM, Joschko AC, Krijgsveld J, et al. Origin of monocytes and macrophages in a committed progenitor. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:821–30. doi:10.1038/ni.2638

Higgins KR, Ashry HR (1995). Wound dressings and topical agents. *Clin Podiatr Med Surg* **12**(1): 31-40.

Hildeman DA, Mitchell T, Teague TK, Henson P, Day BJ, Kappler J, *et al.* (1999). Reactive oxygen species regulate activation-induced T cell apoptosis. *Immunity* **10**, 735-744.

Hivroz C, Chemin K, Tourret M, Bohineust A (2012). Crosstalk between T lymphocytes and dendritic cells. *Crit Rev Immunol* **32**,139-155.

Hogan A, Yakubchyk Y, Chabot J, Obagi C, Daher E, Maekawa K, *et al.* (2004). The phosphoinositol 3,4-bisphosphate-binding protein TAPP1 interacts with syntrophins and regulates actin cytoskeletal organization. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 53717-53724.

Hogg N, Patzak I, Willenbrock F (2011). The insider's guide to leukocyte integrin signalling and function. *Nat Rev Immunol* **11**(6): 416-426.

Hoogewerf AJ, Kuschert GS, Proudfoot AE, Borlat F, Clark-Lewis I, Power CA, *et al.* (1997). Glycosaminoglycans mediate cell surface oligomerization of chemokines. *Biochemistry* **36**, 13570-13578.

Horn S, Endl E, Fehse B, Weck MM, Mayr GW, Jucker M (2004). Restoration of SHIP activity in a human leukemia cell line downregulates constitutively activated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt/GSK-3beta signaling and leads to an increased transit time through the G1 phase of the cell cycle. *Leukemia* **18**,1839-1849.

Huang C, Jacobson K, Schaller MD (2004). MAP kinases and cell migration. *J Cell Sci* **117**(Pt 20): 4619-4628.

Hwang JI, Oh YS, Shin KJ, Kim H, Ryu SH, Suh PG (2005). Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel phospholipase C, PLC-eta. *Biochem J* **389**,181-186.

Ilic N, Utermark T, Widlund HR, Roberts TM (2011). PI3K-targeted therapy can be evaded by gene amplification along the MYC-eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) axis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **108**,E699-708.

Infinity Pharmaceuticals (2015). http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/2015010 8005064/en/Infinity-ReportsTopline-Results-Phase-2-Study#.VRIiTPnF8Qs (Date accessed 30/05/15)

Inman S (2014). Promising results Halt phase III studies of idelalisib. *Am J Manag Care* **20**(2) E9.

Insall R (2013). The interaction between pseudopods and extracellular signalling during chemotaxis and directed migration. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **25**(5): 526-531.

Insall RH (2010). Understanding eukaryotic chemotaxis: a pseudopod-centred view. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **11**, 453-458.

Irvin BJ, Williams BL, Nilson AE, Maynor HO, Abraham RT (2000). Pleiotropic contributions of phospholipase C-gamma1 (PLC-gamma1) to T-cell antigen receptor-mediated signaling: reconstitution studies of a PLC-gamma1-deficient Jurkat T-cell line. *Mol Cell Biol* **20**(24): 9149-9161.

Ivetac I, Gurung R, Hakim S, Horan KA, Sheffield DA, Binge LC, *et al.* (2009). Regulation of PI(3)K/Akt signalling and cellular transformation by inositol polyphosphate 4-phosphatase-1. *EMBO Rep* **10**(5): 487-493.

Jackson SH, Devadas S, Kwon J, Pinto LA, Williams MS (2004). T cells express a phagocytetype NADPH oxidase that is activated after T cell receptor stimulation. *Nat Immunol* **5**(8): 818-827.

Jager A, Dardalhon V, Sobel RA, Bettelli E, Kuchroo VK (2009). Th1, Th17, and Th9 effector cells induce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with different pathological phenotypes. *J Immunol* **183**,7169-7177.

Janatpour MJ, Hudak S, Sathe M, Sedgwick JD, McEvoy LM (2001). Tumor necrosis factordependent segmental control of MIG expression by high endothelial venules in inflamed lymph nodes regulates monocyte recruitment. *J Exp Med* **194**(9): 1375-1384.

Janssen-Heininger YM, Mossman BT, Heintz NH, Forman HJ, Kalyanaraman B, Finkel T, *et al.* (2008). Redox-based regulation of signal transduction: principles, pitfalls, and promises. *Free Radic Biol Med* **45**,1-17.

Jaumouille V, Farkash Y, Jaqaman K, Das R, Lowell CA, Grinstein S (2014). Actin cytoskeleton reorganization by Syk regulates Fcgamma receptor responsiveness by increasing its lateral mobility and clustering. *Dev Cell* **29**(5): 534-546.

Ji H, Rintelen F, Waltzinger C, Meier DB, Bilancio A, Pearce W, *et al.* (2007). Inactivation of PI3Kγ and PI3Kδ distorts T-cell development and causes multiple organ inflammation. *Blood* **110**(8): 2940-2947.

Juarez MT, Patterson RA, Sandoval-Guillen E, McGinnis W (2011). Duox, Flotillin-2, and Src42A are required to activate or delimit the spread of the transcriptional response to epidermal wounds in Drosophila. *PLoS Genet*, **7**, e1002424.

Juss JK, Hayhoe RP, Owen CE, Bruce I, Walmsley SR, Cowburn AS, *et al.* (2012). Functional redundancy of class I phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) isoforms in signaling growth factor-mediated human neutrophil survival. *PLoS One*, 7,e45933.

Kaiser A, Donnadieu E, Abastado JP, Trautmann A, Nardin A (2005). CC chemokine ligand 19 secreted by mature dendritic cells increases naive T cell scanning behavior and their response to rare cognate antigen. *J Immunol*, **175**,2349-2356.

Kaludercic N, Deshwal S, Di Lisa F (2014). Reactive oxygen species and redox compartmentalization. *Front Physiol* **5:** 285.

Kaminski MM, Sauer SW, Klemke CD, Suss D, Okun JG, Krammer PH, *et al.* (2010). Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species control T cell activation by regulating IL-2 and IL-4 expression: mechanism of ciprofloxacin-mediated immunosuppression. *J Immunol*, **184**, 4827-4841.

Kaplan MH, Hufford MM, Olson MR (2015). The development and in vivo function of T helper 9 cells. In. *Nat Rev Immunol* **15**, 295-307.

Karlsson MC, Guinamard R, Bolland S, Sankala M, Steinman RM, Ravetch JV (2003). Macrophages control the retention and trafficking of B lymphocytes in the splenic marginal zone. *J Exp Med* **198**, 333-340.

Kashiwada M, Cattoretti G, McKeag L, Rouse T, Showalter BM, Al-Alem U, *et al.* (2006). Downstream of tyrosine kinases-1 and Src homology 2-containing inositol 5'-phosphatase are required for regulation of CD4+CD25+T cell development. *J Immunol* **176**(7): 3958-3965.

Katan M (1996). The control of inositol lipid hydrolysis. Cancer Surv 27: 199-211.

Kaur M, Singh M, Silakari O (2014). Insight into the therapeutic aspects of 'Zeta-Chain Associated Protein Kinase 70 kDa' inhibitors: a review. *Cell Signal* **26**(11): 2481-2492.

Kefaloyianni E, Gaitanaki C, Beis I (2006). ERK1/2 and p38-MAPK signalling pathways, through MSK1, are involved in NF-kappaB transactivation during oxidative stress in skeletal myoblasts. In. *Cell Signal* **18**, 2238-2251.

Kelsen SG, Aksoy MO, Yang Y, Shahabuddin S, Litvin J, Safadi F, *et al.* (2004). The chemokine receptor CXCR3 and its splice variant are expressed in human airway epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, **287**, L584-591.

Kerr WG (2011). Inhibitor and activator: Dual functions for SHIP in immunity and cancer. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1217**,1-17.

Kesarwani P, Murali AK, Al-Khami AA, Mehrotra S (2013). Redox regulation of T-cell function: From molecular mechanisms to significance in human health and disease. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling* **18**(12): 1497-1534.

Kiener PA, Lioubin MN, Rohrschneider LR, Ledbetter JA, Nadler SG, Diegel ML (1997). Coligation of the antigen and Fc receptors gives rise to the selective modulation of intracellular signaling in B cells. Regulation of the association of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and inositol 5'phosphatase with the antigen receptor complex. *J Biol Chem* **272**(6): 3838-3844.

Kim CH, Broxmeyer HE (1999). Chemokines: signal lamps for trafficking of T and B cells for development and effector function. *J Leukoc Biol* **65**(1): 6-15.

Kinashi T (2006). Adhere upright: a switchblade-like extension of beta2 integrins. *Immunity* **25**(4): 521-522.

Klemke M, Wabnitz GH, Funke F, Funk B, Kirchgessner H, Samstag Y (2008). Oxidation of cofilin mediates T cell hyporesponsiveness under oxidative stress conditions. *Immunity* **29**(3): 404-413.

Kluge MA, Fetterman JL, Vita JA (2013). Mitochondria and endothelial function. *Circ Res* **112**. 1171-1188.

Klyubin IV, Kirpichnikova KM, Gamaley IA (1996). Hydrogen peroxide-induced chemotaxis of mouse peritoneal neutrophils. *Eur J Cell Biol* **70**(4): 347-351.

Kohout TA, Lefkowitz RJ (2003). Regulation of G protein-coupled receptor kinases and arrestins during receptor desensitization. *Mol Pharmacol* **63**(1): 9-18.

Kohout TA, Nicholas SL, Perry SJ, Reinhart G, Junger S, Struthers RS (2004). Differential desensitization, receptor phosphorylation, beta-arrestin recruitment, and ERK1/2 activation by the two endogenous ligands for the CC chemokine receptor 7. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 23214-23222.

Kong D, Yamori T (2007). ZSTK474 is an ATP-competitive inhibitor of class I phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase isoforms. *Cancer Sci* **98**, 1638-1642.

Korade-Mirnics Z, Corey SJ (2000). Src kinase-mediated signaling in leukocytes. *J Leukoc Biol* **68**(5): 603-613.

Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK (2009). IL-17 and Th17 Cells. *Annu Rev Immunol*, **27**, 485-517.

Korzets A, Chagnac A, Weinstein T, Ori Y, Malachi T, Gafter U (1999). H2O2 induces DNA repair in mononuclear cells: evidence for association with cytosolic Ca²⁺ fluxes. *J Lab Clin Med*, **133**, 362-369.

Krasilnikov MA (2000). Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase dependent pathways: the role in control of cell growth, survival, and malignant transformation. *Biochemistry (Mosc)* **65**(1): 59-67.

Krause M, Leslie JD, Stewart M, Lafuente EM, Valderrama F, Jagannathan R, *et al.* (2004). Lamellipodin, an Ena/VASP ligand, is implicated in the regulation of lamellipodial dynamics. *Dev Cell* **7**, 571-583.

Krippeit-Drews P, Haberland C, Fingerle J, Drews G, Lang F (1995). Effects of H2O2 on membrane potential and [Ca²⁺]i of cultured rat arterial smooth muscle cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **209**(1): 139-145.

Krisenko MO, Geahlen RL (2015). Calling in SYK: SYK's dual role as a tumor promoter and tumor suppressor in cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1853**(1): 254-263.

Krupnick JG, Benovic JL (1998). The role of receptor kinases and arrestins in G protein-coupled receptor regulation. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **38**: 289-319.

Kwon J, Devadas S, Williams MS (2003). T cell receptor-stimulated generation of hydrogen peroxide inhibits MEK-ERK activation and lck serine phosphorylation. *Free Radic Biol Med* **35**(4): 406-417.

Kwon J, Lee SR, Yang KS, Ahn Y, Kim YJ, Stadtman ER, *et al.* (2004). Reversible oxidation and inactivation of the tumor suppressor PTEN in cells stimulated with peptide growth factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**,16419-16424.

Kwon J, Shatynski KE, Chen H, Morand S, de Deken X, Miot F, *et al.* (2010). The nonphagocytic NADPH oxidase Duox1 mediates a positive feedback loop during T cell receptor signaling. *Sci Signal* **3**(133): ra59.

Lahair MM, Howe CJ, Rodriguez-Mora O, McCubrey JA, Franklin RA (2006). Molecular pathways leading to oxidative stress-induced phosphorylation of Akt. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **8**(9-10): 1749-1756.

Laing KJ, Secombes CJ (2004). Chemokines. Dev Comp Immunol 28, 443-460.

Lakhanpal GK, Vecchiarelli-Federico LM, Li YJ, Cui JW, Bailey ML, Spaner DE, *et al.* (2010). The inositol phosphatase SHIP-1 is negatively regulated by Fli-1 and its loss accelerates leukemogenesis. *Blood* **116**(3): 428-436.

Lam PY, Yoo SK, Green JM, Huttenlocher A (2012). The SH2-domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase (SHIP) limits the motility of neutrophils and their recruitment to wounds in zebrafish. *J Cell Sci* **125**(Pt 21): 4973-4978.

Lammermann T, Germain RN (2014). The multiple faces of leukocyte interstitial migration. *Semin Immunopathol* **36**(2): 227-251.

Larson RS, Springer TA (1990). Structure and function of leukocyte integrins. *Immunol Rev* **114:** 181-217.

Lassegue B, San Martin A, Griendling KK (2012). Biochemistry, physiology, and pathophysiology of NADPH oxidases in the cardiovascular system. *Circ Res* **110**,1364-1390.

Law AL, Vehlow A, Kotini M, Dodgson L, Soong D, Theveneau E, *et al.* (2013). Lamellipodin and the Scar/WAVE complex cooperate to promote cell migration in vivo. *J Cell Biol.***203**, 673-689.

Leaker BR, Barnes PJ, O'Connor BJ, Ali FY, Tam P, Neville J, *et al.* (2014). The effects of the novel SHIP1 activator AQX-1125 on allergen-induced responses in mild-to-moderate asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* **44**(9): 1146-1153.

Lee DW, Futami M, Carroll M, Feng Y, Wang Z, Fernandez M, *et al.* (2012). Loss of SHIP-1 protein expression in high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes is associated with miR-210 and miR-155. *Oncogene* **31**(37).4085-94

Lee S, Chung J, Ha IS, Yi K, Lee JE, Kang HG, *et al.* (2007). Hydrogen peroxide increases human leukocyte adhesion to porcine aortic endothelial cells via NFkB-dependent up-regulation of VCAM-1. *International Immunology* **19**(12): 1349-1359.

Lee S, Ha IS, Kim JH, Park KS, Han KH, Kim SH, *et al.* (2008). Hydrogen peroxide-induced VCAM-1 expression in pancreatic islets and β -Cells through extracellular Ca²⁺ influx. *Transplantation* **86**(9): 1257-1266.

Lee SR, Yang KS, Kwon J, Lee C, Jeong W, Rhee SG (2002). Reversible inactivation of the tumor suppressor PTEN by H_2O_2 . *J Biol Chem*, **277**, 20336-20342.

Lee YJ, Cho HN, Soh JW, Jhon GJ, Cho CK, Chung HY, et al. (2003). Oxidative stress-induced apoptosis is mediated by ERK1/2 phosphorylation. *Exp Cell Res* **291**,251-266.

Lefkowitz RJ (1998). G protein-coupled receptors. III. New roles for receptor kinases and betaarrestins in receptor signaling and desensitization. *J Biol Chem* **273**(30): 18677-18680.

Leone TC, Kelly DP (2011) Transcriptional control of cardiac fuel metabolism and mitochondrial function. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol.* **76:**175-82.

Leung E, Kim JE, Rewcastle GW, Finlay GJ, Baguley BC (2011). Comparison of the effects of the PI3K/mTOR inhibitors NVP-BEZ235 and GSK2126458 on tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells. *Cancer Biol Ther* **11**, 938-946.

Leung WH, Tarasenko T, Bolland S (2009). Differential roles for the inositol phosphatase SHIP in the regulation of macrophages and lymphocytes. *Immunologic Research* **43**(1-3): 243-251.

Lewis RS (2001). Calcium signaling mechanisms in T lymphocytes. *Annu Rev Immunol* **19:**497-521.

Ley SC, Marsh M, Bebbington CR, Proudfoot K, Jordan P (1994). Distinct intracellular localization of Lck and Fyn protein tyrosine kinases in human T lymphocytes. *J Cell Biol* **125**(3): 639-649.

Li H, Hou S, Wu X, Nandagopal S, Lin F, Kung S, *et al.* (2013). The tandem PH domaincontaining protein 2 (TAPP2) regulates chemokine-induced cytoskeletal reorganization and malignant B cell migration. *PLoS One*, 8, e57809.

Li J, Yen C, Liaw D, Podsypanina K, Bose S, Wang SI, *et al.* (1997). PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. *Science* **275**(5308): 1943-1947.

Liang SC, Long AJ, Bennett F, Whitters MJ, Karim R, Collins M, *et al.* (2007). An IL-17F/A heterodimer protein is produced by mouse Th17 cells and induces airway neutrophil recruitment. *J Immunol* **179**, 7791-7799.

Liaudet L, Vassalli G, Pacher P (2009). Role of peroxynitrite in the redox regulation of cell signal transduction pathways. *Front Biosci* **14**: 4809-4814.

Lieschke GJ, Trede NS (2009). Fish immunology. Curr Biol, 19,R678-682.

Lioubin MN, Algate PA, Tsai S, Carlberg K, Aebersold A, Rohrschneider LR (1996). p150Ship, a signal transduction molecule with inositol polyphosphate-5-phosphatase activity. *Genes Dev* **10**(9): 1084-1095.

Liu D, Shan Y, Valluru L, Bao F (2013). Mn (III) tetrakis (4-benzoic acid) porphyrin scavenges reactive species, reduces oxidative stress, and improves functional recovery after experimental spinal cord injury in rats: comparison with methylprednisolone. *BMC Neurosci* **14**: 23.

Liu H, Zhang H, Forman HJ (2007). Silica induces macrophage cytokines through phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C with hydrogen peroxide. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **36**(5): 594-599.

Liu MT, Chen BP, Oertel P, Buchmeier MJ, Armstrong D, Hamilton TA, *et al.* (2000). The T cell chemoattractant IFN-inducible protein 10 is essential in host defense against viral-induced neurologic disease. *J Immunol* **165**, 2327-2330.

Liu Q, Oliveira-Dos-Santos AJ, Mariathasan S, Bouchard D, Jones J, Sarao R, *et al.* (1998). The inositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatase ship is a crucial negative regulator of B cell antigen receptor signaling. *J Exp Med* **188**(7): 1333-1342.

Liu Q, Sasaki T, Kozieradzki I, Wakeham A, Itie A, Dumont DJ, *et al.* (1999). SHIP is a negative regulator of growth factor receptor-mediated PKB/Akt activation and myeloid cell survival. *Genes Dev* **13**(7): 786-791.

Lledias F, Rangel P, Hansberg W (1998). Oxidation of catalase by singlet oxygen. *J Biol Chem* **273**(17): 10630-10637.

Lo CG, Xu Y, Proia RL, Cyster JG (2005). Cyclical modulation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 surface expression during lymphocyte recirculation and relationship to lymphoid organ transit. *J Exp Med* **201**, 291-301.

Locke NR, Patterson SJ, Hamilton MJ, Sly LM, Krystal G, Levings MK (2009). SHIP regulates the reciprocal development of T regulatory and Th17 cells. *J Immunol* **183**(2): 975-983.

Lowell CA (2011). Src-family and Syk kinases in activating and inhibitory pathways in innate immune cells: signaling cross talk. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **3**(3).

Luo BH, Carman CV, Springer TA (2007). Structural basis of integrin regulation and signaling. *Annu Rev Immunol* **25:** 619-647.

Luo JM, Liu ZL, Hao HL, Wang FX, Dong ZR, Ohno R (2004). Mutation analysis of SHIP gene in acute leukemia. *Journal of experimental hematology / Chinese Association of Pathophysiology* **12**(4): 420-426.

Luo JM, Yoshida H, Komura S, Ohishi N, Pan L, Shigeno K, *et al.* (2003). Possible dominant-negative mutation of the SHIP gene in acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* **17**(1): 1-8.

Luster AD, Unkeless JC, Ravetch JV (1985). Gamma-interferon transcriptionally regulates an early-response gene containing homology to platelet proteins. *Nature* **315**(6021): 672-676.

Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ (2002). The role of beta-arrestins in the termination and transduction of G-protein-coupled receptor signals. *J Cell Sci* **115**(Pt 3): 455-465.

Ma CS, Deenick EK, Batten M, Tangye SG (2012). The origins, function, and regulation of T follicular helper cells. *J Exp Med* **209**,1241-1253.

Ma K, Cheung SM, Marshall AJ, Duronio V (2008). PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(3,4)P2 levels correlate with PKB/akt phosphorylation at Thr308 and Ser473, respectively; PI(3,4)P2 levels determine PKB activity. *Cell Signal* **20**, 684-694.

Ma YC, Huang J, Ali S, Lowry W, Huang XY (2000). Src tyrosine kinase is a novel direct effector of G proteins. *Cell* **102**, 635-646.

Mach F, Sauty A, Iarossi AS, Sukhova GK, Neote K, Libby P, *et al.* (1999). Differential expression of three T lymphocyte-activating CXC chemokines by human atheroma-associated cells. *J Clin Invest* **104**(8): 1041-1050.

Mahadev K, Zilbering A, Zhu L, Goldstein BJ (2001). Insulin-stimulated hydrogen peroxide reversibly inhibits protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1b in vivo and enhances the early insulin action cascade. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 21938-21942.

Majumdar R, Sixt M, Parent CA (2014). New paradigms in the establishment and maintenance of gradients during directed cell migration. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **30**: 33-40.

Marchese A, Benovic JL (2001). Agonist-promoted ubiquitination of the G protein-coupled receptor CXCR4 mediates lysosomal sorting. *J Biol Chem* **276**,45509-45512.

Marelli-Berg FM, Cannella L, Dazzi F, Mirenda V (2008). The highway code of T cell trafficking. *J Pathol* **214**(2): 179-189.

Marshall AJ, Krahn AK, Ma K, Duronio V, Hou S (2002). TAPP1 and TAPP2 are targets of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling in B cells: sustained plasma membrane recruitment triggered by the B-cell antigen receptor. *Mol Cell Biol* **22**(15): 5479-5491.

Martyn KD, Kim MJ, Quinn MT, Dinauer MC, Knaus UG (2005). p21-activated kinase (Pak) regulates NADPH oxidase activation in human neutrophils. *Blood* **106**,3962-3969.

Marwick JA, Chung KF, Adcock IM (2010). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase isoforms as targets in respiratory disease. *Ther Adv Respir Dis* **4**(1): 19-34.

Massberg S, Schaerli P, Knezevic-Maramica I, Kollnberger M, Tubo N, Moseman EA, *et al.* (2007). Immunosurveillance by hematopoietic progenitor cells trafficking through blood, lymph, and peripheral tissues. *Cell* **131**, 994-1008.

Matsuda S, Suzuki-Fujimoto T, Minowa A, Ueno H, Katamura K, Koyasu S (1999). Temperature-sensitive ZAP70 mutants degrading through a proteasome-independent pathway. Restoration of a kinase domain mutant by Cdc37. *J Biol Chem* **274**(49): 34515-34518.

Mazerolles F, Barbat C, Hivroz C, Fischer A (1996). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase participates in p56(lck)/CD4-dependent down-regulation of LFA-1-mediated T cell adhesion. *J Immunol* **157**(11): 4844-4854.

McAdam AJ, Schweitzer AN, Sharpe AH (1998). The role of B7 co-stimulation in activation and differentiation of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *Immunol Rev* **165**: 231-247.

McNally JS, Davis ME, Giddens DP, Saha A, Hwang J, Dikalov S, *et al.* (2003). Role of xanthine oxidoreductase and NAD(P)H oxidase in endothelial superoxide production in response to oscillatory shear stress. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **285**,H2290-2297.

Meadows SA, Vega F, Kashishian A, Johnson D, Diehl V, Miller LL, *et al.* (2012). PI3Kdelta inhibitor, GS-1101 (CAL-101), attenuates pathway signaling, induces apoptosis, and overcomes signals from the microenvironment in cellular models of Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* **119**(8): 1897-1900.

Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. *Nature*. 2008;454(7203):428–435.

Mehta SA, Christopherson KW, Bhat-Nakshatri P, Goulet RJ, Jr., Broxmeyer HE, Kopelovich L, *et al.* (2007). Negative regulation of chemokine receptor CXCR4 by tumor suppressor p53 in breast cancer cells: implications of p53 mutation or isoform expression on breast cancer cell invasion. *Oncogene* **26**, 3329-3337.

Meimetis LG, Nodwell M, Yang L, Wang X, Wu J, Harwig C, *et al.* (2012). Synthesis of SHIP1activating analogs of the sponge meroterpenoid pelorol. *European Journal of Organic Chemistry*(27): 5195-5207.

Meiser A, Mueller A, Wise EL, McDonagh EM, Petit SJ, Saran N, *et al.* (2008). The chemokine receptor CXCR3 is degraded following internalization and is replenished at the cell surface by de novo synthesis of receptor. *J Immunol* **180**, 6713-6724.

Metchnikoff (1893). *Lectures on the Comparative Pathology of Inflammation*.: London: Kegan Paul, Trench, Trubner & Co. Ltd.

Mikhak Z, Fleming CM, Medoff BD, Thomas SY, Tager AM, Campanella GS, *et al.* (2006). STAT1 in peripheral tissue differentially regulates homing of antigen-specific Th1 and Th2 cells. *J Immunol* **176**, 4959-4967.

Miller JF (2002). The discovery of thymus function and of thymus-derived lymphocytes. *Immunol Rev* **185**,7-14.

Miller MJ, Hejazi AS, Wei SH, Cahalan MD, Parker I (2004). T cell repertoire scanning is promoted by dynamic dendritic cell behavior and random T cell motility in the lymph node. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **101**, 998-1003.

Mines MA, Goodwin JS, Limbird LE, Cui FF, Fan GH (2009). Deubiquitination of CXCR4 by USP14 is critical for both CXCL12-induced CXCR4 degradation and chemotaxis but not ERK ativation. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 5742-5752.

Minetti M, Mallozzi C, Di Stasi AM (2002). Peroxynitrite activates kinases of the src family and upregulates tyrosine phosphorylation signaling. *Free Radic Biol Med* **33**, 744-754.

Ming-Lum A, Shojania S, So E, McCarrell E, Shaw E, Vu D, *et al.* (2012). A pleckstrin homology-related domain in SHIP1 mediates membrane localization during Fcgamma receptor-induced phagocytosis. *FASEB J.* **26**(8):3163-77

Mondal S, Subramanian KK, Sakai J, Bajrami B, Luo HR (2012). Phosphoinositide lipid phosphatase SHIP1 and PTEN coordinate to regulate cell migration and adhesion. *Mol Biol Cell* **23**(7): 1219-1230.

Moreira S, Stramer B, Evans I, Wood W, Martin P (2010). Prioritization of competing damage and developmental signals by migrating macrophages in the Drosophila embryo. *Curr Biol*, **20**, 464-470.

Morris AJ, Malbon CC (1999). Physiological regulation of G protein-linked signaling. *Physiol Rev* **79**(4): 1373-1430.

Mueller S, Arnhold J (1995). Fast and sensitive chemiluminescence determination of H2O2 concentration in stimulated human neutrophils. *J Biolumin Chemilumin* **10**(4): 229-237.

Munugalavadla V, Mariathasan S, Slaga D, Du C, Berry L, Del Rosario G, *et al.* (2014). The PI3K inhibitor GDC-0941 combines with existing clinical regimens for superior activity in multiple myeloma. *Oncogene* **33**, 316-325.

Murata H, Ihara Y, Nakamura H, Yodoi J, Sumikawa K, Kondo T (2003). Glutaredoxin exerts an antiapoptotic effect by regulating the redox state of Akt. *J Biol Chem*, **278**, 50226-50233.

Murata K, Fujimoto K, Kitaguchi Y, Horiuchi T, Kubo K, Honda T (2014). Hydrogen peroxide content and pH of expired breath condensate from patients with asthma and COPD. *COPD* **11**(1): 81-87.

Murphy PM (1996). Chemokine receptors: structure, function and role in microbial pathogenesis. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **7**,47-64.

Murphy PM, Baggiolini M, Charo IF, Hebert CA, Horuk R, Matsushima K, *et al.* (2000). International union of pharmacology. XXII. Nomenclature for chemokine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* **52**(1): 145-176.

Murugaiyan G, Saha B (2009). Protumor vs antitumor functions of IL-17. *J Immunol* **183**, 4169-4175.

Nagasawa T, Hirota S, Tachibana K, Takakura N, Nishikawa S, Kitamura Y, *et al.* (1996). Defects of B-cell lymphopoiesis and bone-marrow myelopoiesis in mice lacking the CXC chemokine PBSF/SDF-1. *Nature* **382**(6592): 635-638.

Nakamura J, Purvis ER, Swenberg JA (2003). Micromolar concentrations of hydrogen peroxide induce oxidative DNA lesions more efficiently than millimolar concentrations in mammalian cells. *Nucleic Acids Research* **31**(6): 1790-1795.

Nakamura K, Hori T, Sato N, Sugie K, Kawakami T, Yodoi J (1993). Redox regulation of a src family protein tyrosine kinase p56lck in T cells. *Oncogene* **8**(11): 3133-3139.

Nakamura K, Kamouchi M, Kitazono T, Kuroda J, Shono Y, Hagiwara N, *et al.* (2009). Amiloride inhibits hydrogen peroxide-induced Ca2+ responses in human CNS pericytes. *Microvasc Res* **77**(3): 327-334.

Nam S, Kim D, Cheng JQ, Zhang S, Lee JH, Buettner R, *et al.* (2005). Action of the Src family kinase inhibitor, dasatinib (BMS-354825), on human prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res* **65**, 9185-9189.

Ndubaku CO, Heffron TP, Staben ST, Baumgardner M, Blaquiere N, Bradley E, *et al.* (2013). Discovery of 2-{3-[2-(1-isopropyl-3-methyl-1H-1,2-4-triazol-5-yl)-5,6-dihydrobenzo[f]imidazo[1,2-d][1,4]oxazepin-9-yl]-1H-pyrazol-1-yl}-2-methylpropanamide (GDC-0032): a beta-sparing phosphoinositide 3-kinase inhibitor with high unbound exposure and robust in vivo antitumor activity. *J Med Chem* **56**(11): 4597-4610.

Nedjai B, Li H, Stroke IL, Wise EL, Webb ML, Merritt JR, *et al.* (2012). Small molecule chemokine mimetics suggest a molecular basis for the observation that CXCL10 and CXCL11 are allosteric ligands of CXCR3. *Br J Pharmacol* **166**(3): 912-923.

Negulescu PA, Shastri N, Cahalan MD (1994). Intracellular calcium dependence of gene expression in single T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **91**(7): 2873-2877.

Niethammer P, Grabher C, Look AT, Mitchison TJ (2009). A tissue-scale gradient of hydrogen peroxide mediates rapid wound detection in zebrafish. *Nature* **459**(7249): 996-999.

Nohl H, Gille L, Kozlov A, Staniek K (2003). Are mitochondria a spontaneous and permanent source of reactive oxygen species? *Redox Rep* **8**(3): 135-141.

Norman P (2014). Evaluation of WO2013117503 and WO2013117504: the use of PI3K inhibitors to treat cough or idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Expert Opin Ther Pat* **24**(6): 719-722.

Nourshargh S, Hordijk PL, Sixt M (2010). Breaching multiple barriers: leukocyte motility through venular walls and the interstitium. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **11**(5): 366-378.

O'Donnell BV, Tew DG, Jones OT, England PJ (1993). Studies on the inhibitory mechanism of iodonium compounds with special reference to neutrophil NADPH oxidase. *Biochem J* **290 (Pt 1):** 41-49.

O'Donnell VB, Azzi A (1996). High rates of extracellular superoxide generation by cultured human fibroblasts: involvement of a lipid-metabolizing enzyme. *Biochem J* **318 (Pt 3):** 805-812.

O'Neill SK, Getahun A, Gauld SB, Merrell KT, Tamir I, Smith MJ, *et al.* (2011). Monophosphorylation of CD79a and CD79b ITAM motifs initiates a SHIP-1 phosphatasemediated inhibitory signaling cascade required for B cell anergy. *Immunity* **35**(5): 746-756.

Ogier-Denis E, Mkaddem SB, Vandewalle A (2008). NOX enzymes and Toll-like receptor signaling. *Semin Immunopathol* **30**(3): 291-300.

Okabe S, Fukuda S, Kim YJ, Niki M, Pelus LM, Ohyashiki K, *et al.* (2005). Stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha/CXCL12-induced chemotaxis of T cells involves activation of the RasGAP-associated docking protein p62Dok-1. *Blood* **105**, 474-480.

Okada M (2012). Regulation of the SRC family kinases by Csk. Int J Biol Sci, 8, 1385-1397.

Okamoto N, Tezuka K, Kato M, Abe R, Tsuji T (2003). P1I3-kinase and MAP-kinase signaling cascades in AILIM/ICOS- and CD28-costimulated T-cells have distinct functions between cell proliferation and IL-10 production. In. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **310**, 691-702.

Okkenhaug K (2013). Signaling by the phosphoinositide 3-kinase family in immune cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* **31:** 675-704.

Okkenhaug K, Patton DT, Bilancio A, Garcon F, Rowan WC, Vanhaesebroeck B (2006). The p110delta isoform of phosphoinositide 3-kinase controls clonal expansion and differentiation of Th cells. *J Immunol* **177**(8): 5122-5128.

Okoli TC, Peer CJ, Dunleavy K, Figg WD (2015). Targeted PI3Kdelta inhibition by the small molecule idelalisib as a novel therapy in indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Cancer Biol Ther* **16**(2): 204-206.

Olson TS, Ley K (2002). Chemokines and chemokine receptors in leukocyte trafficking. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **283**(1): R7-28.

Olszowy MW, Leuchtmann PL, Veillette A, Shaw AS (1995). Comparison of p56lck and p59fyn protein expression in thymocyte subsets, peripheral T cells, NK cells, and lymphoid cell lines. *J Immunol* **155**(9): 4236-4240.

Ong CJ, Ming-Lum A, Nodwell M, Ghanipour A, Yang L, Williams DE, *et al.* (2007). Small-molecule agonists of SHIP1 inhibit the phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway in hematopoietic cells. *Blood* **110**(6): 1942-1949.

Oosterwegel MA, Greenwald RJ, Mandelbrot DA, Lorsbach RB, Sharpe AH (1999). CTLA-4 and T cell activation. *Curr Opin Immunol* **11**,294-300.

Orimo A, Gupta PB, Sgroi DC, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Delaunay T, Naeem R, *et al.* (2005). Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion. *Cell* **121**,335-348.

Orozco-Cardenas ML, Narvaez-Vasquez J, Ryan CA (2001). Hydrogen peroxide acts as a second messenger for the induction of defense genes in tomato plants in response to wounding, systemin, and methyl jasmonate. *Plant Cell* **13**(1): 179-191.

Osborne MA, Zenner G, Lubinus M, Zhang X, Songyang Z, Cantley LC, *et al.* (1996). The inositol 5'-phosphatase SHIP binds to immunoreceptor signaling motifs and responds to high affinity IgE receptor aggregation. *J Biol Chem* **271**(46): 29271-29278.

Ottoson NC, Pribila JT, Chan AS, Shimizu Y (2001). Cutting edge: T cell migration regulated by CXCR4 chemokine receptor signaling to ZAP-70 tyrosine kinase. *J Immunol* **167**(4): 1857-1861.

Pacher P, Beckman JS, Liaudet L (2007). Nitric oxide and peroxynitrite in health and disease. *Physiol Rev* **87**(1): 315-424.

Palframan RT, Jung S, Cheng G, Weninger W, Luo Y, Dorf M, *et al.* (2001). Inflammatory chemokine transport and presentation in HEV: a remote control mechanism for monocyte recruitment to lymph nodes in inflamed tissues. *J Exp Med* **194**(9): 1361-1373.

Pan HF, Leng RX, Feng CC, Li XP, Chen GM, Li BZ, *et al.* (2013). Expression profiles of Th17 pathway related genes in human systemic lupus erythematosus. *Mol Biol Rep* **40**(1): 391-399.

Parent CA, Devreotes PN (1999). A cell's sense of direction. Science 284(5415): 765-770.

Park MY, Srivastava N, Sudan R, Viernes DR, Chisholm JD, Engelman RW, *et al.* (2014). Impaired T-cell survival promotes mucosal inflammatory disease in SHIP1-deficient mice. *Mucosal Immunol* **7**(6): 1429-1439.

Pawate S, Shen Q, Fan F, Bhat NR (2004). Redox regulation of glial inflammatory response to lipopolysaccharide and interferongamma. *J Neurosci Res* **77**(4): 540-551.

Pazarentzos E, Giannikopoulos P, Hrustanovic G, St John J, Olivas VR, Gubens MA, *et al.* (2015). Oncogenic activation of the PI3-kinase p110beta isoform via the tumor-derived PIK3Cbeta kinase domain mutation. *Oncogene*. 10.1038/onc.2015.173.

Peng Q, Malhotra S, Torchia JA, Kerr WG, Coggeshall KM, Humphrey MB (2010). TREM2- and DAP12-dependent activation of PI3K requires DAP10 and is inhibited by SHIP1. *Sci Signal* **3**(122): ra38.

Pepper M, Jenkins MK Origins of CD4(+) effector and central memory T cells.(2011) Nat Immunol. 12(6):467-71

Pfeffer (1884). Locomotorische Richtungsbewegungen durch chemische Reise., 1, 363-482 edn: *Untersuch. Bot. Inst. Tübingen*.

Aquinox Pharmaceuticals (2015). https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/results?term =AQX-1125&Search=search Vol. 2015.Date accessed (30/05/15).

Phee H, Jacob A, Coggeshall KM (2000). Enzymatic activity of the Src homology 2 domaincontaining inositol phosphatase is regulated by a plasma membrane location. *J Biol Chem* **275**(25): 19090-19097.

Pica A, Di Santi A, D'Angelo V, Iannotta A, Ramaglia M, Di Martino M, *et al.* (2015). Effect of rMnSOD on survival signaling in pediatric high risk T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* **230**(5): 1086-1093.

Picker LJ, Treer JR, Ferguson-Darnell B, Collins PA, Bergstresser PR, Terstappen LW (1993). Control of lymphocyte recirculation in man. II. Differential regulation of the cutaneous lymphocyte-associated antigen, a tissue-selective homing receptor for skin-homing T cells. *J Immunol* **150**(3): 1122-1136.

Pilon-Thomas S, Nelson N, Vohra N, Jerald M, Pendleton L, Szekeres K, *et al.* (2011). Murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma dampens SHIP-1 expression and alters MDSC homeostasis and function. *PLoS ONE* **6**(11).

Posor Y, Eichhorn-Gruenig M, Puchkov D, Schoneberg J, Ullrich A, Lampe A, *et al.* (2013). Spatiotemporal control of endocytosis by phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate. *Nature* **499**, 233-237.

Ptasznik A, Urbanowska E, Chinta S, Costa MA, Katz BA, Stanislaus MA, *et al.* (2002). Crosstalk between BCR/ABL oncoprotein and CXCR4 signaling through a Src family kinase in human leukemia cells. *J Exp Med* **196**(5): 667-678.

Puissant A, Fenouille N, Alexe G, Pikman Y, Bassil CF, Mehta S, et al. (2014). SYK is a critical regulator of FLT3 in acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Cell* **25**(2): 226-242.

Purushothaman D, Sarin A (2009). Cytokine-dependent regulation of NADPH oxidase activity and the consequences for activated T cell homeostasis. *J Exp Med* **206**,1515-1523.

Qian D, Lev S, van Oers NS, Dikic I, Schlessinger J, Weiss A (1997). Tyrosine phosphorylation of Pyk2 is selectively regulated by Fyn during TCR signaling. *J Exp Med* **185**(7): 1253-1259.

Quann EJ, Liu X, Altan-Bonnet G, Huse M (2011). A cascade of protein kinase C isozymes promotes cytoskeletal polarization in T cells. In. *Nat Immunol* **12**,647-654.

Quann EJ, Merino E, Furuta T, Huse M (2009). Localized diacylglycerol drives the polarization of the microtubule-organizing center in T cells. *Nat Immunol*, **10**, 627-635.

Rajagopal S, Kim J, Ahn S, Craig S, Lam CM, Gerard NP, *et al.* (2010). Beta-arrestin- but not G protein-mediated signaling by the "decoy" receptor CXCR7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 628-632.

Rao A, Luo C, Hogan PG (1997). Transcription factors of the NFAT family: Regulation and function. *Annu Rev Immunol* **15:707-47.**

Raphael I, Nalawade S, Eagar TN, Forsthuber TG (2014). T cell subsets and their signature cytokines in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. *Cytokine*. 74(1):5-17.

Rapola JM, Virtamo J, Ripatti S, Huttunen JK, Albanes D, Taylor PR, *et al.* (1997). Randomised trial of alpha-tocopherol and beta-carotene supplements on incidence of major coronary events in men with previous myocardial infarction. *Lancet* **349**(9067): 1715-1720.

Razzell W, Evans IR, Martin P, Wood W (2013). Calcium flashes orchestrate the wound inflammatory response through DUOX activation and hydrogen peroxide release. *Curr Biol* **23**(5): 424-429.

Reif K, Okkenhaug K, Sasaki T, Penninger JM, Vanhaesebroeck B, Cyster JG (2004). Cutting edge: differential roles for phosphoinositide 3-kinases, p110gamma and p110delta, in lymphocyte chemotaxis and homing. *J Immunol* **173**,2236-2240.

Reig G, Pulgar E, Concha ML (2014). Cell migration: from tissue culture to embryos. *Development* **141**,1999-2013.

Renshaw SA, Loynes CA, Trushell DM, Elworthy S, Ingham PW, Whyte MK (2006). A transgenic zebrafish model of neutrophilic inflammation. *Blood* **108**,3976-3978.

Ridley AJ, Schwartz MA, Burridge K, Firtel RA, Ginsberg MH, Borisy G, et al. (2003). Cell migration: integrating signals from front to back. *Science* **302**,1704-1709.

Ritter SL, Hall RA (2009). Fine-tuning of GPCR activity by receptor-interacting proteins. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **10**, 819-830.

Rizzuto R, Pozzan T (2006). Microdomains of intracellular Ca²⁺: molecular determinants and functional consequences. *Physiol Rev* **86**(1): 369-408.

Robinson MK, Andrew D, Rosen H, Brown D, Ortlepp S, Stephens P, et al. (1992). Antibody against the Leu-CAM beta-chain (CD18) promotes both LFA-1- and CR3-dependent adhesion events. *J Immunol* **148**(4): 1080-1085.

Rodriguez RM, Pitzalis C, Kingsley GH, Henderson E, Humphries MJ, Panayi GS (1992). T lymphocyte adhesion to fibronectin (FN): a possible mechanism for T cell accumulation in the rheumatoid joint. *Clin Exp Immunol* **89**(3): 439-445.

Roose JP, Mollenauer M, Gupta VA, Stone J, Weiss A (2005). A diacylglycerol-protein kinase C-RasGRP1 pathway directs Ras activation upon antigen receptor stimulation of T cells. *Mol Cell Biol* **25**, 4426-4441.

Rosen SD (2004). Ligands for L-selectin: homing, inflammation, and beyond. *Annu Rev Immunol* **22**: 129-156.

Roth D, Krammer PH, Gulow K (2014). Dynamin related protein 1-dependent mitochondrial fission regulates oxidative signalling in T cells. *FEBS Lett* **588**(9): 1749-1754.

Roy S, Khanna S, Nallu K, Hunt TK, Sen CK (2006). Dermal wound healing is subject to redox control. *Mol Ther* **13**, 211-220.

Rudd CE, Trevillyan JM, Dasgupta JD, Wong LL, Schlossman SF (1988). The CD4 receptor is complexed in detergent lysates to a protein-tyrosine kinase (pp58) from human T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **85**(14): 5190-5194.

Ruschmann J, Ho V, Antignano F, Kuroda E, Lam V, Ibaraki M, *et al.* (2010). Tyrosine phosphorylation of SHIP promotes its proteasomal degradation. *Experimental Hematology* **38**(5): 392-402.e391.

Sadidi M, Lentz SI, Feldman EL (2009). Hydrogen peroxide-induced Akt phosphorylation regulates Bax activation. *Biochimie* **91**, 577-585.

Saito H, Yamada Y, Takaya S, Osaki T, Ikeguchi M (2015). Clinical relevance of the number of interleukin-17-producing CD 8+ T cells in patients with gastric cancer. *Surg Today*.Epub ahead of print

Salmi M, Jalkanen S (2005). Lymphocyte homing to the gut: attraction, adhesion, and commitment. *Immunol Rev* **206**: 100-113.

Salmond RJ, Filby A, Qureshi I, Caserta S, Zamoyska R (2009). T-cell receptor proximal signaling via the Src-family kinases, Lck and Fyn, influences T-cell activation, differentiation, and tolerance. *Immunol Rev* **228**, 9-22.

Sasaki T, Irie-Sasaki J, Jones RG, Oliveira-dos-Santos AJ, Stanford WL, Bolon B, *et al.* (2000). Function of PI3Kgamma in thymocyte development, T cell activation, and neutrophil migration. *Science* **287**, 1040-1046.

Sasaki T, Takasuga S, Sasaki J, Kofuji S, Eguchi S, Yamazaki M, et al. (2009). Mammalian phosphoinositide kinases and phosphatases. *Prog Lipid Res* **48**(6): 307-343.

Sato H, Takeo T, Liu Q, Nakano K, Osanai T, Suga S, *et al.* (2009). Hydrogen peroxide mobilizes Ca²⁺ through two distinct mechanisms in rat hepatocytes. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* **30**(1): 78-89.

Sauty A, Colvin RA, Wagner L, Rochat S, Spertini F, Luster AD (2001). CXCR3 internalization following T cell-endothelial cell contact: preferential role of IFN-inducible T cell alpha chemoattractant (CXCL11). *J Immunol* **167**(12): 7084-7093.

Savona M, Gutierrez M, Lanasa M, Deng C, Kuhn J, Patel M (2013). A Phase I Dose Escalation Study Of TGR-1202, a Novel PI3K-δ Inhibitor, For Patients With Relapsed Or Refractory Hematologic Malignancies.*Blood:* **122** (21)

Scaife RM (2004). G2 cell cycle arrest, down-regulation of cyclin B, and induction of mitotic catastrophe by the flavoprotein inhibitor diphenyleneiodonium. *Mol Cancer Ther* 1229-1237.

Scapini P, Pereira S, Zhang H, Lowell CA (2009). Multiple roles of Lyn kinase in myeloid cell signaling and function. *Immunol Rev* **228**(1): 23-40.

Schade AE, Schieven GL, Townsend R, Jankowska AM, Susulic V, Zhang R, *et al.* (2008). Dasatinib, a small-molecule protein tyrosine kinase inhibitor, inhibits T-cell activation and proliferation. *Blood* **111**,1366-1377.

Scheid MP, Huber M, Damen JE, Hughes M, Kang V, Neilsen P, *et al.* (2002). Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)P3 is essential but not sufficient for protein kinase B (PKB) activation; phosphatidylinositol (3,4)P2 is required for PKB phosphorylation at Ser-473: studies using cells from SH2-containing inositol-5-phosphatase knockout mice. *J Biol Chem.* **277**,9027-9035.

Schioppa T, Uranchimeg B, Saccani A, Biswas SK, Doni A, Rapisarda A, *et al.* (2003). Regulation of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 by hypoxia. *J Exp Med* **198**,1391-1402.

Schneider IC, Haugh JM (2006). Mechanisms of gradient sensing and chemotaxis: conserved pathways, diverse regulation. *Cell Cycle* **5**,1130-1134.

Schrammel A, Mussbacher M, Winkler S, Haemmerle G, Stessel H, Wolkart G, et al. (2013). Cardiac oxidative stress in a mouse model of neutral lipid storage disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1831**(11): 1600-1608.

Scibior D, Czeczot H (2006). [Catalase: structure, properties, functions]. *Postepy Hig Med Dosw* (*Online*), **60**,170-180.

Seifried HE, Anderson DE, Fisher EI, Milner JA (2007). A review of the interaction among dietary antioxidants and reactive oxygen species. *J Nutr Biochem* **18**, 567-579.

Semenza GL (2001). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1: oxygen homeostasis and disease pathophysiology. *Trends Mol Med* **7**,345-350.

Sena LA, Li S, Jairaman A, Prakriya M, Ezponda T, Hildeman DA, *et al.* (2013). Mitochondria are required for antigen-specific T cell activation through reactive oxygen species signaling. *Immunity* **38**(2): 225-236.

Senga T, Miyazaki K, Machida K, Iwata H, Matsuda S, Nakashima I, *et al.* (2000). Clustered cysteine residues in the kinase domain of v-Src: critical role for protein stability, cell transformation and sensitivity to herbimycin A. *Oncogene* **19**(2): 273-279.

Semenza GL (August 2004). "Hydroxylation of HIF-1: oxygen sensing at the molecular level". Physiology (Bethesda) 19 (4): 176–82.

Shan X, Czar MJ, Bunnell SC, Liu P, Liu Y, Schwartzberg PL, *et al.* (2000). Deficiency of PTEN in Jurkat T cells causes constitutive localization of Itk to the plasma membrane and hyperresponsiveness to CD3 stimulation. *Mol Cell Biol* **20**(18): 6945-6957.

Sharpe AH, Abbas AK (2006). T-cell costimulation--biology, therapeutic potential, and challenges. *N Engl J Med* **355**, 973-975.

Shaw AS, Amrein KE, Hammond C, Stern DF, Sefton BM, Rose JK (1989). The lck tyrosine protein kinase interacts with the cytoplasmic tail of the CD4 glycoprotein through its unique amino-terminal domain. *Cell* **59**, 627-636.

Shenker BJ, Dlakic M, Walker LP, Besack D, Jaffe E, LaBelle E, *et al.* (2007). A novel mode of action for a microbial-derived immunotoxin: The cytolethal distending toxin subunit B exhibits phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate phosphatase activity. *Journal of Immunology* **178**(8).

Shin MS, Lee N, Kang I (2011). Effector T-cell subsets in systemic lupus erythematosus: update focusing on Th17 cells. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* **23**(5): 444-448.

Shute J (2012). Glycosaminoglycan and chemokine/growth factor interactions. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*(207): 307-324.

Sica A, Saccani A, Bottazzi B, Bernasconi S, Allavena P, Gaetano B, *et al.* (2000). Defective expression of the monocyte chemotactic protein-1 receptor CCR2 in macrophages associated with human ovarian carcinoma. *J Immunol* **164**, 733-738.

Sierro F, Biben C, Martinez-Munoz L, Mellado M, Ransohoff RM, Li M, *et al.* (2007). Disrupted cardiac development but normal hematopoiesis in mice deficient in the second CXCL12/SDF-1 receptor, CXCR7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**, 14759-14764.

Signoret N, Hewlett L, Wavre S, Pelchen-Matthews A, Oppermann M, Marsh M (2005). Agonistinduced endocytosis of CC chemokine receptor 5 is clathrin dependent. *Mol Biol Cell* **16**, 902-917.

Simonson WT, Franco SJ, Huttenlocher A (2006). Talin1 regulates TCR-mediated LFA-1 function. *J Immunol* **177**(11): 7707-7714.

Sinclair A, Metz D, T C (2011). Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase delta (PI3K{delta}) Inhibitor AMG 319 is a potent, selective and orally bioavailable small molecule inhibitor that suppresses PI3K-mediated signaling and viability in neoplastic B cells.:*ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts* **118**(21):4964..

Sixt M (2011). Interstitial locomotion of leukocytes. Immunol Lett, 138, 32-34.

Sixt M, Lammermann T (2011). In vitro analysis of chemotactic leukocyte migration in 3D environments. *Methods Mol Biol* **769**: 149-165.

Smallridge RC, Kiang JG, Gist ID, Fein HG, Galloway RJ (1992). U-73122, an aminosteroid phospholipase C antagonist, noncompetitively inhibits thyrotropin-releasing hormone effects in GH3 rat pituitary cells. *Endocrinology* **131**(4): 1883-1888.

Smit MJ, Verdijk P, van der Raaij-Helmer EM, Navis M, Hensbergen PJ, Leurs R, *et al.* (2003). CXCR3-mediated chemotaxis of human T cells is regulated by a Gi- and phospholipase C-dependent pathway and not via activation of MEK/p44/p42 MAPK nor Akt/PI-3 kinase. *Blood* **102**(6): 1959-1965.

Smith LD, Hickman ES, Parry RV, Westwick J, Ward SG (2007). PI3Kgamma is the dominant isoform involved in migratory responses of human T lymphocytes: effects of ex vivo maintenance and limitations of non-viral delivery of siRNA.*Cell Signal* **19**, 2528-2539.

Smith-Garvin JE, Koretzky GA, Jordan MS (2009). T cell activation. *Annu Rev Immunol* **27**, 591-619.

So L, Fruman DA (2012a). PI3K signalling in B- and T-lymphocytes: new developments and therapeutic advances. *Biochem J* **442**(3): 465-481.

So L, Fruman DA (2012b). PI3K signalling in B- and T-lymphocytes: New developments and therapeutic advances. *Biochemical Journal* **442**(3): 465-481.

Sobotta MC, Barata AG, Schmidt U, Mueller S, Millonig G, Dick TP (2013). Exposing cells to H2O2: a quantitative comparison between continuous low-dose and one-time high-dose treatments. *Free Radic Biol Med* **60**: 325-335.

Somoza JR, Koditek D, Villasenor AG, Novikov N, Wong MH, Liclican A, *et al.* (2015). Structural, biochemical, and biophysical characterization of idelalisib binding to phosphoinositide 3-kinase delta. *J Biol Chem* **290**, 8439-8446.

Song M, Kim MJ, Ha S, Park JB, Ryu SH, Suh PG (2005). Inositol 5'-phosphatase, SHIP1 interacts with phospholipase C-gamma1 and modulates EGF-induced PLC activity. *Exp Mol* **37**,161-168.

Soond DR, Bjorgo E, Moltu K, Dale VQ, Patton DT, Torgersen KM, *et al.* (2010). PI3K p110delta regulates T-cell cytokine production during primary and secondary immune responses in mice and humans. *Blood* **115**, 2203-2213.

Sorensen TL, Tani M, Jensen J, Pierce V, Lucchinetti C, Folcik VA, *et al.* (1999). Expression of specific chemokines and chemokine receptors in the central nervous system of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Clin Invest* **103**(6): 807-815.

Stanley P, Smith A, McDowall A, Nicol A, Zicha D, Hogg N (2008). Intermediate-affinity LFA-1 binds alpha-actinin-1 to control migration at the leading edge of the T cell. *Embo j* **27**(1): 62-75.

Steinberg SF (2013). Oxidative stress and sarcomeric proteins. Circ Res 112(2): 393-405.

Stenton GR, Mackenzie LF, Tam P, Cross JL, Harwig C, Raymond J, *et al.* (2013a). Characterization of AQX-1125, a small molecule SHIP1 activator Part 1. Effects on inflammatory cell activation and chemotaxis in vitro and pharmacokinetic characterization in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol* **168**(6): 1506-1518

Stenton GR, Mackenzie LF, Tam P, Cross JL, Harwig C, Raymond J, *et al.* (2013b). Characterization of AQX-1125, a small-molecule SHIP1 activator: Part 2. Efficacy studies in allergic and pulmonary inflammation models in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol* **68**(6):1519-29

Suarez-Fueyo A, Barber DF, Martinez-Ara J, Zea-Mendoza AC, Carrera AC (2011). Enhanced phosphoinositide 3-kinase delta activity is a frequent event in systemic lupus erythematosus that confers resistance to activation-induced T cell death. *J Immunol* **187**(5): 2376-2385.

Sulis ML, Parsons R (2003). PTEN: From pathology to biology. *Trends in Cell Biology* **13**(9): 478-483.

Sumimoto H (2008). Structure, regulation and evolution of Nox-family NADPH oxidases that produce reactive oxygen species. *FEBS J* **275**,3249-3277.

Sun H, Liu J, Zheng Y, Pan Y, Zhang K, Chen J (2014). Distinct chemokine signaling regulates integrin ligand specificity to dictate tissue-specific lymphocyte homing. *Dev Cell* **30**(1): 61-70.

Suresh MV, Yu B, Lakshminrusimha S, Machado-Aranda D, Talarico N, Zeng L, *et al.* (2013). The protective role of MnTBAP in oxidant-mediated injury and inflammation in a rat model of lung contusion. *Surgery* **154**(5): 980-990.

Sutherlin DP, Baker S, Bisconte A, Blaney PM, Brown A, Chan BK, *et al.* (2012). Potent and selective inhibitors of PI3Kdelta: obtaining isoform selectivity from the affinity pocket and tryptophan shelf. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* **22**, 4296-4302.

Swaney KF, Huang CH, Devreotes PN (2010). Eukaryotic chemotaxis: a network of signaling pathways controls motility, directional sensing, and polarity. *Annu Rev Biophys* **39**: 265-289.

Tabas I, Glass CK (2013). Anti-inflammatory therapy in chronic disease: challenges and opportunities. *Science* **339**,166-172.

Takac I, Schroder K, Zhang L, Lardy B, Anilkumar N, Lambeth JD, *et al.* (2011). The E-loop is involved in hydrogen peroxide formation by the NADPH oxidase Nox4. *J Biol Chem* **286**,13304-13313.

Takahashi A, Hanson MG, Norell HR, Havelka AM, Kono K, Malmberg KJ, *et al.* (2005). Preferential cell death of CD8+ effector memory (CCR7-CD45RA-) T cells by hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress. *J Immunol* **174**,6080-6087.

Takano T, Sada K, Yamamura H (2002). Role of protein-tyrosine kinase syk in oxidative stress signaling in B cells. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **4**(3): 533-541.

Tan S, Ng Y, James DE (2011). Next-generation Akt inhibitors provide greater specificity: effects on glucose metabolism in adipocytes. *Biochem J* **435**, 539-544.

Tan SL, Liao C, Lucas MC, Stevenson C, DeMartino JA (2013). Targeting the SYK-BTK axis for the treatment of immunological and hematological disorders: recent progress and therapeutic perspectives. *Pharmacol Ther* **138**(2): 294-309.

Tang H, Hao Q, Rutherford SA, Low B, Zhao ZJ (2005). Inactivation of SRC family tyrosine kinases by reactive oxygen species in vivo. *J Biol Chem* **280**(25): 23918-23925.

Tang W, Zhang Y, Xu W, Harden TK, Sondek J, Sun L, *et al.* (2011). A PLCbeta/PI3Kgamma-GSK3 signaling pathway regulates cofilin phosphatase slingshot2 and neutrophil polarization and chemotaxis. *Dev Cell* **21**(6): 1038-1050.

Tarasenko T, Kole HK, Chi AW, Mentink-Kane MM, Wynn TA, Bolland S (2007). T cell-specific deletion of the inositol phosphatase SHIP reveals its role in regulating Th1/Th2 and cytotoxic responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**(27): 11382-11387.

Tatla S, Woodhead V, Foreman JC, Chain BM (1999). The role of reactive oxygen species in triggering proliferation and IL-2 secretion in T cells. *Free Radic Biol Med* **26**, 14-24.

Tauzin S, Starnes TW, Becker FB, Lam PY, Huttenlocher A (2014). Redox and Src family kinase signaling control leukocyte wound attraction and neutrophil reverse migration. *J Cell Biol* **207**(5): 589-598.

Terada LS (2006). Specificity in reactive oxidant signaling: think globally, act locally. *J Cell Biol* **174**, 615-623.

Thannickal VJ, Day RM, Klinz SG, Bastien MC, Larios JM, Fanburg BL (2000). Ras-dependent and -independent regulation of reactive oxygen species by mitogenic growth factors and TGF-beta1. *FASEB J* **14**(12): 1741-1748.

Thomas CC, Dowler S, Deak M, Alessi DR, Van Aalten DMF (2001). Crystal structure of the phosphatidylinositol 3,4-bisphosphate-binding pleckstrin homology (PH) domain of tandem PH-domain-containing protein 1 (TAPP1): Molecular basis of lipid specificity. *Biochemical Journal* **358**(2): 287-294.

Thomas SM, Brugge JS (1997). Cellular functions regulated by Src family kinases. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* **13:** 513-609.

Thomas SY, Hou R, Boyson JE, Means TK, Hess C, Olson DP, *et al.* (2003). CD1d-restricted NKT cells express a chemokine receptor profile indicative of Th1-type inflammatory homing cells. *J Immunol* **171**(5): 2571-2580.

Ticchioni M, Charvet C, Noraz N, Lamy L, Steinberg M, Bernard A, *et al.* (2002). Signaling through ZAP-70 is required for CXCL12-mediated T-cell transendothelial migration. *Blood* **99**(9): 3111-3118.

Tiwari S, Choi HP, Matsuzawa T, Pypaert M, MacMicking JD (2009). Targeting of the GTPase Irgm1 to the phagosomal membrane via PtdIns(3,4)P(2) and PtdIns(3,4,5)P(3) promotes immunity to mycobacteria. *Nat Immunol* **10**, 907-917.

Tomkowicz B, Lee C, Ravyn V, Cheung R, Ptasznik A, Collman RG (2006). The Src kinase Lyn is required for CCR5 signaling in response to MIP-1beta and R5 HIV-1 gp120 in human macrophages. *Blood* **108**, 1145-1150.

Trucy M, Barbat C, Fischer A, Mazerolles F (2006). CD4 ligation induces activation of protein kinase C zeta and phosphoinositide-dependent-protein kinase-1, two kinases required for down-regulation of LFA-1-mediated adhesion. *Cell Immunol* **244**, 33-42.

Truong TH, Carroll KS (2013). Redox regulation of protein kinases. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol* **48**(4): 332-356.

Tsai FC, Seki A, Yang HW, Hayer A, Carrasco S, Malmersjo S, *et al.* (2014). A polarized Ca2+, diacylglycerol and STIM1 signalling system regulates directed cell migration. *Nat Cell Biol* **16**(2): 133-144.

Tse HM, Thayer TC, Steele C, Cuda CM, Morel L, Piganelli JD, *et al.* (2010). NADPH oxidase deficiency regulates Th lineage commitment and modulates autoimmunity. *J Immunol* **185**, 5247-5258.

Tuettenberg A, Huter E, Hubo M, Horn J, Knop J, Grimbacher B, *et al.* (2009). The role of ICOS in directing T cell responses: ICOS-dependent induction of T cell anergy by tolerogenic dendritic cells. *J Immunol* **182**, 3349-3356.

Turner L, Scotton C, Negus R, Balkwill F (1999). Hypoxia inhibits macrophage migration. *Eur J Immunol* **29**, 2280-2287.

Turner M, Schweighoffer E, Colucci F, Di Santo JP, Tybulewicz VL (2000). Tyrosine kinase SYK: essential functions for immunoreceptor signalling. *Immunol Today* **21**,148-154.

Uckun FM, Qazi S (2014). SYK as a New Therapeutic Target in B-Cell Precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *J Cancer Ther* **5**(1): 124-131.

Ulvmar MH, Hub E, Rot A (2011). Atypical chemokine receptors. Exp Cell Res 317, 556-568.

Ushio-Fukai M, Alexander RW, Akers M, Yin Q, Fujio Y, Walsh K, *et al.* (1999). Reactive oxygen species mediate the activation of Akt/protein kinase B by angiotensin II in vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* **274**(32): 22699-22704.

Van Seventer GA, Shimizu Y, Horgan KJ, Shaw S (1990). The LFA-1 ligand ICAM-1 provides an important costimulatory signal for T cell receptor-mediated activation of resting T cells. *J Immunol* **144**(12): 4579-4586.

Vanhaesebroeck B, Stephens L, Hawkins P (2012). PI3K signalling: The path to discovery and understanding. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **13**(3): 195-203.

Vaupel P (1977). Hypoxia in neoplastic tissue. *Microvasc Res* 13(3): 399-408.

Via LE, Lin PL, Ray SM, Carrillo J, Allen SS, Eum SY, *et al.* (2008). Tuberculous granulomas are hypoxic in guinea pigs, rabbits, and nonhuman primates. *Infect Immun* **76**, 2333-2340.

von Andrian UH, Mackay CR (2000). T-cell function and migration. Two sides of the same coin. *N Engl J Med* **343**(14): 1020-1034.

von Andrian UH, Mempel TR (2003). Homing and cellular traffic in lymph nodes. *Nat Rev Immunol* **3**, 867-878.

Wahle JA, Paraiso KH, Kendig RD, Lawrence HR, Chen L, Wu J, *et al.* (2007). Inappropriate recruitment and activity by the Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase 1 (SHP1) is responsible for receptor dominance in the SHIP-deficient NK cell. *J Immunol* **179**, 8009-8015.

Wain CM, Westwick J, Ward SG (2005). Heterologous regulation of chemokine receptor signaling by the lipid phosphatase SHIP in lymphocytes. *Cell Signal* **17**(10): 1194-1202.

Wallin JJ, Guan J, Prior WW, Lee LB, Berry L, Belmont LD, *et al.* (2012). GDC-0941, a novel class I selective PI3K inhibitor, enhances the efficacy of docetaxel in human breast cancer models by increasing cell death in vitro and in vivo. *Clin Cancer Res*,**18**,3901-3911.

Wang F (2009). The signaling mechanisms underlying cell polarity and chemotaxis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **1**(4): a002980.

Wang F, Herzmark P, Weiner OD, Srinivasan S, Servant G, Bourne HR (2002a). ipid products of PI(3)Ks maintain persistent cell polarity and directed motility in neutrophils. *Nat Cell Biol* **4**(7): 513-518.

Wang JW, Howson JM, Ghansah T, Desponts C, Ninos JM, May SL, *et al.* (2002b). Influence of SHIP on the NK repertoire and allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Science* **295**, 2094-2097.

Wang X, Takeda S, Mochizuki S, Jindal R, Dhalla NS (1999). Mechanisms of Hydrogen Peroxide-Induced Increase in Intracellular Calcium in Cardiomyocytes. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther* **4**(1): 41-48.

Wang Y, Yu Q, He X, Romigh T, Altemus J, Eng C (2014). Activation of AR sensitizes breast carcinomas to NVP-BEZ235's therapeutic effect mediated by PTEN and KLLN upregulation. *Mol Cancer Ther* **13**, 517-527.

Wani R, Qian J, Yin L, Bechtold E, King SB, Poole LB, et al. (2011). Isoform-specific regulation of Akt by PDGF-induced reactive oxygen species. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **108**,10550-10555.

Ward SG (2006). T lymphocytes on the move: chemokines, PI 3-kinase and beyond. *Trends Immunol* **27**(2): 80-87.

Ward SG, Marelli-Berg FM (2009). Mechanisms of chemokine and antigen-dependent T-lymphocyte navigation. *Biochem J* **418**(1): 13-27.

Waypa GB, Marks JD, Guzy R, Mungai PT, Schriewer J, Dokic D, *et al.* (2010). Hypoxia triggers subcellular compartmental redox signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* **106**(3): 526-535.

Weber GF, Abromson-Leeman S, Cantor H (1995). A signaling pathway coupled to T cell receptor ligation by MMTV superantigen leading to transient activation and programmed cell death. *Immunity* 2(4): 363-372.

Welf ES, Ahmed S, Johnson HE, Melvin AT, Haugh JM (2012). Migrating fibroblasts reorient directionality by a metastable, PI3K-dependent mechanism. *J Cell Biol* **197**, 105-114.

Wells TN, Proudfoot AE (1999). Chemokine receptors and their antagonists in allergic lung disease. *Inflamm Res* **48**(7): 353-362.

Williams MS, Henkart PA (1996). Role of reactive oxygen intermediates in TCR-induced death of T cell blasts and hybridomas. *J Immunol* **157**(6): 2395-2402.

Wing K, Sakaguchi S (2010). Regulatory T cells exert checks and balances on self tolerance and autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol* **11**,7-13.

Winterbourn CC, Hampton MB (2008). Thiol chemistry and specificity in redox signaling. In. *Free Radic Biol Med* **45**, 549-561.

Wong KK, Engelman JA, Cantley LC (2010). Targeting the PI3K signaling pathway in cancer. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* **20**(1): 87-90.

Woolley JF, Stanicka J, Cotter TG (2013). Recent advances in reactive oxygen species measurement in biological systems. *Trends Biochem Sci* **38**(11): 556-565.

Workman P, Clarke P (2012). Pl3 Kinase in Cancer: From Biology to Clinic. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book*: e93-98.

Wu D, Katz A, Simon MI (1993). Activation of phospholipase C beta 2 by the alpha and beta gamma subunits of trimeric GTP-binding protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90**(11): 5297-5301.

Wu J, Pipathsouk A, Keizer-Gunnink A, Fusetti F, Alkema W, Liu S, *et al.* (2015). Homer3 regulates the establishment of neutrophil polarity. *Mol Biol Cell.* **26**(9):1629-39

Wysoczynski M, Reca R, Ratajczak J, Kucia M, Shirvaikar N, Honczarenko M, *et al.* (2005). Incorporation of CXCR4 into membrane lipid rafts primes homing-related responses of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells to an SDF-1 gradient. *Blood* **105**, 40-48.

Xanthou G, Williams TJ, Pease JE (2003). Molecular characterization of the chemokine receptor CXCR3: evidence for the involvement of distinct extracellular domains in a multi-step model of ligand binding and receptor activation. *Eur J Immunol* **33**(10): 2927-2936.

Xu N, Lao Y, Zhang Y, Gillespie DA (2012). Akt: a double-edged sword in cell proliferation and genome stability. *J Oncol* **2012:** 951724.

Xu S, Chisholm AD (2014). C. elegans epidermal wounding induces a mitochondrial ROS burst that promotes wound repair. *Dev Cell* **31**(1): 48-60.

Xu W, Doshi A, Lei M, Eck MJ, Harrison SC (1999). Crystal structures of c-Src reveal features of its autoinhibitory mechanism. *Mol Cell* **3**,629-638.

Yang H, Medeiros PF, Raha K, Elkins P, Lind KE, Lehr R, *et al.* (2015). Discovery of a Potent Class of PI3Kalpha Inhibitors with Unique Binding Mode via Encoded Library Technology (ELT). *ACS Med Chem Lett* **6**(5): 531-536.

Yang W, Zou L, Huang C, Lei Y (2014). Redox regulation of cancer metastasis: molecular signaling and therapeutic opportunities. *Drug Dev Res* **75**(5): 331-341.

Yoo SK, Deng Q, Cavnar PJ, Wu YI, Hahn KM, Huttenlocher A (2010). Differential regulation of protrusion and polarity by PI3K during neutrophil motility in live zebrafish. *Dev Cell*, **18**,226-236.

Yoo SK, Freisinger CM, LeBert DC, Huttenlocher A (2012). Early redox, Src family kinase, and calcium signaling integrate wound responses and tissue regeneration in zebrafish. *J Cell Biol* **199**(2): 225-234.

Yoo SK, Starnes TW, Deng Q, Huttenlocher A (2011). Lyn is a redox sensor that mediates leukocyte wound attraction in vivo. *Nature* **480**(7375): 109-112.

Young CD, Zimmerman LJ, Hoshino D, Formisano L, Hanker AB, Gatza ML, *et al.* (2015). Activating PIK3CA mutations induce an EGFR/ERK paracrine signaling axis in basal-like breast cancer. *Mol Cell Proteomics*.

Yu J, Zhang Y, McIlroy J, Rordorf-Nikolic T, Orr GA, Backer JM (1998). Regulation of the p85/p110 phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase: stabilization and inhibition of the p110alpha catalytic subunit by the p85 regulatory subunit. *Mol Cell Biol* **18**(3): 1379-1387.

Yu L, Cecil J, Peng SB, Schrementi J, Kovacevic S, Paul D, *et al.* (2006). Identification and expression of novel isoforms of human stromal cell-derived factor 1. In. *Gene*, edn, Vol. 374. Netherlands. p^pp 174-179.

Yuan TL, Cantley LC (2008). PI3K pathway alterations in cancer: Variations on a theme. *Oncogene* **27**(41): 5497-5510.

Yusuf S, Dagenais G, Pogue J, Bosch J, Sleight P (2000). Vitamin E supplementation and cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. *N Engl J Med* **342**(3): 154-160.

Zaman SN, Resek ME, Robbins SM (2008). Dual acylation and lipid raft association of Srcfamily protein tyrosine kinases are required for SDF-1/CXCL12-mediated chemotaxis in the Jurkat human T cell lymphoma cell line. *J Leukoc Biol* **84**, 1082-1091.

Zhang TT, Li H, Cheung SM, Costantini JL, Hou S, Al-Alwan M, et al. (2009). Phosphoinositide 3-kinase-regulated adapters in lymphocyte activation. *Immunol Rev* **332**,255-272.

Zhao Y, Zhang X, Chen Y, Lu S, Peng Y, Wang X, *et al.* (2014). Crystal Structures of PI3Kalpha Complexed with PI103 and Its Derivatives: New Directions for Inhibitors Design. *ACS Med Chem Lett* **5**(2): 138-142.

Zheng SG, Wang JH, Gray JD, Soucier H, Horwitz DA (2004). Natural and induced CD4+CD25+ cells educate CD4+CD25- cells to develop suppressive activity: the role of IL-2, TGF-beta, and IL-10. *J Immunol* **172**(9): 5213-5221.

Zheng Y, Shen X (2005). H2O2 directly activates inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors in endothelial cells. *Redox Report* **10**(1): 29-36.

Zhivotovsky B, Orrenius S (2011). Calcium and cell death mechanisms: a perspective from the cell death community. *Cell Calcium* **50**(3): 211-221.

Zhu J, Yamane H, Paul WE (2010). Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations (*). *Annu Rev Immunol* **28**: 445-489.

Zigmond SH (1977). Ability of polymorphonuclear leukocytes to orient in gradients of chemotactic factors. *J Cell Biol* **75**(2 Pt 1): 606-616.

Zimmerman MC, Sharma RV, Davisson RL (2005). Superoxide mediates angiotensin II-induced influx of extracellular calcium in neural cells. *Hypertension* **45**(4): 717-723.

Zlotnik A (2006). Involvement of chemokine receptors in organ-specific metastasis. *Contrib Microbiol*, **13**,191-199.

Zlotnik A, Yoshie O (2012). The chemokine superfamily revisited. Immunity, 36, 705-716.

Zou Y, Chen CH, Fike JR, Huang TT (2009). A new mouse model for temporal- and tissuespecific control of extracellular superoxide dismutase. *Genesis* **47**(3): 142-154.

Zou YR, Kottmann AH, Kuroda M, Taniuchi I, Littman DR (1998). Function of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in haematopoiesis and in cerebellar development. *Nature* **393**(6685): 595-599.

Zurgil N, Shafran Y, Afrimzon E, Fixler D, Shainberg A, Deutsch M (2006). Concomitant realtime monitoring of intracellular reactive oxygen species and mitochondrial membrane potential in individual living promonocytic cells. *J Immunol Methods*, **316**, 27-41.